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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

In re: 

City of Detroit, Michigan, 

  Debtor. 

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 

Judge Thomas J. Tucker 

Chapter 9 

 
CITY OF DETROIT’S MOTION FOR THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER 

ENFORCING THE BAR DATE ORDER AND CONFIRMATION ORDER 
AGAINST MARK CRAIGHEAD 

 
The City of Detroit, Michigan (“City”) by its undersigned counsel, Miller, 

Canfield, Paddock and Stone, PLC, files this Motion for the Entry of an Order 

Enforcing the Bar Date Order and Confirmation Order Against Mark Craighead 

(“Motion”).  In support of this Motion, the City respectfully states as follows:  

I. Introduction 

1. On August 31, 2023, Mark Craighead (“Craighead”) filed a lawsuit 

against the City seeking monetary damages on account of alleged events which 

occurred in 2002, more than ten years before the City filed for bankruptcy.  As a 

result, the filing of this lawsuit violates the discharge and injunction provisions in 

the City’s confirmed Plan and the Bar Date Order (each as defined below).   

2. The City informed Craighead of these violations and asked him to 

voluntarily dismiss the City from the lawsuit, but to no avail. As a result, the City is 

left with no choice but to seek an order barring and permanently enjoining Craighead 

from asserting and prosecuting the claims described in the federal court action 
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against the City, or property of the City, and requiring Craighead to dismiss the City 

from the lawsuit with prejudice.  

II. Factual Background 

A. The City’s Bankruptcy Case   

3. On July 18, 2013 (“Petition Date”), the City filed this chapter 9 case.  

4. On October 10, 2013, the City filed its Motion Pursuant to Sections 

105, 501, and 503 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules 2002 and 3003(c), 

for Entry of an Order Establishing Bar Dates for Filing Proofs of Claim and 

Approving Form and Manner of Notice Thereof (“Bar Date Motion”) [Doc. No. 

1146], which was approved by order of this Court on November 21, 2013 (“Bar Date 

Order”). [Doc. No. 1782].  

5. The Bar Date Order established February 21, 2014, as the deadline for 

filing claims against the City.  Paragraph 6 of the Bar Date Order states that the  

following entities must file a proof of claim on or before 
the Bar Date…any entity: (i) whose prepetition claim 
against the City is not listed in the List of Claims or is 
listed as disputed, contingent or unliquidated; and (ii) that 
desires to share in any distribution in this bankruptcy case 
and/or otherwise participate in the proceedings in this 
bankruptcy case associated with the confirmation of any 
chapter 9 plan of adjustment proposed by the City… 

 
Bar Date Order ¶ 6.   
 

6. Paragraph 22 of the Bar Date Order also provides that:  
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Pursuant to sections 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and 
Bankruptcy Rule 3003(c)(2), any entity that is required to 
file a proof of claim in this case pursuant to the Bankruptcy 
Code, the Bankruptcy Rules or this Order with respect to 
a particular claim against the City, but that fails properly 
to do so by the applicable Bar Date, shall be forever 
barred, estopped and enjoined from: (a) asserting any 
claim against the City or property of the City that (i) is in 
an amount that exceeds the amount, if any, that is 
identified in the List of Claims on behalf of such entity as 
undisputed, noncontingent and liquidated or (ii) is of a 
different nature or a different classification or priority than 
any Scheduled Claim identified in the List of Claims on 
behalf of such entity (any such claim under subparagraph 
(a) of this paragraph being referred to herein as an 
“Unscheduled Claim”); (b) voting upon, or receiving 
distributions under any Chapter 9 Plan in this case in 
respect of an Unscheduled Claim; or (c) with respect to 
any 503(b)(9) Claim or administrative priority claim 
component of any Rejection Damages Claim, asserting 
any such priority claim against the City or property of the 
City.  

 
7. Craighead did not file a proof of claim.   

8. On October 22, 2014, the City filed its Eighth Amended Plan of the 

Adjustment of Debts of the City of Detroit (“Plan”), which this Court confirmed on 

November 12, 2014.  [Doc. Nos. 8045 & 8272].  

9. The discharge provision in the Plan provides: 

Except as provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation 
Order, the rights afforded under the Plan and the treatment 
of Claims under the Plan will be in exchange for and in 
complete satisfaction, discharge and release of all Claims 
arising on or before the Effective Date.  Except as 
provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, 
Confirmation will, as of the Effective Date, discharge the 
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City from all Claims or other debts that arose on or before 
the Effective Date, and all debts of the kind specified in 
section 502(g), 502(h) or 502(i) of the Bankruptcy Code, 
whether or not (i) proof of Claim based on such debt is 
Filed or deemed Filed pursuant to section 501 of the 
Bankruptcy Code, (ii) a Claim based on such debt is 
allowed pursuant to section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code 
or (ii) the Holder of a Claim based on such debt has 
accepted the Plan. 

 
Plan, Art. III.D.4, at p.50.  
 

10. Further, the Plan injunction set forth in Article III.D.5 provides in 

pertinent part: 

 Injunction  

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided herein 
or in the Confirmation Order,  

 
a. all Entities that have been, are or may be holders of 

Claims against the City…shall be permanently enjoined from 
taking any of the following actions against or affecting the City or 
its property… 

 
 1. commencing, conducting or continuing in any 

manner, directly or indirectly, any suit, action or other proceeding 
of any kind against or affect the City of its property… 

 
 5. proceeding in any manner in any place 

whatsoever that does not conform or comply with the provisions of 
the Plan or the settlements set forth herein to the extent such 
settlements have been approved by the Bankruptcy Court in 
connection with Confirmation of the Plan; and 

 
6. taking any actions to interfere with the 

implementation or consummation of the Plan.  

Plan, Article III.D.5, at pp.50-51 (emphasis supplied).  
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11. The Court also retained jurisdiction to enforce the Plan injunction and 

to resolve any suits that may arise in connection with the consummation, 

interpretation, or enforcement of the Plan.  Plan, Art. VII. F, G, I, at p.72.    

B. Craighead’s Lawsuit Against the City  

12. On August 31, 2023, Craighead filed a complaint (“Complaint”) 

against the City and four named police officers and other unidentified employees of 

the Detroit Police Department (“Defendant Officers”) in their individual capacity, in 

the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan (“District 

Court”), commencing case number 23-12243 (“Lawsuit”).  Complaint ¶¶ 12-13, 

PageID.4.  A copy of the Complaint is attached as Exhibit 6A and the docket in the 

Federal Court Lawsuit is attached as Exhibit 6B. 

13. In the Complaint, Craighead alleges that on June 27, 1997, Chole Pruett 

(“Pruett”) had been shot four times in the torso and his body discovered in an 

apartment. Complaint ¶ 14, PageID.5. Craighead further alleges that on the same 

day, at 2:35 a.m., a witness reported that a truck was on fire in Redford Township 

and that the truck belonged to Pruett. Complaint ¶¶ 14-15, PageID.5.  

14. Craighead asserts that he was working an overnight shift at Sam’s Club 

Warehouse at the time of the murder and that he was interviewed in his home by 

Detroit police investigator Ronald Tate (“Investigator Tate”) on August 29, 1997, 
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and cleared of having any responsibility for the crime. Complaint ¶¶18-19, 

PageID.5.  

15. Craighead states that the case went unsolved and on March 18, 1999, 

Investigator Tate again questioned Craighead in his home and cleared him from 

being a suspect a second time. Complaint ¶ 21, PageID.6.  

16.  The Complaint states that in June 2000, a new team of investigators 

took on the case and, at that time, Lieutenant Jackson and Investigator Fisher came 

to Craighead’s home and told him that he needed to come to the police station to 

answer questions about Pruett’s death. Complaint ¶¶ 22-26, PageID.6.  

17. Craighead states that even though he was tired and hungry and asked if 

he could come in the next day, the officers gave him no choice but to accompany 

them immediately. Complaint ¶¶ 27-31, PageID.6 – PageID.7. 

18. Further, the Complaint alleges that Craighead was questioned without 

having been informed of his Miranda rights. Complaint ¶¶ 48-49, PageID.9. 

19. Craighead asserts that even though he was not under arrest, he was not 

allowed to leave or make any phone calls. Complaint ¶¶ 56-59, PageID.10. 

20. Craighead states that Defendant Officer Simon told him that he would 

not be allowed to leave until he took a polygraph test and that he would be released 

if took the test. Complaint ¶¶ 70-72, PageID.12. 
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21. Craighead states that he agreed to take the polygraph test so he could 

go home and when the examination ended, he was falsely told that he had failed the 

test by polygraph technician, Defendant Sims. Complaint ¶¶ 75, 82, PageID.12- 

PageID.13. 

22. Craighead alleges that the actions of Defendants Fisher, Jackson, 

Simon, and Sims to falsely arrest him, deny him his right to counsel, wrongly 

incarcerate him, threaten him with life imprisonment, and withhold medical 

treatment, among other tactics, were designed to overbear his will. Complaint ¶ 95, 

PageID.15. 

23. Craighead further alleges that Defendant Simon suggested to Craighead 

that he had accidentally killed Pruett during an argument that turned into a struggle 

for a gun and the gun went off. Complaint ¶ 101, PageID.16. Defendant Simon 

allegedly told Craighead that if he told her that happened, that it could be considered 

self-defense, and she could help him by getting the charges reduced to avoid facing 

a life sentence. Id. She also allegedly told him that if he did so, he could bond out 

and the fight the charges outside of jail. Id.  

24. Further, Craighead states that after having no sleep for two days, being 

hungry, and having had his pleas for a lawyer and to leave ignored, he succumbed 

to the Defendants’ efforts to coerce him to give a false confession, hoping he would 
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be released to resolve the situation out of custody. Complaint ¶ 103, PageID.16. 

Instead, he was charged with murder.  Complaint ¶¶ 103-104, PageID.16. 

25. Craighead alleges that Defendants caused him to be charged with 

murder despite knowing there was no evidence to support the charge.  Complaint ¶ 

105, PageID.17.  Craighead asserts that his confession was demonstrably false.  

Complaint ¶ 106, PageID.17.   He further asserts that the forensic evidence from the 

crime scene showed that Pruett was shot multiple times in an execution style 

shooting, rather than a single gunshot and that the victim was lying prone on the 

ground when some of the shots were fired. Complaint ¶ 106, PageID.17.    

26. Craighead states that prior to trial he moved to “suppress the police 

statement that Mr. Craighead adopted after being arrested at his home three years 

after the crime had occurred and being held incommunicado, despite his brother’s 

presence at the police station.” Exhibit 6E, Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief (as defined 

below), p.2. The trial court, however, denied Craighead’s request. Exhibit 6E, 

Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief, p.7. 

27. Craighead’s trial began in June 2002. Exhibit 6C, Docket of criminal 

trial, case number 00-007900, p.3.  

28. Craighead asserts that at his trial in 2002 his defense “was that the 

statement extracted by Barbara Simon was false and that he was at work at the Sam’s 
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Club in Farmington Hills the night Mr. Pruett was killed in Detroit.” Exhibit 6G, 

Craighead 2010 Appeal Application, p.3.  

29. Craighead asserts that he was convicted based on fabricated evidence 

and that his false confession was used against him. Complaint ¶¶ 126-127, 

PageID.21.  

30. Craighead was found guilty in June 2002, and sentenced in August 

2002.  Exhibit 6G, Craighead 2010 Appeal Application, p.1.  

31. Craighead asserts that he spent over seven years incarcerated for 

manslaughter, but he never gave up hope that he would someday be exonerated. 

Complaint ¶¶ 129-130, PageID.21. 

C. Craighead’s First Appeal  

32. After he was convicted, Craighead filed a motion for “new trial raising 

the issues of new evidence and misleading evidence with regard to the initial ruling 

on the Motion to Suppress Mr. Craighead’s statement.” Exhibit 6E, Craighead 2002 

Appeal Brief (as defined below), p.13; see also Exhibit 6C, docket of criminal trial, 

case number 00-007900, p. 4. The motion was denied on May 17, 2005. Id. 

Following this ruling, Craighead filed a motion for reconsideration on June 13, 2005, 

which was also denied on June 27, 2005. Id.  

33. On September 15, 2002, Craighead filed his first appeal, People of the 

State of Michigan v. Mark T. Craighead, No. 243856. See Exhibit 6D, 2002 Appeal 
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Docket. Craighead’s brief on appeal is attached as Exhibit 6E (“Craighead 2002 

Appeal Brief”).  

34. Craighead requested that the Court of Appeals vacate his convictions 

or, in the alternative, reverse the convictions and remand for a “fair trial.” Craighead 

2002 Appeal Brief, p. 13.  

35. In the Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief, Craighead asserted that:  

Mr. Craighead did not kill Pruitt [sic] and did not know 
who had.  In 1997, he was working the night shift at Sam’s 
Club on June 26th and June 27th and the building was 
locked during the shift, as it always was, so he could not 
have left undetected. He did not tell the police that he shot 
Pruitt [sic] and only signed the statement because his 
interrogator, Barbara Simon, told him he would be in 
prison for the rest of his life if he did not sign it. After 
being arrested, held overnight and not being allowed 
contact with anyone, he felt he had no choice but to 
comply with the police. 

Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief, p.2; see also p.12 (“Mr. Craighead did not kill Pruitt 

[sic] and did not know who had killed him.”).  

36. Craighead further emphasized that “[n]othing in the statement that 

Simon read was true. He signed the statement because he was broken down and 

Simon told him he would otherwise be there for the rest of his life.” Craighead 2002 

Appeal Brief, p.12.  

37. On appeal, Craighead also argued that his federal and state 

constitutional rights against unreasonable searches and seizures were violated when 
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he was arrested without a warrant or a showing of probable cause, and that his June 

21, 2000, statement to the police was obtained as a result of the illegal arrest should 

have been suppressed. People v. Craighead, No. 243856, 2005 WL 3500831, at *2 

(Mich. Ct. App. Dec. 22, 2005); Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief, pp. 14-22.  

38. Craighead asserted claims against the City and its police officers in 

the Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief:  

Unfortunately, the police conduct in this case was all too 
familiar and has been found to be blatantly illegal. This is 
borne out by two particular documents. The first is the 
June 5, 2002 letter to Corporation Counsel Ruth Carter 
from Steven H. Rosenbaum, Chief Special Litigation 
Section of the United States Attorney's Office. In the June 
5th letter, Attorney Rosenbaum indicated that the Detroit 
Police Department: 

 
“defines an arrest as ‘a taking of an 
individual into custody for further 
investigation, booking or prosecution’, this 
policy implicitly permits the arrest of an 
individual with less than probable cause as 
a means to facilitate an investigation. 
Indeed, some former DPD employees 
informed us that it was acceptable practice to 
arrest suspects without probable cause and 
then continue to investigate the case to 
develop probable cause prior to arraignment. 
Gathering additional evidence after an 
arrest in order to establish probable cause 
for that arrest is unconstitutional. County 
of Riverside v McLaughlin, 500 U.S. 44, 56 
(1991)” (emphasis added) (Letter attached as 
Appendix D) 
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The second location for an explanation is the Consent 
Judgment that Judge Julian Abele Cook entered, which 
required, among many other relevant requirements, that 
officers must be instructed "that the `possibility' that an 
individual committed a crime does not rise to the level 
of probable cause." (emphasis added) The Consent 
Judgment further instructed that the officers be given: 
 

“examples of scenarios faced by DPD officers 
and interactive exercises that illustrate proper 
police-community interactions, including 
scenarios which distinguish an investigatory 
stop from an arrest by the scope and duration 
of the police interaction; between probable 
cause, reasonable suspicion and mere 
speculation; and voluntary consent from 
mere acquiescence to police authority.” 
(emphasis added) (Consent Decree attached as 
Appendix E) 

 
The facts of this case bear out all too well the problems 
that were infecting the Detroit Police Department at the 
time of this investigation and which ultimately led to entry 
of the Consent Judgment. Officers Fisher and Jackson 
engaged in a textbook list of illegal tactics in order to 
extract an incriminating statement from Mr. Craighead 
because they believed, i.e., speculated that he was 
responsible for the shooting. 
 

Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief, pp.15-16 (emphasis supplied).  

39. Craighead asserted additional claims against the City later in his brief:  

The trial court further failed to take into account the 
circumstances surrounding the arrest. Officer Jackson 
admitted that the Detroit Police do not always obtain a 
warrant even when they have probable cause for an arrest. 
Jackson's statement underlies the problems besieging the 
Detroit police department and the citizens of the City 
whose rights are being trampled every day by a cavalier 
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attitude toward the Constitution. 

Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief, p. 20.  

40. The appeals court disagreed with Craighead’s arguments. People v. 

Craighead, No. 243856, 2005 WL 3500831, at *2 (Mich. Ct. App. Dec. 22, 2005).  

Further, the appeals court found that given the circumstances, the trial court did not 

clearly err when it found that defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived his 

Miranda rights and affirmed the lower court in its opinion dated December 22, 2005.  

Id.  

41. Craighead sought leave to appeal to the Michigan Supreme Court, but 

leave was denied on May 2, 2007, in docket no. 130450. People v. Craighead, 477 

Mich. 1124, 730 N.W.2d 245, 246 (2007) 

D. Craighead Retains the Michigan Innocence Clinic  

42. In December 2009, Craighead, represented by the Michigan Innocence 

Clinic, filed his initial motion for relief from judgment, asserting that he was entitled 

to relief from judgment based upon newly discovered evidence, which consisted of 

telephone records from Sam’s Club in Farmington Hills in June 1997 that 

purportedly established that he made four telephone calls from inside of the locked 

store on the night of Pruett’s death such that he could not have killed Pruett. People 

v. Craighead, No. 356393, 2021 WL 5027978, at *1 (Mich. Ct. App. Oct. 28, 2021), 

appeal denied, 509 Mich. 974, 972 N.W.2d 845 (2022); Exhibit 6G, Craighead 2010 
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Appeal Application, p.11. After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied 

Craighead’s motion, reasoning that defendant failed to present credible evidence that 

he was the one who made telephone calls from inside the locked store on the night 

of Pruett’s death such that there was no reasonable probability that the evidence 

would have affected the outcome of defendant's jury trial. Id. The trial court’s ruling 

is set forth on pp.6-8 of the Plaintiff-Appellee’s Brief in Opposition to Defendant’s 

Delayed Application for Leave to Appeal, Exhibit 6H.  

E. Craighead’s Second Appeal 

43. On December 6, 2010, Craighead filed another appeal.  People of the 

State of Michigan v. Mark T. Craighead, No. 301465. See Exhibit 6F, 2010 Appeal 

Docket. Craighead’s Delayed Application for Leave to Appeal is attached as Exhibit 

6G (“Craighead 2010 Appeal Application.”). 

44. In the 2010 appeal, Craighead was represented by the University of 

Michigan Innocence Claim and attorney Bridget McCormack, who later became the 

Chief Justice of the Michigan Supreme Court. See Craighead 2010 Appeal 

Application, cover page.  

45. In the 2010 appeal, Craighead asserted that “[i]n light of the compelling 

newly discovered evidence of Mr. Craighead’s innocence, and the near certainty that 

this evidence would have led to a different outcome at trial, Mr. Craighead asks this 
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Court grant this application for leave to appeal . . . and order a new trial in this case.”  

Craighead 2010 Appeal Application, p.vii.   

46. Craighead plainly alleges that he “served more than seven years in 

prison for a crime that he did not commit.” Craighead 2010 Appeal Application, p.1. 

47. The alleged newly discovered evidence was “phone records newly 

discovered by the Michigan Innocence Clinic” which allegedly “establish that Mr. 

Craighead made a telephone call from Sam’s Club to his friend . . . just eight minutes 

before Mr. Pruett’s truck was discovered by police, engulfed in flames, in a vacant 

lot behind an elementary school in Redford Township.” Craighead 2010 Appeal 

Application, pp.1-2; see also Craighead 2010 Appeal Application, pp.4, 7-11. 

48. Based on the new evidence, Craighead asked the court to reverse the 

trial court’s denial of a motion for relief from judgment and order a new trial where 

the phone records could be presented to a jury. Exhibit 6I, Reply Brief in Support 

of 2010 Application for Leave to Appeal, pp.8-9. Leave to appeal was denied by the 

appeals court on November 22, 2011, based on Craighead’s failure to meet the 

burden for establishing an entitlement to relief under court rules. See Exhibit 6J, 

November 22, 2011 Court of Appeals Order. 

49. Craighead sought appeal to the Michigan Supreme Court, but on 

October 15, 2012, the Supreme Court agreed with the court of appeals and denied 

his application for leave to appeal for the same reason. Craighead then further sought 
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reconsideration by the Supreme Court and reconsideration was denied on January 

25, 2013, in docket no. 144415. Exhibit 6K, October 5, 2012 and January 25, 2013 

Supreme Court Orders. 

F. Craighead’s Third Appeal  

50. On February 24, 2020, Craighead filed another motion for relief from 

judgment in the trial court which was ultimately granted on February 4, 2021. See 

People v. Craighead, No. 356393, 2021 WL 5027978, at *1 (Mich. Ct. App. Oct. 

28, 2021), appeal denied, 509 Mich. 974, 972 N.W.2d 845 (2022). 

51. This was the third appeal arising out of the shooting death of Chole 

Pruett on or about June 27, 1997. 

52. With the continuing assistance of the Michigan Innocence Clinic, on 

June 1, 2023, Craighead asserts he was awarded a Certificate of Innocence. 

Complaint ¶¶ 131-132, PageID.21. 

G. Craighead’s Claims Against the City  

53. The Complaint contains 10 counts. 

54. Count I asserts a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for coerced confession 

in violation of the Fifth Amendment. In this count, Craighead asserts, among other 

things, that “Defendant City of Detroit had notice of a widespread practice by 

officers and agents of the Detroit Police Department under which individuals like 

Plaintiff who were suspected of criminal activity were routinely coerced against their 
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will to implicate themselves in crimes of which they were innocent.” Complaint, ¶¶ 

138-151, PageID.23 – PageID.26.  

55. Count II asserts a similar claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for coerced 

confession in violation of Fourteenth Amendment. Complaint, ¶¶ 152- 157, 

PageID.27 – PageID.28.  

56. Count III asserts a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for Fourteenth 

Amendment Due Process. In this count, Craighead asserts that as a direct and 

proximate result of Defendant Officers of false inculpatory evidence, acting pursuant 

to the customs, policies and/or practices of the City, the Defendant Officers violated 

Craighead’s due process rights. Complaint, ¶¶ 158-164, PageID.28 – PageID.30.  

57. Count IV asserts a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for Fourth and 

Fourteenth Amendment – Unreasonable Search and Seizure. Here, Craighead asserts 

that the Defendant Officers exerted influence to perpetuate a criminal prosecution 

against Craighead that was lacking in probable cause in spite of the fact that they 

knew Craighead was innocent. Complaint, ¶¶ 165-171, PageID.30 – PageID.32.  

58. Count V asserts a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for failure to intervene 

because the Defendant Officers allegedly stood by without intervening to prevent 

the violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights. Complaint, ¶¶ 172 - 177, PageID.32 

– PageID.33. 
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59. Count VI asserts a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for supervisor liability 

because Supervisor Defendant Jackson allegedly gave direct orders that violated 

Craighead’s constitutional rights. Complaint, ¶¶178 - 180, PageID.31– PageID.35.  

60. Count VII asserts a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for conspiracy to 

deprive constitutional rights. Complaint, ¶¶ 182- 188, PageID.35 – PageID.36.  

61. Count VIII asserts a claim under 42 U.S.C § 1983 for Municipal 

Liability Under Monell.  In this Count, Craighead asserts that the City enabled and 

approved flawed and erroneous police investigative methods that allegedly led to 

Craighead’s wrongful conviction. Complaint, ¶¶ 189 – 197, PageID.36 – PageID.39.  

62. Count IX asserts a State Law Claim for Malicious Prosecution because 

the Defendant Officers falsely accused Craighead of criminal activity. Complaint, 

¶¶198 – 205, PageID.40 – PageID.41. 

63. Count X asserts a State Law Claim for Civil Conspiracy because the 

Defendant Officers allegedly participated in a joint malicious prosecution of 

Craighead.  Complaint, ¶¶ 206-210, PageID.42 – PageID.43. 

III. Argument 

64. Craighead violated the Plan’s injunction and discharge provisions 

when he filed the Lawsuit to assert pre-petition claims and otherwise seek relief 

against the City.  And he continues to violate them by persisting in prosecuting the 

Lawsuit.  
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65. Under the “fair contemplation” test, Craighead’s claim arose before the 

City’s bankruptcy filing because, prior to the City’s filing, Craighead “could have 

ascertained through the exercise of reasonable due diligence that he had a claim” 

against the City. In re City of Detroit, Michigan, 548 B.R. 748, 763 (Bankr. E.D. 

Mich. 2016) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Indeed, for years before 

the City filed for bankruptcy, during his trial and through two appeals, Craighead 

had been arguing that he was innocent and that his confession was illegally obtained.  

66. For bankruptcy purposes, Courts agree that a claim for a wrongful 

conviction does not accrue when the conviction is vacated.  Instead, it arises when 

the claim first enters into the plaintiff’s fair contemplation.  In one example, a court 

noted, 

It must be said here that all Sanford’s claims against the 
City were within his “fair contemplation” before the City 
declared bankruptcy. He certainly contemplated the 
factual bases underlying the claims raised in the 
complaint, since he attempted repeatedly to argue actual 
innocence before the state courts since at least 2008, 
insisting that his confession was falsely obtained, 
concocted, and coerced.  Sanford correctly points out that 
he could not have sued the City until his convictions were 
set aside, which did not happen until after the bankruptcy.  
But the courts that have considered the question uniformly 
have concluded that claims based on prepetition malicious 
prosecutions were barred, notwithstanding that the 
plaintiff could not file suit on his claims until his criminal 
conviction was overturned. 
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Sanford v. City of Detroit, No. 17-13062, 2018 WL 6331342, at *5 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 

4, 2018); see also Monson v. City of Detroit, No. 18-10638, 2019 WL 1057306 at 

*8-9 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 6, 2019);1 Burton v. Sanders, No. 20-11948, 2021 WL 

168543, at *4-6 (E.D. Mich. Jan. 1, 2021).   

67. This issue has also arisen repeatedly in the City’s bankruptcy case in 

similar motions to enforce the plan and bar date order. See Doc. Nos. 11159 (Siner), 

13000 (Ricks), 13691 (Chancellor).  In each instance, the Court recognized that, 

because the events that gave rise to the asserted claim occurred prepetition, the 

claimant was able to (or should have been able to) contemplate that he had potential 

claims against the City and, accordingly, file a proof of claim in the City’s 

bankruptcy case if he wished to participate in the case and recover on the claim.  See 

Doc. Nos. 11296 (Siner), 13025 (Ricks), 13751 (Chancellor) (orders granting 

motions referenced above) and Exhibit 6L, Doc. No. 13792 (Hearing Transcript on 

Ricks); Exhibit 6M, Doc. No. 13793 (Hearing Transcript on Chancellor). 

68. Here, there are numerous instances of Craighead asserting the same 

types of claims that are raised in the Complaint in public court filings prior to the 

 
1 The instant facts are similar to the facts in Monson.  Indeed, Craighead alleged that 
“Defendant Simon was also responsible for Lamarr Monson’s wrongful conviction. 
Defendant Simon interrogated Monson for hours, and eventually wrote out a false 
statement in which Monon admitted inculpatory information about the murder of 
Christina Brown, and which omitted Monson’s alibi.” Complaint ¶ 124. This Court 
should follow the Monson court and hold that Craighead’s claims were discharged. 
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City’s bankruptcy filing. In both the Complaint and in his public court filings, 

appeals and arguments prior to the City’s bankruptcy case, Craighead claims that he 

is innocent, that his confession was illegally obtained and that the Detroit police 

engaged in illegal tactics. Compare Complaint, ¶¶ 138-51, PageID.23-PageID.26; 

Complaint, ¶¶ 158-64, PageID.28-PageID.30; Complaint, ¶¶ 189-97, PageID.36-

PageID.39 and Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief, pp. 2, 15-16, 20; Craighead 2010 

Appeal Application, pp.1-2. 

69. In short, not only could Craighead fairly contemplate the claims in the 

complaint prior to the City’s bankruptcy case, he wrote and argued them repeatedly 

in public court filings and arguments.  

70. Thus, as in each of the prior cases before this Court, Craighead should 

have filed a proof of claim in the City’s bankruptcy case if he wanted to assert a 

claim against the City. He did not. He is now barred from asserting any claim against 

the City or property of the City under the Bar Date Order and Plan.  

71. The Plan’s discharge provision also states that the “rights afforded 

under the Plan and the treatment of Claims under the Plan will be in exchange for 

and in complete satisfaction, discharge and release of all Claims arising on or before 

the Effective Date.” Plan Art. III.D.4, at p.50.   

72. Consequently, Craighead does not have a right to a distribution or 

payment under the Plan on account of the claims asserted in the Lawsuit.  Plan, Art. 
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III.D.5, at p.50 (“[A]ll entities that have been, are or may be holders of Claims 

against the City . . . shall be permanently enjoined from . . . proceeding in any manner 

in any place whatsoever that does not conform or comply with the provisions of the 

Plan.”).  See also Plan, Art. I.A.19, at p.3; Art. I.A.134, at p.11; Art. VI.A.1, at p.67 

(“Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, no payments or Distributions 

shall be made on account of a Disputed Claim until such Claim becomes an Allowed 

Claim.”).  Any claims that Craighead may have had were discharged, and the Plan 

enjoins Craighead from pursuing them. The Bar Date Order also forever barred, 

estopped, and enjoined Craighead from pursuing the claims asserted in the Lawsuits.  

73. Even if Craighead could somehow seek relief on his claims against the 

City or its property (which he cannot), the proper and only forum for doing so would 

be in this Bankruptcy Court.  There is no set of circumstances under which Craighead 

is, or would have been, permitted to commence and prosecute the Lawsuit against 

the City or its property.    

IV. Conclusion 

74. The City thus respectfully requests that this Court enter an order, in 

substantially the same form as the one attached as Exhibit 1: (a) directing 

Craighead to dismiss, or cause to be dismissed, with prejudice the City and the 

Defendant Officers in their official capacity from the Lawsuit; (b) permanently 

barring, estopping and enjoining Craighead from asserting the claims alleged in, or 
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claims related to, the Lawsuit against the City or property of the City; and (c) 

prohibiting Craighead from sharing in any distribution in this bankruptcy case.  

The City sought, but did not obtain, concurrence to the relief requested in the 

Motion.  

Dated: October 27, 2023   MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK AND 
STONE, P.L.C. 
 
By: /s/ Marc N. Swanson  
Marc N. Swanson (P71149) 
150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
Telephone: (313) 496-7591 
Facsimile: (313) 496-8451 
swansonm@millercanfield.com 
Attorneys for the City of Detroit 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

In re: 

City of Detroit, Michigan, 

  Debtor. 

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 

Judge Thomas J. Tucker 

Chapter 9 

 

EXHIBIT LIST 

Exhibit 1  Proposed Order 

Exhibit 2  Notice of Opportunity to Object 

Exhibit 3  None 

Exhibit 4  Certificate of Service 

Exhibit 5  None 

Exhibit 6A  Complaint 
 
Exhibit 6B   Docket in the Federal Court Lawsuit  
 
Exhibit 6C   Docket of criminal trial, case number 00-007900 
 
Exhibit 6D   2002 Appeal Docket 
 
Exhibit 6E   Craighead 2002 Appeal Brief 
 
Exhibit 6F   2010 Appeal Docket  
 
Exhibit 6G   Craighead 2010 Appeal Application  
 
Exhibit 6H  Plaintiff-Appellee’s Brief in Opposition to Defendant’s 

Delayed Application for Leave to Appeal 
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Exhibit 6I  Reply Brief in Support of 2010 Application for Leave to 
Appeal. 

 
Exhibit 6J   November 22, 2011 Court of Appeals Order 
 
Exhibit 6K   October 5, 2012 and January 25, 2013 Supreme Court Orders 
 
Exhibit 6L   Hearing Transcript on Ricks       
 
Exhibit 6M  Hearing Transcript on Chancellor  
 
 

 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 25 of 34



 
 

 

EXHIBIT 1 – PROPOSED ORDER 

 
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 
SOUTHERN DIVISION 

In re: 

City of Detroit, Michigan, 

  Debtor. 

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 

Judge Thomas J. Tucker 

Chapter 9 

 
ORDER GRANTING CITY OF DETROIT’S MOTION FOR THE 

ENTRY OF AN ORDER ENFORCING THE BAR DATE ORDER AND 
CONFIRMATION ORDER AGAINST MARK CRAIGHEAD 

 
This matter, having come before the Court on the City of Detroit’s Motion for 

the Entry of an Order Enforcing the Bar Date Order and Confirmation Order 

Against Mark Craighead (“Motion”),1 upon proper notice and a hearing, the Court 

being fully advised in the premises, and there being good cause to grant the relief 

requested,  

THE COURT ORDERS THAT: 
 

1. The Motion is granted.  

2. Within five days of the entry of this Order, Mark Craighead shall 

dismiss, or cause to be dismissed, with prejudice the City of Detroit and the 

Defendant Officers (as such term is defined in the Complaint) in their official 

 
1 Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Order shall have the 
meanings given to them in the Motion. 
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capacity from the case captioned as Mark Craighead v. City of Detroit, et al., filed 

in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan and 

assigned case number 23-12243 (“Lawsuit”). 

3. Mark Craighead is permanently barred, estopped and enjoined from 

asserting claims asserted in the Lawsuit or claims arising from or related to the 

Lawsuit against the City of Detroit or property of the City of Detroit.  

4. Mark Craighead is prohibited from sharing in any distribution in this 

bankruptcy case.  

5. The Court shall retain jurisdiction over any and all matters arising 

from the interpretation or implementation of this Order.  
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EXHIBIT 2 – NOTICE 

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

In re: 

City of Detroit, Michigan, 

  Debtor. 

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 

Judge Thomas J. Tucker 

Chapter 9 

 
NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY TO OBJECT TO CITY OF 

DETROIT’S MOTION FOR THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER ENFORCING 
THE BAR DATE ORDER AND CONFIRMATION ORDER AGAINST 

MARK CRAIGHEAD 
 

The City of Detroit has filed papers with the Court requesting the entry of an 

order enforcing the bar date order and confirmation order against Mark Craighead. 

 Your rights may be affected.  You should read these papers carefully and 

discuss them with your attorney. 

If you do not want the Court to enter an Order granting the City of Detroit’s 

Motion for the Entry of an Order Enforcing the Bar Date Order and Confirmation 

Order Against Mark Craighead, within 14 days, you or your attorney must: 
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 1.   File with the court a written response or an answer, explaining your 

position at:1 

United States Bankruptcy Court 
211 W. Fort St., Suite 1900 

Detroit, Michigan 48226 

 If you mail your response to the court for filing, you must mail it early enough 

so that the court will receive it on or before the date stated above.  You must also 

mail a copy to: 

Miller, Canfield, Paddock & Stone, PLC 
Attn: Marc N. Swanson 

150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 

 2.   If a response or answer is timely filed and served, the clerk will schedule 

a hearing on the motion and you will be served with a notice of the date, time, and 

location of that hearing. 

 If you or your attorney do not take these steps, the court may decide that 

you do not oppose the relief sought in the motion or objection and may enter an 

order granting that relief. 

 

 
1 Response or answer must comply with F. R. Civ. P. 8(b), (c) and (e). 
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MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK AND STONE, P.L.C. 

By: /s/ Marc N. Swanson   
Marc N. Swanson (P71149) 
150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
Telephone: (313) 496-7591 
Facsimile: (313) 496-8451 
swansonm@millercanfield.com 
 

Dated:  October 27, 2023 
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EXHIBIT 3 – NONE 
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EXHIBIT 4 – CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

In re: 

City of Detroit, Michigan, 

  Debtor. 

Bankruptcy Case No. 13-53846 

Judge Thomas J. Tucker 

Chapter 9 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 The undersigned hereby certifies that on October 27, 2023, he served a 

copy of the foregoing CITY OF DETROIT’S MOTION FOR THE ENTRY OF 

AN ORDER ENFORCING THE BAR DATE ORDER AND 

CONFIRMATION ORDER AGAINST MARK CRAIGHEAD upon counsel for 

Mark Craighead, via the Court’s CM/ECF service and in the manner described 

below:  

Via first class mail and email: 
 

Arthur Loevy  
Jon Loevy 
Rachel Brady 
Russell Ainsworth 
Megan Colleen Pierce 
Loevy & Loevy  
311 North Aberdeen  
3rd Floor  
Chicago, IL 60607  
Email: arthur@loevy.com  
Email: jon@loevy.com 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 32 of 34



 
 

 

Email: brady@loevy.com  
Email: russell@loevy.com 
Email: megan@loevy.com  
 
 
 
DATED:  October 27, 2023 
 

By: /s/ Marc N. Swanson  
Marc N. Swanson (P71149) 
150 West Jefferson, Suite 2500 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
Telephone: (313) 496-7591 
Facsimile: (313) 496-8451 
swansonm@millercanfield.com 
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EXHIBIT 5 – NONE 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

MARK CRAIGHEAD, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

CITY OF DETROIT, FORMER 
INVESTIGATOR BARBARA 
SIMON, FORMER INVESTIGATOR 
JAMES FISHER, FORMER 
LIEUTENANT BOB JACKSON, 
POLYGRAPH OPERATOR 
ANDREW SIMS, AND OTHER AS-
OF-YET-UNKNOWN EMPLOYEES 
OF THE CITY OF DETROIT, 

Defendants. 

No. 

COMPLAINT & DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

NOW COMES Plaintiff, MARK CRAIGHEAD, by and through his 

attorneys, LOEVY & LOEVY, complaining of Defendants CITY OF DETROIT, 

FORMER INVESTIGATOR BARBARA SIMON, FORMER INVESTIGATOR 

JAMES FISHER, FORMER LIEUTENANT BOB JACKSON, FORMER 

POLYGRAPH OPERATOR ANDREW SIMS, and OTHER AS-OF-YET 

UNKNOWN EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF DETROIT, and alleges as follows: 

1 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Mark Craighead was convicted of a murder that he did not 

commit. As a result, Mr. Craighead was forced to spend over seven years 

wrongfully incarcerated. 

2. Mr. Craighead was 41 years old, gainfully employed, married, and the 

father to four children when he was falsely arrested for murder. He had no prior 

criminal history and had never been arrested in his life. 

3. The only evidence used to convict Mr. Craighead came from a false 

confession coerced by Defendants, including the now notoriously corrupt detective 

Barbara Simon. 

4. Defendant Simon has now had four murder convictions overturned 

based on findings that she coerced suspects into making false confessions. 

5. Eventually, Mr. Craighead persevered and was able to obtain a 

Certificate of Innocence based on employment and telephone records establishing 

his alibi that he was at work at the time of the murder. 

6. Finally a free man, Mr. Craighead now seeks redress for his years of 

wrongful incarceration and the shame and damage to his reputation wrought by 

being falsely branded a murder. 

7. In addition to compensating Mr. Craighead for the years that he spent 

wrongfully convicted of a murder he did not commit and his attendant loss of 

2 
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freedom, and his continued suffering, this action seeks to remedy Defendant City 

of Detroit's unlawful policies, practices, and/or customs of routinely conducting 

unlawful interrogations, and of failing to adequately train, supervise, and/or 

discipline its officers that led Defendant Officers to violate Mark Craighead's 

constitutional and state-law rights. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, the 

Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and 

the laws and Constitution of the State of Michigan. 

9. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff's constitutional claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and supplemental jurisdiction over any and all state 

constitutional and state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

10. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because this is the 

judicial district in which the events giving rise to this claim occurred. 

THE PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Mark Craighead is 64 years old. At the time of his false arrest 

in June 2000, Mr. Craighead was employed by Daimler Chrysler and coached 

youth football. He was 41 years old, married, and had a 19 year-old daughter, 11 

year-old daughter, 5 year-old daughter, and a 2 year-old son. Before his arrest on 

3 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-1    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 4 of 45



Case 5:23-cv-12243-JEL-CI ECF No. 1, PagelD.4 Filed 08/31/23 Page 4 of 44 

murder charges, Mr. Craighead had never been arrested and had no criminal 

history of any kind whatsoever. 

12. At all times relevant hereto, Defendants Simon, Fisher, Jackson, Sims, 

and other unidentified employees of the Detroit Police Department ("Defendant 

Officers") were police officers or otherwise employed by the Detroit Police 

Department. All are sued in their individual capacities and at all times relevant 

hereto acted under color of regulations, usage, custom, state law and within the 

scope of their authority and employment, and pursuant to the policies and practices 

of Defendant CITY OF DETROIT during the investigation and prosecution of the 

crime at issue. 

13. Defendant CITY OF DETROIT is a Michigan municipal corporation 

authorized as such by the laws of the State of Michigan, that operates a police 

department as a part of its responsibilities and services. At all times relevant 

herein, Defendant CITY OF DETROIT, through and by its policymaking officials, 

acted under color of regulation, usage, custom, and law and pursuant to its policies 

and practices, as did all the individual Defendants herein. The City is or was the 

employer of each of the Defendant Officers at all relevant times. 

4 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The Crime and Initial Investigation 

14. On June 27, 1997, victim Chole Pruett's body was discovered in an 

apartment. He had been shot four times in the torso. 

15. On that same day, at 2:35 a.m., a witness reported that a truck was on 

fire in Redford Township. The truck belonged to Pruett. 

16. As part of the initial investigation in 1997, police questioned over 25 

people, including Mr. Craighead. 

17. Mr. Craighead was a friend of Pruett's, and willingly answered 

questions about Pruett's death. 

18. Mr. Craighead had nothing to hide. At the time of the murder, he was 

working an overnight shift at a Sam's Club Warehouse. The warehouse was locked 

during the entirety of his shift; any attempt to open one of the doors would have set 

off an alarm. 

19. Detroit police investigator Ronald Tate interviewed Mr. Craighead at 

his home on August 29, 1997, and cleared him from having any responsibility for 

the crime. 

20. During that interview, Investigator Tate had Mr. Craighead sign a 

statement. 

5 
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21. The case went unsolved. On March 18, 1999, Investigator Tate 

reinterviewed Mr. Craighead and again questioned him at his home. As he did in 

1997, Investigator Tate cleared Plaintiff from being a suspect a second time. 

22. In June 2000, however, a new team of investigators took on the case. 

23. On June 20, 2000, Mr. Craighead was home after work, doing some 

tasks around the house. Then he and his brother Randle went to his wife's beauty 

salon and then to a football field where Plaintiff would coach youth football. 

24. Upon arriving home around 6 p.m. on June 20, 2000, Mr. Craighead 

saw two men, later identified as Defendant Lieutenant Jackson and Defendant 

Investigator Fisher, on his porch. 

25. The men identified themselves as police investigators and said they 

were looking for Mark Craighead. 

26. When Mr. Craighead identified himself, the investigators said they 

needed him to come to the police station to answer questions about Pruitt's death. 

27. In response, Mr. Craighead told the investigators that he could not 

come down to the station that day because he was tired and hungry after working a 

10-hour shift. 

28. Mr. Craighead was indeed tired. The night before his encounter with 

Defendants Jackson and Fisher, Plaintiff slept approximately 3 hours before rising 

at 3 a.m. to prepare for the day, and then working his 5 a.m. to 3 p.m. shift. 

6 
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29. After finishing his shift, Mr. Craighead had gone house hunting with 

his wife until about 9:30 or 10 p.m. 

30. Mr. Craighead asked Defendants Fisher and Jackson if he could come 

down to the police station the next day after he got off work at 3 p.m. 

31. Defendants Jackson and Fisher told Plaintiff no, that he had no choice 

but to go to the station with them. 

32. At the time, Defendants had no probable cause whatsoever to suspect 

Mr. Craighead of involvement in Pruett's murder or any other crime. 

33. Mr. Craighead repeated to Defendants that he was tired after working 

all day, and that he had not slept much the night before because he and his wife 

had been house hunting until late. 

34. Mr. Craighead also told the Defendants that he was hungry because he 

had not eaten since that morning, and that he was dirty from working all day. 

35. Mr. Craighead again offered to the Defendants that he would come 

down to the station the following day. 

36. Defendant Fisher then told Mr. Craighead that he had no choice but to 

come to the station for questioning. 

37. Mr. Craighead asked the Defendants if he could go inside to change 

clothes and make a phone call. 

7 
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38. The Defendants told Mr. Craighead no, that he could not go inside his 

house, and positioned themselves to block him from accessing his home from the 

porch. 

39. Mr. Craighead continued to request that his interview be delayed until 

the following day because he was tired, hungry, and dirty. 

40. Again, Defendant Fisher instructed Mr. Craighead that he had to come 

to the station. 

41. Mr. Craighead stated that he wanted to go inside to call his lawyer. 

The Defendants refused that request. 

42. Mr. Craighead then asked if the questioning could be conducted at his 

house rather than the police station downtown. He told the Defendants that 

Investigator Tate had questioned him at his house on both prior occasions. 

43. Defendant Fisher told Mr. Craighead that's the way the old homicide 

did it, but they are the new homicide and they do things differently, or words to 

that effect. 

44. Defendant Jackson then told Mr. Craighead he could either ride down 

with them, or ride down in a patrol car, and radioed for a patrol car to come to Mr. 

Craighead's house. 

45. Feeling that he had no choice but to accompany the Defendants, 

Mr. Craighead asked if his brother could come with him. 

8 
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46. Defendant Fisher stated that Mr. Craighead's brother could ride 

separately to the station in his own car. 

47. Mr. Craighead then got into the Defendants' car. He was directed to sit 

in the backseat with Defendant Fisher, while Defendant Jackson drove them to the 

police station at 1300 Beaubien. 

48. During the ride to the police station, Defendants Fisher and Jackson 

questioned Mr. Craighead about the Pruett homicide. 

49. These Defendants did not read Mr. Craighead his Miranda warnings 

before questioning him in the car ride about the murder. 

50. When they arrived at the station, Defendants Jackson and Fisher 

walked Mr. Craighead into the first floor of the police station and allowed 

Mr. Craighead's brother to follow them inside. 

51. Defendants Jackson and Fisher took Mr. Craighead onto an elevator. 

When Mr. Craighead's brother tried to accompany them, the Defendants told him 

that he could not proceed past the first floor, but that Mr. Craighead would not be 

upstairs for long. 

52. The Defendants took Mr. Craighead to Squad Seven upstairs. 

53. Defendant Fisher directed Plaintiff to sit in a chair next to a desk and 

began filling out paperwork. During the course of filling out that paperwork, 

9 
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Defendant Fisher asked Mr. Craighead questions about his personal information 

and his background. 

54. Then Defendant Jackson began questioning Mr. Craighead about the 

Pruett murder. 

55. Defendant Jackson told Plaintiff that this was a three year-old 

homicide that they needed to close. 

56. Mr. Craighead asked if he could go home if he wasn't under arrest, or 

words to that effect. 

57. The Defendants did not allow Mr. Craighead to leave. 

58. Mr. Craighead asked again, asking both to go home as well as to call 

his attorney and his wife. 

59. The Defendants again did not allow Mr. Craighead to call his attorney 

or his wife or to leave. 

60. Mr. Craighead then sat at the desk for approximately 30 minutes. 

While sitting there, Mr. Craighead asked Defendant Jackson if he could leave now. 

61. Defendant Jackson responded that it was Defendant Fisher's case, 

Defendant Fisher was on the phone, and he would finish with Mr. Craighead when 

he was off the phone. 

62. Mr. Craighead was moved to an empty desk where he waited until 

Defendant Simon came to talk to him. 

10 
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63. Defendant Simon sat down at the unoccupied desk next to 

Mr. Craighead and started questioning him. 

64. Up to this point in time, no one (including Defendant Simon) had 

provided Plaintiff with his Miranda rights. 

65. Mr. Craighead did not respond to Defendant Simon's questions. 

Instead, he asked to call his attorney, and to go home, telling her that he had been 

told he was not under arrest. 

66. Defendant Simon ignored Mr. Craighead's request for an attorney and 

to leave, and continued asking him questions. 

67. When Mr. Craighead invoked his right to silence and did not answer 

her questions, Defendant Simon locked Plaintiff in a room in Squad Seven, leaving 

him there for approximately two to three hours. 

68. When Mr. Craighead pounded on the door to be released, Defendant 

Simon told him that he would not be able to go home or go to work, and that he 

would not be allowed a phone call until he started cooperating. Defendant Simon 

told him to sit down and shut up. 

69. When Defendant Simon finally released Mr. Craighead from that 

room, he informed her that he had a migraine headache, he was tired and hungry, 

and his back was hurting. Mr. Craighead asked again to go home. 

11 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-1    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 12 of
45



Case 5:23-cv-12243-JEL-CI ECF No. 1, PagelD.12 Filed 08/31/23 Page 12 of 44 

70. Defendant Simon responded by telling him that would not go 

anywhere until he took a polygraph test. Defendant Simon told Mr. Craighead that 

she could hold him for three or four days and he would lose his job at Chrysler as a 

result. 

71. At the time, Mr. Craighead had not completed his 90-day probationary 

period at Chrysler (a program Chrysler implemented for all new employees in 

Mr. Craighead's role), and feared that she was correct and he would lose his job if 

he did not appear for work. 

72. Defendant Simon told Mr. Craighead that, on the other hand, if he 

agreed to take the polygraph test, she would release him immediately upon 

completion of the test. 

73. Mr. Craighead said he was not in condition to take a polygraph test, 

but if he was allowed to sleep he would return the following day and take it. 

74. Defendant Simon reiterated that the only way he would be allowed to 

go home and go to work is if he took the polygraph test that night. 

75. As a result of the coercion he had experienced thus far, Mr. Craighead 

agreed to take the polygraph test so that he could go home. 

76. Defendant Simon proceeded to return Mr. Craighead to the same 

locked room, leaving him there for approximately an hour and a half. 
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77. At approximately 1 a.m. on June 21, Defendant Simon removed 

Plaintiff from the locked room, handcuffed him, and transported him to a different 

police facility on Brush Street to take a polygraph test. 

78. Once at the polygraph testing facility, Plaintiff was once again left 

alone in a room while Defendants Simon and Defendant Andrew Sims met alone. 

79. Defendant Sims then entered the room where Plaintiff was waiting 

and questioned Mr. Craighead for about an hour. 

80. Defendant Sims then administered the polygraph exam to 

Mr. Craighead. 

81. When the exam ended, Defendant Sims left the room, and then 

returned to tell Mr. Craighead that polygraph exams are extremely accurate, that 

juries will believe Defendant Sims's testimony about the polygraph results because 

he is a licensed polygraph technician, and that polygraph results are admissible in 

court. 

82. Defendant Sims then falsely reported to Mr. Craighead that he had 

failed the polygraph exam. 

83. Defendant Sims then informed Mr. Craighead that the polygraph 

results would be admissible as evidence against him in the Pruett murder case, and 

that he needed to talk in order to avoid going to jail for the rest of his life without 

parole, or words to that effect. 
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84. Mr. Craighead still refused to falsely implicate himself in the crime. 

85. Defendant Sims then left, and Defendant Simon returned. 

86. Defendant Simon told Mr. Craighead that his wife would find herself 

a new husband, and that his children would be calling someone else daddy unless 

he confessed what he had done, or words to that effect. 

87. Defendant Simon threatened Mr. Craighead that if he did not confess, 

he would go to jail for the rest of his life without parole, or words to that effect. 

88. In response, Mr. Craighead asked Defendant Simon if she would 

release him, as she'd promised to do if he took the polygraph test. 

89. Defendant Simon laughed, told Mr. Craighead no, and instead 

handcuffed him and brought him back to 1300 Beaubien. 

90. Back downtown, Defendant Simon brought Mr. Craighead to the 

ninth floor, where he was fingerprinted and placed in a cell. 

91. Mr. Craighead remained in that cell, unable to sleep, until 

approximately 11 a.m. the next day, when Defendant Fisher removed him from his 

cell. 

92. When Defendant Fisher arrived, Plaintiff informed him that he had a 

bad headache and required medication for it. Mr. Craighead also asked him for his 

attorney. 
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93. Rather than respond, Defendant Fisher told Mr. Craighead that he 

heard Plaintiff had failed his polygraph test, and that he should help himself 

confessing what he had done, or words to that effect. 

94. Defendant Fisher brought Mr. Craighead down to Squad Seven and 

turned him over to Defendant Simon. 

95. The actions by Defendants Fisher, Jackson, Simon and Sims to falsely 

arrest Mr. Craighead, deny him his right to counsel, wrongly incarcerate him, 

threaten him with life imprisonment, withhold medical treatment, among other 

tactics, were designed to overbear Plaintiff's will. 

96. When Mr. Craighead encountered Defendant Simon a little after 11 

a.m. on June 21, he had not received any food during his approximately 17 hours 

in custody, and he had not slept since the few hours of sleep he had the night of 

June 19. 

97. Defendant Simon brought Mr. Craighead to the same room in Squad 

Seven that he had been locked inside the day before. 

98. When they arrived in that room, Mr. Craighead asked for medicine for 

his headache, and asked to be able to call his attorney. 

99. Defendant Simon refused his requests. 
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100. Defendant Simon told Mr. Craighead that they could prove he killed 

Pruett, that he would be convicted, and that he would be sent to jail for the rest of 

his life. 

101. Defendant Simon suggested to Mr. Craighead that he had accidentally 

killed Pruett during an argument that turned into a struggle for a gun and the gun 

went off. Defendant Simon told Mr. Craighead that if he told her that happened, 

that it could be considered self-defense, and she could help him by getting the 

charges reduced to avoid facing a life sentence. She also told him that if he did so, 

he could bond out and fight the charges outside of jail. 

102. Defendant Simon also told him that if Mr. Craighead did not 

cooperate, she would convict him of murder and he would spend the rest of his life 

incarcerated. 

103. Having had almost no sleep for two days, hungry, and having had his 

pleas for a lawyer and to leave ignored, Mr. Craighead succumbed to the 

Defendants' efforts to coerce him to give a false confession. He repeated the 

scenario suggested to him by Defendant Simon and signed it, hoping that he would 

be released and he could resolve the situation out of custody. 

104. Instead, Plaintiff was charged with murder. He would remain 

incarcerated for the next seven years. 
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105. Defendants caused Plaintiff to be charged with murder despite 

knowing there was no evidence to support the charge. 

106. Plaintiff's coerced confession was demonstrably false; the forensic 

evidence from the scene of Pruett's homicide showed that Pruett was shot multiple 

times in an execution-style shooting, rather than a single accidental gunshot. Two 

of the bullets were lodged in the floor beneath the victim, demonstrating that the 

victim was laying prone on the ground when some of the shots were fired. 

107. Moreover, Plaintiff's false confession stated that he struggled with the 

victim over a gun when the gun accidentally discharged one time, striking the 

victim. In reality, the victim was shot four times, and none of the shots were fired 

within two feet of the victim, as would be expected during an accidental firing 

during a struggle. 

108. Plaintiff's confession was devoid of detail and provided no 

corroboration for the notion that he killed Pruett; nevertheless, it was used to 

wrongfully convict him. 

Plaintiff's Alibi 

109. Plaintiff could not have committed the murder because he was at work 

at the time Pruett was killed. 

110. On the night of June 26, 1997, Plaintiff was working his regular 

overnight shift at a Sam's Club warehouse. 
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111. Plaintiff worked from either 9 or 10 o'clock at night until 5 or 6 

o'clock in the morning. 

112. Per Sam's Club's policy, all overnight employees were locked inside 

the warehouse for the entire shift. 

113. Had Mr. Craighead left the warehouse during his shift, an alarm 

would have sounded at both Wal-Mart headquarters and the Farmington Hills 

police department. 

114. No alarm went off during the night of June 26, 1997 to the morning of 

June 27, 1997 while Mr. Craighead was there. 

115. Phone records also help establish Plaintiff's alibi. During his time at 

work, he made phone calls from a landline inside the Sam's Club warehouse at 

11:01 p.m. and 11:02 p.m. on June 26, 1997, and 12:19 a.m. and 2:27 a.m. on June 

27, 1997. 

116. The last call from inside the warehouse — at 2:27 a.m. — was placed 8 

minutes before Pruett's truck was reported ablaze 30 miles away. 

Defendant Simon's Repeated Misconduct 

117. Finally, Defendant City failed to supervise and discipline the Officer 

Defendants in this matter, including Defendant Simon. Some examples of 

Defendant Simon's misconduct include: 
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118. Defendant Simon caused Justly Johnson and Kendrick Scott to be 

wrongfully convicted of the shooting of Lisa Kindred. 

119. In 1999, Defendant Simon knew that Johnson and Scott were 

innocent, but nonetheless threatened two witnesses into implicating them in the 

murder, ultimately securing their wrongful convictions. First, Simon coerced 16 

year-old Antonio Bumette into falsely stating that Johnson and Scott had confessed 

to the murder. She screamed at Bumette and told him that if he did not provide 

them with false information about the shooter, they would put the murder on him. 

Along with another officer, Defendant Simon choked Bumette and threw him 

around. Bumette, who could not read, eventually agreed to sign a written statement 

falsely implicating Johnson and Scott. Bumette later recanted, saying he was 

threatened into providing false inculpatory testimony. 

120. Also in 1999, Defendant Simon similarly coerced another witness, 

Raymond Jackson, a teenager who experienced mental health struggles, into 

providing false testimony against Johnson and Scott. 

121. All told, Defendant Simon caused Johnson and Scott to spend more 

than 19 years in custody before they were exonerated. 

122. Damon Nathaniel spent eight months in jail after Defendant Simon 

interrogated him for eight hours and then falsely claimed he had confessed to a 

murder. DNA evidence later proved Nathaniel was innocent of the murder. 
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123. In 1999, Defendant Simon coerced Steven Brown into implicating 

himself in a shooting, even though he was innocent. Specifically, Brown accused 

Simon of leaving him in an interrogation room for hours and then writing a false 

statement on Brown's behalf. 

124. In 1996, Defendant Simon was also responsible for Lamarr Monson's 

wrongful conviction. Defendant Simon interrogated Monson for hours, and 

eventually wrote out a false statement in which Monson admitted inculpatory 

information about the murder of Christina Brown, and which omitted Monson's 

alibi. Monson requested to call his parents to arrange for a lawyer, and Defendant 

Simon told him he could call them after he signed the statement. Defendant Simon 

then falsely testified about the circumstances under which Monson provided this 

statement. Monson spent 20 years wrongfully in prison before being exonerated by 

forensic evidence. 

125. Supervising officers were aware of these unconstitutional practices 

and showed deliberate indifference to, acquiescence in, and/or approval of them. 

Specifically, despite committing gross misconduct, Defendant Simon was not 

disciplined in any way, and thus was encouraged to commit the misconduct that 

led to Mr. Craighead being coerced into falsely confessing. 
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Plaintiffs Conviction and Exoneration 

126. Despite his innocence, Mr. Craighead was nonetheless convicted based 

on fabricated evidence. 

127. His false confession was introduced against him. 

128. Plaintiff testified in his own defense at trial, but was convicted based 

on the false evidence. 

129. Mr. Craighead spent over seven years incarcerated for manslaughter. 

130. He never gave up hope that he would someday be exonerated. 

131. Through the work of the Michigan Innocence Clinic, Mr. Craighead 

was able to present evidence of Defendant Simon's torrid history of misconduct 

and convinced the criminal court to overturn his conviction. 

132. On June 1, 2023, Mr. Craighead was awarded a Certificate of 

Innocence. 

DAMAGES 

133. Defendants' actions deprived Mr. Craighead of his civil rights under 

the Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution 

and his state law rights. 

134. Mr. Craighead's liberty was curtailed upon his arrest on June 20, 

2000, and continued for the duration of his incarceration until his release from 

prison. 
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135. Defendants' unlawful, intentional, willful, deliberately indifferent, 

reckless, and/or bad faith acts and omissions caused Mr. Craighead to be falsely 

arrested, tried, wrongfully convicted and incarcerated for over seven years for a 

crime he did not commit. 

136. Defendants' unlawful, intentional, willful, deliberately indifferent, 

reckless, and/or bad faith acts and omissions caused Mr. Craighead severe injuries 

and damages, which continue to date and will continue into the future, for all of 

which he is entitled monetary relief, including but not limited to: 

a. Seizure and loss of liberty; 

b. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

c. Pain and suffering; 

d. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 

e. Permanent loss of natural psychological development, past and future; 

f. Loss of family relationships; 

g. Damage to business and property; 

h. Legal expenses; and 

i. Loss of earnings and earning potential. 

137. The conduct of Defendants was reckless and outrageous, entitling 

Plaintiff to an award of punitive damages from any and all the individual 
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Defendants, herein, as well as costs and reasonable attorney fees, pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. §1988. 

COUNT I 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 — Coerced Confession in Violation 

of the Fifth Amendment 

138. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this pleading as if fully restated 

here. 

139. In the manner described more fully above, the Defendant Officers, 

individually, jointly, and in conspiracy with each other, as well as under color of 

law and within the scope of their employment, forced Plaintiff to incriminate 

himself falsely and against his will, in violation of his rights secured by the Fifth 

Amendment. 

140. As described more fully above, the Defendant Officers participated in, 

encouraged, advised, and ordered an unconstitutional and unlawful interrogation of 

Plaintiff that caused him to make involuntary and false statements implicating 

himself in the murder of Chole Pruett. 

141. The coerced, involuntary, false statement the Defendant Officers 

fabricated and attributed to Plaintiff was used against him to his detriment in his 

criminal case. 

142. The misconduct described in this Count was objectively unreasonable 

and was undertaken intentionally, with malice and reckless indifference to the 
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rights of others, and with total disregard for the truth and Plaintiff's clear 

innocence. 

143. As a result of Defendants' misconduct described in this Count, 

Plaintiff suffered loss of liberty, great mental anguish, humiliation, degradation, 

physical and emotional pain and suffering, and other grievous and continuing 

injuries and damages as set forth above. 

144. Plaintiff's injuries were caused by the policies, practices, and customs 

of Defendant City of Detroit. 

145. In addition, at all times relevant to the events described in this 

pleading and for a period of time before those events, Defendant City of Detroit 

had notice of a widespread practice by officers and agents of the Detroit Police 

Department under which individuals like Plaintiff who were suspected of criminal 

activity were routinely coerced against their will to implicate themselves in crimes 

of which they were innocent. It was common for suspects interrogated by the 

Detroit Police Department to be subjected to extreme duress and abuse, to falsely 

confess to committing crimes to which they had no connection and for which there 

was no probable cause to suggest they were involved. 

146. Specifically, at all relevant times and for a period of time before the 

events giving rise to this case, there existed a widespread practice among officers, 

employees, and agents of the Detroit Police Department under which criminal 
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suspects were coerced to involuntarily implicate themselves by various means, 

including but not limited to the following: (a) individuals were subjected to 

unreasonably long and uninterrupted interrogations, often lasting for many hours 

and even days; (b) individuals were subjected to actual and threatened physical and 

psychological violence; (c) individuals were interrogated at length without proper 

protection of their constitutional right to have an attorney present or to remain 

silent; (d) individuals were forced to sign false statements fabricated by the police; 

(e) officers and employees were permitted to lead or participate in interrogations 

without proper training and without knowledge of the safeguards necessary to 

ensure that individuals were not subjected to abusive conditions and did not 

confess involuntarily or falsely; and (f) supervisors like Defendant Jackson, with 

knowledge of permissible and impermissible interrogation techniques did not 

properly supervise or discipline police officers and employees such that the 

coercive interrogations continued unchecked. 

147. These widespread practices were allowed to flourish because the 

leaders, supervisors, and policymakers of the Detroit Police Department directly 

encouraged and were thereby the moving force behind the very type of misconduct 

at issue by failing to adequately train, supervise, and control their officers, agents, 

and employees as to proper interrogation techniques and by failing to adequately 
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punish and discipline prior instances of similar misconduct, thus directly 

encouraging future abuses like those that affected Plaintiff. 

148. The above widespread practices were so well-settled as to constitute 

de facto policy of the Detroit Police Department, and were able to exist and thrive 

because policymakers with authority exhibited deliberate indifference to the 

problem, thereby effectively ratifying it. 

149. In addition, the misconduct described in this Count was undertaken 

pursuant to the policy and practice of the City of Detroit in that the constitutional 

violations committed against Plaintiff were committed either directly by, or with 

the knowledge or approval of, people with final policymaking authority for the 

Detroit Police Department. 

150. The policies, practices, and customs set forth above have resulted in 

numerous well-publicized false confessions, including the false confession at issue 

here, where individuals were convicted of crimes they did not commit after being 

subjected to abusive interrogation techniques. 

151. Plaintiff's injuries were caused by officers, agents, and employees of 

the City of Detroit, including but not limited to the individually named Defendants 

who acted pursuant to the policies, practices, and customs set forth above in 

engaging in the misconduct described in this Count. 
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COUNT II 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 — Coerced Confession in Violation of the 

Fourteenth Amendment 

152. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this pleading as if fully 

restated here. 

153. In the manner described more fully above, the Defendant Officers, 

individually, jointly, and in conspiracy with each other, as well as under color of 

law and within the scope of their employment, forced Plaintiff to incriminate 

himself falsely and against his will, in violation of his right to due process secured 

by the Fourteenth Amendment. 

154. As described in detail above, the misconduct described in this Count 

was carried out using extreme techniques of psychological coercion. This 

misconduct was so severe as to shock the conscience, it was designed to injure 

Plaintiff, and it was not supported by any conceivable governmental interest. 

155. The misconduct described in this Count was objectively unreasonable 

and was undertaken intentionally, with reckless indifference to the rights of others, 

and with total disregard for the truth and Plaintiff's clear innocence. 

156. As a result of Defendants' misconduct described in this Count, 

Plaintiff suffered loss of liberty, great mental anguish, humiliation, degradation, 

physical and emotional pain and suffering, and other grievous and continuing 

injuries and damages as set forth above. 
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157. Plaintiffs injuries were caused by the policies, practices, and customs 

of Defendant City of Detroit in the manner more fully described in Count VIII. 

COUNT I1I-42 U.S.C. § 1983 
Fourteenth Amendment Due Process 

158. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this Complaint as if fully 

restated here word for word. 

159. As described more fully above, the Defendant Officers, while acting 

individually, jointly, severally and in conspiracy with one another, as well as under 

color of law and within the scope of their employment, deliberately, recklessly 

and/or intentionally deprived Plaintiff of his constitutional clearly established 

Fourteenth Amendment due process right to fair criminal proceedings by, among 

other things, fabricating inculpatory evidence and withholding exculpatory and/or 

impeachment evidence. 

160. Absent the Defendant Officers' violations of Plaintiffs constitutional 

right to a fair criminal proceeding, the prosecution of Plaintiff could not and would 

not have been pursued. 

161. The misconduct described in this Count was undertaken pursuant to 

the policies and practices of the City of Detroit, in the manner more fully described 

below, in Count VIII. 

162. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Officers' fabrication of 

false inculpatory evidence, acting pursuant to the customs, policies and/or practices 
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of Defendant City of Detroit, Defendant Officers violated Plaintiff's clearly 

established Fourteenth Amendment due process rights, including the right to a fair 

trial, Plaintiff was wrongfully convicted and suffered the injuries and damages 

described above. 

163. Acting with recklessness, deliberate indifference and/or intent, by 

withholding material exculpatory and impeachment evidence prior to, during, and 

after trial, Defendant Officers, acting pursuant to the customs, policies and/or 

practices of Defendant City of Detroit, violated Plaintiff's clearly established 

Fourteenth Amendment right to due process of law as announced by the United 

States Supreme Court in Brady v. Maryland and its progeny, undermining 

confidence in the outcome of the trial, and directly and proximately causing 

Plaintiff to be wrongfully arrested, prosecuted, convicted and imprisoned, and to 

suffer the constitutional violations, injuries and damages described above. 

164. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered the following injuries, among others: 

a. Unreasonable seizure and loss of liberty; 

b. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

c. Pain and suffering; 

d. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 
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e. Permanent loss of natural psychological development including the loss 
of the adolescent years of his childhood and his early manhood, past and future; 

f. Loss of family relationships; 

g. Damage to business and property; 

h. Legal expenses; 

i. Loss of earnings and earning potential; and 

j. Continuing injuries and damages as fully set forth above. 

COUNT IV-42 U.S.C. § 1983 
Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment — Unreasonable Seizure and Illegal 

Detention and Prosecution 

165. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this Complaint as if fully 

restated here word for word. 

166. As described more fully above, Defendant Officers, individually, 

jointly, severally and in conspiracy with one another, as well as under color of law 

and within the scope of their employment and authority, accused Plaintiff of 

criminal activity and exerted influence to initiate, continue, and perpetuate a 

criminal prosecution against Plaintiff that was lacking in probable cause, 

unreasonably instituted, by suppressing exculpatory evidence, fabricating false 

evidence, and failing to adequately investigate the crime, in spite of the fact that 

they knew Plaintiff was innocent, all in violation of his constitutional rights. 

167. In so doing, the Defendants caused Plaintiff to be deprived of his 

liberty without probable cause, detained without probable cause, and subjected 
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improperly to judicial proceedings for which there was no probable cause. These 

judicial proceedings were instituted and continued maliciously, resulting in injury. 

168. The prosecution of Plaintiff ultimately terminated in his favor when 

his conviction was vacated, all charges dismissed, and he was granted a certificate 

of innocence. 

169. The actions of these Defendants violated Plaintiff's clearly established 

Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to be free from unreasonable seizure and 

thereby caused his wrongful conviction and the injuries and damages set forth 

above. 

170. The misconduct described above was undertaken pursuant to the 

policies and practices of Defendant City of Detroit, in the manner more fully 

described below in Count VIII. 

171. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered the following injuries, among others: 

a. Seizure and loss of liberty, resulting in: 

b. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

c. Pain and suffering; 

d. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 

e. Permanent loss of natural psychological development including the 
loss of the adolescent years of his childhood and his early manhood, past and 
future; 
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f. Loss of family relationships; 

g. Damage to business and property; 

h. Legal expenses; 

i. Loss of earnings and earning potential; and 

j. Continuing injuries and damages as fully set forth above. 

COUNT V-42 U.S.C. § 1983 
Failure to Intervene 

172. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this Complaint as if fully 

restated here. 

173. In the manner described more fully above, by their conduct and under 

color of law, during the constitutional violations described herein, one or more of 

the Defendant Officers stood by without intervening to prevent the violation of 

Plaintiff's constitutional rights, even though they had the opportunity and duty to 

do so. 

174. The Defendant Officers' actions and omissions in the face of a 

constitutional duty to intervene were the direct and proximate cause of Plaintiff's 

constitutional violations and injuries, including but not limited to loss of liberty, 

physical harm and emotional distress. 

175. The actions of these Defendants violated Plaintiff's clearly established 

Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to be free from unreasonable seizure and 
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thereby caused his wrongful conviction and the injuries and damages set forth 

above. 

176. The misconduct described in this count was undertaken pursuant to 

the policies and practices of the City of Detroit, in the manner more fully described 

below in Count VIII. 

177. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered the following injuries, among others: 

a. Seizure and loss of liberty, resulting in: 

b. Restrictions on all forms of personal freedom including but not limited 
to diet, sleep, personal contact, movement, educational opportunities, vocational 
opportunities, athletic opportunities, personal fulfillment, sexual activity, family 
relations, reading, television, movies, travel, enjoyment, and expression; 

c. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

d. Pain and suffering; 

e. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 

f. Permanent loss of natural psychological development, past and future; 

g. Loss of family relationships; 

h. Damage to business and property; 

i. Legal expenses; 

j. Loss of earnings and earning potential; and 

k. Continuing injuries and damages as fully set forth above. 
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COUNT VI-42 U.S.C. § 1983 
Supervisor Liability 

178. Supervisory Defendant Jackson was the officer in charge of the 

investigation and prosecution of Plaintiff. Defendant Jackson was the supervisor of 

the homicide unit overseeing this case. 

179. Supervisory Defendant Jackson gave direct orders causing the 

violation of Plaintiffs constitutional rights and/or encouraged or knowingly 

approved of the actions of other officers under his authority in his actions that 

violated the constitutional rights of Plaintiff, to wit: 

a. He directed and/or approved of Plaintiffs arrest without probable 
cause; 

b. He directed and/or approved of Plaintiffs continued detention without 
probable cause in order to coerce Plaintiff to falsely confess; 

c. He directed and/or approved of Defendant Sim's fabricated polygraph 
result; and 

d. He directed and/or approved of the false promises and threats used by 
Defendants to coerce Plaintiff to falsely confess to murder. 

180. The actions of Defendant Jackson violated Plaintiffs clearly 

established Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights to be free from 

unreasonable seizure, to have a fair trial, and to not be compelled to testify against 

himself, and thereby caused his wrongful conviction and the injuries and damages 

set forth above. 
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181. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered the following injuries, among others: 

a. Unreasonable seizure and loss of liberty; 

b. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

c. Pain and suffering; 

d. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 

e. Permanent loss of natural psychological development, past and future; 

f. Loss of family relationships; 

g. Damage to business and property; 

h. Legal expenses; 

i. Loss of earnings and earning potential; and 

J. Continuing injuries and damages as fully set forth above. 

COUNT VII-42 U.S.C. § 1983 
Conspiracy to Deprive Constitutional Rights 

182. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this Complaint as if fully 

restated here. 

183. After Pruett's murder, the Defendant Officers, acting within the scope 

of their employment and under color of law, agreed among themselves and with 

other individuals to act in concert in order to deprive Plaintiff of his constitutional 

rights, including his rights to due process, all as described in the various 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

35 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-1    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 36 of
45



Case 5:23-cv-12243-JEL-CI ECF No. 1, PagelD.36 Filed 08/31/23 Page 36 of 44 

184. In this manner, the Defendant Officers, acting in concert with other 

unknown coconspirators, conspired by concerted action to accomplish an unlawful 

purpose by unlawful means. 

185. In furtherance of the conspiracy, each of the coconspirators engaged 

in and facilitated overt acts, including but not limited to those set forth abovc 

such as fabricating and withholding evidence—and was an otherwise willful 

participant in joint activity. 

186. As a direct and proximate result of the illicit prior agreement and 

actions in furtherance of the conspiracy referenced above, Plaintiff's rights were 

violated, and he suffered injuries, including but not limited to loss of liberty, 

physical harm, and emotional distress. 

187. The misconduct described in this Count was objectively unreasonable 

and was undertaken intentionally, with malice and willful indifference to Plaintiff's 

clearly established constitutional rights. 

188. The misconduct described in this count was undertaken pursuant to 

the policies and practices of the City of Detroit, in the manner more fully described 

below in Count VIII. 

COUNT VIII-42 U.S.C. §1983 
Municipal Liability Under Monell 

189. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this Complaint as if fully 

restated here word for word. 
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190. Defendant City of Detroit, acting through its top officials, 

policymakers and the Detroit Police Department (DPD), authorized, sponsored, 

approved, and ratified actions by Detroit Police Department officers, supervisors 

and investigators during the course of their law enforcement actions conducted 

within the scope of their respective authority and under color of law. 

191. At all relevant times hereto, Defendant City, acting through its top 

officials, policymakers and the Detroit Police Department (DPD), did enable, 

ratify, condone, tolerate, approve, and ratify actions that constituted improper, 

flawed, erroneous and inappropriate police investigative methods, which were a 

moving force in the violation of the constitutional rights of citizens, including 

Plaintiff. 

192. Those improper, flawed, erroneous and inappropriate police 

investigative methods constituted customs, policies and practices, which included 

but were not limited to the following: 

a. An unwritten yet widespread practice of arresting and coercing suspects 
through undisclosed threats and false promises to coerce false confessions; 

b. An unwritten yet widespread practice of arresting and intimidating 
material witnesses to obtain fabricated inculpatory evidence or falsely undermine 
exculpatory evidence; 

c. An unwritten yet widespread practice of withholding exculpatory 
materials or information from criminal defendants; 

d. Failure to supervise, train and/or discipline law enforcement officers, 
including but not limited to the individually named Defendant officers herein, 
regarding the proper use of jailhouse informants, including failure to provide 
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practices for ensuring truthful and accurate testimony; at all times relevant hereto 
City policymakers knew that this lack of supervision and discipline would likely 
promote and/or condone the use of fabricated evidence from jailhouse informants 
and while said officers, and DPD officers knew that regardless of their improper 
use of jailhouse informants, there would be no reprisal by way of discipline, 
termination, criticism, or otherwise, thereby guaranteeing the continuation of such 
unconstitutional actions by Detroit police officers, including Defendants herein; 
and 

e. Failure to supervise, train and/or discipline law enforcement officers, 
including but not limited to the individually named Defendant officers herein, with 
regard to withholding exculpatory materials or information from criminal 
defendants, while at all times knowing that this lack of supervision and/or 
discipline would likely promote and/or condone the withholding of exculpatory 
materials or information where said officers, and other DPD officers, knew that 
regardless of their withholding of exculpatory materials or information, there 
would be no accountability by way of supervision, discipline, retraining, 
counselling, termination, criticism, or otherwise, thereby guaranteeing the 
continuation of such unconstitutional actions with impunity by Detroit police 
officers, including Defendants herein; and 

f. Condoning, approving, ratifying, and acquiescing in known 
unconstitutional conduct, and known patterns of unconstitutional conduct, 
undertaken by its officers, including the Defendant Officers herein, and its 
supervisors, thereby adopting said conduct as policy of Defendant City through the 
DPD. 

193. In particular, Defendant City, acting through its Police Department, 

supervisors and/or policymakers, was on actual notice that the Defendant Officers 

had histories of fabricating inculpatory evidence and withholding exculpatory 

evidence and deliberately and as a matter of policy failed to investigate, discipline, 

supervise and/or retrain said Defendants, thereby condoning and/or acquiescing in 

their unconstitutional actions and causing the false arrest, unlawful prosecution, 

wrongful conviction and wrongful imprisonment of Plaintiff. 
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194. Each of the aforementioned policies and/or practices were known to 

Defendant City as being highly likely and probable to cause violations of the 

constitutional rights of criminal defendants, including but not limited to Plaintiff. 

195. The conduct of the individually named Defendants herein was 

committed pursuant to the policies and/or practices of Defendant City. 

196. Each such policy and/or practice, referenced above, was a moving 

force in the violations of Plaintiff's constitutional rights, as set forth herein. 

197. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered the following injuries, among others: 

a. Seizure and loss of liberty; 

b. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

c. Pain and suffering; 

d. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 

e. Permanent loss of natural psychological development, past and future; 

f. Loss of family relationships; 

g. Damage to business and property; 

h. Legal expenses; 

i. Loss of earnings and earning potential; and 

j. Continuing injuries and damages as fully set forth above. 
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COUNT IX-State Law Claim 
Malicious Prosecution 

198. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this Complaint as if fully 

restated here. 

199. In the manner described more fully above, the Defendant Officers 

individually, jointly, and in conspiracy with one another, as well as under color of 

law and within the scope of their employment, caused a criminal proceeding 

against Plaintiff to be commenced or continued. 

200. The Defendant Officers accused Plaintiff of criminal activity knowing 

those accusations to be without genuine probable cause, and they made statements 

to prosecutors with the intent of exerting influence and to institute and continue the 

judicial proceedings without any probable cause for doing so. 

201. The Defendant Officers caused Plaintiff to be improperly subjected to 

judicial proceedings for which there was no probable cause. These judicial 

proceedings were instituted and continued maliciously, resulting in injury. 

202. Statements of the Defendant Officers regarding Plaintiff's alleged 

culpability were made with knowledge that those statements were false and 

perjured. The Defendant Officers were aware that, as alleged more fully above, no 

true or reliable evidence implicated Plaintiff in the Pruett murder, and all 

inculpatory evidence was coerced or fabricated. Furthermore, the Defendant 

Officers intentionally withheld from and misrepresented to prosecutors facts that 
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further vitiated probable cause against Plaintiff, as set forth above, and failed to 

investigate evidence that would have led to the actual perpetrator. The Defendant 

Officers withheld the facts of their manipulation and the resulting fabrications from 

Plaintiff. 

203. The misconduct described in this Count was undertaken intentionally, 

with malice, willfulness, and reckless indifference to the rights of others. 

204. The charges against Plaintiff were terminated in his favor. 

205. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered the following injuries, among others: 

a. Seizure and loss of liberty; 

b. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

c. Pain and suffering; 

d. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 

e. Permanent loss of natural psychological development, past and future; 

f. Loss of family relationships; 

g. Damage to business and property; 

h. Legal expenses; 

i. Loss of earnings and earning potential; and 

j. Continuing injuries and damages as fully set forth above. 

41 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-1    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 42 of
45



Case 5:23-cv-12243-JEL-CI ECF No. 1, PagelD.42 Filed 08/31/23 Page 42 of 44 

COUNT X-State Law Claim 
Civil Conspiracy 

206. Plaintiff incorporates each paragraph of this Complaint as if fully 

restated here. 

207. As described more fully in the preceding paragraphs, the Defendant 

Officers, acting in concert with other known and unknown coconspirators, 

conspired by concerted action to accomplish an unlawful purpose by unlawful 

means. 

208. In furtherance of the conspiracy, the Defendant Officers committed 

overt acts and were otherwise willful participants in joint activity including but not 

limited to the malicious prosecution of Plaintiff. 

209. The misconduct described in this Count was undertaken intentionally, 

with malice, willfulness, and reckless indifference to the rights of others. 

210. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered the following injuries, among others: 

a. Seizure and loss of liberty; 

b. Personal and physical injuries, including assaults, illness and 
inadequate medical care; 

c. Pain and suffering; 

d. Severe mental anguish, emotional and psychological distress, 
humiliation, indignities, embarrassment and degradation; 

e. Permanent loss of natural psychological development, past and future; 
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f. Loss of family relationships; 

g. Damage to business and property; 

h. Legal expenses; 

i. Loss of earnings and earning potential; and 

j. Continuing injuries and damages as fully set forth above. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff MARK CRAIGHEAD, respectfully requests that 

this Court enter a judgment in his favor and against Defendants FORMER 

INVESTIGATOR BARBARA SIMON, FORMER INVESTIGATOR JAMES 

FISHER, FORMER LIEUTENANT BOB JACKSON, FORMER POLYGRAPH 

OPERATOR ANDREW SIMS, as-yet UNKNOWN OFFICERS OF THE 

DETROIT POLICE DEPARTMENT, and the CITY OF DETROIT awarding: 

(a) compensatory damages, attorneys' fees and costs against each Defendant, 

jointly and severally; (b) punitive damages against each of the Defendant Officers 

because they acted willfully, wantonly, and/or maliciously; and (d) any other relief 

this Court deems just and appropriate. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff, MARK CRAIGHEAD, hereby demands a trial by jury pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b) on all issues so triable. 

Dated: August 31, 2023 

Respectfully submitted, 

MARK CRAIGHEAD 

By: /s/Megan Pierce 
One of Plaintiff's Attorneys 

Jon Loevy 

Arthur Loevy 
Megan Pierce 
LOEVY & LOEVY 
311 N. Aberdeen, 3rd Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60607 
(312) 243-5900 

megan@loevy.com 
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2. Homicide - Felony Murder 
Defendant Stand Mute: Plea of Not Guilty Entered by Court 

Disposition (Judicial Officer: Wallace, Theodore C) 
2. Homicide - Felony Murder 

Dismissed 

Disposition (Judicial Officer: Jones, Vera Massey) 
3. Weapons Felony Firearm 

Found Guilty by Jury 
1. Homicide - Murder First Degree - Premeditated 

Not Guilty by Jury 
4. Homicide - Manslaughter - Statutory Short Form 

Found Guilty by Jury 

Sentence (Judicial Officer: Jones, Vera Massey) 
3. Weapons Felony Firearm 

Condition - Adult: 
1. Adult Criminal Sentence, CONS TO MANS. CRD 244 08/05/2002, Active 08/05/2002 

State Confinement: 
Agency: Michigan Department of Corrections 
Effective 8/5/2002 
Term: 2 Yr 0 Mo 0 Days to 0 Yr 0 Mo 0 Days 

4. Homicide - Manslaughter - Statutory Short Form 
Condition -Adult: 

1. Adult Criminal Sentence, CONS TO FIREARM 08/05/2002, Active 08/05/2002 
State Confinement: 

Agency: Michigan Department of Corrections 
Effective 8/5/2002 
Term: 0 Yr 40 Mo 0 Days to 15 Yr 0 Mo 0 Days 

OTHER EVENTS AND HEARINGS 
06/22/2000 Recommendation for Warrant 
06/22/2000 Warrant Signed 
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06/23/2000 

06/23/2000 

07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 
07/06/2000 

07/11/2000 
07/21/2000 
07/21/2000 

07/21/2000 

07/21/2000 

08/17/2000 
08/17/2000 
08/23/2000 
08/23/2000 
08/23/2000 

10/18/2000 
10/18/2000 
10/18/2000 
10/18/2000 
10/19/2000 
10/19/2000 
12/13/2000 

01/25/2001 

01/29/2001 

02/08/2001 

02/21/2001 
02/21/2001 
02/21/2001 
02/21/2001 
02/21/2001 

02/21/2001 

03/30/2001 

06/28/2001 

08/23/2001 
08/23/2001 
08/23/2001 
08/23/2001 
08/23/2001 

08/31/2001 
08/31/2001 
08/31/2001 

Arraignment On Warrant (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Costello, Robert K.) 
Parties Present 

Result: Held 
Interim Condition for Craighead, Mark T 

- Remand 
Motion To Reduce Bond Filed/Granted 
Denied - Order Signed and Filed 
Bound Over 
Motion To Dismiss A Charge 
Filed 
Signed And Filed 
Trial Docket 
Filed 
Preliminary Exam (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Wallace, Theodore C) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held: Bound Over 
Case Assignment to AOI Docket 
Appearance By A Retained Attorney Filed 
Arraignment On Information (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Disposition Conference (9:05 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Interim Condition for Craighead, Mark T 

- Remand 
Motion To Reduce Bond Filed/Granted 
Filed 
Motion To Set Bond Filed/Signed 
Held In Abeyance 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Motion For Discovery Filed 
Filed 
Motion ForA Walker Hearing (Confession) 
Filed 
Motion ForA Walker Hearing (Confession) 
Filed 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: Adjourned:At The Request Of The Prosecution 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Motion To Reduce Bond Filed/Granted 
Granted - Order Signed and Filed 
Motion To Suppress Statements 
Denied - Order Signed and Filed 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Interim Condition for Craighead, Mark T 

- 10% 
$50,000.00 

Pre-Trial (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Morrow, Bruce U.) 
Parties Present 

Result: Held 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: Adjourned:At The Request Of The Court 
Motion To Reconsider 
Heard And Denied 
Case Reassigned 
Signed And Filed 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Richard P) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Motion To Reinstate Bail Filed/Signed 
Granted - Order Signed and Filed 
Capias Arraignment (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Michael M.) 
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08/31/2001 

08/31/2001 
08/31/2001 
09/04/2001 

01/04/2002 
01/04/2002 
02/14/2002 
02/14/2002 
02/26/2002 
02/26/2002 

05/03/2002 
05/03/2002 
06/17/2002 

06/19/2002 

06/20/2002 

06/24/2002 
06/24/2002 
06/24/2002 

06/25/2002 
06/25/2002 
06/25/2002 

08/05/2002 

10/11/2002 
10/11/2002 
02/28/2003 
02/28/2003 
02/28/2003 
02/28/2003 
02/04/2004 
02/04/2004 
02/04/2004 
02/04/2004 
02/13/2004 

03/05/2004 

03/30/2004 
03/30/2004 
04/05/2004 
04/05/2004 
04/16/2004 

05/05/2004 
05/05/2004 
05/13/2004 
05/13/2004 
05/13/2004 
05/13/2004 
06/11/2004 
06/11/2004 
06/15/2004 
06/15/2004 
06/28/2004 

Parties Present 
Result: Defendant Arraigned On Failure to Appear 
Pre-Trial (9:05 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Michael M.) 

Parties Present 
Result: Failure to Appear 
Arraignment on Failure to Appear - Pre Disposition 
Failure to Appear - Pre Disposition - Order Signed and Filed 
Final Conference (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Hathaway, Michael M.) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Transcript 
Filed 
Original Blind Draw Judge 
Random Reassignment 
Appearance By A Retained Attorney Filed 
Final Conference (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Notice Of Alibi 
Filed 
Jury Trial (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Adjourned:Court Working On Other Trial 
Jury Trial (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Jury Trial (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Transcript 
Filed 
Jury Trial (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Found Guilty By Jury 
Refer To Probation For A Report 
Jury Trial (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Sentencing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Claim Of Appeal (Circuit) 
Filed 
Transcript Of Sentence 
Filed 
Transcript Of Trial 
Filed 
Motion To Require Production Of Certain Records 
Filed 
Brief Or Memorandum of Law 
Filed 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Adjourned:At The Request Of The Court 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Adjourned:At The Request Of The Defense 
Motion To Remove Appellate Counsel 
Granted - Order Signed and Filed 
Motion To Withdraw As Attorney 
Filed 
CANCELED Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Case Disposed/Order Previously Entered 
Parties Present 

Result: Not Held And/Or Disposed 
Appellate Counsel Appointed Signed and Filed 
Filed 
Transcript Of Sentence 
Filed 
Transcript Of Trial 
Filed 
Motion To Withdraw As Attorney 
Filed 
Appellate Counsel Appointed Signed and Filed 
Filed 
Appellate Counsel Appointed Signed and Filed 

https://cmspublic.3rdcc.org/CaseDetail.aspx?CaselD=30989 3/5 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-3    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 4 of 6



9/25/23, 4:42 PM cmspublic.3rdcc.org/CaseDetail.aspx?CaselD=30989 

06/28/2004 
08/09/2004 
08/09/2004 
09/01/2004 
09/01/2004 
09/01/2004 
09/01/2004 
09/21/2004 
09/21/2004 
09/28/2004 
09/28/2004 
09/28/2004 
09/28/2004 
11/18/2004 
11/18/2004 
11/18/2004 
11/18/2004 
11/18/2004 
11/18/2004 
11/20/2004 
11/20/2004 
12/09/2004 
12/09/2004 
12/17/2004 

01/10/2005 
01/10/2005 
05/17/2005 
05/17/2005 
05/17/2005 

06/02/2005 
06/02/2005 
06/13/2005 
06/13/2005 
06/13/2005 
06/13/2005 
06/13/2005 
06/13/2005 
06/27/2005 
06/27/2005 
06/27/2005 
06/27/2005 
12/22/2005 
12/22/2005 
02/02/2006 
02/02/2006 
07/03/2006 
07/03/2006 
05/02/2007 
05/02/2007 
12/28/2009 
12/28/2009 
01/19/2010 
03/26/2010 
04/09/2010 

04/09/2010 
06/30/2010 

07/12/2010 
07/14/2010 

07/14/2010 
11/22/2011 
01/31/2012 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 

Filed 
Appellate Counsel Appointed Signed and Filed 
Filed 
Motion Transcript(S) 
Filed 
Transcript 
Filed 
Motion Transcript(S) 
Filed 
Motion Transcript(S) 
Filed 
Transcript 
Filed 
Motion To Set Appeal Bond 
Filed 
Brief Or Memorandum of Law 
Filed 
Motion For A New Trial 
Filed 
Transcript Of Pretrial 
Filed 
Prosecutors Reply 
Filed 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Supplemental Brief Filed 
Filed 
Motion For A New Trial 
Heard And Denied 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Motion Transcript(S) 
Filed 
Motion To Reconsider 
Filed 
Brief Or Memorandum of Law 
Filed 
Motion Transcript(S) 
Filed 
Motion To Reconsider 
Denied - Order Signed and Filed 
Motion For A New Trial 
Denied - Order Signed and Filed 
Appellate Court Decision; Affirms Lower Court 
Signed And Filed 
Application For Leave To Appeal (Circuit) 
Filed 
Application For Leave To Appeal (Circuit) 
Motion Withdrawn 
Application For Leave To Appeal (Circuit) 
Denied By The Supreme Court 
Motion For Relief From Judgment 
Filed 
Order Signed and Filed (Judicial Officer: Jones, Vera Massey ) 
Motion 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 

03/30/2010 Reset by Court to 04/09/2010 
Result: Held 
Motion For An Evidentiary Hearing (Judicial Officer: Jones, Vera Massey ) 
Evidentiary Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: In Progress 
Notice of Transcript Filed 
Evidentiary Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Jones, Vera Massey) 

Parties Present 
Result: Held 
Order Denying Motion for Relief from Judgment - S/F (Judicial Officer: Jones, Vera Massey ) 
Application For Leave To File A Delayed Appeal (Circuit) 
Transcript Filed 
Motion For Relief From Judgment 
Miscellaneous Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous Filed 
miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
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02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
02/24/2020 
06/22/2020 
07/30/2020 
09/15/2020 
09/15/2020 
09/28/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
09/29/2020 
02/04/2021 
07/31/2021 
07/27/2022 
07/27/2022 
08/05/2022 

08/05/2022 
11/18/2022 
11/18/2022 
12/09/2022 

Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Miscellaneous, Filed 
Proof of Service, Filed 
Brief Or Memorandum of Law 
Order Signed and Filed (Judicial Officer: Walker, Shannon N. ) 
Heard And Granted - Order Signed and Filed (Judicial Officer: Walker, Shannon N. ) 
Proof of Service, Filed 
People's Response Answer) to Motion 
Post Conviction (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Walker, Shannon N.) 
Brief Or Memorandum of Law 
Defense Exhibit(s) 
Defense Exhibit(s) 
Defense Exhibit(s) 
Defense Exhibit(s) 
Defense Exhibit(s) 
Defense Exhibit(s) 
Proof of Service, Filed 
Defense Exhibit(s) 
Order Granting  Motion for Relief from Judgment - S/F (Judicial Officer: Walker, Shannon N. ) 
Documents Prior to eFiling 
Motion to Dismiss 
Proof of Service, Filed 
Motion Hearing (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Walker, Shannon N.) 

Parties Present 
Result: Case Was Dismissed 
Heard And Granted - Order Signed and Filed (Judicial Officer: Walker, Shannon N. ) 
Motion 
Proof of Service, Filed 
Order Signed and Filed (Judicial Officer: Walker, Shannon N. ) 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

11/09/2009 
11/09/2009 

Defendant Craighead, Mark T 
Total Financial Assessment 
Total Payments and Credits 
Balance Due as of 09/25/2023 

Transaction Assessment 
Counter Payment Receipt # 2009-28881 Craighead, Mark T 

60.00 
60.00 
0.00 

60.00 
(60.00) 
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COA 243856
MSC 130450
PEOPLE OF MI V MARK T CRAIGHEAD
Lower Court/Tribunal

WAYNE CIRCUIT COURT
Judge(s)

JONES VERA MASSEY

Case Header

Case Number

COA #243856  MSC #130450

Case Status

MSC  Closed

COA  Case Concluded; File Archived

Parties & Attorneys to the Case - Court of Appeals

�

PEOPLE OF MI
Plaintiff - Appellee

Attorney(s)

NAPP JANET A
, Prosecutor

�

CRAIGHEAD MARK T
Defendant - Appellant

Attorney(s)

NEWMAN VALERIE R
, State Appellate Defender

Parties & Attorneys to the Case - Supreme Court

�

PEOPLE OF MI
Plaintiff

Attorney(s)

Janet A Napp Attorney

�

CRAIGHEAD MARK T
Defendant

Docket Case Documents

Case Information

#40633

#47291

#40633
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Attorney(s)

Valerie R Newman

 

#47291

COLLAPSE  ALL EXPAND  ALL

��/��/���� � Claim of Appeal - Criminal

��/��/���� � Order Appealed From

��/��/���� � Other

��/��/���� � Invol Dismissal Warning - No Steno Cert

��/��/���� � Telephone Contact

��/��/���� � Steno Certificate - Tr Request Received

��/��/���� � Motion: Extend Time - File Transcript

��/��/���� �� Defective Filing Letter

��/��/���� �� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Defect Cured

��/��/���� �� Order: Withdraw Motion - Request of Party

��/��/���� �� Invol Dismissal Warning - No Appellant Brief

��/��/���� �� Stipulation: Extend Time - AT Brief

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Motion: Extend Time - Order Transcript

��/��/���� �� Transcript Requested By Atty Or Party

��/��/���� �� Submitted on Administrative Motion Docket

��/��/���� �� Order: Extend Time - Order Transcript - Grant

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� Invol Dismissal Warning - No Steno Cert

��/��/���� �� Transcript Overdue - Notice to Reporter

��/��/���� �� Steno Affidavit - No Notes

��/��/���� �� Steno Certificate - Tr Request Received

��/��/���� �� Steno Affidavit - No Notes

��/��/���� �� Miscellaneous Receipt

��/��/���� �� Submitted on Administrative Motion Docket

��/��/���� �� Order - Generic
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��/��/���� �� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� �� Motion: Reconsideration of Order

��/��/���� �� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� �� Miscellaneous Receipt

��/��/���� �� Submitted on Reconsideration Docket

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Order: Reconsideration - Deny - Appeal Remains Open

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� LCt Pleading

��/��/���� �� Brief: Stricken by Order

��/��/���� �� Motion: Remand

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� LCt Pleading

��/��/���� �� Answer - Motion

��/��/���� �� Submitted on Motion Docket

��/��/���� �� Order: Remand - Motion - Deny

��/��/���� �� Noticed

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Material Received by Record Room

��/��/���� �� Record Request

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� Record Filed

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� LCt Order - Appoint AT Atty

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� LCt Order

��/��/���� �� LCt Order - Appoint AT Atty

��/��/���� �� LCt Document

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� Prosecutor Advisory - No Brief

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� LCt Order - Appoint AT Atty
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��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Motion: Motion

��/��/���� �� LCt Order - Appoint AT Atty

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� Steno Certificate - Tr Request Received

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� Submitted on Administrative Motion Docket

��/��/���� �� Order: Grant - Generic

��/��/���� �� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� �� Steno Certificate - Tr Request Received

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� ��� Steno Certificate - Tr Request Received

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� ��� Other

��/��/���� ��� Steno Affidavit - No Notes

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� ��� LCt Pleading - Post-Judgment

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� ��� Record Returned

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� ��� Post-judgment Proceedings Overdue - Notice

��/��/���� ��� LCt Pleading

��/��/���� ��� Material Received by Record Room

��/��/���� ��� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� ��� Record Filed

��/��/���� ��� Steno Affidavit - No Notes

��/��/���� ��� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� ��� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� ��� Steno Affidavit - No Notes

��/��/���� ��� Motion: Show Cause - Reporter

��/��/���� ��� Transcript Ordered By Trial Court

��/��/���� ��� Transcript Ordered By Trial Court
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��/��/���� ��� Transcript Ordered By Trial Court

��/��/���� ��� Transcript Ordered By Trial Court

��/��/���� ��� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� ��� Defective Filing Letter

��/��/���� ��� Defect Cured

��/��/���� ��� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Transcript

��/��/���� ��� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� ��� Submitted on Court Reporter Motion Docket

��/��/���� ��� Order: Show Cause Motion - Dismissed as Moot

��/��/���� ��� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� ��� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� ��� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� ��� LCt Order - Post Judgment

��/��/���� ��� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� ��� Steno Certificate - Tr Request Received

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Post-Judgment Transcript

��/��/���� ��� LCt Pleading - Post-Judgment

��/��/���� ��� Notice Of Filing Post-Judgment Transcript

��/��/���� ��� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� ��� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� ��� LCt Order

��/��/���� ��� Post-Judgment Motion Concluded

��/��/���� ��� Motion: Extend Time - Appellant

��/��/���� ��� Motion: Expedite Appeal

��/��/���� ��� Brief: Appellant

��/��/���� ��� Oral Arg Advise Ltr Sent

��/��/���� ��� Submitted on Administrative Motion Docket

��/��/���� ��� Submitted on Administrative Motion Docket

��/��/���� ��� Order: Extend Time - Appellant Brief - Grant

��/��/���� ��� Order: Expedite - Grant

��/��/���� ��� Transcript Filed

��/��/���� ��� Prosecutor Advisory - No Brief

��/��/���� ��� Transcript Filed
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��/��/���� ��� Oral Arg Advise Ltr Sent

��/��/���� ��� Submitted on Case Call

��/��/���� ��� Oral Argument Audio

��/��/���� ��� Opinion - Per Curiam - Unpublished

��/��/���� ��� Opinion - Dissent

��/��/���� ��� Application for Leave to SCt

��/��/���� ��� Supreme Court - File & Record Sent To

��/��/���� ��� COA and TCt Received

��/��/���� ��� Supreme Court: Answer - SCt Application/Complaint

��/��/���� ��� Supreme Court Order: Deny Application/Complaint

��/��/���� ��� Supreme Court - File Ret'd by - Close Out
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STATE OF MICHIGAN

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant-Appellant was convicted in the Wayne County Circuit Court by jr.y trial and

a Judgment of Sentence was entered on August 5,2002. A Claim of Appeal was filed on August

9,2004 by the trial court pursuant to the indigent defendant's request for the appointment of

appellate counsel dated February 26,2004, as authorized by MCR 6.425(F)(3). This Court has

jurisdiction in this appeal as of right provided for by Mich Const 7963, art 1, $20, pursuant to

MCL 600.308(l); MCL 770.3; MCR 7.203(A), MCR 7.204(A)(2).

1l
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I.

STATEMENT OF OUESTIONS PRESENTED

WHERE THE DETROIT POLICE OFFICERS VIOLATED MR. CRAIGHEAD'S
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS BY ARRESTING HIM WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE
AND ILLEGALLY HOLDING HIM UNTIL HE ADOPTED AN INCRIMINATING
STATEMENT MUST THIS STATEMENT MUST BE SUPPRESSED AS THE FRUIT OF
THE ILLEGAL ARREST?

Trial Court answers, "No".

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes"

II. WAS TRIAL COUNSEL CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO
PRESENT AN EXPERT WITNESS REGARDING THE PHENOMENON OF FALSE
CONFESSIONS?

Trial Court answers, "No"

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes"

111
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction/Case Overview

Mark Craighead is currently incarcerated after having been convicted by jury of

manslaughterr IMCL 750.321) and felony firearm (MCL 750.227b) in the shooting death of Mr.

Craighead's good friend Chole Pruitt. (Trial Transcript Volume 4 $ 413-4) There was no

physical or eyewitness evidence that pointed to Mark Craighead being involved.

The only evidence that supported this conviction, as stated by the prosecutor in opening

statements, was a statement (T 1,213-219), which the police claimed Mr. Craighead made while

in custody. The statement indicated that the shooting occurred during a struggle over a gun.

The evidence, however, showed that Mr. Pruitt had been shot multiple times, not at close

range (from a distance of about four feet according to the medical examiner). At least two of the

shots appeared to have been fired while Pruitt was prone on the ground, as determined by the

spent bullets found lodged in the underside of the carpeting beneath where the body was found.

(T 2,45)

Further, the statement did not address why Mr. Pruitt's truck was driven into Redford and

set on fire or why it appeared that someone had been searching certain areas of the apartment.

Mr. Craighead did not kill Pruitt and did not know who had. ln 7997, he was working the

night shift at Sam's Club on June 26th to June 27th andthe building was locked during his shift,

as it always was, so he could not have left undetected. He did not tell the police that he shot

Pruitt and only signed the statement because his interrogator, Barbara Simon, told him he would

] fneiu.y acquitted Mr. Craighead of first- and second-degree murder.
' This was a four day trial with the fourth day being a continuation of jury deliberations. The
trial volumes begin with Volume l, June 19,2002 and go through Volume 4 (verdict) June 25,
2002.
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be in prison for the rest of his life if he did not sign it. After being arrested, held ovemight and

not being allowed contact with anyone, he felt he had no choice but to comply with the police.

Pre Trial Proceedings

The defense moved prior to trial to suppress the police statement that Mr. Craighead

adopted after being arrested at his home three years after the crime had occurred and being held

incommunicado, despite his brother's presence at the police station.

The pretrial proceedings dealt primarily with the Officer James Fisher's re-investigation

into the case, which began in 20003.

The police arrest Mr. Craighead

On June 20,2000 Fisher went to Mr. Craighead's home along with his supervisor Billy

Jackson. (EH I, 19-20) Although Mr. Craighead was not at home, Fisher spoke with someone

who told him where he might be found. The police left but returned after they were unable to

locate Mr. Craighead. (EH 1,20-21)

The police were on Mr. Craighead's front porch when Mr. Craighead and his brother

arrived home. Fisher introduced himself to Mr. Craighead and asked him to come with him to

the Homicide Department to talk about the Pruitt case. Mr. Craighead indicated he was willing

to talk with the police but wanted to come to the station the following day.

Fisher told Mr. Craighead that was unacceptable and he wanted to talk with him now.

Fisher told Mr. Craighead that he, Fisher, "needed to do it today" and would not allow Mr.

Craighead to do as he wanted, which was to come to the station the next day. (EH I, 53) Fisher

refused to allow him to come to the station the following day because he had "deemed in my

mind that he was a suspect." (EH I, 2l) However, the police never told Mr. Craighead he was a

suspect in the homicide. (EH I, 54, 89)

2
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Fisher refused to allow Mr. Craighead to enter his home and let Mr. Craighead know that

he was going to accompany him to the station without further discussion. (EH I, 73-74) After

Fisher did not allow Mr. Craighead to refuse his request to immediately accompany him to the

station, Mr. Craighead "didn't put up too much of a hassle." According to Fisher, Mr. Craighead

then went with him and Jackson voluntarily and was not handcuffed. (EH I, 22) Fisher described

the interaction as he told Craighead he was going to the station with the police and Craighead

complied. (EHl,74)

Fisher arrived at the police station with Mr. Craighead around 7:00 pm. They talked a

bit, and, according to Fisher, Mr. Craighead's information did not add up to him because it was

not consistent. Fisher therefore decided to have Investigator Simon talk with Mr. Craighead and

he had no further interaction with him after about 9:00 pm. (EH I, 24-21\

Fisher told Simon that he thought Mr. Craighead was lying (EH I, 65, 66) and believed

that he told Simon that Mr. Craighead "was staying." (EH 1,71) According to Fisher, Craighead

was not free to leave once he was in the squad room. He told Craighead he was stalng and he

based that decision on inconsistencies in what Craighead was saying. (EH I, 70) Fisher told

Simon that Craighead was staying prior to Simon interviewing him because Fisher believed Mr.

Craighead to be the prime suspect based on his subjective conclusion that Mr. Craighead was not

being truthful. (EH I, 74-75,80)

Lieutenant Billy Jackson went with Fisher to Mr. Craighead's home. At that point of

their investigation they had not excluded other people as suspects, but their main focus was on

Mr. Craighead and he was their starting point. (EH I, 87) According to Jackson, the Detroit

police do not necessarily obtain arrest warrants if they have probable cause to arrest someone.

(EH I, 86)

J

3 The crime occurred in 1997
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Jackson was on the porch with Fisher when Mr. Craighead arrived home. He and Fisher

did not allow Craighead into his home and did not tell him he was a suspect. (EH I, 89) While

talking with Mr. Craighead he used his radio to see if a scout car was available. Scout cars are

good back-up and Jackson likes to have one if possible because sometimes people do not believe

he is a police officer. (EH I, 91-92)

The police investigation

During the course of the three year investigation, the police interviewed 25 people. Mr.

Craighead, who was a good friend of Pruitt's, was interviewed twice. According to Fisher there

was no physical evidence linking Mr. Craighead to this incident. (EH I,45)

A Mr. Gibson was the only person of the 25 interviewed to bring up Mark Craighead.

Gibson claimed that Mr. Craighead and Mr. Pruitt were trying to sell drugs together. (EH I, l2-

l3) Fisher reviewed Gibson's statement but was unable to recall if he actually spoke with him.

(EH I, 2S-29) Further, Fisher did not recall making any notes during'his investigation. (EH I, 30)

Fisher spoke with the deceased's nephew and a female. He took no written notes of these

interviews.

Mr. Pruitt's nephew Charles told Fisher the same information he had told Investigator

Tate in 1997. (EH 1,7 , 8,9-10) Pruitt's nephew told Fisher that he saw his Uncle on June 25th

and that there was a black male in his vehicle with him. He did not really see the passenger's

features. (EH I, l0-l l) When the police interviewed Carlton Pruitt in 1997, he told them he saw

someone with Chole Pruitt that day and described the person he saw as a short, light-complected

black male, which according to Fisher, could describe Mr. Craighead. (EH I, l4-15)

From reviewing the witness statements, Fisher determined that he "needed to look at"

Mr. Craighead. (EH l,ll-12) Fisher wanted to "look at" Mr. Craighead based on statements

4
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that Mr. Craighead and Mr. Pruitt were best friends, which meant that Mr. Craighead would have

had access to Mr. Pruitt's apartment and perhaps knowledge that Mr. Pruitt had recently settled a

lawsuit for a large sum of money.4. (EH I, l4)

Fisher testified that another important fact for him was that Mr. Craighead, at the time of

the incident, lived at 23644 Schoolcraft and Mr. Pruitt's vehicle was found in Redford Township,

which, according to Fisher, was around I to l-l12 miles from Craighead's home. (EH I, l7-18)

However, Fisher admitted that assuming that mile roads were so named because there was a mile

from one to the other, that Pruitt's truck was actually found farther than I - I y, miles from Mr.

Craighead's home. (EH I, 46-47) At trial there was testimony that the distance was anywhere

from 3 Yzto S.8miles.s.

The Interrogation

Barbara Simon first saw Mr. Craighead when Jackson and Fisher brought him to the

Homicide department on June 20ft but did not speak with him until June 21st. (EH II, 5, 6, 13)

She spoke with Mr. Craighead in order to obtain a statement from him. (EH I, 6) Simon took

Mr. Craighead for a polygraph examination around 2:00 or 3:00 am and interrogated him

sometime after the polygraph. (EH II, 9,20)

On day three of the evidentiary hearing Simon was unable to attend due to an illness and

the person who administered the polygraph also failed to show for the hearing. The defense

waived their presence. (EH III, 3-4)

t James Fisher testified to obtaining a copy of a bank check in the name of Chole Pruitt for
$7000.00 and that the majority of the money was deposited to Pruitt's credit union account.
$2000.00 was taken out in cash.5 At trial, Detroit Police Investigator Ronald Tate, who was initially in charge of the
investigation and interviewed Mr. Craighead twice, testified that Mr. Craighead lived 3 % to 5
miles away from where Mr. Pruitt's truck was found. (Trial Transcript Volume 2, 103) Milton
Craighead, Sr. also testified about this distance, finding that it was 5.8 miles from Mr.
Craighead's home to where Pruitt's vehicle was found. (T3,43-44)

5

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-5    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 11 of
70



The Defense Case (at the Evidentiary Hearing)

Randle Craighead, Mr. Craighead's brother, was with Mr. Craighead on that Tuesday

when the police were at Mr. Craighead's house. Mr. Craighead spoke with the police for about

twenty minutes out on his front porch and told the police he was willing to come to the station

the next day to talk with them. Mr. Craighead told the police he had been working all day and

had not had a lot of sleep. (EH III, 9-1 l)

When the police told Mr. Craighead he had to go downtown with them immediately, Mr.

Craighead asked if he could go inside his home to change clothes and call an attomey. The

request was refused. (EH III, 12-14)

Randle followed the police and his brother downtown. He waited from 6:30 to 11:30 pm

to talk with his brother but was not allowed to do so. (EH III, 17)

Michael Heslip was at Mr. Craighead's house when the police arrived initially and when

they retumed. He saw the police talking with Mr. Craighead and standing in front of the door.

(EH III, 30-32)

Milton Craighead Sr., Mr. Craighead's father, spoke with Fisher and asked him why he

was holding his son and asked if his son had seen an attorney. (EH III, 43) He also called and

spoke with Investigator Richardson who told him that his son was being held for murder. (EH

TTT,44)

Mr. Craighead testified that he was working the 5:00 am to 3:00 pm shift on the assembly

line for Chrysler in June 2000. He woke for work at 3:00 am on June 20ft, which was the day the

police a:rived at his home and took him to the station (EH III, 5l-52) The officers did not allow

him to go inside his home or call an attorney. (EH III, 81)

6
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The Lower Court's Opinion

Judge Richard Hathaway gave his decision from the bench on February 21,2001.

(Opinion) The Judge first found that the police properly administered Miranda warnings to Mr.

Craighead and that he was held less then24 hours before giving a statement. (Opinion at 4-5)

The Court next found that "probable cause in this particular matter was in fact met"

stating with regard to this issue:

"I do believe that probable cause in this particular matter was
in fact met; that the investigative officer in this particular case, I
believe his name was Fisher, did tell this Court that it was his
understanding and belief that this particular defendant was with Mr.
Pruitt on the day that he passed; that they were going to be involved
in some tlpe of enterprise; that the victim's car was found
approximately a mile and a half from the residence of the defendant
in this particular cause.

I do believe that probable cause in fact has been met for the
appropriate arrest in this particular cause." (Opinion at 5)

The Judge next found that the statement was voluntarily given in that although Mr

Craighead was tired he was not "lacking in food or water." (Opinion at 5-6)

In conclusion the Judge noted that this was a'tnique case; that the police in this

particular cause decided to re-look at this particular defendant after a few years' time lapsed."

(Opinion 6) He then sua sponte granted bond to Mr. Craighead who was charged with first-

degree murder, an offense for which the trial court may deny pretrial release without reason.

MCR 6.106 (s)(tXa)(i). (opinion at 6-7)

Trial Proceedings

Chole Pruitt was shot and killed in his apartment sometime during the evening of June

26, 1997 or early moming hours of June 27, 1997. His body was found on June 27, 1997 by two

painters who accidentally went to the wrong apartment and entered after finding the door

7
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unlocked. (T 1,245-247) The painters called the apartment manager, who was a friend of

Pruitt's before he moved in, and, according to the deceased's father, may have had a relationship

with him. (T 1,243,247;T 2,9)

The apartment manager, Ms. Miller, had an apartment close to Pruitt's and had not

received any complaints about gun shots. (T 2,13-14) After seeing the body on the floor of the

apartment she called the police. (T 2,1') She was aware that Pruitt had some previous problems

with people tampering with his vehicle. (T 2, 16)

The evidence technician who processed Pruitt's apartment found no signs of forced entry

into the complex or Pruitt's apartment. (T 2,41) He found no usable fingerprints on the

premises. (T 2,43) He referred to the disarray in the bedroom of Pruitt's apartment as selective

searching as there were no signs of typical ransacking. (T 2,42,55) He recovered jewelry from

Pruitt's body. (T 2,56-57)

The evidence technician found bullet strikes in bi-fold doors in front of the dryer and in

the dryer. (T 2,43) He recovered two fired bullets and 4 spent bullets. Once the body was

removed he "examined the floor and recovered two fired bullets that were --- had passed

apparently through the body, into the carpeting, and were lodged between the carpet underside

and the floor of the hallway." (T 2,45,48) He also found two boxes of live ammunition in

Pruitt's apartment; ammunition for a 38 caliber and a 30 caliber weapon. (T 2, 58)

Pruitt died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds. (T 2,65) He had 2 gunshot wounds in

his back, was shot through the left thigh and through the right side of his neck. (T 2,62-64)

There was no evidence of close range firing. (T 2,64)

8
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Melvin Howard knew Pruitt and Mr. Craighead and knew that they were close friends. (T

2,74-75) He saw Pruitt on June 26th andPruitt was at Howard's home when Milton Craighead

Sr. stopped over that same day. (T 3,39, 42)

Ronald Tate was the Officer in Charge of this case in 1997 . (T 2,79,83) He twice

interviewed Mr. Craighead, once in 1997 and again in 1999. Tate testified that both times Mr.

Craighead told him that he and Pruitt were friends and they went to lunch on June 26,7997 and

he dropped him off late in the afternoon. (T 2, 80-81, 82)

Tate later clarified this testimony after refreshing his memory by reviewing the written

statements. Mr. Craighead had told him that he was not sure what day he had gone to lunch with

Pruitt and thought it had been either the Wednesday or Thursday before he had learned of

Pruitt's death. (T 2,92) Mr. Craighead told him that Pruitt had come by his house and they had

gone to Friday's for drinks sometime in the late afternoon. Pruitt then dropped Mr. Craighead

off at Mr. Craighead's home. Mr. Craighead later learned that Pruitt next went to Melvin

Howard's home. (T 2,93,97)

Mr. Craighead told Tate during both interviews that he worked at Sam's Club in

Farmington Hills. (T 2,97)

Although Pruitt was shot with 44 caliber bullets, the police did not recover a 44 caliber

weapon and did not recover any weapon that could have fired 44 callber bullets. (T 2, 85-86, 88,

103) All four of the recovered bullets were fired from the same weapon. (T 2,162)

9
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According to Tate, Mr. Craighead lived, at the time of the incident, 3 Yz to 4 miles from

where Pruitt's burned-out truck was found in Redfordu.(T 2,103) Milton Craighead Sr. found

the distance between Mark Craighead's home and Pruitt's burned-out vehicle to be 5.8 miles.

On June 20,2000Investigator James Fisher and Lieutenant Jackson went to Mr.

Craighead's home to speak with him about Pruitt's death. (T 2,145\ Mr. Craighead was willing

to talk with the officers but wanted to speak with them the next day and was pretty adamant

about waiting until the next day to speak with them because it was late and he had been working

all day. (T 2,148-150) Fisher wanted Mr. Craighead to come to the police station immediately

and denied making any reference to a scout car coming to take him to the police station. (T 2,

150) According to Fisher, Mr. Craighead agreed to go to the police station and rode with the

officers while his brother followed. (T 2,150-151) Mr. Craighead's brother was not allowed

onto the Homicide floor of the station. (T 2,151)

Mr. Craighead was held in the Ninth Floor lock-up overnight and a decision was made to

have Investigator Simon question Mr. Craighead. (T 2,154-155) Fisher had Investigator Simon

question Mr. Craighead because her interrogation skills were better than his and Fisher hoped

that because of her skills Mr. Craighead would say something. (T 2,156-157)

Fisher himself had no conversation regarding the case with Mr. Craighead. (T 2,158)

Investigator Barbara Simon first spoke with Mr. Craighead at the police station on June

20,2000. (T 2, tl2) Mr. Craighead was in police custody on June 20th but she did not interview

6 On Jrne 27, lggT at approxim ately 2:35 am Redford police officer Lawrence Turner
responded to a call about a car fire. The vehicle was a 1996 Chevy Tahoe registered to Chole
Pruitt. (T 2,18-20) Turner saw only one set of tire tracks and could not tell if the steering
column of the vehicle was damaged. (T 2,20,22)

Leslie Wedge, the Redford Township Fire Marshall, found that gasoline was poured on
the inside of the truck in two separate places and the fire was set from the inside. (T 2,26-27) A
38 caliber handgun was found in the truck. (T 2,27-28)

10
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him at that time. Instead, he was held overnight and she interviewed him on June 2ft. (T 2,

117-118, t2t-122)

Simon interrogated Mr. Craighead on June 2l'1 after he waived his rights and agreed to

speak with her. (T 2,106-108) She testified that she wrote out the questions she asked and his

answers and then had Mr. Craighead review and sign the statement she had written out. (T 2,

109) The written document was read in its entirety into the record and the relevant transcript

pages are attached as Appendix A. (T 2,110-112) The relevant substance of the admitted

document was that Mr. Craighead had been at Pruitt's home, they argued, but he could not

remember why, Pruitt had a gun, they fought over the gun, the gun went off and Pruitt was shot,

Mr. Craighead ran out of the apartment and went home. When specifically asked about the truck

the statement indicates that Mr. Craighead drove the truck to Redford although he could not say

where in Redford he had left it. Id.

Martin Ryzak was working as the business manager for Sam's Club in Farmington Hills

in June 1997. (T 3, 8) Mr. Craighead worked as a full-time employee during that same time on

the night shift, which ran from either 9:00 pm to 5:00 am or l0:00 pm to 6:00 am. (T 3, 9) The

building was locked down at night. (T 3, 10, l3) Mr. Craighead was a good employee who

generally worked Tuesday through Saturday. (T 3,72,14) There were no hourly time records

for that time period because they had been damaged and subsequently discarded when a sprinkler

head was damaged. (T 3, I l)

Randle Craighead was out with his brother running errands on June 20,2000 and they

returned to his brother's home to find two men on the porch. The two men identified themselves

as police officers and said they wanted to talk with Mark about Chole's murder. (T 3,21) Mark

1l
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invited the officers into his home and they said no, that they wanted to speak with him

downtown. (T 3,22) Randle followed them to police headquarters. (T 3,25)

Michael Heslip was at Mr. Craighead's home when the police arrived on June 20th. (T 3,

35) Michael heard the police tell Mark that if he did not come with them they would radio for a

scout car. (T 3, 38)

Mark Craighead lived at 23644 Schoolcraft in 1997 and worked the night shift as a stock

man at Sam's Club. (T 3, 49-50) The week of Pruitt's death he worked Tuesday through

Saturday. (T 3, 57)

Mr. Craighead was very good friends with Pruitt and saw him shortly before he was

killed. Pruitt had come by his home and they went for drinks at Friday's. A lot of things had

been happening to Pruitt and Pruitt wanted to move. (T 3, 55-56) Mr. Craighead did not see

Pruitt again after their outing to Friday's. (T 3, 57-58)

Mr. Craighead did not kill Pruitt and did not know who had killed him. (T 3,61,72-73)

On June 20,2000 Mr. Craighead was working at Chrysler and had worked the 5:00 am to

3:00 pm shift. (T 3,62) He went downtown with the police because he did not want a

confrontation with them. (T 3,64-65)

The officers questioned him in the car and in the station and he told them he did not know

anything more than he had already told them. (T 3,67-68) Nothing in the statement that Simon

read was true. He signed the statement because he was broken down and Simon told him he

would otherwise be there for the rest of his life. (T 3, 87, 89)

Following jury instructions the jury sent out two notes. The jury wanted to know if there

was a paycheck stub or evidence that Mr. Craighead had worked a 40 hour work week, wanted
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Mr. Craighead's statement and wanted written instructions on second-degree murder and

manslaughter. (T 3, 169, 174)

Post Conviction Proceedings

Appellate counsel filed a timely motion for new trial raising the issues of new evidence

and misleading evidence with regard to the initial ruling on the Motion to Suppress Mr.

Craighead's statement. Judge Jones, who was the trial judge but not the Judge who presided

over the Walker hearing, denied the motion. In denying the motion Judge Jones never ruled on

the merits of the claims instead stating "I cannot change with (sic) Judge Hathaway has already

decided. That you'll have to take to the Court of Appeals." (Hearing Transcript 5117105,9) In

response to argument about Officer Fisher's misrepresentations to Judge Hathaway at the

suppression hearing, Judge Jones stated "l listened to it at trial, I would not have gone along with

what I heard at trial at all. That's out of my hands." Id. at I l. (Order denying Motion for New

Trial attached as Appendix B)

Following this ruling, appellate counsel filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which also

added additional issues to the original New Trial Motion. This Motion was denied without

hearing in a written Order issued June 27 , 2005. (Order attached as Appendix C)

Mr. Craighead now appeals by right from his convictions and files this brief asking the

Court to vacate the convictions or, in the alternative, reverse the convictions and remand for a

fair trial.
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WHERE THE DETROIT POLICE OFFICERS
VIOLATED MR. CRAIGHEAD'S CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHTS BY ARRESTING HIM WITHOUT PROBABLE
CAUSE AND ILLEGALLY HOLDING HIM UNTIL HE
ADOPTED AN INCRIMINATING STATEMENT THIS
STATEMENT MUST BE SUPPRESSED AS THE FRUIT
OF THE ILLEGAL ARREST.

A. Issue Preservation and Standard of Review

This issue was preserved by trial counsel's motion to suppress the statement and the

evidentiary hearing held on this issue as well as appellate counsel's timely filed post conviction

motion on this issue. See, generally, Lower Court Records, Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts and

Post Conviction Transcripts.

Because this is preserved constitutional error, reversal is required unless the prosecution

establishes that the error is harmless. People v Carines,460 Mich 750,763-64; 597 NW2d 130

(leee)

B. The Constitutional Provisions

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution states:

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers

and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be
violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause,

supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the
place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized." United
States Const, Am IV

The Michigan Constitution, 1963 simitarly states in relevant part:

"Sec. 11. The person, houses, papers and possessions ofevery
person shall be secure from unreasonable searches and seizures. No
warrant to search any place or to seize any person or things shall
issue without describing than, nor without probable cause, supported
by oath or affirmation." Mich Const 1963, Art 1, sec 11.

I
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C. Systemic Problems with the DPD Come to Light - The Detroit Police Department
and the Federal Court Consent Judgment -

The facts bear out that Officers Fisher and Jackson arrived at Mr. Craighead's home

knowing they did not have probable cause to arrest him. Knowing they could not handcuff him

and arrest him without probable cause, Fisher and Jackson engaged instead in a subterfuge

whereby the officers would force Mr. Craighead to come with them and then could say he

accompanied them voluntarily. The trial court never addressed this aspect of the arrest.

What happened at Mr. Craighead's home is not in dispute. When Mr. Craighead arrived

home with his brother the police were on his front porch waiting for him. The officers refused

Mr. Craighead entry into his home and were unrelenting in their "requests" that he go to the

police station with them immediately, refusing to allow him to come downtown the following

day after he got some rest and could speak with an attorney. The police gave no reason why this

need was immediate given that three years had passed since the shooting incident and Mr.

Craighead had remained in Detroit, was available, had cooperated with the police in the past and

remained cooperative.

Unfortunately, the police conduct in this case was all too familiar and has been found to

be blatantly illegal. This is borne out by two particular documents. The first is the June 5,2002

letter to Corporation Counsel Ruth Carter from Steven H. Rosenbaum, Chief Special Litigation

Section of the United States Attorney's Office. In the June 5th letter, Attorney Rosenbaum

indicated that the Detroit Police Department:

"defines an arrest as 'a taking of an individual into custody for
further investigation, booking or prosecution', this policy
implicitly permits the arrest of an individual with less than
probable cause as a means to facilitate an investigation. Indeed,
some former DPD ernployees informed us that it was acceptable
practice to arrest suspects without probable cause and then continue
to investigate the case to develop probable cause prior to
arraignment. Gathering additional evidence after an arrest in
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order to establish probable cause for that arrest is
unconstitutional. County of Riverside v Mclaughlin, 500 U.S.
44,56 (1991)" (ernphasis added)(Letter attached as Appendix D)

The second location for an explanation is the Consent Judgment that Judge Julian Abele

Cook entered, which required, among many other relevant requirements, that officers must be

instructed "that the'possibility' that an individual commiffed a crime does not rise to the

level of probable cause." (emphasis added) The Consent Judgment further instructed that the

officers be given:

"examples of scenarios faced by DPD officers and interactive
exercises that illustrate proper police-community interactions,
including scenarios which distinguish an investigatory stop from an

arrest by the scope and duration of the police interaction; between
probable cause, reasonable suspicion and mere speculationl and
voluntary consent from mere acquiescence to police authority."
(ernphasis added) (Consent Decree attached as Appendix E)

The facts of this case bear out all too well the problems that were infecting the Detroit

Police Department at the time of this investigation and which ultimately led to entry of the

Consent Judgment. Officers Fisher and Jackson engaged in a textbook list of illegal tactics in

order to extract an incriminating statement from Mr. Craighead because they believed, i.e.,

speculated that he was responsible for the shooting.

There can be no question but that Mr. Craighead was under arrest from the moment he

arrived home. He did not voluntarily go with the police downtown; he merely acquiesced to the

police authority. He was held incommunicado as evidenced by the police refusing his brother,

who accompanied him to the station, to have contact with him.

Further, even if not under arrest at his home, Fisher admitted that he did not even try to

obtain a warrant until after Mr. Craighead signed the incriminating statement and that Mr.

Craighead was under arrest the moment he arrived at the station. (EH I, 50,70-71,72) Given
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Fisher's testimony that he had no discussions with Mr. Craighead about the case, nothing

happened to justify Mr. Craighead's detention even if the initial contact was voluntary. (T 2,

144)

Contrary to the trial court's assertion that he may have been tired but was not "actually

lacking in any sleep" (Opinion at 5-6) is the testimony of Officers Fisher and Simon. Fisher

brought Mr. Craighead to the station at 7:00 pm and had no contact with him after 9:00 pm.

Simon had no contact with Mr. Craighead until the next day (6/21) when she took him for a

polygraph examination around 2:00 or 3:00 am. (EH II, 20) Mr. Craighead had been up since

3:00 am on 6120, worked the entire day, was running errands after work, was arrested and

brought to the station and was taken for a polygraph at 2:00 or 3:00 am. One can only conclude

that given the circumstances he had little or no chance for any sort of relaxing sleep as he had

been awake for most, if not all, of the 24 hours prior to being taken for the polygraph

examination.

The officers arrested Mr. Craighead without probable cause in order to continue the

investigation in a manner that was suitable to them. The DPD's internal policies allowed for

arrests without probable cause. However, those internal policies were and are unconstitutional.

This Court can not and should not allow the illegal police practices to be condoned. Mr.

Craighead's convictions must be reversed.

D. Officer Fisher Did Not Have Probable Cause to Arrest Mr. Craighead

Officers Fisher and Jackson lacked probable cause to arrest Mr. Craighead. With or

without a warrant, the Fourth Amendment requires that an arrest be supported by probable cause.

Whitely v ll'arden,40l US 560,566;91 S Ct 1031; 28 LEd2d 306 (1971); US Const, Am IV.

Michigan law parallels the federal constitutional standard. See Mich Const 1963, art l, $ I I ;

MCL 764.1s (d).
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Probable cause to arrest exists when the facts and circumstances within the officers'

knowledge are sufficient to a prudent person, or one of reasonable caution, to believe that the

suspect has committed or is committing a felony. People v Mitchell, 138 Mich App 163,167:'

360 NW2d 158 (1984). Facts which constitute mere suspicion, inarticulate hunches and vague

beliefs of criminal involvement do not amount to probable cause. See, e.g., United States v.

Arivizu, 534 US 266; 122 S Ct. 744; l5l L Ed 2d 740 (2002) (hunch does not rise to level of

probable cause). Where there is no probable cause to arrest, but the police take a defendant into

custody for investigatory purposes, any evidence obtained as a result of that unlawful detention

or any statement made while unlawfully detained must be suppressed. People v Lewis, 160 Mich

App 20, 25;408 NW2d 94 (1987). The prosecution bears the burden of demonstrating probable

cause for a warrantless arrest. People v Reed, 393 Mich 342;224 NW2d 867 (1975).

Here, the prosecution never established that the police had probable cause to believe that

Mr. Craighead had committed a crime at or prior to the moment that Mr. Craighead signed the

incriminating statement, which was signed over 12 hours after his illegal arrest. In fact, Officer

Fisher's testimony demonstrates that far from having probable cause to arrest he merely had a

suspicion based on reviewing the police work of other officers that Mr. Craighead was the

perpetrator. Further, even if Fisher believed he had probable cause to arrest, there is no excusing

his failure to present the evidence he had to a judge for issuance of an arrest warrant. Fisher's

failure to do so is especially troubling given that the crime had occurred three years prior to his

deciding that Mr. Craighead was the perpetrator, Mr. Craighead remained a Detroit resident and

working member of the community and there was no evidence of any circumstances justifying

Fisher's actions of arresting Mr. Craighead without a warrant.
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Fisher based his belief that Mr. Craighead shot Chole Pruitt on two main premises, one of

which was faulty and one of which was the same information that other officers had reviewed

and had not deemed worthy of further investigation let alone probable cause for an arrest.

The falsity that Mr. Craighead lived approximately I to l-ll2 miles from where Mr.

Pruitt's vehicle was found was the primary fact that Fisher used to support his belief that Mr.

Craighead committed this killing. This "fact" was also central to the trial court's finding that

probable cause existed for the arrest. This is a faulty premise in that Fisher himself admitted that

in taking a rough calculation of mile road to mile road; it was farther than I to l-l12 miles from

Mr. Craighead's home to the vehicle. At trial Officer Tate, the original officer in charge of the

case and the officer who had twice interviewed Mr. Craighead (T 2,79,83), testified that it was

3 %to 4 miles from Mr. Craighead's home to where the vehicle had been found. (T 2, 103) Mr.

Craighead's father testified to the distance being 5.8 miles. There can be no doubt that Fisher,

who claimed at the evidentiary hearing that he drove the route in his police vehicle and the

distance was I to I % miles, ((EH I, 17-18,46-47) lied about the distance involved and used that

lie as his main premise for the claim that he had probable cause to arrest Mr. Craighead.

Fisher's review of the police statements and discussions with someone who saw Mr.

Pruitt with a black male who could have been Mr. Craighead adds nothing to the probable cause

analysis. Being with someone at some point in the day prior to the person being shot that night

does not rise to the level of probable cause for an arrest, especially when it is undisputed that the

two were good friends and regularly spent time together.

The third point the Judge mentioned in determining that there was probable cause to

arrest Mr. Craighead was the witness statement of Mr. Gibson, taken in 1998, that he thought

that Mr. Pruitt and Mr. Craighead may have been trying to sell drugs together. This was an
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unsubstantiated claim and one the police knew of since the start of the investigation. It is also a

claim that is irrelevant to the police theory that Mr. Pruitt was killed by someone who knew he

had recently received a monetary settlement.

The trial court further failed to take into account the circumstances surrounding the arrest.

Officer Jackson admitted that the Detroit Police do not always obtain a warrant even when they

have probable cause for an arrest. Jackson's statement underlies the problems besieging the

Detroit police department and the citizens of the City whose rights are being trampled every day

by a cavalier attitude toward the Constitution. There is no justification for failing to obtain a

warrant in this case where the incident happened three years prior, the police suspect is a life

Iong resident of Detroit who lives and works in the City, the suspect has been cooperative in the

past and was willing to be cooperative with these officers and there is nothing to indicate any

immediate need for arrest. The officers' forceful actions speak volumes about what happened in

this case and the legal stren!1h of their case at the time of arrest. There is absolutely no

justification for failing to request and obtain an arrest warrant. The only reason the police did

not submit a warrant request was because they knew there was no probable cause for an arrest.

The police also knew that they had to wear down Mr. Craighead if there was any hope of

obtaining an incriminating statement from him, which explains the surprise tactics and the desire

to have him in their custody without access to family members or an attorney.

Fisher, while testifying that Mr. Craighead voluntarily accompanied him to the station,

admitted that once he was at the station Mr. Craighead was not free to leave. He testified that

Mr. Craighead was under arrest at that point because Fisher thought Mr. Craighead's answers to

his questions were inconsistent with other evidence. Inconsistency is the same reason Fisher

gave for wanting to question Mr. Craighead after reviewing the witness statements that the police
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had previously obtained. Again, Fisher's subjective beliefs do not and can not pass for probable

cause.

E. Evidence obtained incident to the arrest should have been suppressed.

Under the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine, evidence obtained through exploitation of

an illegal detention is subject to suppression. Wong Sun v United States,3Tl US 471, 486; 83 S

Ct 407,416;9 LBdzd 441 (1963). The test is whether the challenged evidence has been obtained

by exploitation of the illegality or instead by means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of

the primary taint. Id. Three factors to be considered in determining whether the causal chain is

sufficiently attenuated are: (1) the time elapsed between the illegality and the acquisition of the

evidence; (2) the presence of intervening circumstances; and (3) the purpose and flagrancy of the

official misconduct. United States v Green, I 1 1 F3d 515, 52117'h Cir. lggT), citing Brown v

Illinois, 422U5 590, 603-04; 95 S Ct2254;45 L Ed 2d 416 (1975).

Applying these factors to Mr. Craighead's case, there can be no doubt that his statement

was the fruit of the illegal arrest:

(l) The statement was given only after Mr Craighead was held
incommunicado for a significant period of time.

(2) There were no intervening events other than the Miranda
warnings. Miranda warnings do not cure an illegal arrest, and do not
by themselves break the causal link between the illegal arrest and the
statement, although they can be a factor to be considered. The
United States Supreme Court has firmly established that the fact that
a confession may be "voluntary" for purposes of the Fifth
Amendment, in the sense that Miranda warnings were given and

understood, is not by itself sufficient to purge the taint of the illegal
arrest. Brown v lllinois, supra, 422 US at 602-603; Taylor v
Alabama,457 US 687; l02S Ct2664;73 LEd2d3l4 (1982).

(3) Arrests for investigation of a crime on mere suspicion are

considered flagrant misconduct. See Brown, 422 US at 605; Taylor,
457 US at 689-690. Here, as in those cases, "the police effectuated
an investigatory arrest without probable cause... and involuntarily
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transported petitioner to the station for interrogation in the hope that
something would tum up." Taylor,457 US at693.

Because this is preserved constitutional error, reversal is required unless the prosecution

establishes that the error is harmless. People v Carines, 460 Mich 7 50,763-64; 597 NW2d 130

(1999). The prosecution cannot meet that burden. Mr. Craighead's unrecorded statement that he

shot Mr. Pruitt after a struggle for the gun was the only evidence to support his conviction for

manslaughter and felony firearm. Consequently, there is no argument that can be put forth that

the statement was cumulative to other evidence or that its admission was otherwise harmless

error. Mr. Craighead's convictions must be reversed.
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II. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY
INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO PRESENT AN EXPERT
WITNESS REGARDING THE PHENOMENON OF
FALSE CONFESSIONS.

Issue Preservation and Standard of Review

Mr. Craighead may raise this ineffective assistance of counsel claim for the first time on

appeal because it involves a constitutional error that likely affected the outcome of the trial.

People v Henry,239 Mich App 140, 146;607 NW2d 767 (1999) (defendant may raise

ineffective assistance of counsel for the first time on appeal, with review limited to mistakes

apparent in the record). The performance and prejudice prongs of an ineffective assistance of

counsel claim are mixed questions of law and fact that are reviewed de novo. Strickland v

Washington,466 US 668,698; 104 S Ct2052;80 L Ed 2d674 (198a); Blackburnv Foltz,828

F2d ll77 , I I 8l (6th Cir. 1987).

Analysis.

Mr. Craighead had the right under the federal and state constitutions to the effective

assistance of counsel. U.S. Const., amend VI; Const. 1963, Art. l, $ 20; Strickland,466 US at

668. To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must meet two

criteria. He must first "show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing

that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not performing as the 'counsel' guaranteed

the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Strickland, supra, at 687. In so doing, the defendant

must overcome a presumption that counsel's performance was the result of sound trial strategy.

Id. at 690- Second, the defendant must show the deficient performance was prejudicial . Id. at

687. Prejudice is established where there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel' error,
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the result of the proceeding would have been different. Id. at 694; People v LaVearn,448 Mich

207,216;528 NW2d 721 (1995).

As the prosecutor stated in opening statements and the Judge stated in post conviction

proceedings, the statement attributed to Mr. Craighead was the primary, if not the sole piece of,

evidence upon which a conviction could rest in this case. Mr. Craighead's defense was two

pronged. First, he could not have committed the crime because in June 1997 he was working

from the evening hours of June 26th until the early morning hours of June 27'h and was unable to

leave the premises without being detected because the building in which he worked was locked

for the shift. Unfortunately fbr Mr. Craighead the actual time cards had been destroyed.

Although he provided evidence that he worked during the week in question, he could not supply

proof for the exact dayltime period in question due to the destruction, by the company, of the

actual time cards.

The second part of his defense was that although he signed the statement that Simon

wrote out, thereby impliedly adopting the truth of it, he did so only because he was worn down

and felt he had no choice but to acquiesce to what had been written for him. Given the

imperfections with the alibi defense, it was critical that the jury was presented with something

upon which to base an understanding of why someone would falsely confess to killing someone.

As the prosecutor told the jury in rebuttal closing argument, why would Mr. Craighead say he

did something that he did not do? (T 3, 136-137) Counsel, however, failed to present any such

testimony.

The occurrence of false confessions is surprisingly common within the criminal justice

system and society at large. See, Kassin, Confessions: Psychological and Forensic Aspects,

International Encyclopedia of Social and Behavioral Sciences (2001). Aggravating the

24
13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-5    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 30 of

70



widespread incidences of false confessions is the erroneous belief that a confessron ls an

indisputable indication of guilt. Because it is so difficult for fact finders to fathom why anyone

would willingly confess to a crime they did not commit, expert testimony on false confessions is

critical, especially in cases where that confession is the only incriminating evidence.

Experts agree that during interrogations even well-intentioned officers can often end up

producing false confessions. Kanabe, George. Why Judges and Juries Should Have Access to

Complete Electronic Recordings of Police Interrogations: Following lllinois's Example.

Findlaw's Legal Commentary, August 13, 2003. The police, as in this case, often lead suspects

to believe that they have no other option but to confess. Those who initially assert their

innocence, as Mr. Craighead did, come to the realization that denial will offer them no escape

from police interrogation and they turn to anything that will allow them to escape the police

questioning - sometimes a false confession. Kanabe, supra.

' 
According to Steven Dizin, a professor at Northwestern University School of Law and

an authority on false confessions, "it's a reaction to a feeling of utter hopelessness and despair

that virtually anything I say about my innocence is going to be ignored, and my only way out of

this interrogation room is to accede to the interrogator's demands." Marks, Alexandra. Why

People Confess to Crimes they Didn't Do,The Christian Science Monitor, Dec. 5, 2002.

Other suspects may truly stop believing in their own innocence, in spite of the fact that

they have committed no crime. Kanabe, 2003. "This is particularly likely to happen when the

interrogator tells the suspect that incriminating evidence has been retrieved that undeniably

identifies the suspect as the perpetrator of the crime in question - and when the interrogation is

prolonged." Kanabe, 2003.
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After Chole Pruitt was killed in June of 1997, Mark Craighead was fully cooperative with

the police. He spoke with Investigator Tate on August 29, and a second time more than a year

later on March 18, 1999. Investigator Tate testified at trial that during the second interview Mr.

Craighead gave him the same information concerning his knowledge about the events

surrounding Mr. Pruitt's death, consistent with their first meeting. (T 2,97).

Circumstances surrounding both Mr. Craighead's arrest and the statement he gave to

Investigator Simon suggest that it was at the very least improperly persuaded, or worse,

aggressively coerced from him. On June 20,2000 Mr. Craighead had worked a ten-hour shift on

the Chrysler assembly line from 5:00 a.m. until 3:00 p.m. (EH lll,52). Hungry and still

operating on a mere three hours of sleep, he arrived home in shorts and a dirty t-shirt to find

Investigator Fisher and Lieutenant Jackson waiting on his porch around 6:00 in the evening. (EH

III, 64).

Although Mr. Craighead was told he was not under arrest and that he was only needed for

questioning at 1300 Beaubien, he was not allowed to leave once he went downtown with the

officers, and he was not allowed to speak with anyone. (EH III, 8l). At some point he was

placed in a room at squad seven and left there for approximately three hours. (EH III, 85). Mr.

Craighead testified at the Walker Hearing that Investigator Simon let him out of the room at

I l:00 that night and lied, telling him that a witness had given her a written statement, that he was

seen riding with Chole Pruitt the day he was kiiled. (EH III, 89). Mr. Craighead was given a

polygraph examination sometime between 2:00 and 3:00 a.m., and then he was taken to a

custody cell on the ninth floor of 1300 Beaubien. (EH lll,96-97). It was approximately I l:00

a.m. when Investigator Fisher brought Mr. Craighead back down to squad seven so that

Investigator Simon could interrogate him further. (EH III, 99).
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At this point Mr. Craighead had been locked up, with no outside contact and had

consistently maintained his innocence and lack of any knowledge regarding his friend's death.

His resolve, however, was being steadily and systematically wom away. The statement adopted,

which bears little relationship to the actual facts behind the shootingT, is not worthy of belief, let

alone reliable as a sufficient basis for conviction.

Because of the difficulty people have believing and/or understanding why someone who

is innocent would confess to a crime, the importance of expert testimony on this issue cannot be

overstated. It is the job of an expert to explain things to the jurors that are outside of ordinary

knowledge. People v Boyd,65 Mich App 1l (1975). See also MRE 702.

In this case, expert testimony on false confessions could have prevented an innocent man

from the injustices of a wrongful conviction. Mr. Craighead's "confession" does not match the

facts of the crime. An expert would have helped the jury understand why Mr. Craighead, who

had nothing to do with Chole Pruitt's death, would have "confessed" to such a crime. Given that

false confessions result in a significant number of wrongful convictions, and given that defense

7 The evidence showed that Mr. Pruitt had been shot multiple times and not at close range
(from a distance of about four feet according to the medical examiner). The statement indicates
that he was shot in a struggle over the gun. The statement thus indicates one shot at close range.
At least two of the multiple shots borne out be the physical evidence appeared to have been fired
while Pruitt was prone on the ground, as determined by the spent bullets found lodged in the
underside of the carpeting beneath where the body was found. (T 2,45)

Further, the statement did not address why Mr. Pruitt's truck was driven into Redford and
set on fire or why it appeared that someone had been searching certain areas of the apartment.
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counsel failed to present this relevant and critical evidence to the jury, Mr. Craighead is entitled

to a new trial where he is allowed to present an expert witness on false confessions.
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SUMMARY AND RELIEF AND REOUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Defendant-Appellant Mark Craighead asks that

this Honorable Court vacate his convictions or, in the altemative, reverse the convictions and

remand this case for a fair tial. Additionally, oral argurnent should be had in this matter so that

counsel can address the Court's questions and/or concems about the issues raised in this appeal.

Respectfully submitted,

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY U./,;
VALERTE R NEWMAN (P4729r)
Assistant Defender
3300 Penobscot Building
645 Griswold
Detoit, Michigan 48226
(313) 2s6-e833

Dated: August 9,2005
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(By Mr. HaII)

0 Could you

you?

A Yes.

read the statement that Mr. Craighead gave to

Question: "What can you Le11 me

about. the fatal shooting of Mr. Chole Pruett?"

Answer: "I was over to Chole's

apartmenE,. It was just me and Cho1e. We goE into

an argument. I can't reca11 what the argument was

about. Choie had a gun. We got to fighting over

the gun. I got the gun away from Chole. I

panicked and I fired the gun. After Chole was

shot, I di-dn't know what. to do. I ran out of Ehe

apartrnent. I went home. I was scared. I didn't

know what to do."

Question: "Mr. Craighead, when you

Pruett's apartment, did you Eakeleft Mr.

anything?"

Eake Mr.

Redford.

Answer: "No. "

Question: "Mr.

Pruett's truck?"

Answer: "Yes.

I don't remember what.

Craighead, did you

drove it

street I

I over Eo

drove t.he

Question: "How long have you known

truck to

110
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Mr. Pruett?"

Answer: "I

about, four or fiwe years.

sister-in-l-aw, Samantha. "

Question:

have known Chole for

He was going with my

"Have you and Chole ever

had a fight before?"

Answer: "No, never. we were cl-ose

friends. "

'" Ouestion: "WhaE happened Eo t.he

gun?"

Answer: rr I don't remember. "

Question: "Mr. Craighead, did I

threaEen you in any way to make a statement.?"

Answer: "No;" and he signed his

name "Mark Craighead. "

Question: "Mr. Craighead, did I

promise you anything to make a statement or answer

any questions?"

Answer:

name "Mark Craighead."

Question:

deprived of food or the

Answer:

name "Mark Craighead."

Quest.ion:

"No;" and he signed his

ttMr Craighead, were you

the restroom?"

and he signed his

use of
ttNo; "

.l-11

"Mr. Craighead, are you
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on any type of medication?"

Answer : "No r' and he signed his

name "Mark Craighead. "

Question: "Mr. Craighead,

statement you gave and the questions you

true ? "

is t,he

answered

Answer: "Yes;" and he signed his

he signed his namename 'tMark Craighead. " Then

"Mark Craighead, " and put the

time 11 : 50 a. m.

O Do you know when Mr. Craighead was

I'm sorry, strike that.

Where were you when

date 6/21/2oooi the

brought down t.o

you interviewed Mr

Craighead?

Homicide, fifth floor, Squad 7, I believe.

Do.you know when he was broughE to that locat.ion?

I t.hink the first time I seen him was on the 20th.

Did you have any contact with him prior Eo him giving

that statement?

Yes.

Did you int.erview him prior to giwing that statement?

No.

So your contact with him wasn't in rel-at.ion t.o talking

to him about anything regarding the case?

No, not at that tirne.

A

o

A

o

A

o

A

o

A

lt2
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STATE OF MICHIGAN
Third Judicial Circuit Court
Criminal Division

ORDER
DENYING / GRANTING

MOTION oc* aqoo
Case No

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

vs.

[Y-\anr <qdI

At a Session of Said Court held in The Frank Murphy Hall of Justice

at Detroit in Wayne County -t

PRESENT: Honorable Vem /V\c,sspv l3-onqS
Jud[e

A Motion for: fr"/ been filed; and

the People having filed and answer in opposition; and the Court having reviewed the briefs and records in the Cause and

being fully advised in the premises;

IT IS ORDERED THAT the Motion for

is hereby denied granted.

Judge

E UN'lY tit-Ei1K

DIPUry CTERX

be and

FORM #7 ( t2 / 97)

ORDER DEIYYING / GRANTING MOTION
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204 zSL
RECEIVED

JUL z 5 200s

STATE OT }trCHIGAN
FPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

IN THE WAYI\IE COI'NTY CIRCUIT COTJRT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NIICHIGAIY,

PlaintiFAppellee,
_vs-

MARI( TALBORT CR.AIGHEAD,

Court of Appeals No.243856
Circuit Court No. 00-7900-01

Honorable Vera Massey Jones

Defendant-Appellant.

PRAECPE FqR MprrON Aryp 9Rp4R/JUq$MENT

TO THE ASSIGNMENT CLERIC Please place Defendanfs

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION AND/OR TO AMEND MOTION FOR IYEW TRIAL

On the motion calendar for hearing on the pleadings. This motion is to be heard by JUDGE
VERA MASSEY JONES.

TO COURT CLERIC Have the following Order/Judgment completed and signed by Judge and
check I or2 below, whichever is applicable.

DATED: 6-^1-os ORDIR/JT]I}GMEI{T

I

lh
]}"
:,i (,

- :,.1i., I :

be and thei'saliir{

r-J
'-f,,tp
!'1

I ORDERED the
ilis

Jones

Date: G-ar-os
tilayrcCody Cimft &rrt

APPRO\'ED AS TO FORM AND ST]BSTANCE BY COT'NSEL FOR:

rr ry,#nrnvI/ DENIED/

t', i
l1I(-'

,l
',.;
n
)

*U

i!
-J

VALERIE T\TEWMAN (P 4729I)
Defendant's Aftomey
Telepho.ne No. (.3 I 3) 256-9833

i'1.:,C1,;iil'r i'r.r';!,'.r'lil'J\ilt:l't t6tl ut itrbtiv*

fdrr

$ate - - - '-*

WAYI{E COI.INTY PROSECI.TTOR
Plaintiffs Attomey

TelephoneNo.

DATE::

rllourt Of ,Apr.rei:rls l)etroit Clffice
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DefroitPoliceDept!l,sDetention Page I of9

June 5,2002

Ms. Ruth Carter
Corporation Counsel
City ofDeEoit
660 Woodward Avenue, Suite I 650
Deroit M148226-3491

Re: Iwestigation of the Detroit Pohce Deparhent

DearMs. Crter:

As you lnow, the Civil Rights Division and the United States Attorrey's Office for the Eastern
District of Michigan are jointty conducting m investigation of the Detoit Police Deprhent (DPD),
pursuanttotheViolentCtimeControlandLawEnforcementActof 1994,42U.S.Ci $ 14141.We
geady appreciate the cooperation of the City of Detoit and the DPD thus fa in this investigation

Oru investigation covers three areas: Use of force policies mdpractices of the DPD; DPD holding
cell conditions, policies and practices; and DPD arrest and deterition policies md practices. We
identified ourpreliminary concems regrding the use of force policies and practices ofthe DPD in our
letter of Mrch 6,2002. We ide,ntificd our conce,rns reguding DPD holding cells in aletterregurfing
emergent conditions on April 25, 2001 , and provided more extemsive conrments md technical assistance
reco'r.mendations regrding DPD holding cell conditions, policies mdpractices in ornApril 4,2002
letter.

In this letter, we i{entiff sev€ral aeas of conce,m regarding DPD rrest and dete,lrtion policies md
practices, alongwjth orureconrmendations for addressing these concerns. Iryortmt aspects bf our fach
gatheringprocess have yet to be coryleted most notabty coryleting our review ofrelerrmt DPD
doctments. T.herefore, this letter is not meant to be exhaustive, but rather focuses on significant
concems identffied in ourreview of the DPD's policies andprocedures, apreliminaryreyiew ofthe
doctrments that the DPD has produced and interviews with over 100 DPD employees. Please note that
we may identify additional issues, andthat the concemrs discussedbelow do notrelate to the use offorce
and holding cell components of our investigation

I. Background

In March of 2000, former United States Attomey Saul Green met with former DPD Chief Benny'
Nirpoleon, otherDPD commandJevel staffand supernisors from federal law enforcement agencies to
disiuss DPD arrestpolicies andprocedures. Themeetingwas calledbecause the Llnited Staies
Attorney's office hrd receivedreports ofunconstitutional arest and detentionpractices within the DPD
homicide sectiou In reqponse, the DPD agreed to end these rrest and detention practiges md to institute
a training progran to ensure future compliance with constitutioaal mandates.

Oru review to date raises concerns that the DPD maybe (l) making warrmtless rrests without
probable cause; (2) arresting and detainingwihresses and fmily members ofsuspects withoutproper
judicial authority; md (3) ety delayingprobable cause heri4gs before ajudge ormagrstrate.
Orrr interviewi of DPD persomel indicate that, with the excqrtion of Wayae Cormty Prosecutors haring
spoken at a homicide roll call, the DPD has not instituted my policy changes or formal training progrm
to ad&ess these concerns. We recognize that the new leadership in the DPD intends to address these
issues.

Appendix, p. 190a13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-5    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 46 of
70



Eetroit Police Dept Witress - -.ention Page2 of9

As our investigation initial$ focused on the homicide section, the numbers presented in this letter
reflect arrests and detentions in that section. Although a:rest and detention concents were identified
throughout the DPD, ttre homicide section is one of the special comrnands where the arrest and wi[ress
detention concerns were most prev.ale,nt. The spepial copmands include homicide as well as the other
sections of the majol crimes divjsion and the narcotics bureau. The special commands are located in the
First Frecinctin the Headquarters B-uilding Individuals detainedby the qpecial commandswere lodged,
or housed, in the First h"iio"t uotit tne ciUs were closed in September ZbO t . Special cotrrmand
deteinees are nbw lodged in any precinct with available space. The cipsrne of the cells in ths First 

,

Precinct does not chaage our malysis a.s 1) theindividual investigator in charge of a particular case and
that investigator's supeirisor continue to be responsrtle for the ditainee inesp-ective of location, and 2)
the DPD has not changed its proble,matic arrest and detention policies and practices.

II. Arrest Policies and Practices

DPD aqrestpolicies andprocedures contain imprecise, ambiguous and contadictory language. The
policies as written, coupled with a lack ofsupenri3ion, allow for the unconstitutional arrest of witnesses
and suspects

A. Arrest ofwihresses

We recommend that the DPD amend and clariff its policies to coryly with thb law governing arrest
An agest occurs when an officer's words or actions would convey to a reasonable person that he or shi
is not free tb 1"ur".'l'!') Californiav. Hodari D.,4ggu.S. 621, eZA 1f ff f 1. Therefore, m officerb
subjective intent is not a factor in the evaluatio:r. This inquiry is based on all of the circrrmstances
surrounding the encounter. Floridav. Bostick,50l U.S. 429,437 (1991). Thus, anindividualmaybe
under arrest whether uncuffed on the sheef guarded by officers in a special cormand or Iocked in a
precinct holding cell'so long ab a reasonable person would conclude that he or she is not free to leave.

According to DPD policy an arrest is defined "as a taking of an individual into custody for firther
investigation, booking or prosecution." ili) Under DPD policy, "an arest is not valid unless the aresting
officer actually has the intent to make an arest according to the definition of 'arrest'.'qi.1i Opp policy
further states thatwitnesses shouldbe detained at the scene ofa crime investigation and/or hansported to
the Headquarters Building for interviewing."$i atr.r" policies implicitly authorize DPD employees to
detain witnesses involuntarily for questioning. Some DPD employees, who aclnowledge that witnesses
are detained involuntari$ for questioning, stated that wen though a witness is not free to reflise
transport to or leave from the command they do not consider the wibress to be under aresl

We recommend that the DPD revise and clarify its investigative policies and eliminate any

authorization or instruction to detain witnesses, absant a valid material witness order.:l'5-) We firrther
recomrnend that the DPD utilize appropriatelaw enforce,mentprocedures thatinctude techiques for
both on-scene and station house interviews of witnesses. The procedures must safeguardvohmtary
participation by. wiEresses.

' The new policies and procedures should be circulated to all precincts and corrrmands. The DPD
Manual should be updated to reflect the changes. The DPD should prwide haining on the new policies
andprocedures to all levels of comrnand All hainiug shouldbe documented 0o clearly identifywho was
kained, the date they were hained, and how the traiiring was conducted. Finally, audits should be
conducted to ensure compliance with ttre new procedires.
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B. Arrestofsuspects

The DPD does not adequately define arrest orprobable cause, althoughDPD policy correctly states

thatprobable cause is required for an arrof ifi) Aspreviousty inentioned the DPD defines an rrest as

"a taking of m individual into custody for firther investigation, booking, or prosecution"'r'i] This policy
implicitly p€rmits the arrest of an individual with less than probable cause as a mems to facilitate an
investigatio:r. lndeed, some fonner DPD employees informed us that it was acceptable practice to rrest
suspects without probable cause and then continue to investigate the case to dwelop probable cause
prior to a:raignment. Gathering additional evidence after an arrest in order to establishprobable cause
for that arrest is'unconstitutional. County of Riverside v. McLaughlin, 5OO U.S. 44, 56 (1991).

Furthermore, DPD policy states that "a very substantial possibility that the person to be arested has

comrnitted a crime" is sufficient for probabl. 
"aus.."{S 

This is problanatic because it does not set an
objective standard. Probable cause requires the officer have information "sufficient to warant a prudent
person, or one of reasonable caution, in believing, in the circumstances shown, that the suspect has
ssmmittsd, is committing, or is about to commit an o'ffemse." Michiganv. DeFillippo, 443 U.S. 31,
(1979) (citations omitted). DPD policy also implicitly sets a lower standardby refe,rring to the
possibility that a crime was committed, rather than aprobability.

Within any given police departuent there will be examples of individuals who are arrested md the,n
discharged frompolice custody without being charged with a crime. Howwer, the large numb-er of
individuals arested and lata discharged by the DPD indicates that arrests may have beenmade without
probable cause. fire 1998 FBI trniform Crime Report rwealed that in 1998 the DPD arrested thrrce times
as many individuals for homicides as the number 

-of 
homicides in the City of Dehoit In that srme year,

the DPD solved only 47%of itb homicide cases. This trend continued in l,ggg eurd2OOO.-Pi

While rirore than one person may be invotved in a homicide, which could increase the number of
arrests per homicide, our preliminary document review indicates that this does not explain this
discrepancy. For example, in one month tnz00l,76 individuals were arrested and initially chargedwith
homicide.'iii;) Of the 76, only 3,oo/owere formally charged with homicide. Of the 53 individuals not
formalty charged with homicide, 23Yowere held for over 48 hours, one for 9l hdurs, or afrnost four
days.

DPD ernployees informed us that a suspect may be discharged from police custody ifprobable cause

is not attained within a reasonable period of I -ne after the xrrs5l'fl'$ If andwhenprobable cause is
attained, the suspect may be re-arrested- As discussed above, rresting individuals without probable
cause and then investigating to obtain probable cause is not constitutional. Other DPD qloyees
revealed that some suspects are not actuatly released from the precinct for lack ofprobable cause, but
instead are.removed from the holding cell and taken into another area of the precinct while the
investigator coryletes new arrest documentation indicating anew rrest date and time and returns the
individual to the holding cell, with no.apparent additional basis for m arrest

Two DPD policies that require supervisory review ofprobable cause are not being applied to the
special cornmands in the Headquarters Building. The firstrequires the Officer-in-Charge (OIC) of the

precinct station desk to review ttre circumstances of each il1ssl '(12') The second requires each precinct

comrnanding officer to review the details of the case for every individual lodged and later discharged-
iti)etmough DPD ernployees informed us that the supervisors in the special commands were expected
to know who was arrested, on what case, and for what reason, this review procqss was not routinized or
documented in the special comrnands.
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' DenoltPolice Dept Wihess u-,ention Page 4 of9

Werecommend thatthe DPD amend andclarifyits definition ofprobable cause. The DPD should
revise and clariff its arrest policies to eliminate any reference to an arest as an investigaiive tool.

We recommend that the DPD ensure that the policies requiring supervisory review of probable cause
re applied to the special commands.'The consistent application of existr,ng DPD policies will require a
supervisory and precinct review ofprobable ca'use when a detainee is lodgetl by an investigator in a
specialcotrrmand. Furthermore; the case file should clearly irdicate every individual arrestcd in the
course of an investigation by name; address, probable cause state,ment, date of rrest, date of discharge,
arresting officer and supervisor 4proving the detention.

The new policies and ptocedures should be circulated to all precincts and commands. The DPD
should provide haining on the new policies and procedutes to all levels of command- All training should
be documented to clearly identifywho was traine4 the date theywere trained, mdhow the hainingwas
conducted. Finally, audits shouldbe conducted to ensure complianss with the new procedures.

III. Detention Policies and Practices

When a detainee is arrested, the DPD requires that the detainee be formalty processed before being
placed in aprecinct holding cell As part of the processingprocedure, DPD policy requires that an arrest
ticketbe completed. An arrest ticketrecords ari individual's personalinformation as well as the charge
on which he/she is lodged, or detained in a holding cell. If the individual is a police wihress, the
investigato4 is required to identify that infonnation on the arest ticket and to attach the court order
authorizing the witressl detention to the arrest tickel

The DPD does.oot ensure that detainees are moved out of its custody in a syste,matic and timety l

ruurner. The lack of a syste,matic process permits the unconstitutionat deteffion ofindividuals in DPD
custody. The DPD precinct cells were designed and are.inte,nded to bperate as te,mporary holding
facilities. Regardless of a detainee's destinationrfi'e: the DPD needs to implement a system that will
process all detainees and e,nsure their timety movemant out ofDPD custody.

A. Individuals lodged as police witresses

A witress who is subpoenaed to testify in a criminal case is a-material witress. Pursuant to the U.S.
Constitution and Michigan Law, only a court has thc authority to decide whether an individual is a
material,lvitrcss andwhether thatmaterialwitness shouldbe commiJtedto ajailpendinghis/her
testimony. {i5l DPD policies regarding mataialwitnesses are inconsisten[ Allhough the DPD does not
identify material wilnesses as such, the DPD describes four categories ofpolice witnesses, all ofwhom
are detained to ensure their testimony in a criminal 

"*rl"l'6i 
and all ofwhomrequire a court orderprior

to their detention in a precinc1""11.'i}'7'i This potiry also states that the DPD does not have the authority

to detain a police witness without a court order for more than 12 1ro*".-{i!) The policy implies that ap
eleven hour detention without a court order is acceptable. Yet another DPD policy specificallyrequires
DPD detention officers to check the admission cards of all police witnesses on a daity basis and to,i
contact the OIC'regarding the lackof a court order or expected date of release.'fl"1) These inconsistencies
in DPD policies,implicitly allow for the illegal detention ofindividuals classified as police wibresses.

DPD employees have infomred us. that individuals merely guspected of being a witness or merety
suspected of larowing the whereabouts of a suspect are arrested, lodged and held as police wihresses in
precinct cells without a court order or access to judicial review. However, even if the DPD enforced its
policy requiring a court order to arrest or detainpolice witnesses, individuals would remain improperly
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detained in DPD custody because not all witnesses are classified as witnesses.when they are arrested-
Indee( DPD euployees inforrned us that some wihesses are listed as being chargedwith the crime with
which they are believed to have information

Some witresses are pppropriatety classified as police wihesses and lodgedpursuant to a court order.
We spoke to serreral such police wihesses who were se,nte,ncedprisoners removed from a state
conectional facility. Thepolice wihesses we spoke to hadbeen in the holding"cells for sweralmonths

We recornmend that the DPD revise its policies regarding police witnesses to eliminate conflicting
elements and to compty with the U.S. Constitution and Michigan Law. The DPD should not allow my
individual classified as a police witness to be lodgedwithout a court order. If an investigator does not
have a court order, the OIC of the precinct desk should refuse to lodge the wihess. Similmly, if a
wiuress without a court order is detained at a special command the investigator's supervisor should
ensure that the individual is immediatety released.

The DPD should arrmge for any police witress held for an extended period of time to be lodged in a
facility desigued for extended stays.

B. Individuals chargedwith a crime

Judicial review of a warantless arrest is required as soon as is reasonab$ feasible.'t?*'| OpO policy
requires DPD employees to obtainjudicial revierv of awaranfless arrest "within the titrepaiod
required by law" or "within a reasonable period of time. ""12;') O"rpit" this written policy, several DPD
employees infonrredus that theyhave 48 hotrs fromthe time of arest to seekjudicialreview as a
matter of course. Some DPD eryloyees stated that they used the 48 horn period to investigate for
probable cause and/or to seek a stateinent from the detainee. Some DPD e,mployees stated that theywere
allowed 72 hours if an individual was charged with a felony. During our February 2O02 tbrx, we w€re

informed by a DPD ernployee that a woman recently had been detained at the l2\recinct for five days
before presentrnent for judicial reyiew.

DPD employees have infoimed us that after an arrest, the aresting officer coryletes the necessry
paper work including a warrant request. The submission of a warrant request to the precincfs court
liaison begins the arraignment process. Each dan the court liaison files the requests with the prosecutor's
office, who in turn schedules the detainee for arraigrrment. In a case invoMng a special corrrmarid, the
aresting officer does not submit the warrant requestbecause the case is turned over to m investigator in
a special command- The assigned investigator determines when to submit the warrant request and may
delay this process to int€nriew the detainee or conduct other additional investigation DPD employees
cite investigator unavailability as the primary cause for delay in the arraignmentprocess.

DPD Special Order 9'547 attempts to create a syste,m to ensure a timety arraigrmentby requiring
noffication and responsibility at multiple levels of cornmand- The Special Order states that it is the
responsibility of the intestigator in charge of the case or the investigator's strpervisor to dnsure that a
detainee is arraigned within the "time period required by law. " If a detainee is not arraigned within 24
hours, the policy requires that uthe conrmand holding the detainee" notify the deputy chief or m
executive duty officer. I&on executive review, ifpemnission to hold the detainee beyotd24 hours is
grante{ the arrest ticket is to be marked accordingly and an inter-office memo is to be sent to the
affected deputy chief. The Special Order requires deputy chiefs to prepare a monthty re,port to the chief
"detailing the circurnstance of detainees held over 24 hours. " Our pretiminary document revievv rweals
no notations indicating executive rwiew of arrest tickets of individuals detained over 24 hours.
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Interviews with DPD ernployees confirm that the policy is not practiced.

Prior to the closing of the holding cells in the First Precinct, DPD detention officers at that facility
were required to iecord all detainees held for 36 hours ffme1s.-€'Ii However, the policy on$ authorized
the OIC to contact the investigator in chrge of the ffNe or the investigator's supervisor, nbtify him or
her that the detainee had been in custody for 36 hours or more and record the notification The OIC was
not authorized to send the detainee to court or release the detainee if an investigatorwas in chage of the
case, although the OIC did have this authority if a non-investigator was the offircer in charge of the case.
The policy also required a written authorization for prisoners held'over 48 horns by the conrmanding
officoof the unittesponsible for the prisoner. Our preliminry docume,nt review reveals no notations
indicating executive review of individuals dehined over 48 hours. Interviews with DPD mployees
fiuther confirm thatitis not uncommon for DPD detainees to be held over 48 hours. Similarly, our
preliminary documentreview revealed thatin one monthin 2001, of the 83 individuals eitherdetained
on a charge of homicide or as a police witness without a unit" Z9Yowere detained for more than 48
hours.

W,erecommend that the DPD examine its policies andrepeal or amendpolicies that are fully or
partially in conflict with the U.S. Constitution and Michigan Law. The DPD should circulate the revised
policies, provide taining to all affected levels of command, and document the haining of DPD
ernployees as descntedin Section 2@) above. Audits shouldbe conducted to ensure compliancewith
the new procedures.

We recommend that the DPD develop a routine and systematic process to ensure that a detaineewill
be presented for judicial review as required by the U.S. Constitution and Michigan Law. The process
should be figgered when an individual is lodged in a precinct and proceed independentof an
investigatorfs oversight An investigator's unavailabiHfy shouldnot affeet the,detainee's rraigrunent
process.'12'3) ',, ; '

If a detainee's araignment does not occur as part of this systematic process, DPD policy should
designate the individual responsible for contacting the investigator's supervisor regarding this delay.
Upon notification, the supervisor shouldberequired to submit awrittenreview of the detention,
specifying the probable cause for the arest, the reasons for the delay in and the ste,ps
identified to ensure irrrminent arraiglmenl If the supervisor's investigation reveals that the detainee's
arraigt'mant was delayed without good cause, the supervisor should authorize the detainee's release. This
enthe progess should,be documented and contained in the case file.

i-

An arrest ticket is prepared for every detainee lodged in a precinct cell. The arrest ticket records an
individual's personal information as well as a criminal charge. There is a separate arrest ticket for each
charge. An arrest ticket marked with a "hold" indiqates that a detainee should not be released if the
charge on the particular a:rest ticket is resotved, as the detainee has additional pending charges.

Pursuant to DPD policy,-i2.1i individuals detained by special commands are not perrnitted to clear
outstanding warrants or holds until arraigrrment or discharge by the speoial command. Our preliminary
document review reveals that in one month in 2000, several individuals with outstanding haffic warrants
were held by a special corrrmand for several days before being released by the special corrrm:nd- The
DPD should notprwent a detainee from clearing a hafficwarantwhile using the existence of the traffic
warrant to justify anindividual's continued detention
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We recommeird that the DPD mend its warrant policy. All detainees with warrmts should be
presented to the court where the warant was lodged in a routine and timely marm€f,. The interest or
charge of a special command should not affect the time frame in which the wrrant is vacated. A
legitimate material witress order will serve to hold a detainee for a special command after the traffic
warantis vacated-

D. Resfrictions

The DPD does not have apoliry that identifies appropriate circumstances for restricting an :

individual?s telephone or visiting privileges. An investigator is able to deny telephone and visitation
privileges !o a witress or a suspect in aprecinct holding cell without a documented erylanation or
review of the decision. The investigator need onty relay the name of the individual and the tlpe of
restrictions to a detention officer who recorded the restictions in a log book {15i 5o*" DPDeryloyees
inforrned us that a detainee with telephone restrictions would notbe pernnitted to tele,phone m atiomey.

We recommend that the DPD ilwelop policies that do not umeasonabty restrict a detainee's access to
telephone calls or visitors. Although the DPD may identify special circumstances that require reasonable
restrictions, the pohcy should: 1) identify the circumstaces that permit a restrictio4, 2) require a written
record; and 3) be zubject to review. Copies should be kept at the precinct of detention md in the case
file. The policy also shotrld clearly articulate that it does not prevent a detainee from corrrmrmication
with an attorney.

E. RecordKeeping

DPD arrest and detention record-kee,ping practices are inzuffici€nt Without accurate record-keeping
the DPD cannot review the status of detainees held in DPD custody to determine the basis or length of
detention Poorrecord-keeping also makes oversight of the arest and detentionprocess diIEc'ult

DPD policy requires that each detention be recorded on three separate docurrents, the arrest ticket,

the log book/desk blotter and the computerized data base.'iir'* Prior to its closing, the First Precinct was
required to maintain a fourth record for each detainee, aprisoner admission bard.

In one month in 2001, we found that of the 94 persons'arrested and charged with a.hotnicid"€D o, as

a police witness in cortnection with a homicide: 26o/otadno arrest tickets; 35% had no prisone,f
a&nission cards; 8oZ were never entered in the database; nd48Yo didnot apper inthe logbook Arrest
tickets frequently didnot have all of the requiredinformation coryleted such as the "Initial Chrge!'or
'Final Charge" or the date and time a particular detainee was discharged or turned over to another
agency. As a result, there is no log or data base that accuratety reflects each individual arested by the
DPD.'

We recommend that the DPD dwelop a syste,m which ensures the complete and rmifonn
documentation of each person held in DPD custody. The systern should allow the DPD to evaluate the
detainee population in terms of length of detention, time\r presenhent to a judicial officer and ratio of
arrests to judicial fmdings ofprobable cause. We also recommend that the DPD dwelop an audit
process whichregularty evaluates detainee documentation for accuracy md completion

Thank you again for the continued cooperation of the Law Deparhnent and the DPD. We look
forward to working with you and the DPD.

Sincerety,
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StevenH. Rosenbaum
Chief
Special Litigation Section

Jeffrey G. Collins
United States Attorney
Eastem DisEict of Michigan

cc: The Honorable Kwame M. Kilpatick
ChiefJerry A. Oliver, Sr.

l. A brief investigatory stop based upon reasonabty articulable suspicion is not an arresl Terry v. Ohio,
392 U.S. t,2t (1968)

2. Detroit Police Departuent General Procedures(GP), Volume III, Chapter 9, Section 7.
:i

3. GP, Volume III, Chapter l, Section 8.2. DPD pohcy does seem to recognize that there is an objective
standard for an arrest in a limited context. Specifically, DPD pollcy states that a courtmay find that a
Terry stop has become an arrest if an individual has been detainedfor aqundue length of time (the
poliey recomnnends no more than 20 minutes) or if an ihdividual is transported to another location- GP
Volurhe III, Chapter I , Section 4.7. However, this provision only addresses when a Te-rry stop becom. qs

an arrest, not the more generalized question ofwhen an arrest has occured.

4. GP, Volume III, Chapter 9, Sections 1,3.2,5.1(f) and 8

5. The detention of material wihesses will be discussed in Section III(A) below

6. GP, Volume III, Chapter l, Section 16.1

7. GP, VohmeIII, Chapter 1, Section 7.

8. GP, Volume III, Chapter l, Section 16.2.

9. I 998 FBI Uniform Crime Report indicates that the DPD re,ported I ,3 10 homicide arrests but onty 430
homicide cases. gimilarty, the Michigan State Police Uniform Ctime Report indicates that in 1999, the
DPD rpporte d I ,152 homicide arrests for 41 5 homicides and in 2000, the DPD rep orted I ,217 homicide
arre,sti for 396 homicides.

10. The initial charge is the charge forwhich the DPD officer indicates the indirridualis beingdetained-
A final, or formal charge, is ttre charge soughtby the DPD on awarrantpresented to ajudicial officer.

I l. One DPD employee claimed that the additional arrest tickets caused by the temporary release and re:
arrest of homicide suspects explains the unusually high number ofhomicide arrests reflected in the FBI
Uniform Crime Reporl This does not account for the large discrepmry mdraises concerns that arrests
are being made without probable cause, as discussed abote.

12. GP, Vohune III, Chapter 2, Section I
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13. GP, Volume III, Chryt€r 2, Section 106.

14. Detainebs may be arraigned, released sent to a specific court to have a wa:rmtvacated or lodged at
another facility.

15. MCL 5767.3s

16. "1. Hostile Witness: A hostile is a non-involved eye wihress to a crime but refirses.to testiff when
subpoenaed

2. Protective Custody Witness: Tht classification ofwitness is apersonwho comes fort! to testi$but
requests protective police custodybecause of life-threateldngcircumstances.

3. Co-defendant Wimess: A co-defendant witress is a person charged with a crime awaiting trial or
sentence on one case and declares himqelf a witness to another case.

4. Declared Witress: A declared wihess is a person chrged with a crime awaiting trial or sentence on
one case and declares himself awitness to another case." Detoit Potice Deparhnent Standrd Operating
Procedure (SOP) 5-100.

17. "A priSoner classified as a police wiEress will not be detained in our'custody unless said.wi,hess is
committed by authority of an Affidavit For Order Defaining Prisonerfir4aterial Witness docume,nt signed

by a 36h Distict or Recorder's Courtjudge." SOP S-I0OO@X4).

18. Idat(II)(EXl).

19. soP c-300.

20. County ofRiverside v. Mclaughlin, supra-

21 . DPD Legal Advisor Update 0 I -0 I issued March 22,2001 and DPD Legal Advisor Update 92-02
issued May I 5, I 992. Although the Legal Advisor Updates state that it is rmreasonable to delay judicial
review for the pupose of gathering additional evidence to justify the arrest, the DPD didnot change its
definition of arest or clarify its a:rest policies. See discussion in Section II@) above.

22. SOP C-301.

23. Delaymgarraignment for investigative purposes violates the Suprerne Court's ruling in Riverside,
supra

24. GP,Voltune III, Chapter 2, Section 19.4/19.5.

25. The log book was the practice in the now-closed First Precinct cells; we are uncler as to the practice
in the precincts. 

.

26. Thedata base generates a unique cenhal booking number for each charge lodged against a detainee.

27 . The number of individuals charged with homicide is the sum of individuals charged with murder,
homicide and manslaughter.
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UNTTED STATES OF AMERICA,

PIainLiff,

v.

CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGA}I
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III. USB OF FORCB POLICY

IN TIIE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COI]RT
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DBTINITIONS

As used in this Agreement:

The term "actively resisting" means the subject is making
physically evasive movements to defeaE an officerrs attempt
at conErol, j-ncluding bracing, terising, pulling away, or
pushing.

The term "arregt" means a seizure of greater scope or
duration than an investigatory or Terry sEop. An arresL is
lawful when supported by probable cause.

The term "audiEable form" or "auditable 1og" means a
discrete record of Ehe relevant.information maintained
separate and independent of blotters and other forms
mainEained by the DPD.

The term "canine apprehension" means any Eime a canine is
deployed and plays a clear and well-documented role j-n the
capEure of a person. The mere presence of a canine aL the
scene of an arrest shall noL be count,ed as an apprehension.

The Lerm "canine biEe ratio" means the number of
apprehensions accomplished by means of a dog bite divided by
the Lotal number of apprehensions (both with and without a
biLe).

The term "canine deploynent" means any situation, except in
cases involving an on-leash article search only, in which a
canine is brought to the scene and either: i) the canine is
released from t,he police car in furtherance of the police
action; or ii) the suspect gives up. immediat.ely afEer an
announceme4t is made that if he/she does not surrender the
canine will be released.

The term 'City" means the City of Detroit, including its
agenEs, officers and employees.

The Lerm "Collective Bargaining Agreements" means the labor
agreements by and between the City and the Detroit Police
Officers Association, the Detroit Police Lieut.enanEs and
Sergeants Agsociation, the Detroit Po1ice Command Officers
Association, the Po1ice Officer Labor Council, and Loca1
2394 of the American Federation of State, County, and
Municipal Employees in effeet on t.he effective date of this
Agreement.

c

d

e

f

g

h

1
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The Eerm "command investigation" means an investigation
conducLed by a DPD officer's or employee's superx/isor.

The term "complaint" means an allegation from any source of
any misconduct by DPD personnel.

The term "conveyance" means any insEance when Ehe DPD
transports a non-DPD employee for any purpose.

The term "critical firearm discharge" means each discharge
of a firearm by a DPD officer with the exception of range
and Eraining discharges and discharges aE animals.

The term 'DO'J' means the Unit.ed States Department of .Tustice
and its agents and employees

The term *DPD" means the DetroiE Police Department, its
agents and its employees (boEh sworn and unsworn).

The berm "DPD uniE" means any officially desigrnated
organization of officers within the DPD, including precincts
and specialized units

The Lerm "discipli-ne" means a wriEten reprimand, suspension,
demotion or dismissal.

The Eerm "effective daLe" meang
entered by Ehe CourL -

Ehe day this AgreemenE is

The Eerm "escorLing" means ttre use of light physical
pressure Eo gruide a person, or keep a person in pl,ace.

The term "FTO' means a field training off,icer.

The Lerm "force" mearrs the following actions by an officer:
any physical strike or instrumental contacE with a person;
any intentional attempted physical strike or instrumental
conEact Lhat does not take effect; or any sigmificant
physical contact that restricts Ehe movement of a person.
The Eerm includes the discharge of firearms; Ehe use of
chemical spray, choke holds or hard hands; the Eaking of a
subJect Eo the ground; or Ehe deployment of a canine. The
term does not include escorting or handcuffing a person,

1

m

n

o

p

q

r

Q

t

2
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lrriEh no or minimal resisEance. Use of force is lawful if it
is obJectively reasonable under the circumsLafices and the
minimum amount of force necessary Eo effect an arresE or
protect the officer or other person.

The term "hard hands" meaDs using physical pressure to force
a person against an obJect or the ground, or Ehe use of
physical strength or skill Ehat causes pain or leaves a
mark.

The term 'hold" means any outstanding charge(s) or,
warrant (s) other than those which serve as the predicate for
the current arrest.

The term .LIAD/ means the section of the DPD that
investigates serious uses of force and allegations of
criminal misconduct by DPD employees.

The term "including" means "including, but not limited to."

The term "injury"
or pain.

means any impairment, of physical condition

The term "investigatory stop, " or "Terry sEopr " meang a
limited seizure. An investigatory stop is lawful when
supported by reasonable suspicion and narrowly tailored in
scope and duration to the reasons supporEing the seizure.

The t.erm "material witness" means a witness subpoenaed to
tesEify in a criminal case.

The Eerm "misconduct" means any conduct by a DPD employee
thaL violates DPD policy or the law.

The term "non-disciplinary corrective action" means
counseling, training or other action aparE from discipline
Eaken by a DPD supervisor Eo enable or encourage an officer
Lo modify or improve his or her performance.

The Eerm "OCI" means Ehe Office of Ehe Chibf fnvestigaEor,
which has responsibility for invesEigating external
complaints.

aa

cc.

dd

ee. The;'term "parties"' means

ff. The term'"police officer"

the DO,f, the City and the DPD.

or "officer" means any 1aw

3
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enforcement officer employed by Ehe DPD, including
supervisors.

The term "prisoner injury" means an inJuryr or complaint of
inJury, thaE occurs in the course of Eaking or afEer an
individual was taken into DPD cusEody EhaE is not attributed
to a use of force by a DPD employee.

The term "probable cause"
individual has commit,ted,
commiE an offense.

means a reasonabie belief that an
is cornmitting, or is abouE to

kk

The term "prompt Judicial review" means the presentment of
an arrestee before a court of appropriaEe Jurisdiction for a
probable cause determination as soon afEer an arrest as is
reasonably feasible. A reasonably feasible Eime period is
Ehe period of time necessary to schedule the arraigrnment and
compleEe the administrative processing of the arrestee and
sha11 not exceed 48 hours of the arregt, absent
exLraordinary circumsEances .

The term "proper use of force decision making" means the use
of reasonable force, including proper EacLics, and
de-escalat ion Lechniques.

The Eerm "reasonable suspicion" means the specific facts and
reasonable inferences drawn from Lhose facts to convince an
ordinarily prudent person that cri-minality is at hand.

The term "seizure," or "detentiol ," means any restricE,ion on
the liberty interest of an individual. A seizure occurs
when an officerrs words or abtions convey to a reasonable
person Ehat he or she is noE free Eo leave.

The Eerm "serious bodily inJury" meansr an inJury that.
involves a tross of consciousness, extreme physical pain,
protracted and obvious disfigurement, protracted loss or
impairment of the function of a body part or orgErn, or a
substanEial risk of death.

The Eerm "serious use of force" means any actsion by a DPD

officer Ehat involves: i) Ehe use of deadly force,
including aII criticat firearms discharges; ii) a use of
force in which the person suffers serious bodily injury or
requires hospital admission; iii) a canine bite; and iv) the

4
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use of chemical spray against a restrained person.

The term "sha1I" means that the provision imposes a
mandatory duty.

The term "supervigor" means a sworn DPD employee at Ehe rank
of sergeant or above and non-sworn employees with oversj-ght
responsibilit.y for DPD employees.

GB![ER.D,I, PROVISIONS

This AgreemenE, is effectuaEed pursuanE'Eo the authoriEy
granted the DOJ under the Violent Crime Control and taw

'Enforcement AcE of Lggl, 42 U.S.C. S 14141 ("SecEion
L4141r'), to seek declaratory or equiEable relief to remedy a
pattern or practi.ce of conduct by law enforcemenL officers
that deprives individuals of rights, privileges or
immuniEies secured by Ehe Constitution or federal 1aw.

In iEs Complaint, the United States alleges EhaL the City
and the DPD are engaging in a pattern or practice of' .;

unconstitutional or otherwise unlawful conduct'Ehat has been
made possible by the fbilure of Ehe City and t.he DPD to
adopE aird implement proper management practices and
procedures.

This'Court has JurisdicEion of this actj.on under 28 U.S:C.
SS 1331 and L345. Venue is proper in the Eastern District
of Michigan pursuant Eo 28 U.S.C. S L391.

This Agreement resolves all claims in the United SEates'
Complaint filed in this case concerning allegations of a
'pattern or practice of conduct resulEing in unconsEitutional
or otherwise unl-awful uses of force and arresE and detention
pracLices by the DPD in violation of 42 U.S.C. S 14141. The
DO.J, the City and the DPD have resolved the DO,J's claims
^regarding Ehe conditions of confinement in DPD holding cells::in a separate AgreemenE, Eo be filed concurrently with this
ComplainE and Agreement wit,h the United States Distriet
Court for the Eastern District of Miehigan. :

'-In September 2000, Ehe Mayor of Detroit and other inEeresEed
"persons requested that the DOiI review the DPDrs uge ofiforce. This request indicated the Ci.ty's commiEment to
'minimizing the risk of excessive use of force in the DPD and
to promoting police integrity- Based, in part, on Ehese

2

3

4

5

6

5
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requests, the DOJ initiated an investigation in December
2000, of the use of force and conditions in DPD holding
cells pursuant to itss authorit,y under Section L4l-4L. The
investigation was expanded in May 2001-, to include the DPD's
arregt and detention policies and practices.

DOiIrs investigat,ion was condueted with the ful1 cooperation
of Ehe CiEy. During t,he investigation, in keeping with Ehe
AEEorney General's pledge to provide Eechnical assisEance,
Ehe DOiI made recommendations for changes in the DPDts
policies and procedures regarding use of forc.e, -conditions
in DPD holding cells, and arresE and detention in the form
of three technical assisEance letEers. of March 5, 2002,
April 4, 2002 and rfune 5, 2AO2, several meetings with the
Chief of Police and DPD command, staf f regarding t,he
substance of the technical assisEance letters, and
participation in working groups creaEed by Ehe DPD Eo
facilitate reform. The DPD is currenEly in the process of
revising its policies and procedures Eo addresg the issues
identified by the DOiI. The DOiI and the City believe tshis
AgreemenE, rather than contested liEigation, represents Ehe
best opportunity to address the DO'f rs concerns.

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to alter the lawful
auEhority of the DPD to use reasonable and necessary force,
effect arrestg and file charges, conducE searches or make
seizures, or otherwise fulfill its 1aw enforcemenE
obligations in a manner consistent wiEh Ehe requirements of
the ConstituEions and laws of the Unit.ed States and Ehe
SLate of Michigan.

Nothing in this Agreement. is intended to alter t,he
Collective Bargaining Agreernents or impair the collecEive
bargaining righEs of employdes under State and local Iaw.
NoEhing in this Agreement is inEended to amend or supercede
any provision of Stat.e or local law, including the City.
Charter. The DOJ and the CiEy have aEtempEed Eo draft this
Agreement to avoid impairing the righEs of the Detroit
Police Officers Association, the Detroit police Lieutenants
and Sergeants Assoeiation, the Detroit Police Command
Officers AssociaEion, the Police Officer Labor Council, and
Local 2394 of the Amefican Federation of StaEe, County, and
Municipal Employees under the Collective Bargaining
Agreements. Howevetr, a determination thaE any such right is
impaired shall not excuse the City and the DPD from a
failure to implement any provision of this Agreement.

I

9

6
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L2. {he City is responsilIe
the DPD to enable it to
Agreement.

for providing necessary support to
fulfill its obligations under this

This Agreement sha1l constitute the entire integrated
agreement of the parEies regarding'use of force and arresL
and detention pracEices. Wit.h t,he exception of the
technical assistance letters described in paragraph ?, no
prior drafts or prior or contemporaneous cotnmlrnications,
,oral or writ,ten, shall be relevanE or admissible for
i-purposes of deEermining the meaning of .any provisions herein
:,in any liEigation or any other proceeding.

This Agreement i.s binding upon Ehe parEies,r by and through
their officials, agents, employees, and gtrccessors. The
parEies are inEeresEed in providing clear lines of

'''auLhoriLy: In t.he evenE of a dispute among officials,
agents, employees, or agencies of Ehe City, Ehe Mayor of
"Detroit is the final auEhority on behalf of Ehe City as it
pert,ains Eo Ehis Agreement. This Agreement is enforceable
only by Ehe parties. No person or entity is intended. Eo be
'a third-party beneficiary of the provisions of Ehis
AgreemenE for purposes of any civil, cri.minal , or.
administrative action, and accordingly, no person or entiEy
may asserE any claim or right as a beneficiary or protected
class under this Agreement. This Agreement is riot intended
to impair or expand the right of any person or organization
to seek relief against the Citlr or its officials, employees
or agents for t.heir conduct or the conduct of DPD.off icers;
accordingly, it does not alter legal sEandards governing any
such claims, including those under Michigan 1aw. This
Agreement does not authorize, nor shall it be construed to
auLhorize, access Eo any City, DPD or DOJ documents by
persons or entities other than the Court, Ehe DO,J, the City,
and the Monitor

13. The City, by and Ehrough iUs officials, agents, employees
and successors, is enJoined from engaging in a patLern or
practice of eonducE by employees of Lhe DPD thaE depr.ives
persons of rights, privileges, or immunities secured or
sprotecEed by the ConstituEion or laws of Ehe Unit,ed SEates.

III. iI'SE OE FORCE POTJIqX

A. General Use of Force Policies

7
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V. ARRBST A}ID DBTEI TION POI,ICIES AIID PRACTICBS

A. ArresE Policies

.The DPD shalI revise its arrest policies to'define arrest
'and probable cause as Ehose terms are defined in'Ehis
Agrreement and prohibit the arrest of an individual with less
than probable cause

43. The.DPD shall review all arrests for probable cause aE the
time Ehe arrestee is presented at Ehe precinct orjspecialized unit. This review shall be memorialized in
'Writing wiEhin 12 hours of the arregt. For any arre'st
unsupporEed by probable cauae or in which an arraiEmment
.warrant was not sought, the DPD shalI document Ehe
circumstances of the arrest and/or the reasons the
arraigrnmenE warrant, was not sought. on an auditable form
wiEhin 12 hours of Ehe evenL

B. Investigatory Stop Policies

44 the DPD shall revise its investigatory stop and frisk
policies to define investigaEory stop and reasonable
suspicion as th6se terms are defined in this AgreemenE. The
policy sha1l specify that a frisk is auLhorized only when
the officer has reasonable suspicion to fear for his or her
safety and that the scope of the frisk must be narrowly
Eailored to those specific reasons.

45 The DPD shaLl require written documenLation of all
invesEigatory stops and frisks by Ehe end of the shift in
'which Ehe police action occurred. The DPD shal} review aI1
investigaEory sEops and frisks and documenE, on an auditable
f,orm Ehose unsupporEed by reasonable suspicion wiEhin 24
hours of receiving the otficer's report.

C. Witness Identification and Questioning Policies

46. The DPD shaLl revise. its witness identification and
guestioning pol-icies to comply with Ehe revised arrest and
investigatory stop policies. The DPD shall prohibit the
seizure of an individual without reasonable suspicion,
probable cause or consent of the individual and require that
the scope and duration of any seizure be narrowly tailored
to the reasons supporting the police action. The DPD shal1
prohibit the conveyance of any individual Eo another
Iocation wiEhout reasonable suspicion, probable cause or

1s
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consenE of the individual.

47 The DPD shall develop the revised witness identification and
questioning policies within three months of the effe.ctive
date of this AgreemenE. The revised policies shaIl be
submitted for review and approval of the DO,J. The DPD, shall
implement the revised witness idenEification and guestioning
polici-es wiEhin three monEhs of the review and approval of
the DO..l.

48. The DPD shall document the content and circumstances of all
inEerviews, inEerrogations and conveyances during Ehe shift
in which the police action occurred. The DPD sha1l review
in writ.ing all interv.iews, interrogations and conveyances
and document on an auditable. form those in violation of DPD
policy wiEhin L2 hours of Ehe i.nterview, interrogaEion or
conveyance.

D. Prompt iludicial Review Policies

49. The DPD shall revise its policies Eo require prompE Judicial
review, as defined in this Agreement., for every person
arrested by Ehe DPD. The DPD shall develop a timely and
sysEematic process for all arrestees to be presgnted for
prompt judicial review or t,o be released.

50. The DPD shal1 require that, for each arrestee, a warrant
reguesE for arraigrnment on the charges underlying the arrest
is submitted Eo the prosecutotr's office within 24 hours of
L,he arrest.

51. The DPD shall documenE on an auditable form aII insEances in
which the requesE for an arreigrnment warranE is submiEted
more Ehan 24 hours aft.er the arrest. The DPD sha1l also
document on an audit,able form all instances in which it is
not in compliance wiEh the prompt. judicial review policy and
in which extraordinary circumsEances delayed Ehe
arraigrnment. The documentaLion shall occur by the end of
the shift in which there was 1) a failure to request an
arraigrnment warrant within 24 hours, 2) a failure to comply
with the prompt Judicial review policy, or 3) an arraigrnment
delayed because of exEraordinary circumstances.

16

E. Hold Policies
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53.

The DPD shall revise its hold policies Eo define a hold as
thaE term is defined in this Agreements and require''thats all
holds be documented. The policy shaIl establish a timely
and sysEematic process:for persons in DPD cusEody who have
,ho1ds issued 'by a' City of :Detroit courE Eo have t.hose holds
cleared by presenEing the arresEee to the court'from which
the warrant was lssued or the setting and posting of bond
where applicable. The facE that an arrestee has not been
arraig"ned or charged on the current arrest shall not delay
Ehis process. r

The DPD shall document all holds, includi.ng the 't.ime each
:hold was identifled and Ehe Eime eaeh hold was cleared. The
DPD shaIl document on an auditable form eachlingEance in
which a hold is not processed within twenty-four hours on a
daily basis

F. ResEriction Policies

The DPD shall develop a policy regarding restricting
detainee's access Eo telephone ca11s and vLsiEors t,hat
permits individuals in DPD custody access Eo attorneys and
reasonable access to telephone caI1s and VisiEors. ' '

55- The DPD sha11 require Ehat such restrict,ions be documented
and reviewed,at the time the restricEion is issued and
reevaluated each day in which the restricti.on remains in
effect:r The DPD sha1l document on an auditable form any
violation of the resEriction policy by the end of Ehe shift
in which Ehe violation occurred.

G. Material Witness Policies

55. the DPD shall revise iEs material'witness polibies to define
tnat,erial witness as thaE term is defined in this' Agreement
and remove the term "pofice witness" from DPD poli'Cies and
procedures.

57- The DPD shaLl obtain a court order prior to'taking.a ,

material witness into DPD custody. The DPD shalJ':document
on an audiEable form the detenEion of each maEerial witness
and atEach a copy of the court order author.izingi the
detention.

17

54
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58.

I

H. Documentation of CusEodial Detention

The DPD shaIl rev'ise iEs arrest and,detention documentation
Eo require, for all arrests, a. record or file Eo contain
accurat,e and audi.table documentation of :

Ehe individual's personal information;
the c::ime(s) charged;
the Eime and date of arrest and release;
t,he time and date Ehe arraignmenE warrant was
submitted;
Ehe. name and badge number of the officer who submiEted
the arraignment. warrant i
the time and date of arraigmment;
the time and datse each warrant was lodged and cleared,
if applicable; and
the individual'g custodial sEatus, €.gI., new arresE,
material witness or extradiEion.

59. The DPD shaIl reguire the commander of the precinct and, if
applicable, of the specialized unit to revj-ew in writing a1l
reported violat,ions of DPD arrest, invesEigatory s,Eop and
frisk, witness id'enEification and quesEioning policies and
all reports of arresEs in which an arraignment. warrant, was
not sought. The commander's review sha1l be compleEed
within 7 days of receiving the document reporE,ing the event.
The commander's review sha1l include an evaluation of the
actions taken to correct the violation and whether any
corrective or non-disciplinary.action was taken.

60- The DPD shall"reguire the commander of, the precinct and, if
applicab-Ie, of the specialized unit to review in writing all
violations of DPD prompt, Judicial review, holds,
restrictions and material witness policies on a daily basis.
The commander's review shall include an evaluation of the
actions taken to gorrecE t,he violation and wheEher any
corrective or non-disciplinary action was t,aken.

VI. BXTBRNAI, COUPI,AIIITS

5l-. The'DPD and City shall revise their external complaint

18

a
b
c
d

e

f
g

h

Command Notification
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pursuit;
the proper duration of a burst, of chemical spray, the
distance from which it should be applied, and emphagize
Ehat officers shatl aim chemical spray only at Ehe
EargeE's face and upper Eorsoi and
congideration of the safety of civilians in the
vicinity before engaging in police action

C. Firearms Training

LL3. The DPD shall develop a protocol regarding firearms training
that:

ensures that all officers and supervisors complete the
bi-annual firearms training and qualification;
incorporates professional night training, stress
training (i.e., training in using a firearm after
undergoing'physical exerEion) and proper use of force
decision making training in the bi-annual in-service
training program, with the goal of adequaEely preparing
officers for real life situations;
ensures that firearm instructors criticafly observe
student,s and provide corrective insErucEion regarding
deficient firearm Eechniques and failur:e Eo utilize
safe gun handling procedures at all Eime.s,' and
incorporates evaluation criteria to determine
satisfactory completion of recruit and in-service
firearms training, including:

i) mainEai.ns finger off trigger unless justi-fied and
, ready to fire;

ii) maintains proper hold of firearm and proper
sEance; and

iii) uses propei use of force decision making.

D. Arrest and Police-CiEizen Interaction' Training

114. The DPD shal1 provide all DPD recruiEs, officers and
supervisorg with annual training on arrests and oEher
police-citizen interactions. Such Eraining shall include
and address the following topics:

the DPD arrest, investigatory stop and frisk and
wiEness idenLificaEion and quesEioning. poficies;
the Fourth Amendment and other constiEuEional

35
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requirements, including:

i) advising offi.cers that Ehe "possibility" thaE an
individual commiLted a crime does not rise Eo Ehe
leve1 of probable cause;
advising officers that the duraEion and scope of
the police-citizen interaction deEermines tqhether
an arresE occurred, not the officer's subJective,
intenE or belief that he or she affected an
arresE; and
advising officers Ehat every detention is a
seizure, every seizure requires reasonable
suspicion or probable cause and Ehere is no
legally authorized seizure apart from a "fg.IEI'
stop" and 'an arrest,; and

ii)

iii)

examples of scenarios faced by DPD officers and
inEeracEive exercises that illustrate proper
police-commr:nity int,eractions, including scenarj-os
which distinguish an inveg:Eigatory sEop from an arrest
by the scope and duration of the police int,eraction;
between probable cause, reasonable suspicion and mere
speculation; and voluntary corrsenE from mere
acquiescence to police auEhority.

E. Custodial Detention Training

115. The DPD shall provide aII DPD recruits, officers and
supervisors with annual t.raining on custodiat detenEion.
Such training shall include DPD policies regarding arrest,
arraignment, holds, resLrictions, materiatr witness and
detention records.

c

L15

tL7

The DPD shaIl advise officers that the DPD arraigrrment
policy shalI noE be delayed because of Ehe assigrnment of the
investigaEion to a specialized unit, "the arrest charge(s),
t.he ayailability of an invesEigator, the gaEhering of
additional evidence or obtaining a confession.

The DPD shaIl advise officers thaE whether an individual is
a material wiEness and wheEher that. material witness should
be commiEted Eo custody is a judicial determination.

F. Supervisory Training

118. The DPD shall provide supervisors with training in the

36

B 713-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-5    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 70 of
70



Exhibit 6F - 2010 Appeal Docket 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-6    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 1 of 4



COA 301465
MSC 144415
PEOPLE OF MI V MARK T CRAIGHEAD
Lower Court/Tribunal

WAYNE CIRCUIT COURT
Judge(s)

JONES VERA MASSEY

Case Header

Case Number

COA #301465  MSC #144415

Case Status

MSC  Closed

COA  Case Concluded; File Archived

Parties & Attorneys to the Case - Court of Appeals

�

PEOPLE OF MI
Plaintiff - Appellee

Attorney(s)

WILLIAMS JASON W
, Prosecutor

�

CRAIGHEAD MARK T
Defendant - Appellant

Attorney(s)

MCCORMACK BRIDGET M
, Retained

Docket Case Documents

Case Information

#51503

#58537
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Parties & Attorneys to the Case - Supreme Court

�

PEOPLE OF MI
Plaintiff

Attorney(s)

Jason W Williams Chief Of Appeals

�

CRAIGHEAD MARK T
Defendant

Attorney(s)

Professor Imran Syed

 

#51503

#75415

COLLAPSE  ALL EXPAND  ALL

��/��/���� � Delayed App for Leave - Criminal

��/��/���� � Order Appealed From

��/��/���� � Motion: Waive Fees

��/��/���� � Transcript Filed By Party

��/��/���� � Defective Holding File Letter

��/��/���� � LCt Order

��/��/���� � Telephone Contact

��/��/���� � Answer - Application

��/��/���� �� Motion: Reply to Answer

��/��/���� �� Reply to Answer - Panel Grtd Mot to File

��/��/���� �� Submitted on Administrative Motion Docket

��/��/���� �� Order: Waive Fees - Grant

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact
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��/��/���� �� Telephone Contact

��/��/���� �� Pleadings Returned

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Sent

��/��/���� �� Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Submitted on Special Motion Docket

��/��/���� �� Order: Application - Deny - Delayed App for Leave

��/��/���� �� Application for Leave to SCt

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court - File Sent To

��/��/���� �� COA and TCt Received

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court: Answer - SCt Application/Complaint

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court: Reply - SCt Application/Complaint

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court Order: Deny Application/Complaint

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court - File Ret'd by - Close Out

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court Motion: Reconsideration

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court: SCt Correspondence Received

��/��/���� �� Supreme Court Order: Reconsideration - Deny

��/��/���� �� Copy Request Fulfilled
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A

STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGANI,

Appellee

MARK T. CRAIGHEAD,

Appellant

MICHIGAN INNOCENCE CLTNIC
University of Michigan Law School
By: Bridget M. McCormack (P58537)
David A. Moran (P45353)
Michael Shaffer, Student Attorney
Adam Thompson, Student Attomey
Katherine O' Connor, Student Attorney
Attorneys for the Defendant
625 South State Street
1029 Legal Research Building
Ann Arbor, MI 48109
(734) 763-e3s3

court orAppears N". 3O I 46 S
Lower Court No. 00-007900

vs.

DELAYED APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

')
, _:]

/ _.t

. I .-"1
i.J '

i

C'i .,
t-,

/\.) :

.i:\
rL\
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Table of Authorities.

Statement of Facts Explaining Delay

Judgment Appealed From and Relief Sought...

Jurisdiction

Statement of Question Involved.

Statement of Facts.

Introduction to the Relevant Facts

Detailed Statement of Facts

Standard of Review...

Argument
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...14
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I. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Denying Mr.
Craighead's Motion For Relief from Judgment Given The
Uncontroverted Evidence Establishing That Mr. Craighead
Was Locked Into Sam's Club In Farmington Hills The
Night The Crime Was Committed in Detroit.

A. Mr. Craighead's New Evidence Is Newly Discovered ...ii,1..16,i
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tl
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B. Mr. Craighead's Newly Discovered Evidence Would
Cause the Jury to Reach a Different Outcome if Presented
at Retrial.

l. The phone records, if presented to ajury, would result
in Mr. Craighead's acquittal on retrial.

2. The trial court erred in ruling that the newly discovered
evidence would not likely cause a different result at trial

C. Mr. Craighead's Newly Discovered Evidence Is Not
Cumulative

f\)
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...19

....21
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.26
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D. Mr. Craighead's Newly Discovered Evidence Could Not
Have Been Discovered at Trial through Reasonable
Diligence. .......28

Conclusion .. . ...31

Appendix A - Map of 3210 East Vemor, Detroit, to 19990 Beech Daly, Redford Township

Appendix B - Map of 19990 Beech Daly, Redford Township, to 24800 Haggerty
Road, Farmington Hills

Appendix C - Map of 3210 East Vernor, Detroit, to 24800 Haggerty Road,
Farmington Hills

Appendix D - Farmington Hills Police Department FOIA Request and Response

Appendix E - Excerpt of Sam's Club Ameritech Telephone Bill, June-July 1997

Appendix F - Excerpts of Ameritech Detroit White Pages, 1996-1997, ard 1997-
1997 and Intelius Phone Report

Appendix G - Randle Craighead People Search Results

Appendix H - Latoya Antonio Affidavit

Appendix I - Judd Grutman Affrdavit

Appendix J - Chad Ray Affidavit

Appendix K - Excerpt of Sam's Club Ameritech Telephone Bill, April-May 1997

Appendix L - April 29,2009 and June 30, 2010 Polygraph Examination Report

lll
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STATEMENT OF FACTS EXPLAINING DELAY

Mr. Craighead submits this delayed application for leave to appeal because factors

beyond his control prevented him from filing it within twenty-one days of the trial court's order

denying his motion for relief from judgment. In particular, the transcripts of the final hearing on

Mr. Craighead's motion, which included the only statement of the court's findings and order on

the record, were not available until August 16, 2010. The trial court did not issue any written

order or opinion other than its findings and order delivered orally at the July 14, 2010, hearing.

Mr. Craighead could not properly support this application for leave to appeal without having the

transcript of the July 14, 2010, hearing. He therefore could not file this application until the

transcript became available, some 33 days after the trial court denied the motion for relief from

judgment.

In addition, since Mr. Craighead is currently represented by the Michigan Innocence

Clinic at the University of Michigan Law School, law students must be heavily involved in the

drafting of this application for leave to appeal. When undersigned counsel received the

transcript after August 16, 2010, the Fall Term had not yet started. Only once students began

working in the Innocence Clinic after Labor Day 2010 was it possible to assign students to

review the transcript and begin work on this application. This Court and the Michigan Supreme

Court have long recognized that the value of student practice justifies flexibility as to appellate

deadlines.

In any event, this application for leave to appeal is filed well within the one-year period

for filing a delayed application.

vl
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JUDGMENT APPEALED FROM AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Defendant-appellant Mark T. Craighead appeals from the July 14, 2010, oral order of the

Wayne County Circuit Court denying his motion for relief from judgment on the merits.

(Evidentiary Hearing Transcript ll7-123, July 14, 2010.) In light of the compelling newly

discovered evidence of Mr. Craighead's innocence, and the near certainty that this evidence

would have led to a different outcome at trial, Mr. Craighead asks that this Court grant this

application for leave to appeal, reverse the denial of his motion for relief from judgment, and

order a new trial in this case.

rhis court has jurisdicrio, o',,".1J::l:rr-ation ror leave to appeat pursuant to

MCR 6.509(A), which provides for an application for leave to appeal from the trial court's denial

of the defendant's motion for relief from judgment. MCR 6.509(4) provides that the twelve-

month time limit of MCR 7.205(FX3) applies to any delayed application for leave to appeal. Mr.

Craighead's motion for relief from judgment was denied on July 14,2010. Accordingly, this

delayed application for leave to appeal is filed within the twelve-month period set forth in MCR

7.205(F), and this Court therefore has jurisdiction.

vll
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STATEMENT OF OUESTION INVOLVED

At his trial, Mr. Craighead presented an alibi defense, namely that he was in Farmington

Hills working his usual overnight shift at Sam's Club, which locked the overnight shift workers

into the store, at the precise time the crime was occurring in Detroit. During deliberations, the

jury asked for documentary proof that Mr. Craighead worked that particular night, but such proof

was not available because Sam's Club had, by the time of trial, lost the employment records that

would have shown whether Mr. Craighead worked that particular night.

At an evidentiary hearing this year, Mr. Craighead presented newly discovered phone

records from Sam's Club proving that Mr. Craighead made four phone calls from inside the

locked store the night of the crime, including one call at the precise time the victim's truck was

set on fire in Redford Township. Mr. Craighead also presented testimony from the two

recipients of those four phone calls, both of whom confirmed that no one from Sam's Club other

than Mr. Craighead would have been calling them in the middle of the night.

The question presented, therefore, is:

In light of this newly discovered evidence, did the trial court apply an improper legal

standard and then erroneously deny the motion for relief from judgment?

The Trial Court answers,'No."

The Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes. "

vlll
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

After a jury trial in the Third Judicial Circuit Court, County of Wayne, Case No.

00-007900-01, Judge Vera Massey Jones presiding, Mark Craighead was convicted on

June 25, 2002, of voluntary manslaughter, MCL 750.321, and possession of a firearm in

the commission of or attempt to commit a felony, MCL 750.227b. On August 5,2002,

Judge Jones sentenced Mr. Craighead to 40 months to l5 years on the conviction for

voluntary manslaughter and to a consecttive24 months for felony firearm. Mr.

Craighead is currently on parole, residing at 16147 Inverness, Detroit, Ml 48221.

In November 2009, Mr. Craighead filed a motion for relief from judgment based

on newly discovered evidence showing that he was at work at the time the crime was

committed. The trial court held a two-day evidentiary hearing on the motion on June 30,

2010, and July 14,2010. The trial court orally denied the motion at the end of the July

14,2010, hearing. (Evidentiary Hearing Transcript ll7-123, July 14,2010.)

Mr. Craighead seeks leave to appeal the trial court's decision.

INTRODUCTION TO THE RELEVANT FACTS

Mark Craighead served more than seven years in prison for a crime that he did not

commit. As the newly discovered evidence now shows, Mr. Craighead could not have

killed Chole Pruett in Detroit on the night of June 26-27 , 1997 , because he was locked

inside a Sam's Club store in Farmington Hills where he was employed, more than

twenty-four miles from the scene of the crime, at the time that the killing occurred.

Specifically, the phone records newly discovered by the Michigan Innocence Clinic

establish that Mr. Craighead made a telephone call from Sam's Club to his friend, Isaac

"Ike" Griffin (a well-known sports radio personality known as "MegaMan"), just eight

1
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minutes before Mr. Pruett's truck was discovered by police, engulfed in flames, in a

vacant lot behind an elementary school in Redford Township.

Mr. Craighead's conviction at trial was based entirely on an alleged "confession"

taken by Investigator Barbara Simon of the Detroit Police Department.' Mr. Craighead's

alleged "confession"-the only evidence that the prosecution presented at trial linking

him to the killing-is completely inconsistent with the physical evidence discovered at

the scene. This purported "statement" describes none of the distinctive facts of the

crime----e.g., the posture or location of the body; number of shots f,rred; or caliber or type

of weapon used. It recounts only in vague terms nothing more than a struggle and an

accidental discharge of a gun. But the scene suggested a brutal and deliberate execution-

style killing.2 Moreover, despite evidence of "selective searching" in some rooms of the

apartment, police never recovered any fingerprints. (TrialTr 4344,55, June 20,2002.)

I As the extensive record at trial and on appeal reflects, Mr. Craighead allegedly made
this "statement" to investigator Barbara Simon more than three years after the crime
occurred. (Trial Tr 105-112, June 20,2002.) Before Mr. Craighead's interview with
investigator Simon-his third with Detroit police regarding Mr. Pruett's death-
investigator Ronald Tate, the original offrcer-in-charge, had twice interviewed Mr.
Craighead and twice dismissed him as a suspect. (Trial Tr 78-79,80-82, June 20, 2002.)
2 Sergeant David Babcock, of the Detroit Police Department Forensic Services Division,
investigated the crime scene at3210 East Vernor on June 27, 1997. (Trial Tr 37-38, June
20,2002.) Sgt. Babcock observed at least three "impact wounds, v€ry suggestive of
bullet wounds" on the body, and found two bullets that had passed through a closet door
and struck a clothes dryer. (Id. at 42.) He found two more bullets lodged in the carpet
beneath the body-suggesting the victim was shot at least twice after falling to the floor.
(Id. at 45.) Dr. Cheryl Loewe, of the Wayne County medical examiner's offrce,
conducted the postmortem exam. (Id. at 6042.) She reported that one bullet passed

through the victim's neck from right to left; one entered the right lower back and exited
near the navel; one entered the right buttock and exited below the navel; and one passed

through the right thigh from back to front. (Id. at 6244.) She concluded that a person
with such injuries would have died within minutes. (Id. at 64.) She found no evidence of
contact wounds or close-range firing; no stippling, soot, or powder burns-as would
presumably have resulted from a struggle over a gun ending with an accidental discharge.
(Id. at6445.)

2
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Despite finding .380 ammunition at the scene and a .380 caliber pistol in Mr. Pruett's car,

police never found the .44 caliber murder weapon. (Id. at27-28,58, 88, 103.)

Mr. Craighead was not arrested until some three years after Chole Pruett was

killed, and the case did not come to trial until five years had elapsed from the killing. At

his trial in2002, Mr. Craighead's defense was that the statement extracted by Barbara

Simon was false and that he was at work at the Sam's Club in Farmington Hills the night

Mr. Pruett was killed in Detroit.

At the 2002 trial, a manager from Sam's Club, Martin Ryzak, confirmed that Mr.

Craighead was, in fact, employed by Sam's Club in Farmington Hills at the time of Mr.

Pruett's murder, and that he usually worked the ovemight shift five nights a week, with

Sundays and Mondays off. (Trial Tr 8-10, Jvne24,2002.) However, given the time

lapse between the crime and the trial, Mr. Ryzak could not recall whether Mr. Craighead

had worked the overnight shift of Thursday night/Friday morning on June 26-27, 1997 .

(Id. at 73-14,16.) Mr. Ryzak further testified that he could not produce a record of the

exact days and hours that Mr. Craighead worked during the week in question, because

those records had been destroyed by a water sprinkler accident. (Id. at ll.)

At trial, Mr. Craighead argued that Mr. Ryzak's testimony about Mr. Craighead's

usual schedule and work routine, as well as Mr. Craighead's own testimony that he was

not present at the scene of the crime when it occurred, provided reasonable doubt

suffrcient to establish Mr. Craighead's lack of presence at the time and place where the

killing occurred. (Id. at l2l-22.) But as soon as the court excused the jury to deliberate,

the jury sent a note out asking the court, "ls there a paycheck stub or solid evidence that a

forty-hour week was worked?" (Id, at 170-71.) The Court answered that the jury had to

3
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deliberate and render its verdict on the basis of the evidence presented. (1d) The jury

then convicted Mr. Craighead of manslaughter.

Newly discovered phone records. f,rnally received by the Michisan Innocence

Clinic in 2009 and presented to the trial court in 2010. but unavailable and unknown to

Mr. Craighead. his trial counsel. or his appellate counsel. now conclusively substantiate

Mr. Craighead's alibi. These records provide clear documentary proof that Mr.

Craiehead was locked in at work at Sam's Club in Farmineton Hills on the night Mr.

Pruett was killed in Detroit. and that he made a phone call to Ike Griffin iust minutes

before Mr. Pruett's burning truck was found in Redford Township. Moreover, the phone

records from Sam's Club show that Mr. Craighead made at least four calls from store

phones while working his regular night shift hours on June 26-27,1997.

DETAILED STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relevant Evidence at Trial Regarding Timing and Mr. Craighead's Alibi

Melvin Howard last saw Chole Pruett around four or five o'clock in the evening

on Thursday, June 26,1997, the day before Mr. Pruett's body was discovered. (Trial Tr

70-71, June 20, 2002.) Mark Craighead last saw Mr. Prueff on either June 25, 1997, or

June 26, 1997, around four or five o'clock in the aftemoon. Mr. Craighead and Mr.

Pruett went out to Friday's at Evergreen and Ten Mile in Southfield, Michigan, to have a

few drinks and talk. (Id. at 54-55.) Mr. Pruett then dropped Mr. Craighead off at Mr.

Craighead's home around six or seven o'clock in the evening, because Mr. Craighead had

to go to work at either eight or nine o'clock. (Id. at 57.)

4
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At 2:35 a.m. on June 27 , L997 , Offrcer Lawrence Tumer of the Redford Township

police department responded to a call of a vehicle fire. (Trial Tr l7-l 8, June 20,2002.)

Officer Turner found the vehicle behind a school at 19990 Beech Daly Road, fully

engulfed in flames. (Id. at l8-19.) After the fire was extinguished, Officer Turner

identified the vehicle as a 1996 Chevy Tahoe owned by Chole Pruett. (Id. at 1910.)

Officer Turner observed only one set of vehicle tracks leading to the area where he found

the truck on fire.

Late in the afternoon of Friday, June 27,1997, around 3:00 p.m., Erhonda Gray-

Miller called the police after she saw Mr. Prueff's body inside his apartment at 3210 East

Vernor Street in Detroit. (Id. at 5-6, 8.) Mr. Pruett's apartment is more than sixteen

miles from the place where Officer Turner found Mr. Pruett's truck on fire. (See Map of

3210 East Vernor, Detroit, to 19990 Beech Daly, Redford Township, Appendix A (App.

B to Motion for Relief from Judgment).)

Martin Ryzak worked as a business manager at the Sam's Club on Haggerty Road

in Farmington Hills in June and July 1997. (Tial Tr 7-8, June24,2002.) Mr. Ryzak

testified that during the month of June 1997 , Mr. Craighead worked in the freezer section

at Sam's Club, doing "ovemight merchandising," on the night shift from 9:00 p.m. to

5:00 a.m. or 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. (Id. at 9.) The Sam's Club at 24800 Haggerty Road

was at least eight miles from the spot where Offrcer Turner found the truck on fire in

Redford Township and more than twenty-four miles from Chole Pruett's apartment in

Detroit. (See Map of 19990 Beech Daly, Redford Township, to 24800 Haggerty Road,

Farmington Hills, Appendix B (App. C to Motion for Relief from Judgment); Map of

5
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3210 East Vernor, Detroit, to 24800 Haggerty Road, Farmington Hills, Appendix C

(App. D to Motion for Relief from Judgment).)

Mr. Ryzak recalled that Mr. Craighead had Sundays and Mondays off in order to

match his wife's schedule, and he worked the other five days of the week. (Id. at 9-10.)

He further stated that Mr. Craighead was a full-time employee working on the night shift;

that the freezer area needed restocking each night; that Thursday and Friday were the

busiest nights of the week due to the need to restock in advance of heavy shopping on

Friday and Saturday; and that Mr. Craighead was a good employee who always showed

up for work. (Id. at 12-14.')

Mr. Ryzak also testified that, in accord with company policy, the doors of the

store were locked and the alarm was set during the night shift, whether or not a manager

was present in the store. Any person leaving the store would have set offan alarm that

would signal both the local police and the Sam's Club home office in Bentonville,

Arkansas. (Id. at 10.) The records of the Farmington Hills police department do not

record any alarms or calls from the Haggerty Road Sam's Club on June 26 or 27,1997.

(See Ev Hr'g Tr 36-37, June 30, 2010; Farmington Hills Police Department FOIA

Request and Response, Appendix D (App. E to Motion for Relief from Judgment).)

As discussed above, Mr. Ryzak also testified that the detailed work records from

June 1997 had been lost in a sprinkler malfunction, so there was no way to prove to a

certainty that Mr. Craighead worked the night of June 26-27, 1997, and Mr. Ryzak could

not remember that particular night from five years earlier (Trial Tr I l, 13-14,16, June

24,2002.) Therefore, when the jury during deliberations sent out a note asking for

6
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documentary proof that Mr. Craighead actually worked that night, the court replied that

the jury had to rely only on the evidence actually introduced. (Id. at 170-l7l).

Procedural History After Trial

Mr. Craighead appealed his conviction by right to this Court and argued: (l) that

the court should have suppressed his police statement as the fruit of an illegal arrest by

the Detroit police department; and (2) that his trial counsel failed to call an expert witness

on the subject ofreasons for false confessions, denying him the effective assistance of

counsel. This Court affirmed Mr. Craighead's conviction over a strong dissent from

Judge Whitbeck, who would have reversed because Mr. Craighead's statement was the

fruit of an arrest without probable cause. People v Craighea4 No 243856 (Mich App,

Dec22,2005) (Whitbeck, CJ, dissenting), lv den474 Mich 1124 (2007).

Mr. Craighead filed no motions for relief from judgment prior to the motion

denied by the trial court on July 14,2010.

Newly Discovered Phone Records and Hearing Testimony

The Michigan Innocence Clinic, after months of requests and negotiations,

obtained in August 2009 the Sam's Club telephone records for the Farmington Hills store

for June and July 1997. The newly discovered phone records show that calls were made

from phones in the store to telephone number (313) 393-9153 at 12:19 a.m. and 2:27 a.m.

on June 27, 1997 (the latter call just 8 minutes before Chole Pruett's truck was found

fully ablaze in Redford Township). (Sam's Club Ameritech Telephone Bill, June-July

1997 , Appendix E, at page 9, line 12 and page 2l,line 25 (App. F to Motion for Relief

7
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from Judgment).) Archived copies of the Ameritech Detroit Metropolitan White Pages

show that this number belonged to Marilie Griffin, residing at 500 River Place in Detroit

for the entire period between September 1996 and September 1998. (Ameritech Detroit

White Pages, 1996-1997, Appendix F (App. G to Motion for Relief from Judgment).)

The person at (313) 393-9153 who received those calls from Sam's Club that

night was Isaac "Ike" Griffin, who was at the time a well-known Detroit sports radio

personality. See George B. Eichorn, Detroit Sports Broadcasters: On the Air (Arcadia

Publishing, 2003) at p. 97 (describing sports and radio ffreer of Ike "Mega Man"

Griffin). Mr. Griffin testified at the evidentiary hearing that he is Marilie Griffin's son,

that he was a longtime friend of Mark Craighead, that he lived in his mother's home at

500 River Place in June 1997,andthat (313) 393-9153 was therefore his home telephone

number at the time. (Hr'g Tr 96-97,102-105, June 30, 2010.) Mr. Grifhn specifically

testified that Mr. Craighead sometimes called him at Mr. Griffin's mother's home during

breaks from Mr. Craighead's work on the night shift. (Id. at97.) Mr. Griffin did not

know anyone other than Mr. Craighead who worked at Sam's Club and he never received

phone calls placed from the store by anyone else. (1d at 105-106.)

Store telephone records also show calls at 1 1:01 p.m. and ll:02 p.m. on Jlune 26,

1997,to telephone number (313) 836-5230. (See Sam's Club Ameritech Telephone Bill,

June-July 1997, Appendix E, at page 9, lines l0-l I (App. F to Motion for Relief from

Judgment).) Randle Craighead-Mr. Craighead's brother-has owned and used this

telephone number continuously since 1985. (Hr'gTr 40-41, June 30, 2010); see also

Randle Craighead People Search Results, Appendix G (App. K to Motion for Relief from

Judgment).) Randle Craighead had this phone number throughout the month of June

8
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1997, and he still has this number today. (Hr'g Tr 40.) Randle Craighead did not know

anyone other than his brother who worked at Sam's Club in Farmington Hills, and he

never received phone calls placed from the store by anyone else. (1d at 42.)

At the evidentiary hearing, John Wojnaroski, a forensic polygraph examiner,

testified to a polygraph he administered to Mark Craighead on June 30, 2010.3 (Hr'g Tr

20, July 14,2010; June 30,2010 Polygraph Examination Report, Appendix L,at2.)

During the exam, Mr. Wojnaroski questioned Mr. Craighead to determine whether he

knew if anyone else placed the calls to Isaac Griffrn and Randle Craighead on June 26

and26,1997. (Hr'gTr 20, July 14, 2010.) In response to the question, "Other than you,

do you know of anyone else who made any of those four phone calls from Sam's Club?"

Mr. Craighead responded "no." (Id. at22.) lN.4rr. Craighead was then asked whether he

was lying in response to his first answer; Mr. Craighead responded that he was not lying.

(1d.) Finally, he was asked whether he knew of "anyone else who worked at Sam's Club,

other than [him], who could have made those four phone calls?" (Id. at22-23) Again,

Mr. Craighead replied, "no." (Id. at23.) Atthe evidentiary hearing, Mr. Wojnaroski

testified that Mr. Craighead replied truthfully in response to each of those questions. (1d

at23; June 30, 2010 Polygraph Examination Report, Appendix L, at2.)

In addition to providing documentary proof of Mr. Craighead's alibi, this newly

discovered evidence only further highlights the lack of evidence in support of Mr.

3 At the evidentiary hearing, the trial court refused to admit evidence that Mr. Craighead
had passed an April 29,2009 polygraph exann, also administered by Mr. Wojnaroski. (Id.

at24-25.) With respect to that exarn, Mr. Wojnaroski reported that Mr. Craighead
responded truthfully in saying that he did not know who caused Mr. Pruett's fatal
injuries, that he did not cause Mr. Pruett's fatal injuries, and that he was not present when
Mr. Prueff was shot. (April 29,2009 Polygraph Examination Report, Appendix L, at I
(App. O to Motion for Relief from Judgment).)

9
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Craighead's conviction at his original trial. Indeed, the prosecution never presented any

physical evidence linking Mr. Craighead to the crime. Moreover, Lieutenant Billy

Jackson of the Detroit Police Department conceded at a pretrial evidentiary hearing that

of the twenty-five witnesses he interviewed, none linked Mr. Craighead to Chole Pruett's

death. (Ev Hr'g Tr 81, 86-87, Dec. 13, 2000.)

At the time of his trial and appeal, neither Mr. Craighead, nor his trial counsel,

nor his appellate counsel knew of, or could have with reasonable diligence discovered,

the phone records documenting the specific phone calls that Mr. Craighead made from

Sam's Club on the night of June 26-27, 1997 . (Hr'gTr 20-26,46-55, June 30, 2010;

144, July 14, 2010.) As Mr. Craighead testified, he could not remember in 2002-more

than five years after what from his perspective was just another unremarkable night at

work-whether he had made phone calls from work that night, at what time, or to whom.

Mr. Craighead testified that he could not remember a specific conversation in which he

informed his trial counsel that he sometimes made telephone calls from work, though he

"thought [he] told all [his] attorneys." (Hr'g Tr 72, June 30, 2010.) However, given that

it took the Michigan Innocence Clinic many months to obtain those records from

Ameritech, it is highly improbable that trial counsel could have, with reasonable

diligence, obtained them in time for trial. (See Latoya Antonio Affidavit, Appendix H

(App. L to Motion for Relief from Judgment); Judd Grutman Affidavit, Appendix I (App.

M to Motion); Chad Ray Affidavit, Appendix J (App. N to Motion for Relief from

Judgment).) The prosecution also stipulated that the Michigan Innocence Clinic served at

least seven subpoenas to obtain the Farmington Hills Sam's Club phone bill for June and

July 1997. (Hr'g Tr 12, June 30, 2010.)

10
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Moreover, as Valerie Newman, Mr. Craighead's counsel on appeal, testified, she

received purported phone records from Sam's Club at the time of Mr. Craighead's

appeal, in response to a subpoena. (Hr'g Tr 49-50, July 14, 2010.) Ms. Newman

reviewed those records and supplied them to Mr. Craighead and to Mr. Craighead's

father to review, but none of them found any relevant calls listed in these records that

Sam's club disclosed. (/d at 50-57.)

For reasons unknown to anyone, the purported records supplied by Sam's Club in

2002 were incomplete and did not contain any of the calls shown in the newly discovered

records finally received from Ameritech, by the Michigan Innocence Clinic, in2009. (Id.

at 91.) Despite the diligent efforts by appellate counsel to uncover evidence in Mr.

Craighead's defense, neither Ms. Newman nor Mr. Craighead could have known at the

time they received the records that they were not in fact complete, and did not contain the

crucial, specific call records which would ultimately prove Mr. Craighead's innocence.

Had trial counsel pursued the same line of investigation as appellate counsel, he would

have certainly received these same incomplete and unhelpful records in response.

Trial Court Ruling on Motion for Relief from Judgment

Mr. Craighead, represented by the Michigan Innocence Clinic, filed his motion

for relief from judgment in November 2009, raising the claim that the trial court should

grant Mr. Craighead a new trial because the newly discovered evidence of the phone calls

he made from Sam's Club conclusively demonstrated his innocence, and because neither

he, nor his trial counsel, nor his appellate counsel, could have with reasonable diligence

discovered the records at the time of his trial or appeal. Mr. Craighead further raised an

1l
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alternative claim that, if the trial court found the records not newly discovered because

they could have been found with reasonable diligence, then trial counsel and appellate

counsel were ineffective for failing to discover and present those records. Based on the

testimony of trial and appellate counsel at the subsequent hearings on his motion, Mr.

Craighead does not argue the second claim any further in this appeal.

On July 14,2010, the trial court denied Mr. Craighead's motion for relief from

judgment, issuing its findings of fact and final order on the record, at the conclusion of

the second evidentiary hearing on the motion. (See Hr'g Tr ll7-123, July 14, 2010.)

The trial court found that the records were not newly discovered; that in its opinion the

records did not establish Mr. Craighead's innocence; and moreover that the records

would not have caused a different outcome at trial.

In supporting its opinion that the records were not newly discovered, Judge Jones

stated: "So, you haven't sustained your burden to show me that this would actually

show-first of all. I can't r

Fishman [trial counsel] had known about it. he would have found it." (Id. at 122;'

emphasis added.) In explaining her opinion that the records did not establish Mr.

Craighead's innocence, Judge Jones stated: "

defendant presents me now actually shows that he made phone calls on the date and time

in question. if I believe that. if I had the least bit of confidence in it. I would grant your

motion: but I don't." (Id;emphasis added.)

The only reason Judge Jones gave for not being confident that Mr. Craighead

made the phone calls in question is that the phone bill revealed that the same two phone

numbers (Isaac Griffin's and Randle Craighead's) were called several times during other

t2
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nights that month and, on one occasion, within minutes of each other at l:37 p.m. and

I :38 p.m. on May 15, that is, during the day shift. (Id at l0-1 1; see also Sam's Club

Ameritech Telephone Bill, April-May 1997, Appendix K, at page 37, line 16-17; Hr'g Tr

10-l l, July 14, 2010.) In other words, because two calls were made back-to-back to

Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin during a day shift, Judge Jones announced that she

had no reason to believe that it was Mr. Craighead who made the four calls to Randle

Craighead and Isaac Griffin during the night shift of June 26-27 , 1997. But neither Mr.

Craiehead nor Mr. Ryzak ever testified that Mr. Craighead worked exclusively on the

night shift, and it is hardly surprising that an employee who works night shifts would

occasionally work a day shift as well.

The uncontroverted facts remain that Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffrn received

multiple phone calls from Sam's Club during the night shift of June26-27 (and during

multiple other night shifts that month as well), that the night shift workers were locked

into Sam's Club, and that neither Randle Craighead nor Isaac Griffin knew anyone other

than Mark Craighead who would be calling them from Sam's Club in Farmington Hills,

much less anyone else who would be calling them in the middle of the night.

Finally, in holding that the records would not have caused a different outcome at

trial, Judge Jones stated: "But then beyond that, let's say that [Fishman] got stonewalled

or whatever, but does it actually show or would it cause a different result in this trial?

And you've qot a problem showine that he 's the one who made these calls because vou

can't convince me of that. And I'm not qoins beyond a reasonable doubt. If I thoueht

there was a reasonable opportunitv that he had been the one who made these, I'd eo witb

him.,,(Id.atl23;emphasisadded.)JudgeJonesalsostated:..@
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phone records. . . . [Tlhev said. is there anv proof that he was at work that day ." (Id. at

1 l8; emphasis added.)

STAI\DARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's ruling on a motion for relief from judgment under MCR 6.500,

similar to a motion for new trial, is reviewed for abuse of discretion. People v McSwain,

259 Mich App 654, 681;676 NW2d 236,250 (2003). The findings of fact that supported

the ruling are reviewed for clear enor. Id. Underlying questions of law are reviewed de

novo. People v Washington,46S Mich 667, 670-671; 664 NW2d203 (2003).

A trial court abuses its discretion when it "chooses an outcome that falls outside

the range of reasonable and principled outcomes." People v Unger,278 Mich App 210,

217;749 NW2d 272,283 (2008) (citation omitted. In reviewing a ruling on a motion for

new trial, this Court "examine[s] the reasons given by the trial court. . . . Where the

reasons given by the trial court are inadequate or not legally recognized, the trial court

abused its discretion." People v Leonard,224Mich App 569, 580, 569 NW2d 663,669

(1997) (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DEI\ryING MR.
CRAIGHEAD'S MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT GIVEN
THE UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHING THAT MR.
CRAIGHEAD WAS LOCKED INTO SAM'S CLUB IN FARMINGTON
HILLS THE NIGHT THE CRIME WAS COMMITTED IN DETROIT

The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. Craighead's motion for

relief from judgment. Mr. Craighead presented the trial court with compelling new

I.
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evidence that resolves any reasonable doubt about his whereabouts on the night Chole

Pruett was murdered. This new evidence shows conclusively and without any

contradiction that Mr. Craighead was working twenty-four miles away from the crime

scene and making phone calls from work to well-known sports radio personality Isaac

"Mega Man" Griffin and to his brother, Randle Craighead, during the relevant hours on

June 26 and27. Since the night shift workers were locked in and one of the phone calls

was made just minutes before the burning truck was found in Redford Township, Mr.

Craighead could not have committed this crime.

The Ameritech phone bills, the testimony from Randle Craighead and Isaac

Griffin, and the results of Mr. Craighead's polygraph exam are newly discovered

evidence requiring that Mr. Craighead be given a new trial. See People v Cress,468

Mich 678, 692,664 NW2d 174, 182 (2003). This evidence meets all four requirements

outlined in Cress: (l) it is newly discovered; (2) it would result in a different result on

retrial; (3) it is not cumulative of trial evidence; and (a) it could not have been discovered

at trial through reasonable diligence. Id

The trial court clearly and unreasonably erred in its findings on the Cress factors,

leading to a result "outside the range of reasonable and principled outcomes." Unger,

278 Mich App at 217. Specifically. the trial court denied the new trial solely because the

phone records show that Mr. Craiehead also called Isaac Griffin and Randle Craiehead

durine a day shift and. from that fact. the trial court decided that it could not be

"confident" that Mr. Craiehead was the one who called Isaac Griffin and Randle

Craiehead durine the night shift of June 26-27.
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Judge Jones' reasoning was, with all due respect, completely irrational. The fact

that the phone bills shows that Mr. Craighead made multiple phone calls to both Isaac

Grifhn and Randle Craighead throughout the month, including during a day shift, in no

way undermines the uncontroverted fact that phone calls were made from Sam's Club to

both Isaac Griffin and Randle Craieilread the nieht of the killing. including one just before

the victim's burning truck was found in Redford Township. and that both Mr. Griffin and

Randle Craighead confirmed that no one other than Mark Craiehead ever called them

from Sam's Club. much less called them in the middle of the nieht.

Accordingly, this Court should grant leave to appeal so that the trial court's ruling

may be reversed and Mr. Craighead may be granted the new trial to which he is entitled.

A. Mr. Craighead's New Evidence Is Newly Discovered

The trial court clearly erred by not finding that the evidence Mr. Craighead

presented at his evidentiary hearing is "newly discovered."

Perhaps the most important factor in deciding whether "the evidence itself, not

merely its materiality, was newly discovered," Cress,468 Mich at 692, is whether the

defendant and his counsel knew about the evidence at trial. See People v Dixon,2l7

Mich App 400,410; 552 NW2d 663,670 (1996). However, the defendant must have

known or should have known that the evidence actually existed; it is not enough that he

knew an allegedly exculpatory piece of evidence hadthe potential of coming to fruition.

See People v Baldwin,No 236855 (Mich App Sept 23,2003) (holding that trial court

erred in finding other person's confession to defendant's alleged crime was not newly

discovered evidence, where trial court's only reason was that other person's "potential
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involvement in the case was known at trial"). This Court also has held that evidence is

newly discovered evidence where it was not reasonably possible for the defendant to

present it at trial. See People v Baydoun, No 281972, (Mich App Jan 12,2010)

(subsequent confessor's "whereabouts were unknown at the time of defendant's trial").

Here, the trial court never explicitly ruled that the Ameritech phone bills and

testimony presented at Mr. Craighead's hearing were not in fact "newly discovered."

The court did, however, imply as much in its ruling. The court stated that "I can't really

say it's newly discovered. Because I think if Steve Fishman [Mr. Craighead's trial

counsel] had known about it, he would have found it." (Hr'g Tr 122, July 14, 2010).

This is the trial court's only statement concerning the newly discovered evidence prong

of the Cress test.

Mr. Craighead clearly satisfies the first prong of the Cress test, and the trial

court's (apparent) finding to the contrary is anon sequitur. The trial court's statement

that trial counsel would have found the records if he had known about them has nothing

to do with whether the records are newly discovered evidence now. The fact is that trial

counsel did not know about the phone records and therefore did not try to obtain them.

Mr. Craighead also did not know about the phone records. When he went to trial five

years after the killing of Chole Pruett, Mr. Craighead had no memory of the night of June

26-27,1997, much less any memory of whether he made any personal phone calls that

night from work.

In fact, it was only in 2009, after the Michigan Innocence Clinic obtained the

Ameritech phone bills, that Mr. Craighead discovered that he had made calls from Sam's

Club phones on the night of June 26-27,1997. As Mr. Craighead testified, "[t]he only
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reason I remember is because the documents were produced in front of me. I seen that I

made those phone calls." (Hr'g Tr 82, June 30, 2010.) It clearly would be error to hold

Mr. Craighead responsible for knowing, at trial, about the existence of an exculpatory

phone bill when in fact all he knew, at most, was that five years earlier he occasionally

made personal phone calls from Sam's Club phones while at work there. In any event,

the trial court did not make such a holding and instead found the first prong not satisfied

solely for the irrelevant reason that trial counsel would have tried to find the phone bills if

he had known about them.

Not only were Mr. Craighead and his trial counsel unaware at trial of the

existence of this evidence, it is clear that they could not have learned about the phone

records by the time of trial because when appellate counsel tried to get the phone records,

she was given an incomplete set of phone records that did not include the hundreds of

phone calls made to Detroit by Sam's Club employees (Hr'g Tr 47-49,54-55,87-88, July

14, 2010.) In fact, it took many months of extraordinary effort on the part of a team of

Michigan Innocence Clinic students, (see Antonio Affidavit, Appendix H (App. L to

Motion for Relief from Judgment); Judd Grutman Affidavit, Appendix I (App. M to

Motion for Relief from Judgment); Chad Ray Affidavit, Appendix J (App. N to Motion

for Relief from Judgment), including at least seven subpoenas to Walmart and AT&T, to

obtain the correct phone bill. (Hr'g Tr 12, June 30, 2010.) Trial counsel cannot possibly

be faulted for failing to spend months trying to get a phone bill with a looming trial date.

Mr. Craighead has clearly shown that he did not and could not have known at trial

about the new evidence he presented at his evidentiary hearing; neither he nor his trial

counsel knew that he had made personal phone calls from Sam's Club on that particular
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night five years earlier and, even if they had known, there is no reasonable prospect that

they could have obtained the correct phone bill in time for trial. The phone bill was

finally obtained, after many months of effort, in August 2009, and only then was it

discovered for the f,rrst time that Mr. Craighead had made personal phone calls the night

of the killing from Sam's Club phones. Therefore, the trial court erred in hnding that the

evidence presented at Mr. Craighead's evidentiary hearing was not newly discovered.

Mr. Craighead's Newly Discovered Evidence Would Cause the Jury
to Reach a Different Outcome if Presented at Retrial

The trial court erred when it ruled that the newly discovered evidence, proving

that Mr. Craighead was at work the night of the murder, would probably not convince a

jury to acquit Mr. Craighead. The records documenting Mr. Craighead's phone calls to

his brother and his friend almost certainly would have resulted in his acquittal as it would

have provided the evidence the jury was looking for to confirm his already strong alibi.

The nhone records. if presented to a iurv. would result in Mr.
Craiehead's acquittal on retrial.

Mr. Craighead demonstrated, as he was required to do, that the new evidence

upon retrial would probably cause a different result. Cress,486 Mich at 692. Michigan

courts have recognized that new evidence corroborating a defendant's alibi satisfies this

criteria. See, e.g., People v Burton,74 Mich App 215; 253 NW2d 710 (1977) (holding

that newly discovered witness testimony corroborating alibi warranted new trial).

The newly discovered evidence in this case consists of phone records that

corroborate Mr. Craighead's lack-of-presence defense. Indeed, as objective,

B.

I
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documentary evidence, the records are even more concrete and compelling than the

witness testimony in Burton. See 74 Mich App at253.

Courts also weigh the relative weakness of the inculpatory evidence presented at

trial against the relative strength of the exculpatory evidence newly presented, and the

effect such new evidence might have on a second jury. Id. at223. T"he case against Mr.

Craighead was extremely thin. The prosecution presented no physical evidence and no

eyewitnesses tying Mr. Craighead to the crime, despite a multi-year investigation that

included at least 25 witnesses. (Ev Hr'g Tr 87, Dec. 13, 2000.) As both the majority of

this Court and the dissent in the direct appeal concluded, there was not even probable

cause to arrest Mr. Craighead until he made a statement to the police on June 20,2000,

some three years after the killing. Craighead, No. 243856 (Dec22,2005) at *2 (majority

concluding Mr. Craighead's initial statements to police provided probable cause); id at

*5 (dissenting judge finding "very little in the record to sustain a finding that the

prosecution sustained its burden of showing probable cause for a warrantless anest at

Craighead's home on the evening of June 20,2000).

In fact, the only evidence of guilt at trial was the vague, non-particularized

statement Mr. Craighead gave to investigator Barbara Simon after hours of interrogation.

(Trial Tr 110, June 20, 2002.) This "confession," describing an accidental shooting

following a struggle over the gun, was entirely inconsistent with the forensic evidence,

which concluded that Mr. Pruett was killed following premeditated, execution-style

gunshots fired from above his prone body. The exculpatory power of the phone records

crushes any evidence of Mr. Craighead's guilt presented at trial. In contrast to the

prosecution's weak inculpatory evidence against Mr. Craighead, the Sam's Club phone

20
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records provide strong evidence of his innocence that would lead any reasonable jury to

acquit him of this offense.

Evidence of the jury's decision-making processes, documented in notes submitted

to the trial court, provide valuable insight into what the jury was thinking during

deliberations, and the ease or difficulty with which it reached its verdict. See Anton v

State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.,238 Mich App 673,689;607 NW2d 123,132 (1999)

(f,rnding jury's two notes issued with its verdict indicated jury properly considered the

issues before it and did not act on passion or prejudice); Fry v Pliler,55l US ll2,l25;

127 S Ct 2321; I 68 L Ed 2d 16 (2007) (quoting United States v Varoudakis, 233 F3d

ll3, 127 (1st Cir 2000) (looking to jury's note that it was at an "impasse" as a sign that it

was uncertain about defendant's guilt). Here, Mr. Craighead's jury was clearly focused

on the question of whether there were any records supporting Mr. Craighead's alibi when

it sent out a note stating: "ls there a paycheck stub or solid evidence that a forty-hour

week was worked?" (Trial Tr 170-71, June 24,2002 (emphasis added).) The jury could

not have given a clearer indication that it was looking for proof of Mr. Craighead's alibi,

but ultimately, without documentary evidence that he was at work that particular night,

convicted him. Given the jury's pointed request for this crucial type of evidence, it

almost certainly would have arrived at a different outcome had it seen the phone records.

2. The trial court erred in ruline that the newlv discovered
."td. .

The trial court's reasoning in holding that the Sam's Club phone records would

not likely result in an acquittal if presented to a jury was irrational. It's clear that the trial

court simply failed to grasp the significance of the phone records.

2l
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The trial court ignored the evidentiary standard for granting a new trial in

reaching its determination. The appropriate question is whether the new evidence, if

presented at retrial, would probabl), result in a different result. By using terms such as

"convince" and "confidence" in referring to whether the records conclusively show that

Mr. Craighead placed the calls from Sam's Club, the trial court raised the evidentiary

burden from probability to near-certainty. While the evidence actually does meet the

near-certainty threshold, see infra at 26-29, the trial court erred in requiring that the

evidence meet this standard in order to merit a new trial.

While the trial court's opinion makes it clear that it did not properly apply this

Cress factor, even if it was correct in its application, it was unreasonable in finding that

the new evidence would not have resulted in a different outcome at trial. Rather than

examining the implications of the phone records, the trial court chose instead to hinge its

opinion on irrelevant details from the evidentiary hearing and faulty logical leaps.

The trial court gave considerable weight to Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffrn's

estimates of how often Mr. Craighead called them. Each testified that Mr. Craighead

called them from Sam's Club regularly during his shifts, testimony which was

substantiated by the phone records. Yet because they testified that Mr. Craighead called

them more frequently than was reflected on the entire phone record, the trial court

claimed that the witnesses were "exaggerating." (Hr'g Tr I l9-120, July 14, 2010.)

These witnesses' supposedly inaccurate estimates of how often Mr. Craighead

called them from work, given in testimony thirteen years after the period in question,

have no relation to the significance of the phone record evidence. In fact, it is likely that

the witnesses' estimates were accurate, and that Mr. Craighead's other calls simply did
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not show up on the records because they were placed from other phone lines, or from

cellular phones, or made at times when he was not working at Sam's Club. For example,

Randle Craighead only stated that Mr. Craighead called him "two to three times a week;"

he never claimed that each of those two to three calls per week all occurred while his

brother was at work. (Hr'g Tr 45, June 30, 2010.)

But even if Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin did exaggerate the frequency with

which Mr. Craighead called them from work, their testimony in no way negates the

incontrovertible documentary evidence that calls were placed to each of them on the day

and time in question-the same time Mr. Prueff was killed in Detroit. By concentrating

on whether the witnesses may have given inaccurate estimates of how often Mr.

Craighead called them, the trial court failed to grasp the indisputable implications of this

new evidence-that if Mr. Craighead was at Sam's Club in Farmington Hills working the

night of June26-27,1997,he could not possibly have killed Mr. Pruett.

To put it simply, given that there is now indisputable evidence that Isaac Griffin

and Randle Craiehead were called on the nieht of June 26-27. 1997. and given that both

Mr. Griffin and Randle Craishead testified. without the sliehtest contradiction. that no

one else other than Mark Craighead ever called them from Sam's Club in the middle of

the nioht hmv nftcn Mr Craioheqrl r.qllerl them on other niohfs ls nnrnnlefelw irrelevqnf

In rejecting the exculpatory value of the newly discovered phone bill, the trial

court placed the most weight on the fact that the phone bill shows that several phone calls

were also placed from Sam's Club to Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin during the day

shift. (Hr'g Tr I19, July 14, 2010.) The trial court suggested from this fact that perhaps

other people at Sam's Club called these two individuals. (Id. at 123.) Because Mr.
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Craighead testified that he regularly worked night shifts, the trial court reasoned that

daytime records of calls to Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin proved that these two

people may have had phone relationships with other Sam's Club employees. (Id.) That

conclusion makes no logical sense for several reasons.

First, while it is true Mr. Craighead did testify that he typically worked night

shifts (Hr'g Tr 59-60, June 30, 2010.), neither he nor anyone else testified that he only

worked at Sam's Club during night hours. Night shift workers are sometimes called upon

to work occasional day shifts, and vice-versa. The night shift was the only shift relevant

to the time Chole Pruett was murdered.

Second, the trial court ienored both Randle Craishead's and Isaac Griffin's

undisputed testimonv that the onlv person who ever called them from Sam's Club was

Mark Craishead, (Hr'g Tr 42,105-106, June 30, 2010), testimony consistent with Mr.

Craighead's truthful polygraph responses. (Id. at22-23; June 30, 2010 Polygraph

Examination Report, Appendix L, at2.)

Third, the phone records show that trvo of the daytime calls that Judge Jones

spotted on the phone bill were placed to Isaac Griffin and Randle Craighead in immediate

succession<n May 15,1997, a call was placed from Sam's Club to Mr. Griffin's phone

number at l:37 p.m.; then, at l:38, one minute later, a call was placed to Randle

Craighead from the same Sam's Club line. (Hr'g Tr, l0-l l, July 14,2010; see also

Sam's Club Ameritech Telephone Bill, April-May 1997, Appendix K, at page 37,line

16-17; Hr'g Tr l0-11, July 14, 2010.) The fact that these two calls were made in

immediate succession from the same phone line strongly indicates that the same person

called them back-to-back. And the only person working at the Farmington Hills Sam's
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Club at that time known to know both Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin was Mark

Craighead.

Especially given the uncontroverted testimony of Isaac Griffin and Randle

Craighead that Mark Craighead was the only person who would be calling them from

Sam's Club in Farmington Hills, the only rational conclusion from the back-to-back

telephone calls to Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin on May 75, 1997, is that Mark

Craighead called his brother and his close friend during a day shift. It is completely

irrational to conclude, as the trial court did, that this daytime phone call somehow proves

someone else at Sam's Club was calling Isaac Griffin and Randle Craighead and that this

unknown person who called during the day on May 15, 1997, was also there during the

night shift on June 26-27, 1997.

The trial court's unreasonable disregard of the phone records is further illustrated

by its appraisal of the jury note, determining that because "the jury didn't ask for phone

records," the new evidence is worthless. (Hr'g Tr I18, July 14,2010.) At Mr.

Craighead's trial, the jury sent out a note during deliberations asking whether there was

"a paycheck stub or solid evidence that a forty-hour week was worked." (Trial Tr 170-

71, June 24,2002.) The jury was clearly seeking any kind of documentary evidence that

could confirm Mr. Craighead was at work when Mr. Pruett was killed.

Indeed, even the trial court conceded that the jury was looking for "proof that

[Mr. Craighead] was at work that day." (Hr'g Tr 118, July 14, 2010.) The phone records

constitute exactly this proof. In fact, they are even more conclusive than a paystub,

which would only reflect hours worked over a one or two-week period; the phone records

's Club the
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The jury struggled with Mr. Craighead's alibi issue enough to request additional

information about it, and the note strongly indicates that, had the jury been presented with

such evidence at trial, it likely would have reached a different outcome. The trial court's

misunderstanding of the jury's real concern, and the fact that the phone records go

directly to that concern, is fuither indication that the court clearly erred in its ruling.

If a jury had the opportunity to hear this new evidence that directly refuted the

prosecution's theory of Mr. Craighead's guilt, it is not only likely but nearly certain that

it would not have returned a conviction. The trial court's ruling that the phone records

would make no difference if presented at a retrial is both clearly erroneous and an abuse

of the court's discretion.

C. Mr. Craighead's Newly Discovered Evidence Is Not Cumulative

The new evidence presented to the trial court in Mr. Craighead's evidentiary

hearing also is not cumulative. "[E]vidence of a distinct probative fact is not cumulative

to evidence of another fact, although both facts support the same issue." People v

Duncan,4l4 Mich 877, 88 I ; 322 NW2 d 714 ( I 982). Evidence is typically deemed

cumulative when it affirms evidence of a similar type already presented at trial. See

People v Nixon,No 266033 (Mich App Mar 1,2007) (finding that a fourth alibi witness

was cumulative to the three alibi witnesses who had already provided similar testimony

regarding defendant' s whereabouts).

The question of Mr. Craighead's whereabouts on the night Chole Pruett was

killed was hotly disputed at his trial. These newly discovered records put this dispute to

rest. The phone records directly corroborate Mr. Craighead's assertion that he was at
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work at the time that Mr. Prueff was killed and the truck was stolen. No other

documentary evidence was available to be presented to prove this fact at trial. While trial

counsel made an effort to present the most common form of documentary evidence -Mr.
Craighead's timecard-that evidence was not available due to a sprinkler accident, which

destroyed Mr. Craighead's timecard from that week. (Trial Tr I l, June24,2002.) No

other evidence presented at trial proves what these phone records prove-that Mr.

Craighead was at work, locked in until the next morning, at the time of the crime.

Mr. Craighead's appellate attomey, who had received incorrect phone records

from Sam's Club in response to her subpoena, testified at the evidentiary hearing that had

she instead received the correct Ameritech phone bill, she would not have considered it to

be cumulative. (Hr'g Tr 66-67, July 14,2010.) Moreover, the prosecution conceded at

this hearing that the evidence was not cumulative, noting that "it is qualitatively different

than the evidence that was presented at trial, even though it was a defensive alibi, and

even though it would supplement the defensive alibi." (Id. at l0l.)

Perhaps the clearest proof that the evidence is not cumulative is that the jury

specifically asked for documentary evidence that Mr. Craighead was at work the night of

the killing by sending out a note during deliberations: "Is there a paycheck stub or solid

evidence that a forty-hour week was worked?" (Trial Tr 170-71, June24,2002.) T)re

jury asked for such documentary evidence because Mr. Craighead was unable to present

any at trial. The newly discovered Sam's Club phone records are certainly not

cumulative to evidence presented at trial.
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D. Mr. Craighead's Newly Discovered Evidence Could Not Have Been
Discovered at Trial through Reasonable Diligence

Finally, the existence and importance of the Sam's Club phone records was not

and could not have been reasonably known to Mr. Craighead or trial counsel.

"Reasonable diligence" in investigation is judged by whether trial counsel was aware of

the facts necessary to prompt a more thorough investigation. See, e.g., People v Deering,

No 274208 (Mich App Dec I l, 2008) (trial counsel was in possession of witness'

criminal history and failed to investigate, which does not demonstrate "reasonable

diligence" for purposes of newly discovered evidence).

In this case, trial counsel could not reasonably have deduced that a viable

alternative to the missing timecard would be phone records from the night in question.

Timecards and paystubs are common business records which track employee schedules,

but company phone records are not a likely place to find evidence of presence for an

employee such as Mr. Craighead, who did not work in an office, especially since such

employees are not normally permitted to make personal long-distance phone calls using

the company phone. Trial counsel took the most logical steps to establish Mr.

Craighead's alibi: he investigated and pursued timecard evidence, and when the timecard

proved to have been destroyed by accident, counsel presented testimonial evidence

establishing Mr. Craighead's normal work schedule and explaining the missing timecard.

(Trial Tr 9-11, June 24,2002.)

Even if trial counsel could have been expected to know the importance of the

Sam's Club phone records, the effort required to finally obtain these records went beyond

what would be considered reasonable diligence for a trial attorney. Mr. Craighead's

appellate attomey, Valerie Newman, attempted to obtain this evidence when she
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subpoenaed Sam's Club's phone records. (Hr'g Tr 49-50, July 14, 2010.) She

scrutinized the store's phone log in an attempt to determine whether any of the numbers

reflected on it matched the numbers Mr. Craighead could have called. (Id. at 53-54). But

what Ms. Newman did not know was that the Sam's Club records she received captured

only a fraction of the calls made from the Farmington Hills store, and despite Ms.

Newman's best efforts, Mr. Craighead's presence at that Sam's Club could not be

verified from that incomplete call log.

The complete phone bill was finally obtained when three student attomeys at the

Michigan Innocence Clinic, assigned to Mr. Craighead's case, spent six months in

constant communication with Sam's Club headquarters in Bentonville, Arkansas, and

phone companies AT&T and Ameritech, attempting to obtain the phone records for June

26 and27, 1997, for the phones located in the Farmington Hills Sam's Club store.

(Antonio Aff., Appendix H (App. L to Motion for Relief from Judgment); Grutman Aff.,

Appendix I (App. M to Motion for Relief from Judgment); Ray Aff., Appendix J (App. N

to Motion for Relief from Judgment).) The process took numerous subpoena requests, as

the prosecution has stipulated (Hr'g Tr 12, June 30, 2010), and countless communications

via phone and fax to coordinate Sam's Club cooperation in providing the phone records.

The students persisted in requesting the documents despite Walmart's assertions that the

phone records were not available. Walmart initially refused to cooperate with the

students as they attempted to obtain the phone records from AT&T (Antonio Aff.,

Appendix H (App. L to Motion for Relief from Judgment)), and AT&T initially failed to

provide complete records when subpoenaed. (Id.) Finally, even once the records were

located by AT&T Ameritech, it took an additional month of negotiation to persuade
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AT&T to provide hard copies of the documents, rather than comrpted, unusable files via

email. (Ray Aff., Appendix J (App.N to Motion for Relief from Judgment).) The efforts

of the student attorneys at the Michigan Innocence Clinic to chase down the remote

possibility that Mr. Craighead might have made personal long-distance phone calls using

the company phone on a particular night years ago go beyond what could be considered

reasonable efforts by trial counsel in investigating and preparing for an upcoming trial.

At the evidentiary hearing, the prosecution did not dispute this prong of the Cress

test. The prosecution noted in its closing argument that Ms. Newman "could not [have

been] more diligent" in her efforts to obtain the Sam's Club outgoing call records. (Hr'g

Tr I10, July 14, 2010.) That Ms. Newman was still unable to locate the calls Mr.

Craighead made from Sam's Club perfectly illustrates that reasonably diligent effort

could not have uncovered this evidence before trial.

In short, the newly discovered phone records easily meet the four-part test of

newly discovered evidence.
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CONCLUSION

Therefore, this Court should grant this application for leave to appeal, reverse the

trial court's denial of Mr. Craighead's motion for relief from judgment, and order a new

trial at which a jury may consider the phone records as proof that Mr. Craighead could

not have committed the killing of Chole Pruett.
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The People accept defendant's statement ofjurisdiction

N
ta)

o\
13
N

(^.l

c..l
tr)
a
L\)()

O.

U

bJ)

,J

E]
?
r!
U
IJ.]

I

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-8    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 6 of 21



COUNTERSTATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

For a new trial to be granted on the basis of newly
discovered evidence, it must not be cumulative, the
evidence itself, not just its materiality, must be

newly discovered, it must make a different result
probable on retrial, and could not have been

discovered with reasonable diligence. The records
here are merely newly available and offer
cumulative support to defense testimony that he was

working when the crime occurred. Is this evidence
newly discovered?

The People answer: NO.
Defendant answers: YES
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COUNTERSTATEMENT OF FACTS

The People accept only those portions of defendant's statement of facts that are in

conformance with MCR 7.212(c)(6), which requires that "[a]ll material facts, both favorable and

unfavorable, must be fairly stated without argument or bias." The People provide additions

and/or corrections below and in the brief.t

Defendant states that he has served more than seven years for a crime that he did not

commit. Defendant was convicted and his conviction was upheld by this court.2

Defendant refers to his confession as "alleged." (Defendant's brief, p 2). Defendant

confessed. A Walker hearing was held in the trial court challenging the conviction. The

confession was challenged on appeal. Defendant's conviction was affirmed.3

Attorney Steven Fishman testified that defendant never told him that he regularly made

phone calls from Sam's Club when he was working. Fishman testified that had defendant told

him, he would have asked him whether he made the calls from a land line, and if so would have

subpoenaed the records from Wallmart. If stonewalled, he would have filed a motion in front of

the trial court and had confidence the court would not have been happy that the records had not

been turned over. Fishman testified that if the calls were made from a cell phone, he would have

tried to find the records to show the calls were made. (EH, 6.30.I 0,27 -28).

'The People first note that the defendant has consistently confused this Statement of Facts
for argument.

2People v Craighead, No. 243856 (Mich App, December 22,2005).

3The confession is a fact in the case rather than an unproven allegation. Defendant makes
a similar comment in footnote one of the same page, stating ". . .Mr. Craighead allegedly made
this 'statement' to investigator Barbara Simon. . . ." Again, there is nothing "alleged" about the
confession. The fact of the confession has been litigated and proven

3
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The defendant testified that his regular shift at Sam's Club was a midnight shift. He

worked from nine to five and on the weekends, which meant Friday, Saturday, and Sunday, he

worked ten to six. Defendant testified that if June 26ft was a Friday, he would have worked ten

to six. Defendant believed that he worked on the night on June 26ft. He testified that he worked

the same days every week, Tuesday through Saturday. He had Sundays and Mondays off.

(EH,6,30.10, 59-60).

Defendant testified that Sam's Club had a policy about locking employees in at night who

worked the night shift. Defendant testified that they could not get out of the store unless they

notified the manager, and he guessed that the manager had to notiff the right people. A manager

was able to unlock the doors to let someone out if necessary. He understood that a silent alarm

would sound and he was told it went to Bentonville. The trial court suggested getting someone

from Sam's Club who could testiff as to what was going on at the time. (EH, 6.30.10, 60-67).

Defendant testified that he regularly called Ike Griffin from Sam's Club. Defendant

testified he probably called Ike Griffen once or twice a month. He testified that he called his

brother, Randall Craighead, one to three times a month. (TT, 6.30.10, 68-71).

Defendant agreed that he did not tell the investigator on August 29, 1997 that he was

regularly making phone calls when he was working. Defendant testified that he did not tell

Detective Tate when he was interviewed the second time that he had made phone calls from the

customer service desk. Defendant testified that he told his attorney Val Newman that he had

made calls from the customer service desk at Sam's Club and he thought that he gave her the

phone numbers. He thought he told all his attorneys. Defendant testified that he gave Val

Newman the same information that he gave to the Innocence Clinic-he told her he made the calls

4

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-8    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 9 of 21



C..l
\a)

o\
q1
N

N
\c
N
\n
a
(.)
O.

+.

tr

U

bo

(.)

z,

-o
a
tr.l

r!
Uu

and gave her some phone numbers. He did not know if he gave her the specific numbers at issue

here. Defendant thought that Van Newman had done a great job for him, but was "probably''

suing her for malpractice. He also sued Otis Culpepper, but not Steve Fishman or Stuart

Freedman. (EH, 6.30.10, 80-83).

Isaac Griffin testified that he had specific recollections of talking to defendant in June,

1997. Griffin testified that he spoke to defendant every day. (EH, 6.30.10).

Mary Kay Miles, the Keeper of the Records for the Farmington Police Department

admitted that she had personal knowledge that Sam's Club would actually call in alarms and had

no idea whether Sam's Club followed their policies in that. regard. Miles testified that she

searched no other dates than those she was given. (EH, 6.30.10, 38-39).

Randall Craighead recalled receiving phone calls from his brother when he was working

the night shift at Sam's Club. He also testified that employees were locked in the store during

their night shift and that a manager would have to let an employee out if they needed to leave.

Craighead testified that a silent alarm would sound and the alarm went to Bentonville, Arkansas.

To his knowledge, the alarm did not go to the police department. Craighead testified that he

talked to defendant most nights but not every night. He later testified that defendant called him

twice a week on the land line and cell phone. He could not specifically say that he spoke to him

on those days. Craighead never went to the police with this information after defendant was

charged. (EH, 6.30. I 0, 42-49),

The trial court issued its ruling:a

aThe courts ruling bears precise quoting as to the issue pertaining to newly discovered
evidence because defendant has misconstrued the ruling.

5
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. . .I was unimpressed by the records. I had questions in my
mind during trial when they tried to say, well, he was locked in. I
still say to this day, common sense and everyday experience has

taught me that people want to get out of someplace, they will. And
then we've got employees who sign in for other people. So. . .

The jury didn't ask for phone records. The jury said, this
man sits up here and claims he was at work.

Most of us have to sign in, sign out, swipe something.
There's some kind of record. So they said, is there any proof that
he was at work that day?

And what you try to present to me are these phone records,
and claim that they prove that he was at work that day.

I listened very carefully, and I try to take very careful notes.
But I asked my court reporter, since it has been sometime, to please

type me a transcript of the testimony that we had before.

And I'm on page 45 of that transcript, and it deals with the
testimony of Mr. Craighead's brother on page 45. And there was a
question asked: "Mr. Craighead, do you have any recollection of
talking to your brother on either June 26s or 27h of 1997?"
Answer: "I talked to him most nights when he was working there.

I couldn't tell you an exact date."

"So you regularly talked to him?" "Yes."

"So you talked almost every night?" Answer: "No,
not every night."

"Question: "But almost? How many times a week did he

call you?" Answer: "Maybe two or three times a week."

So I got the impression that he talked to him on a very
regular basis. And he also had indicated he was upset about that
because he's calling-he worked days, and his brother is calling him
near midnight.

Now, I don't know what kind of brother relationship they
had. But if I was calling my sister like that, she'd put an end to it.
You know, I've got to go to sleep.
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But when I look at the records-because the first thing she
put in were only records that showed two or three sheets of the
phone records. Now I have examined the entire phone records, and
I don't see any indication that any calls were made two or three
times a week.

But what I did find that causes a problem in my mind was
this June l}'h, 3:24 p.m. telephone call to his brother. And his
brother claims he doesn't know anybody else who could have
called him. And people have tried to say, well, although Mr.
Craighead, the defendant, claimed that he worked the night shift,
either 6:00 to something, or 9:00 to something, or 10:00 to
something-and now I'm hearing from the attorneys trying to
testiff, well, maybe he got called in. I don't know that. The
prosecutor has pointed out on her records other calls.

And the other thing that's really kind of strange is when we
get to Mr. Griffin, Mr. Griffin testified that he could call him
anlime he wanted. And the calls to Mr. Griffin, like one minute,
and then I only see one or two calls here. Oh, he called me all the
time.

So, people are exaggerating, and I get uncomfortable when
people exaggerate. I want to have confidence in what they're
telling me that I can believe them.
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If I had confidence that the evidence that the defendant
presents me now actually shows that he made phone calls on the
date and time in question, if I believe that, if I had the least bit of
confidence in it, I would grant your motion, but I don't.

When I look through all these records, I don't see enough
telephone calls. I listened to the people who talked, who testified
on his behalf. They exaggerated. Or if they didn't exaggerate, he

made all these telephone calls from his cellphone. And then, why
wasn't I presented with cellphone records? If you all claim-
although I didn't know anything about cellphones until you started
talking about it. I don't know whether he had a cellphone or not.

So, you haven't sustained your burden to show me that this
would actually show-first of all, I can't really say it's newly

7
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discovered. Because I think if Steve Fishman had known about it,
he would have found it. Okay?

But then beyond that, let's say that he got stonewalled or
whatever, but does it actually show or would it cause a different
result in this trial? And you've got a problem showing that he's
the one who made these calls because you can't convince me of
that. And I'm not going even beyond a reasonable doubt. If I
thought there was a reasonable opportunity that he had been the
one who made these,I'd go with him.

And therefore, the newly discovered evidence is not
sufficient for me to grant you a new trial, and your motion is
denied.

(EH, 7.14,10, tt7-t23)
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ARGUMENT

For a new trial to be granted on the basis of
newly discovered evidence, it must not be
cumulative, the evidence itselt not just its
materiality, must be newly discovered, it must
make a different result probable on retrial, and
could not have been discovered with reasonable
diligence. The records here are merely newly
available and do not prove what the purport to
prove. The evidence offered is not newly
discovered

Defendant claims entitlement to a new trial due to what he calls newly discovered

evidence on a motion for relief from judgment. .

Standard of Review

The People agree with defendant's standard of review. The standard of review is foran

abuse of discretion. ln the federal system, it is often stated that an abuse of discretion occurs:

when a relevant factor that should have been given significant weight is
not considered;

when an irrelevant or improper factor is considered and given significant
weight, or

when all improper and no improper factors are considered, but the court in
weighing those factors commits a clear error judgment, which does not
mean that the appellate court simply substitutes its judgment for that of the
trial court, but that the decision of the trial court is "not within the range of
options from which one would expect a reasonable trial judge to select."

See Uniled States v Van Dreel, 155 F3d 902 (CA 7, 1998); Kern v TXO Production Corp., 738

F2d968,970 (CA 8, 1984); United States v McNeil,90 F3d 298 (CA 8, 1996).
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Discussion

For a new trial to be granted on the basis of newly discovered evidence, a defendant must

show that (l) the evidence, not merely its materiality, was newly discovered; (2) the newly

discovered evidence was not cumulative; (3) the defendant could not, using reasonable diligence,

have discovered and produced the evidence at trial; and ( ) the new evidence makes a different

result probable on retrial. People v Johnson,45l Mich I 15, 118, n 6 (1996); People v Cress, 468

Mich 678 (2003); People v Miller, 2 I I Mich App 30 ( I 995). Courts generally disfavor motions

for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence and, as a result, such motions should only be

granted with caution. United States v. Turns, 198 F.3d 584, 586 (6th Cir.2000).

Defendant has the burden of showing that the evidence is both newly discovered and

material. People v Van Camp,354 Mich 593 (1959); People v Williams, ll8 Mich App 266

( I 982). A defendant cannot meet the burden that the evidence is newly discovered if he knew

about the evidence at the time of trial. United States v Hawkins, 969 F 2d 169, 175 (CA 6,

1992); Uniled Statess v DiBernardo, 880 F 2d 1216, 1224 (CA ll, 1989). The "key''to

determining whether the evidence is "newly discovered" or only "newly available" is to ascertain

when the defendant found out about the information he proposes is newly discovered. United

Staes v Glover, 21 F 3d 133, 138 (CA 6, 1994). ln Glover, the defendant was convicted of

possessing cocaine with the intent to distribute. After trial, he filed a motion for new trial based

on newly discovered evidence. In support of the motion, defendant submitted an affidavit from a

witness who claimed to have placed the cocaine in def4ndant's kitchen stove where it was found

by the police. This witness had claimed the Fifth Amendment at trial, refusing to testiff. He

only changed his mind after being separately convicted on a drug offense. The Glover court

l0
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denied the motion for new trial, holding that the defendant failed to show that the evidence "was

discovered after trial" where he acknowledged that he was aware of the witness's testimony

before trial. The court noted that while the testimony "may have been newly available, it was not

in fact'newlydiscovered evidence'. . ." Id., at 138.

ln Smith v United States, 996 Fzd l2l9 (CA7, 1993), the defendant filed a motion for

a new trial based on newly discovered evidence of three medical reports, which purportedly

detailed his incompetency to stand trial. The claim was rejected, and the Seventh Circuit

affirmed, noting that most of the information was not "newly discovered, " and defendant could

not establish the materiality of his "ne\ry" evidence. The trial court already knew of defendant's

diagnosed Bi-Polar Disorder and about his medication. The only new information was the

diagnosis of "Possible Paranoid Schizophrenia," which was not material because it added little

to the court's understanding of the defendant's competency, the court noting that judges base

their decisions not on medical jargon, but on explanations of a defendant's symptoms, and the

same symptoms were revealed previously.

Defendant has misrepresented the ruling of the Honorable Very Massey Jones by stating

that

The only reason Judge Jones gave for not being confident
that Mr. Craighead made the phone calls in question is that the
phone bill revealed that the same two phone numbers (Isaac

Griffin's and Randle Craighead's) were called several times during
other nights that month and, on one occasion, within minutes of
each other at l:37 p.m. and l:38 p.m. on may 15, that is, during the
day shift. . .But niether Mr. Craighead nor Mr. Ryzak ever testified
that Mr. Craighead worked exclusively on the night shift, and it is
hardly surprising that an employee who works night shifts would
occasionally work a day shift as well."

ll
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( Defendant's "Statement of Facts", p l3).

Defendant also makes a similar statement in his argument, at p 15.

The court's decision here was based on a lack of evidence presented by the defendant.

Simply stated, the defense did not prove its entitlement to relief. Here, the real dilemma for

defendant is that the trial court based its ruling on a number of factors. Those factors, that the

defendant has conveniently ignored, included:

o Randall Craighead testified that he spoke to the defendant regularly,
maybe two or three times a week. The court stated: "But when I looked at
the records-because the first thing she put in were only records that
showed two or three sheets of the phone records. Now I have examined
the entire phone record, and I don't see any indication that any calls were
made two or three times a week. (EH, 7.14.10, I l9).

a The calls earlier in the day, including one at 3:24 p.m. The court noted
that the prosecutor pointed out other calls also and rejected "the attorney's
tryrng to testiff" that defendant may have worked other shifts because
there was no evidence to substantiate that claim. (Emphasis added).
(EH, 7.14.10, I l9-120).

Isaac Griffin testified that defendant called him all the time. The records
only showed that he called Griffin once or twice. (EH, 7.14.10, 120, 122).

The defense witnesses were exaggerating, which made the trial court
uncomfortable in terms of their credibility. (EH, 7.14.10,120).

The court had no confidence that the defendant made the calls on the date

and time in question. (8H,7.14.10,122).

If the defense witnesses were not exaggerating, the calls could have been

made from a cellphone, and the court was not presented with any
cellphone records. (EH, 7 .14.10, 122).

If trial counsel Fishman had known about the records, he would have
found them. (EH, 7.14.10,122).

Here, the defendant's "story" was that he worked the midnight shift. Not one word came
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out of defendant's mouth that gave any indication that he worked at any other time. So, under

the defendant's theory, no other calls should have come out of Sam's Club at any other time

because no one other than him could have made those calls. Yet, a number of calls were made

during the day that defendant could not explain, and indeed, did not even notiry the trial court of

their existence. Additionally, the defendant and the defense witnesses grossly exaggerated the

number of calls made, in direct contradiction to their own evidence.

a. The evidence is merely newly available, not newly discovered

Evidence cannot be newly discovered if the defendant has knowledge of said evidence,

This is knowledge that was uniquely within his personal knowledge and why he chose not to

share that knowledge with trial counsel is incomprehensible. Here, at the very most, all the

evidence defendant alleges to be newly discovered is merely newly available. He never told his

trial counsel about the records. (EH, 6.30.10,27-28).

Other than his self serving statements, there is no evidence that defendant made those

phone calls. The records show only that the calls were made. We now know that calls were made

when defendant was not working. We also know that defendant and his witnesses have

exaggerated the number of calls. For example, Isaac Griffin, Itr in his affidavit stated "Mark and

I often spoke on the phone and Mark would frequently call me during late night and early

morning hours while he was working, either to chat or to discuss plans for the next day. . .I knew

that Mark called me from his work at Sam's Club in Farmington Hills, Michigan. ."

(Defendant's Exhibit H). Issac Griffen testified that he specifically recalled talking to defendant

on the night in question. That testimony bordered on the perjuries and was certainly

ludicrous-that he had "a lot of recollections" of talking to defendant in June, 1997. When asked

l3
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what dates, his response was a lot of dates. He then said he spoke to him every day. (EH,

6.30.10, 109). Griffen and defendant were such great friends that they no longer talked after

Griffen moved to Miami. (EH, 6.30.10, I l3). The records do not support Griffen's testimony.

The FOIA request from the Farmington Hills police Department is similarly newly

available. Moreover, the FOIA request and response show nothing pertaining to this case. The

FOIA response only denies the request because "[T]he records you have requested do not exist

within the records of this agency under the name or description given." The reply from the

Farmington Hills Police Department does not state the records never existed and does not mean

that no runs were made. It only means that the Farmington Hills Police Department has no such

records to disclose under FOIA. [n short, the FOIA response has no meaning under the auspices

of newly discovered evidence in light of the failure of the defense here to produce any evidence

specifically from Sam's Club as to their policies and procedures regarding whether the doors are

in fact locked at night and whether alarms sound, where the notification goes, etc.

b. The evidence is cumulative

This evidence that defendant seeks to admit as newly discovered is cumulative to the alibi

evidence he already presented. Defendant has already presented an alibi defense-that he was at

work when the crime occurred. Similarly, the evidence is cumulative. Martin Ryzak was a

business manager at the Farmington Hills Sam's Clubwhere defendant worked. Defendant

worked in the fteezerlcooler and did overnight merchandising, which started at 9:00 p.m. to 5:00

a.m., or 10:00 p.m. until 6:00 a.m. Defendant generally had Sundays and Mondays off, but he

worked the other five days of the week, with Thursday and Friday nights being the busiest.

Ryzak testified that during the night shift, they "predominantly" lock the employees in the

t4
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building and set the alarm. The only way a person could get out without triggering the alarm is if

a manager let him out. Ryzak maintained that defendant, who was a good employee, was

working at Sam's Club on the night crew in June, 1997, but he was not present during his shift.

Ryzak had no independent recollection ofJune, 1997, and could not recall ifdefendant worked

that evening. (TT, 6124102, 8-17). Defendant testified that the victim dropped him off

somewhere around six or seven o'clock, and that he went to work that night at eight or nine

o'clock. He got home from his shift early Friday morning. He heard that something had

happened to the victim on Saturday morning. (TT,6124102,57-58).

c. The evidence, with reasonable diligence could have been discovered at trial.

This evidence, obtained by means of subpoenas and under FOIA with reasonable

diligence the evidence could have been discovered prior to trial. Defendant, if he regularly made

phone calls from work, as is asserted by Mr. Griffen, certainly had a responsibility to inform his

trial and appellate attorneys of such. The lack of reasonable diligence rests squarely on

defendant's shoulders.

d. Whether a different result on retrial is likely cannot be determined on this record

Finally, defendant must show the likelihood that a different result was probable upon

retrial. Defendant confessed to killing the victim. That confession is valid evidence against him.

When that evidence is considered in conjunction with the weak evidence presented at the

evidentiary hearing (the relative few calls as compared to the witnesses testiffing to frequent

calls), along with the failure to present evidence and the calls made during the day, a different

result on retrial is not only not likely, but is a virnral certainty.

On this record, defendant not only fails, but he fails miserably.

l5
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RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the People respectfully request this Honorable Court to deny defendant's

delayed application for leave to appeal.

Respectfu lly submitted,

KYM L. WORTHY
Prosecuting Attorney
County of Wayne

TMOTHY A. BAUGHMAN
Chief of Research,
Training and Appeals

ISI JANET A. NAPP
JANET A. NAPP (P-40633)
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
l2th Floor, l44l St. Antoine
Detroit, Michigan 48226
Phone: (313)224-5741

Dated: May 26,2011
JANijf

l6
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Mr. Craighead replies to the prosecution's Brief in Opposition to Application for Leave

to Appeal, which this Court filed on May 26,2011

Mr. Craishead did not know about the phone calls placed from Sam's Club
at the time of his trial, nor did he learn of their existence until the phone
records were uncovered in Julv.2009: the phone records thus constitute
newlv discovered evidence.

The prosecution claims that the phone records showing that Mr. Craighead was working

at Sam's Club in Farmington Hills the night the homicide took place in Detroit cannot be newly

discovered evidence because Mr. Craighead at some point would have known that he called

Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin from Sam's Club that night. Prosecution brief at 9,l3-L4.

But, Mr. Craighead was not arrested and tried until some five years after the crime and

thus had no idea at the time of trial that he had made phone calls from work that night,

including a phone call at almost the precise time the victim's truck was set on fire in

Redford Township.

It was not until the Michigan Innocence Clinic finally obtained the complete phone

records from Ameritech-some seven years after his trial ended and more than twelve years after

the calls were actually made-that Mr. Craighead learned that he called his friend and brother

from inside Sam's Club on the night of the killing.

The prosecution correctly notes that the key to distinguishing newly discovered from

newly available evidence is to determine when the defendant found out about the evidence in

question. See State v Glover,2l F3d 133, 138 (CA 6, 1994). ln Glover, for instance, the

defendant was not permitted to rely upon the alleged "newly discovered" testimony of a witness

who refused to testifu at the original trial because the defendant knew the substance of that-,

:-
witness's testimony at the time of trial. Glover at 138-39. : ,_.

-,1
..1 ,l

I.

I
.\
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The logic of Glover is inapplicable where a defendant is unaware of the information at

the time of his trial, but comes to discover it once his court proceedings have ended. Thus,

information that a defendant thinks may exist but does not know for certain at the time of trial

may constitute newly discovered evidence. See, e.g., People v Bald'vtin,No 236855 (Mich App

Sept 23, 2003) (noting that while an alternate suspect's "potential involvement" in the crime was

known at the time of trial, his confession still constituted newly discovered evidence because it

did not come to light until after the trial ended); see also People v Rao,No 289343 (Mich App

Dec 7,2010) (finding newly discovered evidence existed where defendant argued at trial that a

child's skeletal injuries were due to a metabolic disorder rather than abuse, but did not receive

conclusive proof of this fact until obtaining exculpatory X-rays of the child's ribs, two years after

the trial's end).

The circumstances of Baldwin and Rao precisely echo the situation in Mr. Craighead's

case. Unlike the defendant in Glover, who knew the substance of the alleged newly discovered

evidence before trial, when Mr. Craighead went on trial some five years after the killing, he had

no memory at all of whether he had made phone calls that night. Mr. Craighead testified at the

hearing that he had no recollection of calling Mr. Griffin or his brother on the night of

June26-27r1997, until the phone records were produced in 2009rwhen Ameritech

returned the phone bill listing Isaac Griffin's and Randle Craighead's numbers among the

outgoing calls from Sam's Club. Hr'g Tr 82 (June 30, 2010).

The prosecution claims that Mr. Craighead "chose" not to inform his trial counsel about

the calls. Prosecution brief at 13. But, there is no record support for this claim; the unrebutted

testimony from the evidentiary hearing established that Mr. Craighead did not remember making

the calls until "the [phone bills] were produced in front of me." Id. Atmost, Mr. Craighead

2
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could only have told Mr. Fishman that the calls might have been made and that the records of

these calls might exist, because he did not recall making them when he was charged and tried

years after the fact.

Mr. Craighead did eventually recall the possibility that he may have made calls that night,

and his appellate counsel, Valerie Newman, obtained phone records from Sam's Club during his

direct appeal. Hr'g Tr 49-50 (July 14, 2010). But those phone records turned out to be

incomplete and did not show the calls that Mr. Craighead made, so Mr. Craighead had no idea

whatsoever that he had actually made phone calls the night of the killing until the Michigan

Innocence Clinic finally obtained the complete records from Ameritech in August 2009.

In sum, Mr. Craighead at the time of trial and his direct appeal had no idea that he had

made any calls that night. Indeed, his appellate counsel, Ms. Newman, testified that she had told

Mr. Craighead, based on the incomplete phone records she had received from Sam's Club, that

he had not made any phone calls. Id.

Given the timing of when Mr. Craighead became aware of these records, this evidence

unquestionably passes the "newly discovered" threshold articulated in Glover.

II. Mr. Craishead and his witnesses did not exasqerate durine their testimonv:
phone records in evidence show that Mr. Craishead freouentlv called his
brother Randle and friend Isaac GriIIin durine his nishffime shift at Sam's
Club. includine at the time Chole Pruett was murdered in Detroit.

The prosecution argues that Judge Jones based her decision on "a number of factors" that

"the defendant has conveniently ignored." Prosecution brief at 12. However, at least four of the

prosecution's seven points address exactly the same "factor": Judge Jones' opinion that lsaac

Griffrn and Randle Craighead exaggerated when recalling, thirteen years later, the number of

times they spoke with Mr. Craighead while he worked at Sam's Club in 1997.

3
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Mr. Craighead did not ignore Judge Jones' unreasonable interpretation of this testimony;

instead he addressed it directly in his application for leave to appeal. See Application for Leave

to Appeal at 13-14. Mr. Craighead repeatedly emphasized the following uncontradicted

evidence: that Randle Craighead and Isaac Griffin were called from phones at the Farmington

Hills Sam's Club on the night of June 26-27, 1997, during the hours Chole Pruett was killed in

Detroit and his truck was burned in Redford Township; and that, while they could not

specifically remember their conversations with Mr. Craighead that night thirteen years earlier,

Isaac Griffin and Randle Craighead knew no one besides Mr. Craighead who would have called

them from that store, much less anyone else who would have called them in the middle of the

night. See id.

Whether Isaac Griffin and Randle Craighead recalled with perfect accuracy how often

Mr. Craighead called them thirteen years earlier is both beside the point and understandable.

First, they were testifying thirteen years after the fact. It is not surprising that these two witnesses

may not have remembered, in 2010, exactly the number of times Mr. Craighead called them in

1997.

Second, Mr. Craighead may have called his brother and Mr. Griffin from phone lines not

reflected in the Sam's Club bills, or from cellular phones, or even at times when he was not

working at Sam's Club. Randle Craighead, for example, stated that Mr. Craighead called him

"two to three times a week" from his workplace, but never claimed that Mr. Craighead made all

of these calls from Sam's Club phones. Hr'g Tr 45 (June 30, 2010). Randle Craighead also

testified that his brother often called Randle's cellular phone from work, not just his landline.

Hr'g Tr 48 (June 30, 2010). Because Randle's cell phone would have had a different number, the

4
13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-9    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 8 of 13



portions of the Sam's Club phone bills showing calls to Randle Craighead's landline would not

represent every time Mr. Craighead called his brother while he was working.

The prosecution argues that that Judge Jones was correct to find that Isaac Griffin

exaggerated his testimony, arguing that "Isaac Griffin testified that defendant called him all the

time," yet "[t]he records only showed that he called Griffin once or twice." Prosecution brief at

12. This claim not only mischaracterizes Mr. Griffin's testimony, it is simply wrong. Though

Mr. Griffrn did testifu that he talked with Mr. Craighead "all the time," he clarified his testimony

immediately after by referring to Mr. Craighead's "many . . . uazy calls" in the middle of the

night because Mr. Craighead was "a little bored" during his late-night shift. Hr'g Tr 97 (June 30,

2010). [t is reasonable that the frequency ofout-of-the-ordinary events, such as late-night phone

calls, would be more pronounced in a person's memory than that of everyday events. And, the

prosecution's assertion that the bills show that "[Mr. Craighead] called Griffin once or twice" is

clearly contrary to the record. Mr. Griffin was called twice from Sam's Club on June 27, 1997,

alone-just two of the nine calls to Isaac Griffin reflected on the three Sam's Club phone bills

admiued into evidence.

It is undisputed that Mr. Craighead talked often with Mr. Griffin, a close friend, and his

brother Randle, and it was never claimed that Mr. Craighead only talked to his brother and friend

from Sam's Club phones or at times while he was working his shift. It is unfair to find these

witresses not credible solely because the phone bills reflect only a portion of the calls between

Mr. Craighead and his brother and friend thirteen years earlier.

In fact, the three Sam's Club Ameritech phone bills admitted during the July 14

evidentiary hearing plainly show that Mr. Craighead called his brother Randle and Isaac Griffin

from work on numerous occasions, a noteworthy fact considering the late hour of Mr.

5
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Craighead's usual shift and the fact that Sam's Club rules did not allow him to make personal

calls. See Hr'g Tr 42 (June 30, 2010). To be exact, Mr. Craighead called his brother and

friend from Sam's Club phones nineteen times between May 8 and July 19r 1997. At the

request of Mr. Craighead's counsel, the Michigan Innocence Clinic, the trial court admitted into

evidence the phone bill dated JuLy 25,1997, which contains records of four calls made to Isaac

Griffin and Randle Craighead on the night Chole Pruett was killed. Ev Hr'g Tr 4 (July 14,2010)

The prosecution then admitted the bills dated May 25, 1997, arrd June 25, 1997,that is, the bills

for the two months prior to the night in question. Id. at 10-12.

The three bills admitted into evidence show a substantial number of calls made to Mr.

Griffin's number (313)-393-9153) and Randle Craighead's number (313)-836-5230) from

Sam's Club phones during Mr. Craighead's regular, overnight shift, which he worked every

week Tuesday through Saturday.t Src Trial Tr 7-8 (June 24,2002).

'The bills show that Mr. Craighead made the following calls to his brother and friend
from May-July 1997:

(l) Thursday, May 8, l:51 a.m. to I. Griffin (May 25bill, Page 15, Line 4);
(2) Thursday, May 15,l:37 p.m. to I. Griffin (May 25 bill, Page 37,Line 16);
(3) Thursday, May 15, l:38 p.m. to R. Craighead (May 25bill,Page37, Line l7);
(4) Thursday, June 5,12:34 a.m. to R. Craighead (June 25bill, Page 14, Line 20);
(5) Sunday, June 8, l2:05 a.m. to I. Griffrn (June 25 bill, Page 44,Line22);
(6) Tuesday, June 17 , 4:03 p.m. to R. Craighead (June 25 bill, Page 18, Line 26);
(7) Tuesday, June 17,11:02p.m. to R. Craighead (June 25 bill, Page32,Line2);
(8) Tuesday, June 17, 7l:37 p.m. to R. Craighead (June 25 bill, Page 32, Line 4);
(9) Wednesday, June 18, 12:45 a.m. to I. Griffin (June 25 bill, Page 18, Line 37);
(10) Thursday, June 26,11:01 p.m. to R. Craighead (July 25 bill, Page 9, Line l0);
(11) Thursday, June 26, ll:02 p.m. to R. Craighead (July 25 bill, Page 9, Line 11);
(12) Friday, June 21, 12:19 a.m. to I. Griffrn (July 25 bill, Page 9,Line l2);
(13) Friday, June 27,2:27 a.m. to I. Griffin (July 25 bill, Page 2l,Line25);
(14) Monday, June 30,3:52 p.m. to R. Craighead (July 25 bill, Page 6, Line32);
(15) Monday, June 30, l1:27 p.m. to R. Craighead (July 25 bill, Page 10, Line 1);
(16) Friday, July 4, 1:18 a.m. to I. Griffin (July 25 bill, Page I l, Line 1);
(17) Thursday, July 10,3:24 a.m. to R. Craighead (July 25 bill, Page 39, Line 8);
(18) Friday, July 18, I l:01 p.m. to I. Griffrn (July 25 bill, Page 23, Line 55);
(19) Saturday, July 19, l:56 a.m. to I. Griffin (July 25 bill, Page 15, Line 16).

6
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Mr. Craighead testified that he regularly called Ike Griffin from Sam's Club. SeeHr'g

Tr 68-71 (June 30, 2010). He elaborated on what "regularly" meant-he testified that he

probably called Ike Griffin once or twice a month and his brother Randle one to three times a

month from Sam's Club. Id. As the phone records show, Mr. Craighead actually underestimated

the number of calls he made from work. The facts that Mr. Craighead's brother and friend

did not know with perfect accuracy the exact number of times Mr. Craighead called them

from work thirteen years earlier (when they would have no way of knowing whether Mr.

Craighead was calling using a work phone or his personal phone), their testimony that

these calls were regular and frequent is uncontested and entirely supported by the newly

discovered phone bills. The hard evidence presented in these phone records, rather than

undermining this testimony, actually bolsters it.

The bottom line from these phone bills is that they prove, beyond any doubt, that Mr.

Craighead was at work in Farmington Hills on the night of June 26-27,1997,that he called his

brother Randle Craighead and his friend Isaac Griffin, neither of whom knew anyone else at that

Sam's Club (much less, anyone else who would call them from there in the middle of the night),

and that Mr. Craighead therefore could not have killed Chole Pruett more than 20 miles away in

Detroit, nor burned Mr. Pruett's truck in Redford Township at the exact time he was calling Mr.

Griffin from Sam's Club.

III. The nrosecution erroneouslv claims that the calls placed to Isaac Griffin and
Randle Craiehead durine the davtime prove that calls were placed to these
individuals when Mr. Craiehead was not workins.

The prosecution seizes upon the handful of calls made to Isaac Griffin and Randle

Craighead from Sam's Club during daytime hours. Citing these calls, the prosecution broadly

contends, "'We now have evidence that calls were placed when [Mr. Craighead] was not

7
13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-9    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 11 of

13



working," suggesting that someone besides Mr. Craighead made these calls. See Prosecution

brief at 13. There is no evidence to support this theory.

First, neither Mr. Craighead nor any other witness ever testified at trial or the

evidentiary hearing that Mr. Craighead worked night shifts exclusively. It is common

knowledge that night shift workers are occasionally called upon to work day shifts and vice-

versa. It is also common knowledge that night shift workers are occasionally on the premises of

the workplace during the day (for example, to pick up a paycheck or attend a training meeting).

The existence of daytime calls does not change the critical fact that Mr. Craighead made calls

from Sam's Club on the night of Mr. Pruefi's killing. It simply is not the case, and Mr. Craighead

has never argued (as the prosecution insists), that "no other calls should have come out of Sam's

Club at any other time." Prosecution brief at 13.

Second, in construing the daytime calls as evidence that Mr. Craighead was not the caller

on the night of Mr. Pruett's death, the prosecution completely ignores the most logical inference

to be drawn from these records-that Mr. Craighead was the caller on each of these

occasions. It is uncontroverted that neither Isaac Griffin nor Randle Craighead knew anyone

else who worked at the Farmington Hills Sam's Club aside from Mr. Craighead. Two daytime

calls made in immediate succession on May 15,1997-to Mr. Griffrn at l:37 p.m., and then to

Randle Craighead one minute later--corroborate this inference, as it is nearly impossible that

any other person knew both of these witnesses and would call them back-to-back.

ry The nhone record evidence is not cumulative. and the nrosecution conceded
as much durine the evidentiarr hearins.

The prosecution contends that the phone records are cumulative to the evidence Mr.

Craighead presented at trial, because the records support the same alibi defense he presented

then. Prosecution brief at 15. As argued in his application, however, the records provide

8
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conclusive documentation that Mr. Craighead was at Sam's Club making phone calls at the time

of Mr. Pruett's murder, as he has always maintained, and no evidence of this nature was ever

presented to the ju.y. Application for leave to appeal at26-27. Indeed, the prosecution

conceded that the phone records are not cumulative during the evidentiary hearing:

I can say [the phone record isl not cumulative. I think it is
qualitatively different than the evidence that was presented at trial,
even though it was a defensive alibi, and even though it would
really supplement the defensive alibi . . . . But I do think it is
different. I cannot say it is cumulative.

Hr'g Tr 101 (July 14,2010) (argument of prosecutor) (emphasis added).

The prosecution's new position that the records are cumulative is unconvincing. See

Prosecution brief at 14-15. This Court should endorse the position that the prosecution

articulated at the evidentiary hearing: the phone records are certainly not cumulative.

Conclusion

For the reasons above and those set forth more fully in his application for leave to appeal,

Mr. Craighead respectfully asks this Court to reverse the trial court's denial of Mr. Craighead's

motion for relief from judgment, and order a new trial at which a jury may consider the phone

records as proof that Mr. Craighead could not have committed the killing of Chole Pruett.

Dated: June 14,2010 Respectfully Submitted,
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Court of Appeals, State of Michigan 

ORDER 

People ofM! v Mark T. Craighead 

Docket No. 301465 

LC No. 00-007900-FC 

William B. Murphy, C.J. 
Presiding Judge 

David H. Sawyer 

Joel P. Hoekstra 
Judges 

The motion for leave to file a reply to the answer is GRANTED and the reply filed on 
June 15, 2011, is accepted for filing. 

The Court orders that the delayed application for leave to appeal is DENIED for failure to 
meet the burden of establishing entitlement to relief under MCR 6.508(D). 

A true copy entered and certified by Larry S. Royster, Chief Clerk, on 

NOV 2 2 2011 
---

Date 
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Michigan Supreme Court 
Lansing, Michigan 

 
Robert P. Young, Jr., 

  Chief Justice 
 

Michael F. Cavanagh 
Marilyn Kelly 

Stephen J. Markman 
Diane M. Hathaway 

Mary Beth Kelly 
Brian K. Zahra, 

  Justices 
 

 
 

I, Corbin R. Davis, Clerk of the Michigan Supreme Court, certify that the 
foregoing is a true and complete copy of the order entered at the direction of the Court. 

 
                                                                                        _________________________________________ 

   Clerk 
 
 

October 5, 2012 
t0927 

Order  

  
 

October 5, 2012 
 
144415 
 
 
 
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 
 
v        SC:  144415 
        COA:  301465 

Wayne CC:  00-007900-FC 
MARK T. CRAIGHEAD, 

Defendant-Appellant.  
 
_________________________________________/ 
 
 On order of the Court, the application for leave to appeal the November 22, 2011 
order of the Court of Appeals is considered, and it is DENIED, because the defendant has 
failed to meet the burden of establishing entitlement to relief under MCR 6.508(D). 
 
 CAVANAGH, MARILYN KELLY, and HATHAWAY, JJ., would grant leave to appeal. 
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Michigan Supreme Court 
Lansing, Michigan 

 
Robert P. Young, Jr., 

  Chief Justice 
 

Michael F. Cavanagh 
Stephen J. Markman 

Mary Beth Kelly 
Brian K. Zahra 

Bridget M. McCormack, 
  Justices 

 

 
 

I, Corbin R. Davis, Clerk of the Michigan Supreme Court, certify that the 
foregoing is a true and complete copy of the order entered at the direction of the Court. 

 
                                                                                        _________________________________________ 

   Clerk 
 
 

January 25, 2013 
d0122 

Order  

  
 

January 25, 2013 
 
 
144415(38) 
 
 
 
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 
 
v        SC:  144415 
        COA:  301465 

Wayne CC:  00-007900-FC 
MARK T. CRAIGHEAD, 

Defendant-Appellant.  
 
_________________________________________/ 
 
 On order of the Court, the motion for reconsideration of this Court’s October 5, 
2012 order is considered, and it is DENIED, because it does not appear that the order was 
entered erroneously. 
 
 CAVANAGH, J., would grant reconsideration and, on reconsideration, would grant 
leave to appeal. 
 
 MCCORMACK, J., not participating because of her prior involvement in this case as 
counsel for a party. 
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Exhibit 6L - Hearing Transcript on Ricks 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 
 

IN RE:                  .    Case No.  2:13-53846-tjt 
                            .    Chapter 9 
CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN,  . 
                            . 
 Debtor.               . 
                   . 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 
 
 
 
 
 

TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING ON CITY OF DETROIT'S MOTION FOR ENTRY 

OF AN ORDER ENFORCING THE BAR DATE ORDER AND CONFIRMATION 

ORDER AGAINST DESMOND RICKS 

 
 
 
 
 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. TUCKER 
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE 

 
WEDNESDAY, MARCH 20, 2019 

DETROIT, MICHIGAN 
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APPEARANCES: 
 
For the Debtor:  Miller Canfield Paddock & 
       Stone, PLC 
   By:  Marc N. Swanson 
   150 West Jefferson Street 
   Suite 2500 
   Detroit, MI  48226 
   (313) 496-7591 
 
For Desmond Ricks: Fieger Law 
   By:  James J. Harrington, IV 
   19390 West 10 Mile Road 
   Southfield, MI  48075 
   (248) 355-555 
 
Court Recorder:  Jamie Laskaska 
   Clerk's Office 
   U.S.  Bankruptcy Court 
   211 West Fort Street 
   Detroit, MI  48226 
 
Transcription Service: Randel Raison 
   APLST, Inc. 
   6307 Amie Lane 
   Pearland, TX  77584 
   (713) 637-8864 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Proceedings recorded by electronic sound recording; 
transcript produced by transcription service. 
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(Time Noted:  1:34 p.m.) 
 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Please rise.  This Court is back 

in session. 

  You may be seated. 

  Court will call the matter of the City of Detroit, 

Michigan, case number 13-53846. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Good afternoon to each of 

you.  Would you enter your appearances for the record, 

please, starting with counsel for the City? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Marc Swanson 

on behalf of the City of Detroit. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  

James J. Harrington on behalf of the Plaintiffs Ricks. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Good afternoon again, 

everyone.  This is the hearing, as you know, on the City of 

Detroit's motion seeking relief against Desmond Ricks et al., 

motion for entry of an order enforcing the bar date order and 

confirmation order, et cetera. 

  I have reviewed the papers filed by the parties 

regarding this -- relating to this motion.  I have also done 

some review of the record of the U.S. District Court in the 

lawsuit that's pending over in District Court, which is 

referred to and discussed in the motion and related papers. 

   So, Mr. Swanson, let me hear from you first. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Good afternoon.  Plaintiff Desmond 
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Ricks is suing the City on account of a claim which arises 

from alleged unlawful events in 1992, and an alleged unlawful 

conviction in 1992.  The claims against the City are, in 

Plaintiff's own words, based on the City's alleged policies 

that were in effect, quote, "In and before March 5, 1992."  

Reading from paragraph 81 of the complaint. 

  The claim is further based on alleged unlawful and 

unconstitutional actions taken by the City's police officers 

in 1992.  It's undisputed that the alleged unlawful 

conviction was in 1992, the actions by the City's police 

officers were in 1992, and the City's alleged unlawful 

policies were those in place in 1992, and the City didn't 

file for bankruptcy until 2013, 21 years later.  Yet, 

Plaintiff claims that its claim is not barred by the City's 

bankruptcy case and didn't arise until 2017.   

  And why does Plaintiff make this assertion?  Well, 

Plaintiff asserts that the proper test for the Court to 

determine when the claim arose is the right to payment test.  

That is the leading argument on page 1 of the Plaintiff's 

objection to the City's motion. 

  As this Court knows, and as this Court has wrote 

about, that test holds that a bankruptcy claim does not 

accrue until the cause of action is ripe under non- 

bankruptcy law.  So under applicable federal law or 

applicable state law. 
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  This Court, however, rejected that test in an 

opinion that's cited in the City's reply filed on Friday.  

And instead of the right to payment test, the Court adopted 

the fair contemplation test. 

  And under that test, a claim is considered to have 

arisen pre-petition if the creditor could have ascertained 

through the exercise of reasonable due diligence that it had 

a claim at the time the petition is filed. 

  And as this Court wrote, this test allows the 

Court to examine all the circumstances surrounding a 

particular claim:  The Debtor's conduct, the parties' pre-

petition relationship, the parties' knowledge, the elements 

of the underlying claim, and use its best judgment to 

determine what is fair to the parties in context. 

  Now, attached as exhibit 17 to the City's reply 

was a very recent District Court decision in the case Sanford 

v. City of Detroit.  That case has many factual similarities 

to the case here today.  It's an alleged unlawful conviction 

case.  The alleged unlawful conviction occurred before the 

City filed for bankruptcy.  The conviction was not overturned 

until after the City exited from bankruptcy. 

  And the plaintiff in that case, Sanford, asserted 

that the City's alleged customs, policies, and practices, 

resulted in his unlawful conviction.  And that's the same 

type of claim that the Plaintiff here is making against the 
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City. 

  And Sanford advanced the exact same argument that 

the Plaintiff here is making to support its argument that the 

claim is not subject to the Plan.  And that's the argument 

that the pre-petition conviction was not overturned until 

after the City exited bankruptcy, and, thus, the cause of 

action was not ripe under non-bankruptcy law until after the 

City exited bankruptcy, and, thus, it was not subject to the 

City's Plan. 

  The Federal District Court rejected that argument, 

and stating that Mr. Sanford certainly contemplated the 

factual bases underlying the claims raised in his complaint 

since he attempted repeatedly to argue actual innocence 

before the State Court since at least 2008, insisting that 

his confessions were falsely obtained, concocted, and 

coerced. 

  Sanford correctly points out that he could not 

have sued the City until his convictions were set aside, 

which did not happen until after the bankruptcy. 

  But the courts that have considered the question 

uniformly have concluded that claims based on pre-petition 

malicious prosecutions were barred, notwithstanding that the 

Plaintiff could not file suit on his claims until his 

criminal conviction was overturned.  The case is on all fours 

with the facts here.   
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  And despite this Court's adoption of the fair 

contemplation -- 

  THE COURT:  There's actually an even more recent 

case from the District Court similar to this case and similar 

to Sanford, which maybe you're familiar with.  I happened to 

cross it recently.  It was decided March 6, 2019.  It's 

called Monson, M-O-N-S-O-N, versus City of Detroit, et al.  

It's 2019 Westlaw 1057306, 1057306. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Wow. 

  THE COURT:  A decision by Judge Michelson, very 

similar to Sanford, and same result as Sanford.  I happened 

to cross it when I was looking for something else.   

  And so there's two District Judges in two 

different cases, the District Court for this District, that 

have ruled the way you've described as characterized as 

Sanford and as you want the Court to rule in this matter. 

  And so I want to make both parties aware of that 

case, that Monson case.  Were you aware of that?  

  MR. SWANSON:  I had run across it, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, so those are two cases 

where the City defended an action brought against it in 

District Court and raised the argument that you're raising in 

this Court now on this motion in the District Court as a 

defense and let the District Court decide the issue. 

  Why didn't the City let the District Court -- or 
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why isn't the City leaving it to the District Court in this 

case, in the Ricks case, to decide the issues raised by this 

motion? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Your Honor, I apologize.  I don't 

have a great answer for you.  I was told by the City that 

this claim had been asserted in the District Court and to 

file a motion with you.  I never had any discussion about 

filing a motion in the -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, let me ask you this:  Do you 

know why the City waited until January 30, 2019, to file this 

motion in this Court when the case, the District Court case 

against it by the Ricks, the Ricks parties, was filed back in 

August 2017?  A year and a half or so, the City waited to 

seek relief from this Court.  Do you know why that is? 

  MR. SWANSON:  I don't know why that is. 

  THE COURT:  The City, I noticed in looking at the 

District Court record, the pending case, the Ricks case in 

the District Court, the City filed a motion for summary -- 

the City and all Defendants filed a motion for summary 

judgment in that case.  I'm sure you're familiar, as is your 

opposing counsel, with that.   

  And in that motion -- and that was that, that was 

filed on -- the City's motion was filed on February 6th, and 

it raised a whole bunch of arguments, but one of the 

arguments it raised was, the City of Detroit raised the same 
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argument that you're making in this current motion in its 

summary judgment motion filed in the District Court. 

  And I did see that, and I did see the response to 

that that was filed on March 6, 2019, by the Plaintiffs, the 

Ricks plaintiffs, to that motion. 

  Now, in that response, the Ricks Plaintiffs argue 

the fair contemplation test and they argue that they should 

prevail on that fair contemplation test.  They make their 

arguments there, and that's in a brief that they filed on 

March 6, 2019, docket number 99 in the District Court case, 

case number 17-12784. 

  So they made that argument about the fair 

contemplation test on March 6th.  And that, of course, was 

before your reply brief was filed in this case pointing out 

the fair contemplation test, so forth, on March 15. 

  So we've got this issue, or these issues, being 

raised simultaneously, essentially, in both cases, this 

bankruptcy case and the District Court case.  Why shouldn't I 

leave it to the District Court to decide this issue, as was 

done in the Monson case and in the Sanford case, as those 

Courts decided? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Well, Your Honor, this Court has, of 

course, jurisdiction over the Plan, can enforce the Plan, has 

jurisdiction over the bar date order, and the City's moving 

and asking for relief in this Court.  I don't -- I don't -- 
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  THE COURT:  Now, the District Court is aware that 

you are doing this, I see from the District Court papers.  I 

saw there was a motion for extension of time, and the 

District Court recently denied that motion. 

  And then in the course of that motion, and the 

papers filed in that motion, and the District Court's ruling 

on that motion, it's clear the District Court is aware the 

City is making this same argument in this case, in this 

bankruptcy case.  And just didn't really say that this Court 

shouldn't do that or, should or shouldn't do that, but just 

basically noted it. 

  So it's just, you know, perhaps the City had a 

deadline, I assume they had a deadline to file any summary 

judgment motion in the Ricks case in District Court that they 

had to meet, and I can understand that. 

  And when you file a motion for summary judgment, 

you want to put in all your arguments.  But by the time the 

City filed its summary judgment motion in the District Court 

case, you had already made the motion in this case. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.  And I checked before I came 

here today.  I believe the deadline for the City to file its 

summary judgment motion in the District Court case was 

February 6th, and I believe that it filed its motion -- 

  THE COURT:  And you filed it on the deadline?  

  MR. SWANSON:  Not me. 
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  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.  

  THE COURT:  Right.  The City Law Department.  

  MR. SWANSON:  City Law Department filed it on 

February 6th.  And I saw that motion.  I saw -- I did check 

the docket last week.  I saw that it had not been ruled on by 

the District Court.  I wasn't aware that the City -- 

  THE COURT:  It looks like there's a deadline -- 

the briefing isn't done yet.  I think there's a deadline of 

March 27th for reply briefs to be filed in connection with 

those motions -- 

  MR. SWANSON:  Sure.  

  THE COURT:  -- in the District Court.  So it will 

be sometime after that, presumably, before the District Court 

makes any ruling on those motions. 

  But you want this court to go ahead and rule, 

presumably, now, today, on your motion, and in your favor, as 

a means, in your view, of what would shortcut and make 

necessary the District Court ruling on this issue in the 

District Court case. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Are there other cases like this 

floating around out there in District Court where this same 

issue is at play?  

  MR. SWANSON:  Not that I'm aware of. 
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  THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, so perhaps you saw and 

reviewed the summary judgment brief filed by the Ricks 

Plaintiffs in the District Court.  That is the brief in which 

they filed on March 6th in which they argued fair 

contemplation.  That is that Ricks' claim was not within his 

fair contemplation at the time the bankruptcy petition was 

filed in the City's bankruptcy case.  Did you read that 

brief? 

  MR. SWANSON:  I may have glanced at it, but I 

don't -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. SWANSON:  I did not look at it in any detail. 

  THE COURT:  Well, it's only a couple -- 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.  

  THE COURT:  It's a couple pages long. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.   

  THE COURT:  But we'll hear, presumably, the same 

kind of arguments, the same arguments, and maybe other 

arguments, here from Mr. Harrington on that subject. 

  But, you know, in your opening motion and in the 

response filed by the Ricks Plaintiffs to your motion, nobody 

argues anything about the fair contemplation test.  Nobody 

says a word about it.  It only gets discussed, you know, 

application of it and what the test means and requires and 

everything else, in your reply, right?  In this case. 
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  MR. SWANSON:  That's true. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So my only clue at the moment 

about what the Ricks Plaintiffs are going to argue about fair 

contemplation is in what they filed in the District Court 

case that I've just alluded to. 

  So I did read your reply brief, of course, and I 

looked at the exhibits you attached to that in support of 

your argument that Mr. Ricks was claiming innocence and 

claiming all the facts that he needed to know as claims of 

innocence and wrongful imprisonment and everything else long 

before the City filed its bankruptcy petition in 2013.  I did 

review those exhibits.   

  Do you want to say anything about those things or 

that subject further before we hear from Mr. Harrington? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes, Your Honor.  I'd like to go 

through the exhibits, because I think they certainly go to 

Mr. Ricks fairly contemplating that he had a claim against 

the City prior to the City's bankruptcy filing.   

  The first exhibit here is a deposition transcript 

from Mr. Ricks on May 21, 2018.  The portions that were 

excerpted from the deposition, however, talk about events in 

Mr. Ricks' own words which occurred in 2009.  So Mr. Ricks 

describes in 2009 that he saw -- this is in Exhibit 1.  He 

saw an ad in the Bar Journal with the name of the expert 

witness he used on the ballistic issue in 2009.  A gentleman 
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by the name of David G. Townsend.  And the ad is at Page 32 

of 108 at Docket 13021. 

  And Mr. Ricks describes in 2009 his efforts to 

contact Mr. Townsend because he believed that he had been 

wrongfully convicted and he believed that the ballistics test 

was a factor in that wrongful conviction. 

  The next exhibit, Your Honor, is a letter from the 

state appellate defender officer dated August 6th, 2009.  And 

they write to Mr. Ricks -- 

  THE COURT:  That's exhibit 2, right? 

  MR. SWANSON:  That's exhibit 2. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. SWANSON:  I write in response to your letters 

regarding the Detroit Crime Lab.  The State Appellate 

Defender Office is undertaking a complete review of our Wayne 

County clients to determine whether tainted evidence from the 

Detroit Crime Lab resulted in your -- resulted in conviction. 

  Again, it would certainly appear here Mr. Ricks 

had made a claim to the State Appellate Defender Officer -- 

Office that a tainted crime lab played a -- played a role in 

his conviction. 

  Exhibit number 3, Your Honor, is another letter 

dated February 11, 2010 from the same sender, the State 

Appellate Defender Office, which writes to Mr. Ricks:  "You 

have expressed interest in having our office review your case 
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for potential Detroit Crime Lab issues."  Again, Mr. Ricks is 

asserting that some malfeasance with the Detroit Crime Lab 

resulted in his conviction. 

  Exhibit 4, Your Honor, dovetails with Exhibit 1.  

This is a letter from David Townsend, the expert Mr. Ricks 

used in his 1992 trial and ultimate conviction, writing to 

Mr. Ricks that he was going to the prison to try to visit Mr. 

Ricks but couldn't get there.   

  Exhibit 5, Your Honor, is a email dated June 22, 

2011 and June 23, 2011.  The bottom email is from a lady 

named Claudia Whitman, and Ms. Whitman was a investigator who 

was working on Mr. Ricks' behalf.  Her official title, I 

believe, is Director of National Capital Crime Assistance 

Network, and she is writing here to a U.S. attorney about 

contacting the University of Michigan Innocence Clinic to 

work on Mr. Ricks' claim.  And this is in 2011.   

  Exhibit 6 is correspondence between the lady, Ms. 

Whitman, that I just identified, and another man named 

Roberto Guzman, who is a Senior Legal Assistant at the 

People's Task Force to Free the Wrongfully Convicted, again 

another individual that was working on Mr. Ricks' case, 

talking about sending him, to Mr. Ricks, a letter regarding 

some ballistic testing to the prison where Mr. Ricks was 

incarcerated and that material not getting through to Mr. 

Ricks. 
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  Exhibit 7, again, some correspondence between Mr. 

Guzman, the assistant at the People Task Force to Free the 

Wrongfully Convicted, and Claudia Whitman, the investigator, 

discussing efforts to contact some of the original agents who 

made Mr. Ricks' arrest in 1992.   

  Exhibit 8 is a letter dated February 1, 2012, from 

Mr. Ricks to the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearm.  He 

states quite clearly in the second paragraph on Page 1:  "I 

have been incarcerated for the past 20 years for a crime that 

I did not commit, but recently, I've been blessed to have the 

assistance of Ms. Claudia Whitman.  She is the Director of 

NDRAN of Cure ND -- NDRAN of Cure, which is a national 

organization that reaches out to aid and assist the 

wrongfully convicted." 

  And this is a letter where he essentially requests 

that the Bureau provide him with access to the agents that 

arrested him. 

  Page 2 of that letter also talks about Mr. Ricks, 

in the middle there, having an affidavit from the independent 

firearms examiner, David G. Townsend, the individual 

identified in exhibit 1 and exhibit 4, in which he says that 

the two slugs that he was given to test did not have any 

blood or other trace evidence. 

  At the end of the letter he has a PS there which 

says:  "I wrote to the United States Attorney, Barbara L. 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-12    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 17 of
83



 17 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

McQuaid, and she directed me to you." 

  Exhibit 9 is that letter to Ms. McQuaid, or is one 

of the letters to Ms. McQuaid, and this is written, again, 

June 13th, 2012, a year before the City filed for bankruptcy, 

written by David Moran, who I believe was a lawyer at the 

Michigan Innocence Clinic, and Sally Larson, a student 

attorney at the University of Michigan Innocence Clinic.  So 

at that time Mr. Ricks had the University of Michigan 

Innocence Clinic working on his behalf trying to overturn his 

alleged unlawful conviction. 

  Exhibit 10 -- 

  THE COURT:  This letter says in the first 

paragraph:  "We do not represent Mr. Ricks," -- 

  MR. SWANSON:  Oh.  Right. 

  THE COURT:  -- "but are investigating his claims 

of innocence," et cetera.  So I'm not sure what that means 

exactly, if they were investigating claims of innocence of 

Mr. Ricks on his behalf.  I don't know why they said they 

weren't representing him, but they were investigating his 

claim. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. SWANSON:  And I think the complaint makes a 

reference to the Michigan Innocent Clinic playing a critical 

role in his, in his -- in overturning his conviction. 
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  So to the extent they were representing him, they 

were certainly working on his behalf, to the extent there is 

a difference, I suppose.   

  Exhibit 10 is a letter from the Michigan Innocence 

Clinic.  This is six days after they wrote to Ms. McQuaid, 

June 19, 2012, and this is to the City of Detroit Law 

Department FOIA coordinator requesting, you know, it's a FOIA 

request for information related to the homicide that he was 

convicted of. 

  Exhibit 11, more emails between Sally Larson, who 

was the student attorney who signed the letter to Ms.  

McQuaid on behalf of the Michigan Innocence Clinic, to 

Claudia Whitman, the investigator.  And in this letter the 

parties are discussing the possibility of rerunning 

ballistics from the 1992 conviction. 

  Exhibit 12, I believe, is similar. 

  Exhibit 13, another letter dated September 24, 

2012, again, from Mr. Ricks to Ms. Larson, the student 

attorney at the University of Michigan Law School and 

Michigan Innocence Clinic, talking about new case law which I 

believe Mr. Ricks asserts could or would help in overturning 

his unlawful conviction. 

  Exhibit 14, these are emails between the Michigan 

Innocence Clinic, again Ms. Sally Larson and Ms. Claudia 

Whitman, regarding their notes on discussion of, you know, 
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ballistics experts. 

  Exhibit 15 -- 

  THE COURT:  I noticed that exhibit 14 has as part 

of it a copy of notes that Ms. Larson made of the phone 

conversation that she had with David Townsend on October 2, 

2012, where they're talking about the ballistics evidence and 

problems with it, and so forth.   

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah, in the Detroit Crime Lab. 

  THE COURT:  Go ahead. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Thank you.   

  Exhibit 15, is another set of emails between the 

Michigan Innocence Clinic and Claudia Whitman, again talking 

about ballistics and the bullets and, you know, that same 

subject matter. 

  Exhibit 16 is a letter from Mr. Ricks dated 

December 12, 2012, where one of the alleged witnesses in the 

Plaintiff's complaint, named in the Plaintiff's complaint, 

Ms. Strong, where he's writing to her, again discussing the 

case and potential misidentification of him by Ms. Strong. 

  And so -- and this is -- this is -- there's more 

that's similar to this.  We only attached -- 

  THE COURT:  I noticed in that letter, exhibit 16, 

the letter from Mr. Ricks to Ms. Strong, he does complain 

about the police, and he refers to what the police did to me, 

and he's angry and frustrated about what the police did to 
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me.  And he says -- he talks about the Detroit Crime Lab was 

closed down in 2008 for doing bad testing on evidence, such 

as guns and bullets.  I'm hoping that they will retest the 

evidence in my case, and so forth. 

  The next -- the last page of his letter he says:  

"The police have been running wild in Detroit doing all sorts 

of corrupt and unethical things to lock people up.  Whether 

innocent or not, they don't care."  That's the last page of 

the exhibit 16 letter to Mr. Ricks to Ms. Strong.   

  Anyway, go on. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Well, Your Honor, I believe going 

through those 16 exhibits we have conclusive evidence that 

the claims Mr. Ricks is asserting in his complaint against 

the City were within his fair contemplation well before the 

City filed for bankruptcy. 

  When this Court applies the fair contemplation 

contest it looks at a number of things: 

  The debtor's conduct.  The debtor's conduct here 

all occurred in 1992. 

  The relationship between the parties is another 

factor that the Court looks at.  The relationship between the 

parties all occurred in 1992.   

  The Court also looks at the parties' knowledge.  

Well, here, Mr. Ricks, he's demonstrated that he knew of this 

potential claim probably from the minute that he alleges he 
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was unlawfully arrested, and certainly well before the City's 

bankruptcy case, because the Michigan Innocence Clinic was 

investigating this on his behalf.  He was contacting experts.  

He was contacting witnesses.  All the while professing his 

innocence and professing that issues with the Detroit Police 

Department and Detroit Crime Lab led to his unlawful 

conviction. 

  And, Your Honor, these are the same claims and 

facts that formed the basis for Mr. Ricks' complaint against 

the City of Detroit.  And sure, Your Honor, all of the 

factors --  

  Oh, I guess, finally, this is a Monell claim that 

the Plaintiff here is asserting against the City of Detroit, 

and Monell holds municipalities may be held liable for the 

constitutional violations of their employees only where the 

municipality's policy or custom led to the violation, and 

there can be no liability under Monell without an underlying 

constitutional violation. 

  All of the constitutional violations that Mr. 

Ricks is complaining about occurred in 1992, 21 years before 

the City filed for bankruptcy. 

  And as exhibits 1 to 16 demonstrate, Mr. Ricks 

knew of the factual bases, or at least was asserting the 

factual bases for these alleged constitutional violations 

well before the City filed for bankruptcy. 
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  In short, Your Honor, all of the factors 

considered under the fair contemplation test demonstrate that 

the claims that were asserted by Ricks against the City arose 

no later than 1992, and, thus, were subject to the discharge 

in the City's Plan and the bar date order. 

  The City would thus respectfully request that this 

Court enter an order dismissing the City of Detroit with 

prejudice from the Federal District Court lawsuit asking the 

Plaintiff -- requiring the Plaintiff to dismiss the City of 

Detroit with prejudice from the lawsuit. 

  THE COURT:  With respect to the Monell, what you 

characterize as the Monell claims, the claims against the 

City that are asserted in the U.S. District Court complaint, 

first amended complaint, I know accrual -- the accrual test 

is not the test here, and I understand that.  I've written 

about that, as you know, in the published opinion that you 

cite in your brief. 

  But in terms of when a claim, a Monell claim 

accrues in this kind of situation, is it correct to say that 

in the case of someone wrongfully imprisoned, wrongfully 

convicted, wrongfully imprisoned, because of violations of 

that person's constitutional rights by police is the sort of 

the theory that's alleged here, and then seeking liability 

against the municipality because of its policies and 

practices and so forth, does that claim only accrue when 
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there has been a reversal, vacation, dismissal of the 

charges, conviction against the claimant?  I'm talking about 

accrual here not -- accrual under non-bankruptcy law, not 

when it arises for purposes of it being a bankruptcy claim.  

Is that the case? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Your Honor, I have not researched 

that.  I know that in the opinion that we cited, the Sanford 

opinion, the District Court there, I believe, said that 

Sanford correctly points out that he could not have sued the 

City until his convictions were set aside, which did not 

happen until after bankruptcy. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  I see.  So that's the 

answer that the Court in the Sanford case gives to that. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.  And I have nothing to add to 

that to support it or deny it.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else you'd like 

to say? 

  MR. SWANSON:  No, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.   

  Mr. Harrington? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor.  Thank you.   

  If I may speak briefly on the accrual as you were 

asking in the non-bankruptcy setting? 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor, you are correct 
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in the sense that the claim has not accrued until the 

conviction has been set aside. 

  I mean, think about the practical ramifications if 

say somebody like Mr. Ricks was to have filed his 1983 Monell 

claim in 1990, 1995, the first thing that's going to be met 

with is a simple 12(b)(6) motion.  I mean, there's -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, you cite the Heck case -- 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes, we do. 

  THE COURT:  -- in your response to the City's 

motion in this case.  Is it the Heck case, that Supreme Court 

case, that stands for this proposition that a Monell type 

claim in this kind of a situation, wrongful imprisonment, 

wrongful conviction, does not arise until the conviction is 

set aside? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  That is accurate, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  It is.  Okay. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Now -- 

  THE COURT:  It doesn't sound like the City 

disputes that, really, so.  All right.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I don't think they do, because 

it's -- I think you're just getting a little bit of context 

because this is bankruptcy and that's -- what we're talking 

about is non-bankruptcy with the accrual of the claim. 

  But it kind of dovetails and tailors into what 

we're talking about here with the fair contemplation, because 
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as counsel was walking through all of these exhibits talking 

about what Mr. Ricks was doing in contacting and really 

professing his innocence, all he's doing is trying to build a 

case. 

  And I think that is a distinction, that he's 

trying to build a case, as opposed to being able, really, to 

file a case.  And what was to happen if he files a proof of 

claim without this determination that it was a wrongful 

conviction?  The policy implications are very, very 

interesting. 

  What is he really supposed to do?  He files this 

claim, and he could face possible sanctions because he 

doesn't have a claim.  He doesn't have a case until it's been 

set aside. 

  I mean, if we were to go through and take a vote 

on everybody in prison who believes that they were wrongfully 

convicted, I think we'd see a pretty strong showing of hands. 

  And I don't think the policy and the underlying 

intent of all of this is to put that type of a burden on all 

of these inmates to say, hey, if you think you've got a, you 

know, possible claim, although you might get sanctioned for 

filing a frivolous either lawsuit or notice of claim, you 

better -- you better do it.  And I don't think that's the 

intent.  So I think -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, Mr. Ricks had filed a proof of 
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claim in the City's bankruptcy case by the bar date, which I 

think was February 13, 2014, or thereabouts.  If he had done 

that, and, of course, that was a time when his conviction had 

not yet been set aside.  That happened in 2017, it seems 

undisputed in this case.  But it hadn't happened yet.  He was 

still trying to get it -- get relief, get it set aside, get 

freed, but he hadn't been yet. 

  So if he had filed a proof of claim then, it seems 

to me in terms of that sort of bankruptcy world it would be 

deemed a contingent claim.  That is, it's a claim that's 

contingent upon obtaining -- setting aside of the conviction, 

which had not happened yet. 

  And if that contingency doesn't come to pass, then 

he would -- the City would never -- could never possibly owe 

him a debt on a Monell-type claim. 

  But if it did come to pass later, at a later date, 

the City might.  Or at least his claim wouldn't be subject to 

dismissal, in effect, or rejection on the ground of Heck, 

that it hadn't accrued yet.   

  In bankruptcy when a contingent claim is filed it 

doesn't necessarily get disallowed just because it's a 

contingent claim, but there is a provision in the Bankruptcy 

Code for estimating contingent claims under certain 

circumstances where you don't know if the contingency will 

happen, or not yet. 
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  And so there's a process for estimating for 

purposes of claims allowance in the bankruptcy case. 

  So it's not enough when somebody files a 

contingent claim like that, in this scenario I'm -- the 

hypothetical scenario I'm describing, the City, it's not 

enough for the City to have objected to that just on saying 

it's contingent, the conviction hasn't been set aside yet, so 

there's no claim accrued, so we owe them nothing. 

  It's not enough, because if the contingency occurs 

later, that argument goes out the window.  So the claim, the 

contingent claim has to be estimated.  That's the idea there.  

Okay. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Understood.  And I don't -- 

  THE COURT:  So it's not -- it's not just that the 

claim would have been rejected out of hand in the bankruptcy 

case only because it was then contingent.  You see what I'm 

suggesting? 

   MR. HARRINGTON:  In concept, yes.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  But I don't think that applies 

here.  And how tenuous of a claim, or as you would maybe say, 

how tenuous of a contingency would be allowed, would be okay, 

would not be sanctionable or deemed to be a frivolous filing 

with the Court.  I mean, I mean, how far -- 

  THE COURT:  That's part of what bankruptcy courts 
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have to figure out when they are doing this type of claims 

estimation process on a contingent claim that I've -- or on 

an unmatured or contingent, either one, claim that I've been 

describing to you. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Right.   

  THE COURT:  It's not necessarily an easy thing to 

do. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  And that's what I'm -- 

  THE COURT:  It's not a -- there's no science to 

that.  It's not a scientific precision. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Well, and that's what I'm getting 

at.  Because what would have to happen is would be literally 

a whole almost a trial within a trial on the evaluation of 

Mr. -- the viability of his claim, and so we would literally 

have a trial within a trial to determine how viable this is. 

  Because if that was the case, and if everybody who 

is currently incarcerated at the hands of the Detroit Police 

Department for, let's just say, you know, gross mishandling 

of evidence -- and I'm not -- I'm not casting stones, I'm 

just saying let's just assume that for this discussion.  How 

many people would have to come forward and literally try 

their case to say, Your Honor, look at my contingencies, if 

this, and this, and then this, this, this, and this actually 

come to fruition, then I'm going to have a great case. 

  And so where are we with that?  What is -- and 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-12    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 29 of
83



 29 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

that's why I think when this Court, this Bankruptcy Court, 

today, can look at all of the circumstances surrounding, and 

I think with this imprisonment case it presents a bit of a 

different picture, because without -- no matter what Mr. 

Ricks thinks, no matter what he knows, no matter what he 

says, what he researches, if he doesn't have the exoneration, 

there is no claim.  So I guess the question really for the 

Court is, is how tenuous, I mean, how many times are 

convictions really turned over? 

  So my position to the Court is, is that if you are 

even looking at this, which I would ask you -- what I would 

suggest that it doesn't apply, but if you're looking at this 

as to the contingencies by as far removed in the, really, the 

likelihood of him actually getting a conviction overturned 

for somebody who has spent over 20-some years in prison, it 

almost never happens. 

  So you're talking about, really, the Hail Mary of 

all Hail Mary's happening and that's the contingency that 

the, that the City wants you to, if you're going to apply 

this contingency-type of analysis, they would look at this as 

like a cover the eyes, and we're almost in March madness, 

cover the eyes, inbound pass, without looking over the 

shoulder and it's the swish and we win by one at the buzzer, 

and --  

  THE COURT:  You know, though, really, what you're 
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arguing sounds like an argument in substance.  An argument 

against the fair contemplation test, rather than an argument 

that says courts, Bankruptcy Courts should use the accrual 

test, and the case law has rejected that.  I have rejected 

that. 

  Many bankruptcy cases have rejected that accrual 

test as inconsistent with Congressional intent in the very 

broad definition of claim that's in the Bankruptcy Code.  And 

you know that, because you've read -- you've read my opinion 

in the City of Detroit case, I assume, that's cited. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And you've read the Sanford case, I 

assume? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes.   

  THE COURT:  And have you read the Monson case? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I have not. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I will. 

  THE COURT:  It's very similar to Sanford. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  And I would love it if the Court 

did apply the accrual test, because then this would be 

extremely easy. 

  But under the reasonable contemplation, or the -- 

I'm sorry, the fair contemplation test, as we look at it to 

the Ricks case, I think creates a situation where how can he 
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reasonably contemplate that he has a claim?  Even in his 

mind, he knows what he did.  He knows what he didn't do. 

  But, in order to get -- I mean, the mountains that 

have to be moved for that to happen is really, I mean, there 

is his subjective belief and then there is a reasonable 

belief, and if we look at this, how could he -- we know that 

he got out and he was exonerated.  But as we sit here 

evaluating it before it could happen, how could we reasonably 

believe, in light of all of the evidence, in light of what we 

know, in light of 20-some years having been in prison, how 

could we reasonably believe that he has a cause of action? 

  And so I guess even when you apply the fair 

contemplation test, I believe that under the authority -- and 

I appreciate the -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, what about -- in relating to 

that question, what about what David Townsend was saying, as 

of October 2, 2012, in his phone call with Sally Larson of 

the Michigan Innocence Project, about the ballistics tests 

and the ballistics evidence in Mr. Ricks' case? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yeah.  

  THE COURT:  That's exhibit 14 -- 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  No, I -- 

  THE COURT:  -- to the City's reply brief.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  No, I understand. 

  THE COURT:  You've seen it. 
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  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes.  I know.  Where he's talking 

about how, I think it was about the soft lead and talking -- 

correct me if I'm wrong.  Right?  Where he's talking about 

the soft lead, he would expect to have seen more damage to 

the, to the bullet.  He's just providing evidence in support 

of that. 

  And look, I don't disagree that that evidence 

brings it closer to whether or not he has a claim, but 

there's still an incredible hurdle that has to be overcome to 

get the conviction over -- 

  THE COURT:  Is it fair to say that at least as 

early as the time frame 2009 through 2012, time frame of 

these exhibits that are attached to the City's reply, that 

Mr. Ricks and his ballistics consultant, Mr. Townsend, and 

the people at the Michigan Innocence Clinic, Project Clinic 

that we're investigating this case for Mr. Ricks, with him, 

all had reasons to believe that the ballistics evidence in 

this case was simply wrong and bad evidence, and upon 

retesting would lead to, it would lead to setting aside the 

conviction? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Okay.  If I can break -- 

  THE COURT:  Now, that last part is a little 

trickier than the first part of my question. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Right.  Because the last part of 

your question -- 
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  THE COURT:  You got to find the bullets. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Well -- 

  THE COURT:  The real bullets you got to find. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Right.  But the last part of what 

you just said is to overturn the conviction which presumes 

that you can anticipate, number one, what a judge is going to 

do, what an appellate court is going to do, and what the 

highest court would do.  So that presumes quite a bit. 

  And one thing that my father taught me, who is an 

attorney, is you never presume ever, ever, ever what a judge 

is going to do.  So I think all that he can really assume is 

that he is building and trying to build a case.   

  I mean, it's clear, there's no doubt he's trying 

to, one, he's trying -- not trying to build a case, trying to 

get out of prison for a crime he never committed. 

  But number two, he's trying to build evidence to 

do just that.  But to make -- to have that evidence and to 

take that leap to say that he knows, reasonably knows, that a 

judge is going to side with him I think is way too far 

tenuous and it comes back to the Hail Mary and it doesn't 

fall within the fair contemplation because it is so tenuous.  

Because it would require -- 

  THE COURT:  In your view, when did it become not 

so tenuous?  When in time? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  When he was -- 
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  THE COURT:  What event and when did it happen that 

it became not so tenuous?  We know in 2017 there came a time 

when the conviction was vacated, I presume, or charges were 

dismissed.  It was over.  He was freed.  But at some point 

before that event it must have become apparent that he had a 

strong case for vindication. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I will say this, and I know 

you're going to say, Mr. Harrington, now you're arguing 

accrual, but this is a rare circumstance where I believe the 

roads have merged, and I believe that at the time that that 

reversal of the conviction came down, was inked at that time, 

and maybe even I would go so far as to say after all 

appellate remedies have been expired, at that point in time 

would be the time when we would apply his contemplation of 

the claim. 

  Going through the fair contemplation analysis, I 

think we get to the same location that you do under the 

accrual, because otherwise to apply to, to -- because really 

what it requires is, is it requires Mr. Ricks to have a 

reasonable belief that the judge is going to set aside the 

conviction.  And I don't know a person in this world that 

could ever reach that conclusion.  It's just not possible. 

  And also, I'm not trying to go backwards or 

sideways on anything.  You know, or position obviously is 

that we would ask that you deny the City's motion, or 
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alternatively abstain and have this heard by the District 

Court, as one of the other cases have, and plus that this 

case -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, wait a minute.  You're saying if 

I'm not inclined to -- if I'm not going to rule for you, I 

should -- I should not rule and let the District Court 

decide.  But otherwise, you want me to decide. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Judge, I'm just being an 

advocate. 

  THE COURT:  I mean, you can't do that.  You can't 

argue that.  You want this Court to decide this, or don't 

you? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I want you to decide this, Your 

Honor. 

  THE COURT:  All right.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I think I'm right on the 

position.  

  THE COURT:  But you want this Court to decide it.  

You don't want me to abstain. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  No, Judge, I want you to decide 

it. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  All right. 

  Well, so when -- the conviction was vacated, I 

guess.  Is that the right term? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yeah.  Yeah.  It was over -- 
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yeah.  Overturned. 

  THE COURT:  What's the correct terminology of what 

happened?  Some circuit judge, some Michigan circuit judge 

vacated the conviction?   What was it? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  For lack of a better term, I'm 

just, I'm going to go with the -- 

  THE COURT:  Maybe it's in your first amended 

complaint.  But what happened exactly? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  May I have just one second, Your 

Honor? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  Uh-huh.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Because I don't believe that I --

  THE COURT:  I'm looking at paragraph 78 of your 

first amended complaint.  It's exhibit 6 to the City's motion 

in this case, docket 13,000. 

  Well, it says when he was released.  Paragraph 78 

says the day he was released from prison.  Paragraph 79 says 

June 1, 2017, charges were dismissed by the Wayne County 

Prosecutor's Office.  Maybe it doesn't say when the 

conviction was actually vacated, or what.  Or is it in there 

somewhere? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I'm looking, as well, Your Honor. 

I apologize for not having it in my --  

  THE COURT:  I thought I saw somewhere, maybe I'm 

thinking of a different case, but where some state court 
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vacated the conviction, ordered a new trial, did something. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Just a moment, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  Uh-huh. 

 (Pause) 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  What I do have, Your Honor, is 

there is exhibit 4.  It looks like it was exhibit 4 to the 

City of Detroit's motion dated June 1st, 2017, of a 

motion/order of nolo -- I apologize for lack of 

pronunciation, but nolle p-r-o-s-e-q-u-i, meaning that 

they're not going to prosecute, and the case was dismissed 

without prejudice.  And I think for -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Hold on one second.  I'm 

looking at the City's exhibit 4, it's docket 13,000 in this 

case.  Hold on. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I'm sorry, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  It's docket number 13,000 in this 

case.  The motion, City motion, I'm looking at it.  It's 

exhibit 4 you've just cited me to, right?   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  It looks like -- I apologize.  It 

looks like it's exhibit -- if you look at exhibit 6, it's the 

amended complaint, and it's exhibit 4 to the amended 

complaint. 

  THE COURT:  Oh, I see.  Yeah.  All right.  I think 

I'm there.  Hold on.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  And that looks like the order. 
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  THE COURT:  Okay.  It's State of Michigan, Third 

Judicial Circuit, Wayne County, motion/order of nolle 

prosequi, and there is a motion, I presume, by the 

Prosecutor's Office, and an order granting that motion, 

saying the motion is granted and the case is dismissed 

without prejudice, June 1, 2017, signed by the judge.  That's 

what you're talking about, right? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So that would be when the, 

basically when the City moved to dismiss the case and -- 

criminal case, and the judge granted it. 

  At some point before that date was there -- 

there's a conviction, a judgment of conviction and sentence 

on the books before -- it must have been, something must have 

been done with it before there could be a dismissal of the 

case.  I mean, I'm just assuming, I'm guessing that that's 

got to be true.  Was there some order that preceded this June 

1, 2017 order that vacated the conviction, for example?  Do 

you know? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I don't know.  At the -- I could, 

I'd be happy to give you more procedural history on 

supplemental briefing and I could limit it to two pages.   

  THE COURT:  Well, I'm kind of working my way 

backwards a little bit in time chronologically.  And what I'm 

trying to get to is, part of what I'm trying to get to is, at 
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some point -- assuming there was an order at some point in, 

let's say in some time in 2017, before June 1, vacating the 

conviction ordering a new trial, doing something that took 

the conviction off the books and restored the case as a 

pending criminal case that had to be dealt with, there must 

have been a motion, a briefing, some sort of presentation to 

the Court, even if it was just a stipulation between Mr. 

Ricks and the Prosecutor's Office, something that triggered 

that action by the Court. 

  And I'm asking, you know, what was that, and when 

was that filed?  And in sort of working backwards it's, you 

know, at some point, at least potentially, at some point 

before there was actually an order vacating the conviction, 

there must have been a reasonable anticipation by Mr. Ricks 

or his attorneys that the conviction would be vacated. 

   MR. HARRINGTON:  Can I make a comment?  

  THE COURT:  And the question is:  When did that 

happen? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Let me make a comment.    

  Hypothetically, if there was some type of motion 

for a new trial, based on either newly discovered evidence or 

something of that kind, and let's say the judge granted -- 

and I'm, and I'm -- literally, Judge, I'm just speaking out 

of -- off the cuff.  If there was some type of motion for a 

new trial, and say the judge granted it, I think you're 
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asking me, Mr. Harrington, okay, I see this order where 

they're saying they're not going to prosecute anymore, but we 

do know that there was a conviction, so we have this window 

of time. 

  What happened in that window to get us to this 

order that says no conviction?  Was there a motion for new a 

trial that was granted by the judge?  Was there some, as you 

say, stipulation? 

  And as I stand here today, Your Honor, I don't 

have the answers to that.  I could have those answers to you 

on extremely short order.  I can limit it to one to two pages 

of just bullet point dates with the appropriate exhibits for 

you to examine.  I just don't have those at my fingertips 

now, and I -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, the record in -- strictly 

speaking, the record in this bankruptcy case, I think, does 

not show when there was this new testing of bullets, which I 

thought I remembered that there was new testing of bullets, 

that showed that the bullets, the actual bullets that were 

recovered from the deceased victim's body were not a match to 

the gun that was connected to Mr. Ricks through his mother. 

  But there may be something about that in the 

District Court record, which, of course, has -- you know, the 

motion for summary, the cross motions for summary judgment 

have a million exhibits.  There's tons of stuff in there, and 
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I didn't go and look through all that.  But do you know that? 

Was there new testing that basically triggered this relief 

from the conviction? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Well, I know that -- yes, I know 

that there is testing from David Ballish, who is a retained 

expert.  I know there is -- here's what I don't know, and I 

know you want answers to this and I don't know the dates of 

when that occurred. 

  And from listening to this Court, I do think that 

it's important that we have those dates because I think it 

would help analyze this.  But I don't have those dates, Your 

Honor. 

  THE COURT:  You don't know offhand if there's 

anything in the record of the District Court that I can look 

at to get me to get that information?  I know if we dig, it 

might be in there. 

  But I'm asking whether you happen to know offhand 

where that may be, where that is in there.  I presume it 

would be, if it's anywhere, it would be in one or more of the 

summary judgment exhibits. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  We would -- we would have to 

consult with the motion, cross motions.   

  THE COURT:  As I said, there's a lot of exhibits 

there. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Right.  We had two people from 
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our appellate department -- 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  -- writing it.  And I'm more of 

trial counsel on the case -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.     

  MR. HARRINGTON:  -- and so I'm not going to -- I'm 

not going to make anything up and I'm not going to 

misrepresent and just say, yeah, it's there and just hope it 

is.  But I would -- I'm making an oral request, I guess, to 

be able to issue the Court supplemental briefing on these 

just narrow issues and for the factual basis. 

  THE COURT:  Your view, I take it from what you've 

said, of the fair contemplation test as applied in this case 

is that the issue is at what point did Mr. Ricks first have 

enough information to give him -- to justify a reasonable 

belief, reasonable belief, that his conviction would be set 

aside? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  In June of '17 when -- 

  THE COURT:  No, I'm saying -- 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Oh, I'm sorry. 

  THE COURT:  -- that's your view of how the -- what 

the issue is under the fair contemplation test in this case. 

Is that right? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes.  When -- yes.    

  THE COURT:  And -- 
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  MR. HARRINGTON:  I mean, that's -- 

  THE COURT:  And how do we know when that was? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  That's what I was just going to 

say. 

  THE COURT:  Based on what's currently in the 

record. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Well, I guess what we can look at 

is the order of the June -- exhibit 4 of the of first amended 

complaint, that is exhibit 6, to the Defendant -- the City of 

Detroit's motion where -- it would be June 1st, 2017, where 

they're not going to prosecute. 

  Where that decision is made, I believe that would 

be -- that would be the time.  Because I -- and I think your 

question, if I heard you correctly, was, Mr. Harrington, 

based on the record that's in front of me, meaning the 

motion, your response, and the reply.  Is that what you're 

asking? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  I'm not including the District 

Court record at this point. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  That's what I thought. 

  THE COURT:  Though this Court I think technically 

can take judicial notice of anything that's filed as a matter 

of public record over in that District Court case.  It's 

available to me electronically as I'm sitting right here at 

my computer.  But, yeah.  Well, you're pegging it at the date 
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on which, the earliest date upon which the Monell claim could 

have, could be deemed to have accrued.  That's where you're 

saying they merge.  It's the same date.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yeah.  Under the analysis of fair 

contemplation versus accrual, whether you walk through the 

steps of the fair contemplation, it ends up being the same 

date as the accrual. 

  THE COURT:  So how do we know though -- how do we 

know that there wasn't some date or time before June 1, 2017, 

and perhaps well before that time, when Mr. Ricks knew enough 

of the facts, or knew facts that would give -- that would 

justify a reasonable belief that his conviction would be set 

aside? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Sure.  That's fairly -- I can 

answer that.  That's, in my mind, I think fairly simple.  

Because if it's let's just say a set aside, and the 

conviction was overturned, but let's say it comes about 

through a motion for a new trial, well there is still a new 

trial that is in place and the prosecutors could still have a 

-- get a conviction. 

  And so if Mr. Ricks was to have immediately have 

filed his 1983 Monell claim while this -- while the Wayne 

County Prosecutor's Office still has the case open and 

pending, well, if they go and get a conviction again, and 

he's got his 1983 Monell claim, it all goes away.  There is 
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no case.  I mean, it's -- it would be summarily dismissed on 

its face, really, by 12(b)(6).  It wouldn't even -- I mean, 

maybe Rule 56, but it would be -- it would be just gone.   

  THE COURT:  Well, what I'm getting at is it seems 

to me that the record before me in this bankruptcy case, that 

is the papers filed by the City and by you, your side, 

relating to this motion, including these exhibits attached to 

the City's reply brief, maybe don't necessarily enable this 

Court to answer the question:  Was there a time before June 

1, 2017, when Mr. Ricks had facts, knew facts, that would 

justify a reasonable belief that his conviction would be 

vacated and that he would not again be convicted? 

  You know, if, just hypothetically speaking, on, 

you know, June 1, 2013, a month before the City filed its 

bankruptcy case, facts came to light, facts became known that 

made it clear that -- evidence and facts that made it clear 

that Mr. Ricks was wrongfully convicted and that he -- that 

the City had no -- or the county, county prosecutor had no 

hope of convicting him in a new trial of this murder, then it 

would seem to me under that hypothetical situation, clearly 

under the fair contemplation test, the claim had to -- would 

have to be deemed to have arisen at that time, pre-petition.  

Do you see what I'm saying?  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yeah.  And if it -- can I add to 

that, if I may? 
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  THE COURT:  So what I'm -- what I'm getting at is, 

it seems to me the record doesn't, at present, doesn't 

necessarily permit this Court to conclude that that time, 

that time when that happened, that fair contemplation first 

happened under the test you -- the way you framed the issue, 

didn't have pre-petition before the June -- the July 2013 

bankruptcy case filed. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I agree with you.  And if I may 

add, for example, if there was something in the record where 

the prosecutor's office walked into his cell and said, you 

know, we've been looking over everything that you've 

submitted to us.  We've just got some paperwork to go over, 

the City, Mr. Ricks, even though it wasn't our doing, screwed 

up.  You have a great case.  We're going to do this 

paperwork, your case will be dismissed, and then we want you 

to file your 1983 claim against the City.   

  Now, pretty sure that didn't happen, but it would 

-- I would be hard pressed to argue the position that I'm 

arguing before this Court if those were the facts.  Because 

if at that time, and say, you know, I'm sorry the date and 

year, the 2000 -- you know, pre-petition stuff, if that, if 

that conversation happened under the reasonable contemplation 

as to whether or not he has a case, he's being told by the 

people prosecuting him that he does. 

  THE COURT:  Well, but you don't have to go that 
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far to get to fair contemplation. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I know.  But --  

  THE COURT:  I mean, there's some -- let me, let me 

ask it this way.  There's some event, or events, that 

occurred that basically triggered or opened the door for Mr. 

Ricks to get his conviction vacated and to be freed. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  What was it?  Was it new ballistic 

testing?  What was it?  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  It was the culmination of all of 

the evidence that he had been getting.  But is the question 

that you're asking me, is it what was the triggering event 

through the court process that -- 

  THE COURT:  What occurred.  What occurred that 

made it possible, or even likely, or even inevitable, that 

this conviction was going to be vacated?  What occurred? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Based on the record that you have 

in front of you, I believe, Your Honor, that it is an 

insufficient record to answer that exact question.   

  THE COURT:  Is there anything in your first 

amended complaint which is in the record here in this case 

that would give any clues about that?  That's a long 

complaint, and I didn't read every paragraph, I confess.  I 

was looking at things, certain specific things in there at 

the time, and didn't go through and read them all.   
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  MR. HARRINGTON:  Well, I'm going to start with, 

again, with exhibit 4, which is the order that we've talked 

about.  You also have, you know, the exhibit 3.  You also 

have ballistics, you know, ballistics testing.  Same with 

exhibit 2, there's forensic laboratory testing.  And those 

are dated in March of 2017, November 2017.  And then the 

order of the dismissal, or the nolle prosecution, ending up 

dismissing the case was June 1st of '17.  So all three of 

those pieces of evidence were obtained post-petition. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So you're pointing me to 

exhibits to your first amended complaint that are in the 

record in this case? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  What about allegations in the first 

amended complaint?  Do any of those shed a light on the 

timing of these events that triggered the vindication, 

essentially, of Mr. Ricks?   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  And specifically focusing on when 

that date occurred? 

  THE COURT:  What the events were and when they 

occurred, or at least what the events were. 

 (Pause) 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I'm reading through paragraph 48 

on page -- it looks like it's page 12, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  I see that.   
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  MR. HARRINGTON:  That talks about testing done by 

Detective Sergeant Dean Molnar.  He conducted some type of, 

it looks like, test in April, May of 2017. 

  THE COURT:  I see that.  Anything else?  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I'm going through it as I flip 

the pages, Your Honor. 

 (Pause) 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  On -- again, and I turn back to 

paragraph 78 which you had previously identified, talking 

about May 26 when he was released from the Ionia Correctional 

Facility. 

  THE COURT:  I mean, his conviction must have been 

vacated, you would think, before that date, right?  There's 

nothing in the first amended complaint, is there, showing 

what happened to his conviction in that way. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  And I've flipped through it and 

I've read it, Your Honor.  No, I don't -- I don't believe 

that's in there.  And as I've stated, I'd be, I'd be happy to 

provide that with this Court. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else in the first 

amended complaint you want to point me to? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  No, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  What else would you like to say 

about the motion, then? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  No, I have nothing else to add, 
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Your Honor.  Thank you for being so well read.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.   

  Mr. Swanson, you may briefly reply in support of 

your motion, if you would like. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Your Honor, two points.  The first 

is, I wanted to correct something I said earlier. 

  In the City's summary judgment brief in the 

District Court case, docket number 91, case 17-12784, on page 

34, the City does argue that Plaintiff's claims are barred by 

the applicable statute of limitations because accrual occurs 

when a plaintiff has a complete and present cause of action.  

That is when the plaintiff can file suit. 

  The City thus argued that all of Plaintiff's 

claims in the Federal District Court action, I guess, 

including those against the City, were time-barred under the 

applicable statute of limitations.  

  THE COURT:  What does that have to do with 

anything?  What's the point of that, of the -- of you making 

this point? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Well, that the statute of 

limitations would presumably run when the cause of action 

accrued.  And the City's arguing and -- 

  THE COURT:  When does the -- does the City make an 

argument about when the cause of action accrued in that paper 

there?  
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  MR. SWANSON:  Well, it argues that the -- that Mr. 

Ricks was free to file suit in 1992 on all of his claims.  

And because he didn't file suit then when the cause of action 

accrued, that that all of the claims are barred by statute of 

limitations. 

  THE COURT:  Well, I must have misunderstood, then.  

I thought the City, in connection with this motion, basically 

was not disputing that the claim, the Monell claim, did not 

accrue until the Ricks conviction was vacated, and that 

didn't occur until 2017. 

  MR. SWANSON:  The City has taken --  

  THE COURT:  Isn't that what -- isn't that what you 

were agreeing to? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Well, I tried to say, Your Honor    

I -- you know, I had not looked into that and had not taken a 

position.  I pointed the Court to a quote from the Sanford 

case, but I didn't take a position on that issue in my 

pleadings, and then I went -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, what's the City -- tell me in 

more detail, what's the City's argument about this in the 

City -- in the Ricks case. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Sure.   

  THE COURT:  The cause of action under Monell 

accrued in 1992, is the City saying?  

  MR. SWANSON:  In Michigan, a three-year statute of 
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limitations applies to federal claims brought under 43 U.S.C.  

1983, citing a Scott decision from the Sixth Circuit. 

  THE COURT:  Yes. 

  MR. SWANSON:  And a Wallace decision from the 

Supreme Court. 

  Quote, "Accrual occurs when the plaintiff has a 

complete and present cause of action, and that is when the 

Plaintiff can file suit," close quote. 

  The limitations period for Plaintiff's claim for 

intentional infliction of severe emotional distress is also 

three years, citing MCL 600.5805 subsection -- 

  THE COURT:  Focus on the Monell claims, would you? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Sure.  I think they -- 

  THE COURT:  That's the only claim that's asserted 

against the City.  Monell is, right? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Monell is the only claim that's 

asserted. 

  THE COURT:  It's number one in the first amended 

complaint.   

  MR. SWANSON:  That's right.   

  THE COURT:  What does the City say about the 

statute of limitations with respect to that claim in their 

summary judgment motion in the City case -- in the Ricks 

case?  Anything? 

  MR. SWANSON:  In 1992, there was no bar to play to 
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bringing suit against the City of Detroit and its police 

officers.  Plaintiff failed to do so, and, therefore, his 

claims are barred. 

  THE COURT:  And the statute of limitations is how 

long? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Three years.  

  THE COURT:  The City says? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes.   

  THE COURT:  Three years.  Well, what about this 

concept, is the City simply -- is the City saying the Monell 

claims accrued in 1992 in that brief? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  It is?  Is there -- what authority is 

there for that proposition? 

  MR. SWANSON:  It cites Scott v. Ambani, 577 F. 3d 

642, 646, a Sixth Circuit case, 2009. 

  THE COURT:  What about the Heck case? 

  MR. SWANSON:  The Heck case talks about malicious 

prosecution.  I don't necessarily think that applies to a 

Monell claim against a municipality. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So now are you -- are you now 

saying that the City, in support of this motion in this 

Court, is now saying that the Monell claims asserted in count 

1 of the first amended complaint of the City in the Ricks 

action against the City accrued in 1992? 
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  MR. SWANSON:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  They did.  Okay.  Now that, of course, 

is not an argument you made in your reply brief. 

  MR. SWANSON:  That's correct.   

  THE COURT:  Or in your motion.  In your reply 

brief you said accrual isn't the test.   

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.  We don't think accrual is the 

test. 

  THE COURT:  It's fair contemplation.  It's not 

accrual. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.   

  THE COURT:  You know, if the -- if the claim 

actually accrued before the bankruptcy was filed, even under 

the accrual test, this claim would be barred by the discharge 

order.  Right? 

  MR. SWANSON:  That's correct.  I think Plaintiff 

is -- to the City it's really not relevant when the claim 

accrued, because the Court does not apply the accrual test. 

  The Court looks at the facts and circumstances 

underlying this claim.  The Court, in its opinion -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, if the claim accrued under non-

bankruptcy law pre-petition, isn't it always going to be 

deemed a pre-petition claim under the fair contemplation 

test? 

  MR. SWANSON:  I think Plaintiff here would argue 
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that even if it accrued it wasn't within Plaintiff's fair 

contemplation until the conviction was overturned, and    

thus --  

  THE COURT:  You're not answering my question.  

They're saying it didn't accrue until the conviction was 

vacated.  They're saying that, and they're citing Heck. 

  But my question is:  Isn't it always going to be 

the case that if a cause of action actually accrued under 

applicable non-bankruptcy law before the bankruptcy petition 

was filed, that claim is going to be deemed a pre-petition 

claim under the fair contemplation test.  

  MR. SWANSON:  The fair contemplation test does not 

include as a factor the date that the claim actually accrued.  

And thus, you know, I haven't thought of -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, it includes all relevant 

circumstances.   

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Right? 

  MR. SWANSON:  I mean, it -- 

  THE COURT:  All the circumstances surrounding a 

particular claim, including the Debtor's conduct, the party's 

pre-petition relationship, the party's knowledge, elements of 

the underlying claim. 

  So I would think courts could consider if the 

claim accrued under non-bankruptcy law, pre-petition, 
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certainly that would be a factor, if not conclusive, very 

close to being conclusive, in establishing that it's a pre-

petition claim under the fair contemplation test, don't you 

think? 

  MR. SWANSON:  I'm not going to argue with that 

point. 

  THE COURT:  I'm trying to think.  It's kind of 

hard for me to think of a situation where that wouldn't be 

the case. 

  So if the claim really did accrue before the 

conviction, Mr. Ricks' conviction was vacated, or whatever 

happened to it, that puts a whole new light on this issue, I 

think. 

  MR. SWANSON:  It very well might.  In the Court's 

opinion that I cited in my reply there was, I believe, some 

uncertainty in terms of whether those claims had accrued 

under non-bankruptcy law prior to the petition date.  The 

claims of Tanya Hughes, for one. 

  And this Court wrote, you know, that certainty is 

not the standard.  It's not the standard that the Plaintiff 

knew for sure that the claim had accrued or that they for 

sure had a claim that which could be asserted. 

  The Plaintiff here professed his innocence from 

day one, and starting in 2011, he employed, or he utilized, 

the services of an investigator, a paralegal, a team of 
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lawyers, and his previous expert, to prove his innocence.  He 

was -- he was telling all of these people that he had a claim 

against the City of Detroit because he was unlawfully 

convicted. 

  And he was pointing to the same evidence which 

allegedly resulted in him being freed from prison.  In his 

own words he had a claim in 2011.  We know it because he said 

it. 

  Under the fair contemplation test rarely do you 

get evidence that's this crystal clear that a Plaintiff knew 

that they had a claim.  I mean, he said it in the letter, and 

people on his behalf were telling the U.S. District Attorney 

that he had a claim.  If that's not enough, I don't know what 

does it.  All of the conduct here, again, occurred in 1992.  

We have the Plaintiff on record -- 

  THE COURT:  Is it enough under the fair 

contemplation test for a claimant to subjectively think they 

have a claim, or believe they have a claim, if that belief is 

not objectively reasonable at the time? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes.   

  THE COURT:  You think it is? 

  MR. SWANSON:  I think if the Plaintiff believes 

that they have a claim against the City that's within their 

fair contemplation.  I mean, their subjective belief is part 

of the fair contemplation test.  What do they believe?  Do 
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they believe they have a claim against the City or not?  We 

don't necessarily need all of the objective evidence to line 

up before the bar date for this Court to hold that a claim 

within the Plaintiff's fair contemplation against the City.  

  I mean, as this Court wrote, Congress included the 

words "contingent," "unmatured," "disputed" within the 

definition, Section 1015, of the term "claim." 

  This Court also wrote that Congress used those 

words because it wanted to adopt the broadest definition of 

claim possible. 

  I don't see how this Court could rule that a 

plaintiff who was putting down in writing and telling people 

prior to the City's bankruptcy case that he had a claim 

against the City, that that claim wasn't within his fair 

contemplation.  I mean, he was asserting a claim.  He was 

telling people he had a claim.  I don't know what else, 

really, could cause the Court to rule that this was within 

his fair contemplation. 

  Again, Your Honor, certainty is not the standard.  

What Plaintiff continues to argue is that we have to wait 

until this claim accrued under their theory of when accrual 

occurred, and that's not the test.  The test is fair 

contemplation, and we should take it from Mr. Ricks' own 

words.  He knew he had a claim before the City filed for 

bankruptcy. 
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  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, both.  I'm 

going to rule on this motion now. 

 (Pause) 

  THE COURT:  With respect to jurisdictional 

matters.  First of all, this Court has subject matter 

jurisdiction over this bankruptcy case and this contested 

matter that's represented by the City's current motion and 

which, of course, is contested by the Ricks plaintiffs. 

  And this is a core proceeding, and all of this is 

true for the very same reasons that I stated that the matters 

before me in the published opinion that I'm going to cite 

were covered by the Court's subject matter jurisdiction and 

were core proceedings. 

  And also, by the way, proceedings in which the 

Court reserved jurisdiction to rule in the confirmed Chapter 

9 plan.  

  The case, the prior case, of course, is the case 

that the parties are aware of and the City cited in its 

papers, and that's In re City of Detroit, Michigan, reported 

at 548 Bankruptcy Reporter 748, and in particular the section 

of that opinion at page 753 to 754 that's labeled Roman 

numeral II jurisdiction.  I incorporate by reference what I 

said there in that section, in that prior opinion, in this 

bench opinion that I'm now giving as the basis for why the 
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Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this contested 

matter and why this contested matter is a core proceeding.   

  That prior opinion I'll just, I'll refer to it as 

this Court's 2016 opinion.  That's the opinion that I just 

cited. 

  And by the way, that was a decision of this Court 

from 2016.  It's the same opinion that was cited by the U.S. 

District Court in the Sanford case, which the City has 

attached to its reply brief, and which is reported at 2018 

Westlaw 6331342, Sanford versus City of Detroit, a decision 

of the U.S. District Court for this District from December 4, 

2018.  Judge Lawson is the district judge in that case.  

That's the Sanford case, and I may refer to that, as well, in 

this bench opinion. 

  Going back to my published 2016 opinion and 

decision, however, I do reiterate and incorporate by 

reference into this bench opinion, everything I said about 

the applicable law, that is the law applicable to determining 

whether a given claim or claims arose for bankruptcy purposes 

before a bankruptcy petition was filed.  And that discussion 

is in the 2016 published opinion at 548 Bankruptcy Reporter 

at pages 761 through 763. 

  In that part of the 2016 opinion, that's where 

this Court discusses a couple of concepts that are key to the 

issue before me on the present motion.  And that is, first, 
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the concept and the rule of law, which is that in order to 

have a pre-petition claim, that is a claim that is deemed to 

have arisen before the filing of the bankruptcy case.  It is 

not necessary for the claim to have accrued under an 

applicable non-bankruptcy law such that a lawsuit could be 

filed on it and sustained in the sense that all the elements 

of the cause of action had accrued before the bankruptcy 

petition was filed. 

  At 548 Bankruptcy Reporter, at 762 to 763, I 

discussed that.  It's sometimes referred to as the accrual 

test for determining when a claim arises.  Another name for 

it sometimes given in the case law is it's sometimes called 

the, quote, "right to payment," unquote test.  As described 

in my prior opinion, 548 Bankruptcy Reporter, at 762 to 763, 

that tests provides that a claim arises for bankruptcy 

purposes only after each element of the claim has been 

established. 

  It's essentially an accrual test.  As I said, 

however, and reiterate now, but as I said in the 2016 

opinion, that test had been widely rejected.  And this Court 

rejected it in my 2016 opinion, and I do so now for the same 

reasons and based on the same authorities that I cited in my 

prior published opinion from 2016. 

  The second point is that instead of an accrual or 

right to payment type test, or some other test among possible 
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tests for determining when a claim arises for purposes of -- 

for bankruptcy purposes, the Court adopts -- did adopt, and 

reiterates now, that the correct test is the so-called fair 

contemplation test.   

  And as I described it in my prior opinion, 

including 548 Bankruptcy Reporter at 763, that test looks at, 

quote:  "Looks at whether there was a pre-petition 

relationship between the debtor and the creditor, such as 

contract exposure, impact, or privity, such that a possible 

claim is within the fair contemplation of the creditor at the 

time the petition is filed," unquote.  That's at page 763 of 

my prior opinion, and I'm omitting citations here on that. 

  I further said, and reiterate now, but I further 

said in the prior opinion the following:  Quote, "Under this 

test a claim that's considered to have arisen pre-petition if 

the creditor -- the creditor ascertained through the exercise 

of reasonable due diligence that it had a claim at the time 

the petition was filed.  This test, which the Court will 

refer to as the fair contemplation test, has the advantage of 

allowing the Court to examine all the circumstances 

surrounding a particular claim, the Debtor's conduct, the 

party's prepetition relationship, the party's knowledge, the 

elements of the underlying claim, and use its best judgment 

to determine what is fair to the parties in context," 

unquote.  That's 548 Bankruptcy Reporter at 763.  And again, 
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I'm omitting citations.   

  Now, in saying this, and in adopting and 

describing the fair contemplation test, one has to -- the 

Court bears in mind and reiterates, as I discussed in the 

prior -- the 2016 opinion, as well, that a claim as defined 

in the Bankruptcy Code, Section 101, Sub 5, includes a right 

to payment that is contingent and a right to payment that is 

unmatured, so that it is possible to have a contingent claim, 

or an unmatured claim, that still is a claim that has arisen 

for bankruptcy purposes as of the bankruptcy petition date, 

even though as of that date the creditor could not have 

successfully filed suit and prevailed on such a claim under 

applicable non-bankruptcy law because some event had not yet 

occurred that had to occur in order for there to be a valid 

claim that met all the elements under non-bankruptcy law for 

such a claim. 

  And I discussed that, again, I reiterate what I 

said in the prior opinion, in particular at pages 548 

Bankruptcy Reporter, at 761 to 763, about that subject. 

  Now, the Ricks Plaintiffs here, in opposing the 

City's present motion, have argued, among other things, that 

under applicable non-bankruptcy law Mr. Ricks, Desmond Ricks, 

that is, who is the Plaintiff who asserts a claim against the 

City in Count 1 of the first amended complaint in the U.S. 

District Court action, did not have any claim that had yet 
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accrued against the City of Detroit when the City of Detroit 

filed its bankruptcy petition in this Chapter 9 bankruptcy 

case in July 2013, because as of that time Mr. Ricks' 

conviction, which he says was a wrongful conviction, 

essentially was still on the books. 

  It had not been vacated or reversed or in any way 

successfully challenged as of the date of the bankruptcy 

petition in this Chapter 9 bankruptcy case, so that he could 

not at that time, at the time of the bankruptcy petition, 

have successfully prosecuted a civil claim against the City 

of Detroit of the type, or types, that are alleged in Count 1 

of the first amended complaint in the District Court action, 

so-called Monell-type claims against the City. 

  Mr. Ricks argues that that is the applicable non-

bankruptcy law, and they, I believe, cite the Heck case for 

that proposition. 

  Now, it develops during -- it develops during, 

really, the City's reply portion of today's oral argument 

that the City may now be contending, at least in this Court, 

that the so-called Monell claims that Mr. Ricks is asserting 

against the City in the District Court action actually 

accrued much earlier than the date in which Mr. Ricks 

obtained a vacation, or a reversal, or undoing of some sort, 

under state law of his conviction, which happened, 

apparently, in 2017. 
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  I will assume for purposes of ruling on the City's 

motion in this case that Mr. Ricks is correct, his counsel 

and he are correct, in arguing that he did -- his claim, his 

Monell claims against the City did not accrue under non-

bankruptcy law until his conviction was vacated, and that 

this did not occur until some time in the first half of 2017. 

  So I am assuming for purpose of ruling on the 

City's present motion, then, that Mr. Ricks did not have any 

claim, so-called Monell claim, against the City of Detroit 

that had accrued under applicable non-bankruptcy law as of 

the date the City filed its bankruptcy petition in July 2013.   

  As I indicated, however, that's not the end of the 

inquiry, because the accrual test, also known as the right to 

payment test, as I discussed earlier, is not the applicable 

test to determine when a claim or whether a claim has arisen 

for bankruptcy purposes.   

  Now, as I further discussed in the 2016 opinion, 

in detail, and as is true here, if it's undisputed, and it is 

certainly correct, as the City points out and argues in its 

motion, that if Mr. Ricks claims that he's asserting in the 

District Court action against the City of Detroit did, in 

fact, arise for bankruptcy purposes before the July 2013 

bankruptcy petition date in this case, then those claims are, 

in fact, barred by the discharge and by the confirmed plan 

and by the claims bar date order in this bankruptcy case, 
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which the City cites and quotes from in detail in its opening 

motion. 

  And so, if Mr. Ricks' claims against the City of 

Detroit are deemed to have arisen for bankruptcy purposes 

pre-petition, in other words, before the July 2013 bankruptcy 

petition date in this case, then those claims are indeed -- 

have indeed been discharged and may not be pursued, and the 

discharge injunction, and the injunction in the confirmed 

plan in this case bar Mr. Ricks from pursuing such claims.  

  So back to the fair contemplation test.  The City 

points to 16 different exhibits, numbered exhibits 1 through 

16, that are attached to its reply brief filed in this case 

at docket number 13021, all of which I have reviewed and 

which the City's counsel talked about in today's hearing, but 

before the hearing, I did review those, as well. 

  And all of those documents, and certainly those 

documents when taken in combination, do make clear, in my 

view, that from -- during the time period June of 2009, or 

roughly -- or rather, some time in 2009, all the way through 

and as late as October of 2012 -- I'm sorry, all the way 

through December of 2012, Mr. Ricks, Desmond Ricks, while he 

was still in prison under the conviction for murder that was 

later vacated and the charges which were later dismissed in 

2017, Mr. Ricks, during this time period, this pre-bankruptcy 

petition time period 2009 through December 2012, had reason 
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to know and to believe, and had knowledge of facts to know 

and believe, that he had a claim, albeit a then contingent 

claim, against the City of Detroit. 

  The type of claims that basically for claims that 

led to his wrongful conviction and wrongful imprisonment for 

roughly two decades or more, against the City of Detroit. 

  The claims admittedly were still contingent 

because Mr. Ricks had not yet, as of the bankruptcy petition 

date, obtained relief or vindication from his murder 

conviction in State Court, so the claims had not accrued yet.  

And that event had to occur before he could successfully 

pursue the claims. 

  So it was a contingent -- they were contingent 

claims as of the bankruptcy petition date, but he did have 

reason. 

  And he could have ascertained through the exercise 

of reasonable due diligence that he had a claim at the time, 

existing prior to the time of the filing of the bankruptcy 

petition in this Chapter 9 case, in July 2013. 

  Of course, all of the conduct, the allegedly 

wrongful conduct that forms the basis of Mr. Ricks' claims 

against the City, occurred in 1992.  As the City correctly 

points out, Mr. Ricks certainly knew that. 

  And all of the policies and practices of the City 

that formed the basis of Mr. Ricks' Monell claims existed as 
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of March 1992.  This is all alleged in the first amended 

complaint of Mr. Ricks in the District Court. 

  And the exhibits submitted by the City show that 

Mr. Ricks not only believed, but had reason to believe, that 

he had a valid claim against the City and the police officers 

involved in the investigation and prosecution of the murder 

case against him that led to his conviction in 1992, that he 

had a valid claim and he was working hard and diligently to, 

as I think to use the term Plaintiff's -- Mr. Ricks' counsel 

used in hearing today, to build that case, to build that 

claim, build evidence for that claim. 

  But it was certainly well within his fair 

contemplation, based upon the conduct of the Debtor that had 

occurred back in 1992, the parties, the pre-petition 

relationship between Mr. Ricks and the City and the City's 

police personnel involved, and the knowledge that Mr. Ricks 

had before this bankruptcy case was filed, it was certainly, 

under all those circumstances, it was, in my view, within the 

fair contemplation of Mr. Ricks that he had a claim, albeit a 

contingent claim, against the City of Detroit that existed 

before the bankruptcy, this bankruptcy case was filed.   

  And so the Court does rule, and in my view is 

constrained to rule give the very broad scope of the 

definition of claim under the Bankruptcy Code, as I discussed 

in the 2016 opinion that I published. and the case law under 
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that definition, the Court is constrained to rule that the 

claims asserted by Mr. Ricks in his first amended complaint, 

Count 1 against the City in the District Court case, are pre-

petition claims, claims that arose for bankruptcy purposes 

before the bankruptcy case here was filed. 

  As a result, under the confirmed plan and the 

applicable law and the orders of this Court, Mr. Ricks' 

claims against the City were discharged, and Mr. Ricks is 

enjoined from pursuing or prosecuting any such claims by the 

Court's orders and by the discharge injunction that applies 

in this Chapter 9 bankruptcy case. 

  And so for those reasons, the City's motion will 

be granted.  I will enter an order granting that motion now. 

  Mr. Swanson, in looking at the proposed order that 

was attached to your motion, I guess my first question is:  

Do you still want the Court to enter the order in the form 

that was attached to your motion, or do you have any 

modifications to that proposed order that you want to ask me 

to make? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Your Honor, we would be fine with 

this order.  I think we've learned that two of the three 

Plaintiffs are not asserting any claims against the City, so 

-- 

  THE COURT:  I saw that you said that in your reply 

brief.   
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  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.   

  THE COURT:  Does that require any change in the 

order, though?  Or you are saying it doesn't?  

  MR. SWANSON:  No, I don't think it does.   

  THE COURT:  I don't either.   

  MR. SWANSON:  Yeah.   

  THE COURT:  Now, what I will -- one thing I do 

question or have concern about, and that is paragraph number 

4 of your proposed order. 

  You go beyond -- in the order, you go beyond 

requiring the Plaintiffs to dismiss the City from the pending 

District Court action and enjoining them from asserting 

claims. 

  In paragraph 4, you have the Court ordering that 

the three Plaintiffs in the Ricks case are prohibited from 

sharing in any distribution in this bankruptcy case. 

  Now, you said in your motion that none of these 

parties have filed any proof of claim in the bankruptcy case, 

timely or otherwise, and that's still true, I assume? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  So there's no possible way 

given that, that they presently would have any argument to 

share in any distribution of the bankruptcy case.  So isn't 

this paragraph 4 unnecessary? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes. 
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  THE COURT:  All right.  So take it out.  I'll ask 

you to -- well, here's what I'm going to do in terms of 

substantive change to the order.   

  Paragraph 2 says, within five days of the entry of 

this order, the three Ricks parties shall each dismiss, or 

cause to be dismissed, et cetera, the City from the pending 

District Court case. 

  The form I want to use is instead of saying five 

days after order, I want to set a specific calendar date as 

the deadline for that.  And normally, I would say no later 

than one week from the day, that would be March 27.  So 

that's the date I would pick. 

  Now, just logistically, is that, do you think, 

going to be a problem for you logistically, Mr. Harrington, 

for your side to comply if the deadline is March 27th?  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I'm pulling up my calendar, if I 

may, Your Honor.  If that's okay? 

  THE COURT:  Sure.  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  The 27th is fine.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  And I think that's 

actually the date on which summary judgment reply briefs are 

due in the District Court currently, in any case. 

  All right.  So make that change to paragraph 2, 

Mr. Swanson.  It will say no later than March 27, 2019, 

Desmond Ricks, et cetera, shall each, and so forth.  You see 
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that? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  And you're taking 

paragraph 4 out. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  The rest of the order is fine.  I'll 

make some non-substantive changes in the first paragraph of 

the order to recite the fact that the Court held a hearing 

today, and for reasons stated by the Court on the record, and 

so forth, that sort of stuff. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Your Honor? 

  THE COURT:  But I'll take care of that.   

  Now, let me -- I'm going to come to you in a 

minute. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor.  Thank you.    

  THE COURT:  Mr. Swanson, do you have any questions 

about the form of the revised order to submit?  

  MR. SWANSON:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  Now, Mr. Harrington, same 

question to you, form of the order. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Yes, Your Honor.  With respect to 

this case, there are other individual Defendants, the 

officers involved, that aren't subject to this Court's ruling 

and do have indemnity from the City of Detroit. 

  My problem with paragraph 3, it talks about 
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Desmond Ricks, Ms. Cobb, Ms. Ricks, are each permanently 

barred, estopped, and enjoined, from asserting any claims 

asserted in the -- 

  THE COURT:  I see what you're getting at. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  So I've got an issue with that. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  How would you change that 

language to narrow that to make clear that this order is -- 

and certainly, I'm not ruling this way, and we're not -- the 

order is not -- should not be interpreted to mean that these 

Ricks parties are enjoined from pursuing their claims against 

the individuals named in the pending action in their 

individual capacity rather than in their official capacity.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Sure.  And it's quite simple.  I 

don't think paragraph 3 is necessary at all with a dismissal 

order against the City.  Well, then, it's quite simple.  I 

can't go take City property, but I can pursue through -- I 

can pursue the officers, and the officers through their 

bargaining agreement with the City, has indemnity. 

  So I pursue the officers, but then the City of 

Detroit satisfies any judgment in the event that we prevail 

against the officers on the claims.   

  THE COURT:  Well, if the City indemnifies the 

officers and ends up paying something in the case because 

they're indemnified, in the capacity of indemnifying the 

individual Defendants for claims asserted against them in 
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their individual capacity, then that's a matter -- that's not 

a matter of right that the Plaintiffs have against the City, 

the Ricks have against the City.  That's, rather, at most, a 

right that the individuals would have against the City.  

Right? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Right.  But a broad 

interpretation of paragraph 3 would affect the substantial 

rights of my client. 

  THE COURT:  Well, let's do this, and you tell me 

why this doesn't take care of it. 

  I do want to keep an injunction in paragraph 3, 

but change the wording a bit, and perhaps this.  Paragraph 3 

now instead would say, list the three individuals, and say, 

each is -- are each permanently, and we don't need barred and 

estopped, we'll just say permanently enjoined from asserting 

claims asserted in the lawsuit -- well, or the rest of it. 

  Or claims arising from or related to the lawsuit 

against the City of Detroit or the property of the City of 

Detroit.  That seems to me narrow enough to not create a 

problem for you, but perhaps we can add a sentence that makes 

it absolutely clear.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I would like that, Your Honor.  

  THE COURT:  How would you propose to word a 

sentence to add to paragraph 3 to do that?  What language 

would you like? 
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  MR. HARRINGTON:  Why don't we start with, any and 

all claims made by Plaintiff against the individual officers, 

David Pauch, Donald Stawiasz, S-T-A-W-I-A-S-Z, and Robert 

Wilson, are unaffected by this Court's ruling -- 

  THE COURT:  Hold on.  Any and all claims made by? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Plaintiffs against -- do you need 

the names of the officers again, Your Honor? 

  THE COURT:  I can get the names from the first 

amended complaint. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Thank you.   

  THE COURT:  Right?  It's the three that are listed 

in the caption of the first amended complaint, right? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Are unaffected by this Court's 

ruling. 

  THE COURT:  Or how about unaffected by this order?  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  By this order. 

  THE COURT:  Yes.   

  MR. HARRINGTON:  And Plaintiffs may recover any 

proceeds that would be paid or payable by the City of Detroit 

through its appropriate collective bargaining agreement, or 

otherwise indemnity. 

  I mean, it's how it works in all of these 1983 

cases against the individual officer, because the only claim 

-- 

  THE COURT:  Wait a minute.  Claims unaffected by 
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this order.  I would want to say, any and all claims made by 

Plaintiffs against the three, and list the three individuals, 

comma, in their individual capacity, parentheses, as opposed 

to in their official capacity, are unaffected by this order, 

period.   

  Now, you want to say more than that, and what's 

the more than that?  Why do we need to say Plaintiffs may 

recover anything under the collective bargaining?  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  The only reason that I say that  

-- the only reason I feel the necessity to say that, is 

because of how broad paragraph 3 of that order reads by 

trying to say that we can't recover any City of Detroit 

property, because in essence the way that this works and the 

way that this case will go down the track is if we prevail, 

or if there's a settlement, or if there's any payment to come 

from these officers, it gets paid by the City. 

  THE COURT:  But not because of -- again, not 

because the Plaintiffs have any right against the City for 

that. 

  Any right to indemnity is a right that's enjoyed 

by the individuals against the City, not a right that the 

Plaintiffs have against the City.  That's the distinction, 

right? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Right.  Yeah.  Because it's the 

bargaining agreement that the officers have by being a member 
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of the police force.  It's like almost an insurance agreement 

that they're going to pay for, you know, if they're sued -- 

  THE COURT:  How about this?  Add -- the sentence 

we've been talking about is fine up to the point where they 

aren't affected by this order. 

  And then add a sentence that says something like 

this, and we can play with the wording, but something like 

this.  This order does not -- well, what I want to say is 

this order -- essentially, this order does not impair any 

right to indemnity that the individual officers may have 

against the City. 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Fine.  Yeah.  I'm fine with that. 

  THE COURT:  Does that work? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Something to that extent. 

  THE COURT:  Does that work for you, Mr. Swanson? 

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  So let me let me get it 

down and I'll read it all to you and you guys can make sure 

it's good. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Your Honor? 

  THE COURT:  Just a second. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Sure. 

 (Pause)   

  THE COURT:  All right.  So you want to say 

something before I read it back to you?  
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  MR. SWANSON:  Yes.  Am I responsible for putting 

this in?  I just want to make sure I take careful notes if I 

have --  

  THE COURT:  I'm going to read it now -- 

  MR. SWANSON:  I will. 

  THE COURT:  -- and then you can comment or 

question.  How's that?  

  MR. SWANSON:  All right. 

  THE COURT:  Both of you.   

  All right.  So now paragraph 3 will say, I'll try 

to go through it.  It will say:  Desmond Ricks, Akilah Cobb, 

and Desire'a Ricks, and then after that put a parenthesis and 

say the, quote, Plaintiffs with a capital P, because we're 

going to refer to that term later.  Okay.  Are each 

permanently enjoined from asserting claims asserted in the 

lawsuits or claims arising from or related to the lawsuit 

against the City of Detroit or property of the City of 

Detroit, period. 

  Then we add this sentence.  Any and all claims 

made by the Plaintiffs against, and then we'll name the three 

individuals who are named as defendants in the -- individual 

defendants in the District Court, Pauch, Stawiasz, Wilson, 

whatever that is, their names, any and all claims made 

against, and list those three names, A, B, or C, comma, in 

their individual capacity, parentheses, rather than in their 
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official capacity, close paren, are unaffected by this order, 

period.   

  Let me make sure you got that much, Mr. Swanson. 

 (Pause) 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Then the next sentence will 

say, it's still on paragraph 3, the next sentence will say, 

this order does not affect any right to indemnity that the 

individual officers -- not officers, let's say -- 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  The City may owe.   

  THE COURT:  No.  Hold on.  In the sentence before 

when we list the individuals, the three names, let's define 

them with parentheses, the capital I, Individual -- 

Individuals, put that in quotes, close paren.  Okay.  So 

after the three names put paren, the quote capital I, 

Individuals, close quote and close paren.  All right.    

  Then in the next final sentence it'll say, this 

order does not affect any right to indemnity that the 

Individuals, capital I, may have against the City, period. 

  So I'll read through it one more time and then 

I'll ask for any questions or comments.   

  Paragraph 3.  Desmond Ricks, Akilah Cobb, and 

Desire'a Ricks, paren capital P, Plaintiffs, in quotes, close 

paren, are each permanently enjoined from asserting claims 

asserted in the lawsuit or claims arising from or related to 

the lawsuit against the City of Detroit or property of the 
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City of Detroit, period.  Any and all claims made by 

Plaintiffs against, then the three names, A, B, or C, paren, 

the capital I Individuals, in quotes, close paren, in their 

individual capacity, paren, as opposed to their official 

capacity, close paren, are unaffected by this order, period.  

This order does not affect any right to indemnity that the 

individuals may have against the City, period.  End of 

paragraph 3. 

  Now, first question.  Mr. Swanson, did you get all 

that down?  

  MR. SWANSON:  Yes, Your Honor. 

    THE COURT:  The second question is, did you have 

any comments or questions about form?  

  MR. SWANSON:  The only comment that I would have 

is that the first added sentence we have paren, rather than 

official capacity, close paren.  I would propose to, after 

that parentheses, define individuals there instead of after 

their names. 

  THE COURT:  That's okay with me.  What about you, 

Mr. Harrington?  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  I don't really understand the 

change.  I think we're all talking about the same thing. 

  And just so we're all a hundred percent clear that 

the spirit of all of this, whether we're saying potato or 

potato, the spirit of all of this is that in the event that 
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there is a verdict against any one of these officers that any 

issue of indemnity won't be encumbered or prohibited or 

precluded in any way, shape, or form by this Court's ruling 

on the City of Detroit claims.  I just want to make sure that 

that's clear.  Right, counsel? 

  THE COURT:  So, Mr. Swanson, why do you need this 

change you've just asked for? 

  MR. SWANSON:  I just thought it would -- it would 

make clear that we're talking about the individuals in their 

individual capacity and not their official capacity.  If the 

Court prefers, it's like what -- 

  THE COURT:  Let's leave it as-is. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Sure. 

  THE COURT:  Anything else?  

  MR. SWANSON:  No. 

  THE COURT:  What about you, Mr. Harrington?  

Anything else? 

  MR. HARRINGTON:  No, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  So the order, then, will 

have the change to paragraph 2 that I mentioned, the new 

paragraph -- the revised paragraph 3 that we talked about.  

Paragraph 4 comes out.  Paragraph 5 stays in, retaining 

jurisdiction, that's fine. 

  And I'll ask Mr. Swanson to revise the order, 

submit it.  I'll wait for the presentment of the revised 
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order, since we've discussed it in detail here.  And of 

course before I sign it, I will make sure that it fully 

complies with my ruling and what we've talked about here, and 

I'll get that entered. 

  So that's it for today and for this matter.  Thank 

you.  

  MR. HARRINGTON:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT CLERK:  All rise. 

(Time Noted:  3:41 p.m.) 

* * * * * 

CERTIFICATE 

 I, RANDEL RAISON, certify that the foregoing is a 

correct transcript from the official electronic sound 

recording of the proceedings in the above-entitled matter, to 

the best of my ability. 

 

 
______________________________  October 24, 2023 

Randel Raison 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 
 

IN RE:                  .   Case No. 2:13-53846-tjt 
                            .   Chapter 9 
CITY OF DETROIT, MICHIGAN,  . 
                            . 
 Debtor.               . 
                   . 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 
 
 
 
 
 

TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING ON CITY OF DETROIT'S MOTION FOR ENTRY 

OF AN ORDER ENFORCING THE BAR DATE ORDER AND CONFIRMATION 

ORDER AGAINST DARELL CHANCELLOR 
 

 
 
 
 
 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE THOMAS J. TUCKER 
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE 

 
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 4, 2023 

DETROIT, MICHIGAN 
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APPEARANCES: 
 
For the Debtor:  Miller Canfield Paddock & 
     Stone, PLC 
   By:  Marc N. Swanson* 
   150 West Jefferson Street 
   Suite 2500 
   Detroit, MI  48226 
   (313) 496-7591 
 
For Darell Chancellor: Ven Johnson Law, PLC 
   By:  Ven Johnson* 
   535 Griswold 
   Suite 2600 
   Detroit, MI  48226 
   (313) 324-8300 
 
Court Recorder: LaShonda Bryant 
   Clerk's Office 
   U.S. Bankruptcy Court 
   211 West Fort Street 
   Detroit, MI  48226 
 
Transcription Service: Randel Raison 
   APLST, Inc. 
   6307 Amie Lane 
   Pearland, TX  77584 
   (713) 637-8864 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Appeared via AT&T Conference Call. 
 
 
Proceedings recorded by electronic sound recording; 
transcript produced by transcription service. 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-13    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 3 of
43



 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

(Time Noted:  1:30 p.m.) 
 

  THE COURT CLERK:  Judge Tucker presiding. 

  THE COURT:  Good afternoon to everyone.  This is 

Judge Tucker on the phone. 

  Let's call our case that's scheduled for 1:30 

p.m., please. 

  THE COURT CLERK:  We'll call the matter of the 

City of Detroit, Michigan, case number 13-53846. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Good afternoon again.  

Let's begin by having entries of appearance for today's 

hearing, first of all the attorney or attorneys for the City 

of Detroit. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Marc 

Swanson from Miller Canfield on behalf of the City of 

Detroit. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Good afternoon to you.   

  And the attorney for the Respondent, Darell 

Chancellor, please? 

  MR. JOHNSON:  Good afternoon, Judge.  Ven Johnson 

on behalf of Mr. Chancellor. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Good afternoon to you.  

And let me ask for the record, is there anyone else on the 

phone who wants to enter an appearance in this case today? 

 (No response) 

  THE COURT:  I hear nothing.  So good afternoon.  
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This is the further continued hearing, continued from a week 

ago to today, Wednesday afternoon of last week, regarding the 

City of Detroit's motion for entry of an order enforcing the 

bar date order and confirmation order against Darell 

Chancellor. 

  For the record, that motion is filed at docket 

number 13691 on the Court's docket in this case. 

  I have reviewed the motion, the response filed to 

the motion by Mr. Chancellor, and the reply brief, or reply 

filed by the City in support of the motion, plus the exhibits 

that were filed with those papers. 

  So good afternoon.  Let's hear from each side.  

I'll begin with counsel for the moving party, Mr. Swanson. 

  MR. SWANSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Marc 

Swanson, Miller Canfield, on behalf of the City.   

  Your Honor, the Plaintiff raises two arguments in 

response to the City's motion, both of which fail. 

  The first argument is that the claim arose pre-

petition under the fair contemplation test.  Plaintiff's 

response in paragraphs 43 and 44 are the only two substantive 

responses to the City's assertion that the fair contemplation 

test applies and that the claim arose under it prepetition. 

  Plaintiff's response, however, is based on the 

accrual test.  In paragraphs 43 and 44 of the response, 

Plaintiff argues that the accrual test applies and that the 
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Plaintiff could not have filed a claim until the conviction 

was vacated in 2020. 

  Now, Plaintiff's argument for the accrual test, 

and the argument that a claim did not arise until a 

conviction was vacated, have been rejected by this Court in 

prior opinions and by the District Court here. 

  District Court Judge Michelson in Monson, District 

Court Judge Borman and Burton, District Court Judge Lawson 

and Sanford, and also in the General Motors bankruptcy case, 

which I believe was cited in the Sanford opinion.   

  In each of those cases, with very similar facts, 

the District Court held that the claim was discharged. 

  Now, with respect to the facts in this case, all 

of the key events occurred prior to the City's bankruptcy 

case. 

  On November 1 of 2011, Chancellor alleges that he 

was not there when surveillance was performed on, allegedly, 

his mother's house. 

  He also says on that date, you know, the 

description was way off.  The person -- he weighed 180 

pounds.  The person -- or the person allegedly surveilled 

weighed 180 pounds.  He wore -- he weighed 245 pounds and had 

glasses on. 

  November 2, 2011, is the date of the alleged false 

affidavit. 
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  May of 2012 is the date when Chancellor was 

arrested.  

  Chancellor was tried in November of 2012.  He was 

convicted in November of 2012.  He was sentenced in December 

of 2012.  He began his sentence in December of 2012. 

  And in 2013, before the City filed for bankruptcy, 

Mr. Chancellor also filed an appeal.  

  All along the way, Chancellor was proclaiming his 

innocence, as evidenced by court filings and deposition 

testimony.  And let's go through some of those court filings 

and some of that evidence.   

  So when Chancellor was arrested, Chancellor stated 

that he knew he was innocent.  And how do we know that?  

Because we can go to his deposition transcript, which was 

attached as exhibit 6F to the City's motion.   

  He was asked during his deposition, "When you were 

arrested, did you believe that you were innocent?" 

  His response, "I know I was innocent." 

  This is on Page 49 of the deposition transcript, 

lines 16 through 18. 

  In that regard, during his deposition, 

Chancellor's attorney asked him: 

  Question, "Without belaboring the point, Darell, 

what did it feel like to go to trial and be accused of a 

crime that you didn't commit?" 
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  Answer, "I mean, it felt terrible.  It feels more 

terrible when you get found guilty of something you ain't 

commit because it's like the justice system has failed you." 

  And that's his deposition transcript page 78, 

lines 10 through 18.   

  During his trial, Chancellor testified and 

proclaimed his innocence.  And how do we know that?  We can 

turn to exhibit 6B, which is the trial transcript.  He said 

that the drugs were not his.  He said that the guns were not 

his.  And he said it couldn't have been him because the 

person who was identified in the affidavit was not him 

because he was shorter and heavier.  And that's page 78 

through 84 of the trial transcript. 

  Mr. Chancellor also sent a letter to the judge who 

was presiding over the State Court case, Judge Hathaway.  In 

that letter he said he had, quote, "Been locked up for six 

months for something I know nothing about.  The police got 

the wrong person.  The evidence and the facts will show that 

I haven't did anything."  That's exhibit 6H to the City's 

motion, Your Honor. 

  On November 12, 2012, Chancellor was found guilty 

of possession of cocaine.  According to Chancellor, and in 

the second amended complaint in the Federal Court action, 

Judge Hathaway explicitly relied on Geelhood's false 

statement that identified Chancellor as the person who was 
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seen selling drugs from the target address.  Chancellor, of 

course, denied during the trial and on appeal that Geelhood 

had correctly identified him. 

  Chancellor was then sentenced on December 12, 

2012, to a term of 14 years and 3 months to 30 years of 

imprisonment.   

  Chancellor's attorney asked him what it felt like 

to be, quote, "Wrongfully convicted."  "Every single day, the 

question, every single day you're in that prison cell, jail 

cell, precinct cell, being accused and ultimately wrongfully 

convicted of doing something you didn't do, Darell, every 

day, all day.  What did it feel like?" 

  Answer, "It felt terrible -- it feels terrible 

when you know you ain't do something but you convicted for 

it.  It was." 

  And that is from Mr. Chancellor's deposition 

transcript on page 83 and 84.   

  On January 18, 2013, Chancellor appealed his 

conviction, and his conviction was later affirmed, and the 

Court of Appeals rejected his argument that he was a victim 

of a mistaken identity. 

  Your Honor, Chancellor's claim arose pre-petition 

long before his conviction was vacated. 

  Again, Chancellor argues that his claim against 

the City did not arise until his conviction was vacated in 
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March of 2020.  That is the accrual test, Your Honor. 

  But as this Court has ruled, and the District 

Court has uniformly ruled, the accrual test is not the test 

to determine when a bankruptcy claim arises.  The test to 

determine when a bankruptcy claim arises is the fair 

contemplation test. 

  Again, this exact same argument that Mr. 

Chancellor raises has been raised repeatedly, and denied. 

  With respect to the District Court cases.  I think 

the Sanford case stated it quite well.  In that case the 

Court said, referring to Sanford, he certainly contemplated 

the factual bases underlying the claims raised in the 

complaint since he attempted repeatedly to argue actual 

innocence before the State Courts since at least 2008 

insisting that his confession was falsely obtained, 

concocted, and coerced. 

  Sanford correctly points out that he could not 

have sued the City until his convictions were set aside, 

which did not happen until after the bankruptcy. 

  But the courts that have considered the question 

uniformly have concluded that claims based on pre-petition, 

malicious prosecutions, were barred, notwithstanding that the 

plaintiff could not file suit on his claims until his 

criminal conviction was overturned.   

  The Court in Monson and Burton and this Court have 
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all had very similar rulings and findings, and there are no 

facts in this case which could cause the Court to come to a 

different conclusion. 

  In short, Your Honor, under the fair contemplation 

test, Chancellor's claim arose before the City's bankruptcy 

filing, because prior to the City's filing Chancellor could 

have ascertained through the exercise of reasonable due 

diligence that he had a claim against the City. 

  Your Honor, the second argument that was raised by 

Mr. Chancellor in his response to the City's motion was 

regarding raising discharge as an affirmative defense. 

  Now, Chancellor cited a Sixth Circuit case, 

Makowski, for the proposition that the City had an 

affirmative obligation to cite bankruptcy discharge as an 

affirmative defense. 

  And Chancellor is wrong on a few levels here.   

  First, that decision was issued in 2005, and since 

then, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure have been amended 

and they no longer require that discharge be raised as an 

affirmative defense. 

  The City cited and quoted the Advisory Committee 

notes which explain quite clearly why discharge and 

bankruptcy was deleted from the list of affirmative defenses 

and why discharge and bankruptcy does not need to be raised 

as an affirmative defense. 
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  If that weren't enough, Your Honor, this Court has 

had the chance to consider a similar argument in a previous 

case. 

  And this court, citing to another Sixth Circuit 

case, decided later, Hamilton v. Hertz, 540 F. 3d 367.  And 

this Court said, quote, "Even if the City had delayed raising 

the bankruptcy discharge until after suffering an adverse 

judgment on the Respondent's claims in the District Court 

case, the City could not be deprived of the benefit of the 

bankruptcy discharge.  Any such adverse judgment would be 

deemed void ab initio under binding case law in the Sixth 

Circuit." 

  And, again, I don't think we need to go any 

further than that to see that the Plaintiff's argument that 

the City had to raise bankruptcy discharge as an affirmative 

defense fails, Your Honor. 

  In short, Your Honor, there were two arguments 

raised by the Plaintiff here, both of which have been 

rejected repeatedly. 

  No court that I'm aware of has applied the accrual 

test to these facts and I think many courts have commented 

that the accrual test has been uniformly rejected. 

  And the second argument that the Plaintiff makes 

is based on a Sixth Circuit case that is no longer applicable 

because the rule cited by that case has been revised. 
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  And this Court has also had the opportunity to 

consider a similar argument, and based on the Sixth Circuit 

case, Hamilton, how that the City had no obligation to raise 

discharge as an affirmative defense. 

  And thus, both of these arguments fail and the 

City would respectfully request that the Court enter an order 

granting its motion. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Swanson.  

  Mr. Johnson, I'll hear from you now, please.   

  MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you, Judge.  Good afternoon.  

We'll say that never did I think I would be arguing a motion 

in Bankruptcy Court, so I appreciate the Court's indulgence.  

  When I hear the City argue about fair 

contemplation tests it sounds so, under these circumstances, 

so unfair under the facts and circumstances that existed for 

Darell Chancellor.   

  It's "Darell," to correct the record.  Darell 

Chancellor.   

  As the Court knows, my client's conviction was 

vacated on March 24, 2020.  And I understand about what 

accrual test means. 

  And for the record, and I know the Court knows 

this probably, and that is for his lawsuit Darell Chancellor 

had no lawsuit, had no claim, had no recognizable injury, 

until his conviction was vacated; hence wrongful conviction. 
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  How it works, and what would be inherently unfair 

and unjust, would be for someone to argue, or to be 

successful in arguing, that although my client did not have a 

valid cause of action, and while he is falsely in prison 

serving a wrongful sentence, like he was from December of 

2012 through even the petition date, Judge, of July 18, 2013. 

  So, in other words, for those eight months, if we 

were to use those dates, that somehow after his wrongful 

conviction he was suppose to know, while he's serving in 

state prison, that it was somehow fair that he should have 

contemplated to watch the City of Detroit's bankruptcy 

proceedings to know that no one, no layperson would ever 

know, let alone a convicted -- a wrongfully convicted person 

in state penitentiary, would ever know that he had to file a 

claim under the bankruptcy even though he hadn't been -- his 

conviction hadn't been acquitted  -- or hadn't been entered 

yet. 

  So when I hear the term "fair contemplation test," 

trying to attach that issue to this set of cases, is 

absolutely, from my perspective, legally laughable. 

  I can read these other opinions.  I cannot believe 

-- and I read it, so I know it happened, what the other 

courts have said.  I can't -- I wasn't there and I didn't 

argue it, and I'm really sad to see what they said, but that 

is not, in and of itself, binding on this Court, as I 
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understand it. 

  And so how was it that Mr. Chancellor, wrongfully 

serving a -- at that time for eight months a prison term on 

something that ultimately he was found acquitted of years 

later, yet he was supposed to know bankruptcy law.  He was 

supposed to get notice of the City of Detroit's bankruptcy 

itself.  It's not like the City sent it to him or that 

anybody in prison would ever know that. 

  So there is no fair contemplation test that passed 

here, Judge.  It's not fair for this -- for the City to argue 

that his claim is barred before he had a claim, before he 

even would know of a bankruptcy, because he's removed from 

society.  There's no showing by the City that he should have 

known about this, because there can be none. 

  And when we talk about fairness, then we can talk 

about affirmative defenses.  And affirmative defenses, the 

way that they've always been interpreted as a 9 or 10-year 

former defense lawyer, they're legal defenses that should be 

raised immediately so that we can have these discussions and 

these fights, if you will, beforehand. 

  And then in the event that there's need for 

factual development, then we could -- we could have that 

during discovery.  And in this particular case there is no 

other argument that a bankruptcy is a legal defense.   

  In a weird way, what I believe, going back to fair 
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contemplation test, Judge, of my client, notice that my 

client's lawyers, me and my firm, who do civil rights 

litigation, not just in Michigan, but across the country, we 

never filed a motion or any claim with the City of Detroit 

because we never, ever expected that such an argument would 

be made that something that happened, a petition while my 

client was in prison, wrongfully, seven years before he was  

-- his conviction was vacated, that we should do something on 

his behalf, because we never believed, nor should we, in my 

opinion, had believed that this claim was ever barred. 

  So to hold that my client had -- should have 

fairly contemplated such a thing when his pretty 

sophisticated lawyers didn't contemplate it, because no way 

would we think it could apply, is, again, I believe, 

something that the City fails to show as a matter of law. 

  And so we'd ask the Court under these 

circumstances, and not identical to other cases that I'm 

aware of, but obviously the City will say that they're 

similar, that's their opinion, but under these circumstances, 

Judge, we believe that as a matter of law to hold Mr. 

Chancellor that he fairly could contemplate the City's 

bankruptcy when he was pursuing his appeal -- which is what, 

by the way, his lawyer did, and I might add again on his 

behalf, lawyers involved in filing an appeal from SADO, just 

so the, so the Court knows, no one ever advised Mr. 
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Chancellor, nor should they have for that matter, that he 

should have filed a claim with the -- for the City's 

bankruptcy, if you will, with the Bankruptcy Court, while 

they're fighting an appeal. 

  And then there was another appeal even after that, 

I might add.  And there was also a District Court action, a 

habeas corpus. 

  So you had multiple layers of lawyers involved, no 

one ever told him that, but somehow he's supposed to have 

figured out on his own while he is wrongfully serving prison 

time back in late 2012 and 2013. 

  So we ask the Court to please deny this motion.  

Thanks, Judge.  

  THE COURT:  Mr. Johnson, a question.  You may have 

-- and I may understand this incorrectly, but I thought I 

heard you in your argument just now to suggest, among many 

other things, that Mr. Chancellor being in prison at the time 

the City filed its bankruptcy case in July of 2013, and in 

jail thereafter for some time, that he wouldn't have known of 

the City's bankruptcy. 

  If that -- if you're making that argument or that 

claim now, that's the very first time Mr. Chancellor has made 

that argument to this Court. 

  There's nothing at all about that in the written 

response filed to the City's motion here.  Nothing.  No 
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argument about that at all, no assertion of that at all.  Are 

you saying -- are you trying to argue that now?   

  MR. JOHNSON:  Well, absolutely, Judge.  The City 

has failed, as the moving party, has to obviously prove that 

he did have notice.  And they've shown nothing of what notice 

would have been made knowable to Mr. Chancellor, and that 

would be a crucial element of the fair contemplation test. 

  What has the City shown this Court to rule as a 

matter of law that my client knew or should have known about 

the City's petition and the bar date of 7/18/13?  They've 

done nothing.  They're simply arguing that.  So their 

argument is, in essence, no different than mine. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  So I should -- you think I 

should accept that as one of your arguments and consider the 

merits of it even though it's being raised for the first time 

in this oral argument and wasn't raised in the written 

response? 

  MR. JOHNSON:  Judge, we argued in our written 

response that, if you will, that there's no way that Mr. 

Chancellor knew about this or could know about this. 

  So I don't think -- maybe it wasn't stated exactly 

how I just stated it, but I think the argument is the same.  

So I don't believe it's being raised, if you will, for the 

first time. 

  But again, that's the City's burden, Judge, when 
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they're moving as a matter of law on this.  

  THE COURT:  Mr. Johnson, where in your written 

response did you argue anywhere that there's no way that Mr. 

Chancellor knew or could have known of the bankruptcy?  I 

didn't see that in there anywhere.  Maybe I'm missing it.  

Where is it? 

  MR. JOHNSON:  Well, I guess first and foremost, 

Judge, how would somebody in prison ever know about 

bankruptcy proceedings anywhere as a matter of common sense, 

first and foremost? 

  THE COURT:  Mr. Johnson, excuse me. 

  MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, sir. 

  THE COURT:  Excuse me.  That's not my question.  

Answer my question.  Where is it in your written paper?  

Anywhere?   

  MR. JOHNSON:  Well, on page 14, Judge, I'm looking 

at paragraph 47 of my brief. 

  THE COURT:  Hold on. 

  MR. JOHNSON:  Even if Chancellor could -- I'm 

sorry. 

  THE COURT:  Hold on a minute.  

  MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, sir. 

  THE COURT:  Your response is filed, just for the 

record, as docket 13699.  Where are you pointing to in there 

now? 
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  MR. JOHNSON:  On page 14, Judge, in paragraph 47. 

  THE COURT:  Wait a minute.  Page 14?  There's no 

Page 14. 

  MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, Judge.  I apologize to the 

Court.  I was looking at the wrong thing.  I apologize to the 

Court. 

  THE COURT:  So what's the answer?  Is it in there 

somewhere, or not?   

  MR. JOHNSON:  Your Honor, I'm looking for it.  As 

I said to the Court, I don't think it was stated exactly how 

I said it.  But I'm reviewing it right now, Judge.  I 

apologize to the Court.   

  THE COURT:  That's fine.  Take your time.   

  MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you, sir. 

 (Brief pause)  

  MR. JOHNSON:  Let me double check that I have the 

right thing now, Judge.  Yes, Your Honor.  In page 6, please, 

under Roman numeral III argument. 

  THE COURT:  I see page 6.  Go ahead.  

  MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you, Judge.  43, of course 

these allegations are denied and Plaintiff's claim did not 

accrue until his conviction was vacated on March 24, 2020; 

44, it is undisputed -- it is disputed that under the fair 

contemplation test Mr. Chancellor could have ascertained 

through the exercise of reasonable due diligence that he had 
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a claim against the City.  His claim did not accrue until it 

was found that Officer Geelhood had committed fraud obtaining 

the search warrant. 

  So what I said to this Court was exactly, fair -- 

under the fair contemplation test it is not fair, nor 

established, that he could have ascertained through exercise 

of reasonable due diligence that he had a claim against the 

City. 

  And as the City told the Court in its argument, 

they knew that Mr. -- as it pertains to this proceeding, they 

knew that my client, Mr. Chancellor, was in prison starting 

in December of '12 is what counsel told the Court, December 

of 2012, which, of course, is about seven months before the 

petition. 

  So I believe, yes, Judge, that we did present this 

argument exactly in that fashion. 

  And I'm looking on Page 7 -- 

  THE COURT:  I don't -- I'm sorry.  I'm sorry, I 

don't see how paragraph 43 or 44 contains an argument or 

asserts that Mr. Chancellor did not know of the City's 

bankruptcy case. 

  MR. JOHNSON:  Page 7, if I could, Judge, please, 

in paragraph 45. 

  THE COURT:  Well, all right.  So now we're moving 

to paragraph 45.  Go ahead.   
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  MR. JOHNSON:  It is denied that the plan's 

discharge provision applies to Mr. Chancellor as he did not 

have a responsibility to file a proof of claim, as he did 

not, under the fair contemplation test, have a reason to file 

such a claim. 

  THE COURT:  Yes. 

  MR. JOHNSON:  So we were specifically arguing 

about the fair contemplation test at the time when the 

petition date was filed, 7/18/13, Judge.  

  THE COURT:  Well, I think at least it's arguable, 

anyway, that the fair contemplation test concerns whether in 

this case Mr. Chancellor could have ascertained through the 

exercise of reasonable diligence, due diligence, that he had 

a claim against the City of Detroit having to do with this 

wrongful conviction that he's been -- that he's alleged, not 

whether he could have exercised, through reasonable due 

diligence or otherwise, he could have ascertained that the 

City had filed bankruptcy.  That's a -- that's really a 

different issue, isn't it?   

  MR. JOHNSON:  I see it, Your Honor, as in an 

exercise of due diligence did Mr. -- or should Mr. Chancellor 

have known that he had a claim?  He did not have a claim at 

that time. 

  His claim that he had never materialized until 

3/24/20, when his conviction was vacated.  So he had no 

13-53846-tjt    Doc 13803-13    Filed 10/27/23    Entered 10/27/23 14:32:28    Page 22 of
43



 22 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

claim.  There was no claim to assert yet, and that's why the 

accrual test is important under the facts and the 

circumstances of this analysis. 

  It does matter because it absolutely, definitively 

goes to what a normal person, or in this case, forgive me, a 

reasonable person, with a good caveat again of this person 

being in a federal penitentiary, wrongfully, should know 

relative to what claim was he supposed to have filed when he 

didn't have a claim, yet. 

  So in other words, he's supposed to file a 

bankruptcy claim while he's in federal -- or state prison, in 

July or so of 2013, even though he does not have a valid 

cause of action, nor does he know that he's going to get one, 

because many people obviously believe, and I guess I think 

the evidence shows that many people are innocent yet 

convicted, and yet, under this area of law he has nothing, no 

claim until he gets it vacated, which is a huge process, as 

the Court probably knows. 

  But he ultimately is -- his claim does accrue on      

3/24/20, yet again, seven years before that, he's supposed to 

know to file a bankruptcy. 

  I think that that flies in the face of truth and 

logic.  Most lay people don't know this, let alone somebody 

who's now in a prison sentence for serving something for a 

crime they didn't commit, that they're now supposed to figure 
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that out on their own. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  I think, you know, you're 

going over ground you've already tread, and we got onto this 

discussion when I was asking about an apparent argument 

you're making today for the first time, I think, that Mr. 

Chancellor did not have notice or knowledge of the City's 

bankruptcy case. 

  Is there anything more you want to say about that 

specific issue? 

  MR. JOHNSON:  No, Judge.  Thank you.  

  THE COURT:  All right.  Well, thank you, Mr. 

Johnson. 

  Mr. Swanson, as I normally do, I'll give you a 

brief opportunity as the moving party here to reply in 

support of the motion, if you want.   

  MR. SWANSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Marc Swanson 

on behalf of the City. 

  There was no argument about notice in the 

Plaintiff's response.  If Chancellor wanted to make an 

argument about notice, you would think that at least once in 

the response he would have used the word "notice," and notice 

is not used at all in the response. 

  You know, similar arguments were made in Burton 

and Monson, and in each of those cases the Court found that 

plaintiff was an unknown creditor and the constructive notice 
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that was provided during the City's bankruptcy case with 

respect to the bar date order, the plan, and the confirmation 

order, which this Court has found time and time again to have 

been valid, to constitute adequate notice. 

  With respect to fair contemplation.  Mr. Johnson 

said, you know, there was no lawsuit, there was no claim.  

And I can agree, perhaps, that there wasn't a lawsuit until 

2020, but there certainly was a claim.  There was a 

contingent claim. 

  One of the orders that we cited in our papers was 

this Court's order in the Desmond Ricks matter, which the 

Court held an oral argument on in 2019. 

  And during that oral argument a very similar 

argument was asserted by the plaintiff's counsel and the 

Court correctly said that that it was a contingent claim, 

that even if under applicable state or federal law a claim 

did not accrue until a conviction was vacated.  For 

bankruptcy purposes that's not the test. 

  The test is when the claim was fairly 

contemplated, and it was fairly contemplated far before, and 

at that point the plaintiff had a contingent claim, and that 

should be what the Court finds here. 

  With respect to Plaintiff's argument on 

affirmative defenses.  Plaintiff raised nothing new.  

Plaintiff didn't distinguish this Court's prior opinion, 
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didn't distinguish the Sixth Circuit's opinion in Hamilton, 

and didn't attempt to rescue the citation to a old Sixth 

Circuit case which cited a prior version of a rule which is 

no longer applicable. 

  For those reasons, Your Honor, the City would 

respectfully request that the Court enter an order granting 

its motion.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  One moment, 

please. 

 (Pause)  

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, both.  I'm 

going to do what I hope is a fairly brief and concise oral 

ruling now on this motion.  One moment. 

 (Pause) 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.   

  The motion has been argued both in writing and 

orally in today's hearing, the motion by the City of Detroit, 

for entry of an order enforcing the bar date order and 

confirmation order against Darell Chancellor, or Darell 

Chancellor, I think it might be pronounced.   

  For the record, again, that motion is docket 

number 13691. 

  The respondent, Mr. Chancellor, through counsel, 

filed a response to the motion, written response.  The 

response was filed at docket number 13699 on the Court's 
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docket. 

  The Court has reviewed that response, the exhibits 

that were filed with it, as well as the exhibits filed with 

the City's papers, as well as the City's reply brief at 

docket 13714, and I have considered the arguments in today's 

-- made in today's hearing. 

  The first thing I'll cover and I'll say is that 

this Court, the Bankruptcy Court here, has subject matter 

jurisdiction over this matter, and this matter is a core 

proceeding in which this Court has authority and jurisdiction 

to make a final decision on the motion. 

  The authority for that I won't go into great 

detail about.  What I'll do is cite and incorporate by 

reference what I said in a couple of prior opinions in this 

case about the subject of jurisdiction, core proceedings, and 

those subjects, and also about the -- in these opinions about 

the fact that this Court, in the plan of adjustment that was 

confirmed by the Court, this Court retained jurisdiction to 

rule on the very types of motions and disputes that's before 

me with this motion and if necessary to enter injunctions to 

further enforcing the confirmed plan of adjustment and other 

orders of the Court in this case. 

  The earlier opinions of mine that cover this are, 

first of all, the case of In re City of Detroit, Michigan, 

548 Bankruptcy Reporter 748, a decision of mine from 2016 
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that's published, and that -- in particular, pages 753 and 

754 of that opinion. 

  Again, I incorporate that discussion in the 

section called Roman numeral II, Jurisdiction, in that 

opinion by reference here and adopted and applied it in this 

case, as well. 

  A second opinion on this subject is the decision 

the Court made just a couple weeks ago, on September 18, 

2023.  That's the case -- again it's In re City of Detroit, 

Michigan.  It's not yet published in the Bankruptcy Reporter 

as far as I know, but it is published.  It's reported at 2023 

WestLaw 6131465.  It's also an opinion that is filed in this 

bankruptcy case.  It's at docket number 13738.  Again, it's 

September 18 of 2023. 

  The WestLaw citation for the jurisdictional 

provisions is star pages 6 to 7.  The citation of the version 

that's published, or that's filed on the Court's docket at 

13738, is .pdf pages 13 to 14 of that opinion. 

  Again, I incorporate by reference what the Court 

said there about subject matter jurisdiction, core 

proceedings, the Court's authority to make a final 

determination in this kind of matter. 

  Moving to the merits now of this dispute.   

  First of all, I do find and conclude that the -- 

from the undisputed facts that the claims alleged against the 
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City of Detroit and against Office Steven Geelhood in his 

representative capacity, in the cases that are now pending in 

the U.S. District Court for this District, those cases, the 

two cases are the ones cited in the City's motion at page 5, 

paragraphs 12 and 13, copies of complaints from those cases 

are Exhibit 6B and 6C of the City's motion. 

  Those claims alleged against the City and against 

Officer Geelhood in his representative capacity in those 

cases were, in fact, discharged by the discharge in the 

City's confirmed plan of adjustment, and Mr. Chancellor is, 

in fact, barred and enjoined from filing and prosecuting 

those claims. 

  That is distinct from the claims, any claims 

alleged against Officer Geelhood in his -- solely in his 

individual capacity.  Those were not -- they were not 

discharged and are not enjoined.  So there is that 

distinction, and that's a distinction that was raised in the 

written response filed by Mr. Chancellor. 

  These claims against the City and Mr. Geelhood in 

his representative capacity all arose before the bankruptcy 

petition was filed in this Chapter 9 case on July 18, 2013, 

and, therefore, were discharged. 

  First of all, the fair contemplation test that the 

parties have argued about does indeed apply, as opposed to 

the so-called accrual test.  I have already ruled that way in 
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prior opinions, and I reiterate that ruling now that the fair 

contemplation test is the appropriate test to determine 

whether a claim arose before or after the filing of a 

bankruptcy petition. 

  A couple of places where I have ruled that way is, 

first of all, in the City of Detroit case that I cited 

earlier.  The one that's 548 Bankruptcy Reporter 748, at page 

763 of the Court's opinion. 

  In that case I ruled that the fair contemplation 

test is the appropriate test to apply, and I discussed what 

that test meant, and I incorporate that discussion and the 

authority cited in that opinion by reference. 

  And the Court has applied that test in other -- in 

deciding other motions in this bankruptcy case.  But that's 

really the leading case, by me at least, on that subject. 

  The fair contemplation test raises -- sets the 

standard as being that a claim is considered to have arisen 

pre-petition if the creditor could have ascertained through 

the exercise of reasonable due diligence that it had a claim 

at the time the bankruptcy petition is filed.   

  In my view, the answer here is clearly that, yes, 

indeed, Mr. Chancellor could have, with the exercise of 

reasonable diligence, ascertained that he had a claim against 

the City of Detroit and against Mr. Geelhood in at least in 

his representative capacity, before the City filed its 
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bankruptcy petition on July 18, 2013. 

  That's based upon the facts and events that 

occurred that contribute to give rise to Mr. Chancellor's 

claims. 

  The events that occurred in November 2011, May 

2012, November 2012, including the conviction in the state 

court, criminal conviction of Mr. Chancellor that occurred on 

November 12 of 2012 for which he was sentenced to prison on 

December 12 of 2012 and promptly thereafter did go to prison. 

  These events are described in detail, and I think 

accurately so, in the City's motion.  Again, docket 13691 at 

paragraphs 20 to 38 of the motion. 

  Given those facts and events, all of which 

occurred well before the City filed its bankruptcy petition 

in July of 2013, it's clear to me that under the fair 

contemplation test Mr. Chancellor could have ascertained 

through the exercise of reasonable due diligence that he had 

a claim against the City and against Mr. Geelhood in his 

representative capacity before the petition was filed in this 

bankruptcy case. 

  This test and this issue, that is whether the 

claim arose pre-petition or not, is a distinct test and a 

distinct issue from the question of whether or not a claimant 

like Mr. Chancellor knew, or should have known, about the 

City having filed bankruptcy, which is a different issue, and 
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I'm going to talk about that in a little bit. 

  This test -- this issue focuses on not that issue 

but whether, rather, on whether the claimant, like Mr. 

Chancellor here, could have ascertained with the -- 

reasonably ascertained or ascertained through the exercise of 

reasonable due diligence that he had a claim at the time the 

petition was filed. 

  The answer to that here is, yes, it's clear that 

Mr. Chancellor knew of and believed to be true all the facts 

that are recited in the City's motion that occurred before 

the petition date. 

  He certainly knew, or thought he knew, and he 

believed, that he was the victim of a wrongful conviction, 

that he was the victim of a conviction that was obtained 

through what he viewed at the time as false testimony by 

Officer Geelhood, both in an affidavit that gave rise to -- 

that was used to get a search warrant at Mr. Chancellor's 

mother's house in November of 2012, all the way through the 

trial testimony of Officer Geelhood, that Mr. Chancellor 

viewed as false. 

  He not only knew that and thought these things at 

the time, but he also argued these things vociferously to the 

courts, the state trial court, the State Court of Appeals, on 

the appeal that he filed shortly after he filed his 

conviction, and before -- and that appeal was filed before 
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the bankruptcy case was filed, as well. 

  The claims arose pre-petition here under the fair 

contemplation test even though Mr. Chancellor's 2012 

conviction, criminal conviction, was not vacated until March 

24, 2020, and which, of course, was the date that was well 

after the filing of the City's bankruptcy case in 2013.   

  Mr. Chancellor argues that his claims at issue did 

not arise until his conviction was vacated in March of 2020 

because his claims or cause of action under applicable law 

did not accrue until that conviction was vacated in March of 

2020. 

  This is, in effect, an argument seeking to -- 

asking the Court to apply the so-called right to payment or 

accrual test for determining when a bankruptcy claim arose. 

  That accrual test is discussed by this Court in 

its decision -- or opinion that I just cited a moment ago 

about the fair contemplation test, 548 Bankruptcy Reporter, 

at page 762. 

  And as the Court notes there, I think accurately 

so, and it's still accurate, that test has been widely 

rejected by the courts as not an appropriate test for -- not 

the appropriate test for determining when a claim arises, 

whether it arises before or after the bankruptcy. 

  As the City, I think, has correctly argued, as of 

the bankruptcy petition date in this case, July 18, 2013, Mr. 
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Chancellor had a claim as that claim -- the term claim is 

defined under the Bankruptcy Code, it's Section 101 of the 

Bankruptcy Code, even though the claim at that time was 

contingent, or unmatured, or both, because the claim could 

not be pursued until the conviction was vacated later.   

  Contingent claims, unmatured claims, are expressly 

part of what is a claim within the meaning of the Bankruptcy 

Code for purposes of determining whether a claim arose pre-

petition or post-petition. 

  And the cases in which I've discussed that include 

the case I cited a moment ago, 548 Bankruptcy Reporter, this 

time at page 761, and also at page 762 of that opinion.   

  So even though the claim was -- excuse me.  Even 

though the claim was contingent and unmatured as of the 

bankruptcy petition date, there still was a claim, and it 

arose pre-petition under the appropriate test, which is the 

fair contemplation test. 

  There are, as the City points out, a number of 

similar cases that have applied the fair contemplation test 

to find in cases and situations very similar to this one that 

the claimant's claim arose before the filing of the 

bankruptcy case and, therefore, it was barred and discharged.  

  Perhaps the closest case in terms of facts and the 

discussion by the Court is the Sanford case cited by the 

City, a decision of the District Court from this District 
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from 2018.  That's Sanford v. City of Detroit, 2018 WestLaw 

6331342, a decision from December 4, 2018, by the U.S. 

District Court, Judge Lawson.  It's star page 5 in the 

WestLaw version of that opinion. 

  The Court discusses this subject, and I think the 

discussion is applicable equally in this case, and fully 

supports the Court's ruling now in this case. 

  I do want to talk about this notice issue that was 

raised for the first time in today's hearing, in my view. 

  There seemed to be an argument or suggestion by 

counsel for Mr. Chancellor in today's hearing that Mr. 

Chancellor, who was in state prison, incarcerated in state 

prison, when the City filed its bankruptcy case, may not have 

had notice or knowledge of the City's bankruptcy case in time 

to file a proof of claim, in time to pursue the claim through 

the bankruptcy process, and at least certainly not as of the 

bankruptcy petition date, July of 2013. 

  That argument, first of all, is an argument that's 

made for the very first time in oral argument in the hearing 

today by Mr. Chancellor.  There's no hint of such an 

argument, in my view, in the written response filed by Mr. 

Chancellor to the motion. 

  That argument, in my view, then, has been 

forfeited by Mr. Chancellor. 

  But even if not forfeited, in my view the argument 
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is without merit because of the unknown creditor concept.   

  Now, the City didn't brief this.  They have argued 

it in the hearing today in response to the new argument about 

notice of the bankruptcy, but this concept and this -- the 

concept of the unknown creditor is one that's out there in 

the case law and it's in one of the reported published 

opinions of this court in this very case.  It was published a 

little more than a year ago now and that is -- one moment.   

That's the -- that's the case of In re City of Detroit, 

Michigan, 642 Bankruptcy Reporter 807, a decision of this 

Court from August 26, 2022. 

  In that case the Court talked about the unknown 

creditor concept, beginning at page 810, 642 Bankruptcy 

Reporter at 810. 

  There, the Court held, as numerous other courts 

have held, that a creditor in a bankruptcy case that was an 

unknown creditor, as the concept is defined by the case law, 

at the time of the bankruptcy filing, is a creditor for which 

the debtor has no duty to serve notice specifically, of the 

bankruptcy specifically, upon. 

  But rather, one for whom notice of the bankruptcy 

case by publication only is sufficient to put the creditor on 

notice of the bankruptcy case for purposes of due process and 

other concerns under the law. 

  At pages 810 to 811, at 642 Bankruptcy Reporter, I 
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talk about this concept and applied it in that case.  It 

applies equally here. 

  The concept of an unknown creditor is, one, a 

creditor in which the claim against the City was readily 

ascertainable by the City during the relevant time.  That is, 

during the time period as of the filing and thereafter in the 

bankruptcy case. 

  And by readily ascertainable the case law requires 

there whether the respondent, the creditor, communicated any 

demand for payment or otherwise communicated to the City 

before the bankruptcy was filed, the existence of a claim 

against the City. 

  If not, then the creditor is deemed an unknown 

creditor unless  -- well, is deemed an unknown creditor and 

the City may provide sufficient notice of the bankruptcy 

filing for due process purposes and otherwise by publication. 

  This case of Mr. Chancellor's is a case of an 

unknown creditor, and that at the time of the City's 

bankruptcy filing, and at least until 2020 when Mr. 

Chancellor's conviction was vacated that he filed, first 

filed suit against the City for wrongful conviction related 

claims. 

  Until then, he was not a known creditor to the 

City.  His claim, or claims, or existence of claims, were not 

readily ascertainable by the City during that relevant time 
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period, and that is because there's simply no evidence or 

argument made in the papers, or even today in the hearing by 

Mr. Chancellor's counsel that Mr. Chancellor did anything to 

communicate to the City that he believed he had a claim for a 

wrongful conviction or wrongful conviction related claim 

against the City at the time of the bankruptcy filing or any 

time thereafter until 2020.   

  And so, being an unknown creditor he must be 

deemed to have been given adequate notice of the City's 

bankruptcy case by publication. 

  The Court noted in its decision in the earlier 

case, 640 Bankruptcy -- 642 Bankruptcy Reporter, at 810, 811, 

the fact the City did provide notice of its bankruptcy case 

by publication properly. 

  And, of course, the City of Detroit filing 

bankruptcy was no secret to anyone.  It was very widely known 

throughout the Detroit area, throughout Michigan, throughout 

the United States, and beyond, at the time.  It was the 

largest municipal bankruptcy ever filed, I think still is, 

the largest municipal bankruptcy ever filed in this country 

and received enormous publicity. 

  And so given all of that -- and I should also 

note, in the absence of any evidence provided by Mr. 

Chancellor which he alleges or asserts that he didn't know of 

the City's bankruptcy filing when it occurred, the argument 
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about notice, as I perceive it to have been made today, even 

if not forfeited, is without merit and I must reject it for 

the reasons that I have just stated.   

  So given that Mr. Chancellor's claims arose pre-

petition under the fair contemplation test, the claims 

against the City and against Officer Geelhood in his 

representative capacity were filed -- arose pre-petition 

here.  Those claims were discharged under the City's 

confirmed plan of adjustment, both under the terms of the 

plan and the order confirming that plan, that confirmed the 

plan in November of 2013 -- I'm sorry, no, November 2014. 

  And those provisions are cited and quoted in 

detail in a prior opinion of this court in the opinion I've 

just been citing, the 642 Bankruptcy Reporter 807 opinion, in 

particular at page 812.  So I incorporate that reference -- 

that by reference. 

  The claims of Mr. Chancellor against the City and 

Officer Geelhood in his representative capacity are barred 

and enjoined under the bar date order that the City has 

cited, the City's plan, and the order confirming plan.  All 

of that is confirmed by what I wrote at 642 Bankruptcy 

Reporter, at page 812, among other places in the published 

opinions of mine, citing those particular provisions in the 

bar date order of the plan and the order confirming plan. 

  And so the claims are discharged and Mr. 
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Chancellor is barred and enjoined already from pursuing them.   

  I will address briefly the argument of Mr. 

Chancellor arguing that the City did not assert its 

bankruptcy discharge as an affirmative defense in either of 

the cases that are now pending in U.S. District Court, and I 

presume also an argument that the City unreasonably delayed 

in raising the issue of the bankruptcy discharge and 

injunctions in the filing of this motion, and compared to the 

timing and the time that the U.S. District Court cases have 

been pending. 

  The City is correct, in my view, in everything 

that it says and argues in its reply brief at docket 13714, 

at pages 4 to 6, .pdf pages 4 to 6, of that -- of that brief 

in responding to and refuting these arguments. 

  This Court held in the 642 Bankruptcy Reporter 

case, at pages 812 to 813, citing the Sixth Circuit's 

decision of Hamilton v. Hertz, that a bankruptcy debtor, like 

the City of Detroit, has no duty to raise any sort of 

affirmative defense or defense, or to do anything, in 

response to claims being brought against it in a non-

bankruptcy court that have been discharged. 

  Any such action and any judgment, adverse judgment 

suffered on such claims is void ab initio under the case law 

and because of the bankruptcy discharge. 

  And so, it is simply not a valid argument to argue 
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anything like that the City's motion here is barred in any 

way by the City's failure to plead as an affirmative defense 

or otherwise raise, timely or otherwise, in the pending U.S. 

District Court cases the discharge and bar date order and 

injunction provisions that it's argued in this motion in this 

Court. 

  And the City is also right that the 2010 

amendments to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(c)(1) did 

eliminate from the list of affirmative defenses that had to 

be pled in federal court actions generally the discharge, a 

bankruptcy discharge.  That's no longer in the rule as an 

affirmative defense that must be pled for the reasons that 

I've discussed. 

  And so the Court is bound to reject those 

arguments by Mr. Chancellor. 

  This Court, this Bankruptcy Court, does have 

jurisdiction and authority to specifically enjoin Mr.  

Chancellor's continued prosecution of the claims against the 

City and the claim against Officer Geelhood in his 

representative capacity. 

  The Court's opinion from September 18 that I cited 

-- this year that I cited earlier points that out.  It cites 

chapter and verse in the City's plan of adjustment, confirmed 

plan of adjustment documents.  The plan and the order 

confirming plan. 
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  And for that I'll cite to this Court's decision, 

2023 WestLaw Reporter 6131465, again at star pages 15 and 7, 

and again this Court's docket, that's docket 13738, at .pdf 

pages 31 and 14.   

  And so for these reasons, the Court will grant the 

City's motion in the form of the proposed order that the City 

filed with the motion in substance, with one change. 

  And that, Mr. Swanson and Mr. Johnson, the 

changes, I will go ahead and add a paragraph to what's in the 

order, the proposed order, that does say, for the record, and 

I think it's clear and really not disputed, that the order 

does not apply to claims asserted by Mr. Chancellor against 

Officer Geelhood in his individual, solely in his individual 

capacity.  I'll add that language myself.   

  So, Mr. Swanson, what I want you to do is simply 

submit your proposed order as-is with no changes at all.  

I'll take that and make changes to it, both substantive of 

the type I just described and non-substantive.  Non-

substantive being things like in the first paragraph reciting 

the fact of today's hearing and so forth. 

  So you submit that, I'll waive presentment of 

that, and I will take the order, revise it, and get it 

entered, and the motion will be granted on that basis.   

  That's it.  Thank you all. 

(Time Noted:  2:33 p.m.) 
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CERTIFICATE 

 I, RANDEL RAISON, certify that the foregoing is a 

correct transcript from the official electronic sound 

recording of the proceedings in the above-entitled matter, to 

the best of my ability. 

 

 
______________________________  October 25, 2023 

Randel Raison 
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